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As used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K (this "Annual Report"), the terms "Quantum," "we," "us," and "our" refer to Quantum Corporation and its
subsidiaries taken as a whole, unless otherwise noted or unless the context indicates otherwise.

Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements. All statements contained in this report other than statements of historical fact, including statements
regarding COVID-19's anticipated impacts on our business, our future operating results and financial position, our business strategy and plans, our market
growth and trends, and our objectives for future operations, are forward-looking statements. The words “believe,” “may,” “will,” “estimate,” “continue,”
“anticipate,” “intend,” “expect,” “could,” “would,” “project,” “plan,” “potentially,” “preliminary,” “likely,” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-
looking statements. We have based these forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends that
we believe may affect our financial condition, results of operations, business strategy, short-term and long-term business operations and objectives, and
financial needs. These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties, and assumptions, including those described under Item 1A.
Moreover, we operate in a competitive and changing environment. New risks emerge from time to time. It is not possible for our management to predict all
risks, nor can we assess the effect of all factors on our business or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ
materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements we may make. In light of these risks, uncertainties, and assumptions, the future events and
trends discussed in this report may not occur and actual results could differ materially and adversely from those anticipated or implied in the forward-looking
statements. Accordingly, you should not rely on forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. Although we believe that the expectations reflected
in the forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot guarantee that the future results, performance, or events and circumstances reflected in the
forward-looking statements will be achieved or occur. We undertake no obligation to update any of these forward-looking statements for any reason after the
date of this report or to conform these statements to actual results or revised expectations.

 

PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

COVID-19 Risks and Uncertainties

We are subject to the risks arising from COVID-19 which have caused substantial financial market volatility and have adversely affected both the U.S. and the
global economy. For many of our customers, the COVID-19 pandemic has significantly affected their business. Movie and television production has been
paused, professional and collegiate sports seasons have been postponed or cancelled, and many corporations and enterprises have put information
technology spending on hold while they assess the short- and long-term impact of the pandemic. While our supply chain remains intact and operating, we
have experienced issues related to our logistics network. The reduced capacity within and across freight lanes (aircraft, personnel, customs clearance, etc.)
has caused late deliveries from re-routes and mis-shipments, as well as increased expedite and other charges to deliver and receive products. To date, we
have experienced minimal impact on product availability, although future capacity constraints across the network due to lost capacity from factory down time,
closures, as well as reduced staff and demand signal fluctuations are expected to impact product availability in the months and possibly quarters to come.

We believe that these social and economic impacts have had a negative effect on sales due to the decline in our customers' ability or willingness to purchase
our products and services. The extent of the impact will depend, in part, on how long the negative trends in customer demand and supply chain levels will
continue. Our management continues to actively monitor the situation and may take further actions altering our business operations that we determine are in
the best interests of our employees, customers, partners, suppliers, and stakeholders, or as required by federal, state, or local authorities.
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Overview

We are a leader in storing and managing digital video and other forms of unstructured data. We help customers around the world to ingest, process, and
analyze digital data at high speed, and preserve and protect it for decades. Our customers include some of the world’s largest corporations, government
agencies, service providers, broadcasters, movie studios, sports leagues and teams, and enterprises in all industries. We work closely with a broad network of
distributors, VARs, DMRs, OEMs and other suppliers to solve our customers most pressing business challenges.

Our Customer Solution

Our customers are typically managing and storing large amounts of digital video and other forms of “video-like” data such as high-resolution images. This data
is generally referred to as “unstructured” data, and video and digital images represent the largest subset of this data. This unstructured data is growing rapidly,
and already represents the vast majority of the data being created every day.

This data has unique requirements, and our portfolio has been designed to address these requirements end-to-end. When this data is first created, it requires
very high-speed performance, which we provide using a combination of non-volatile memory express (“NVMe”), solid state drives (“SSD”), and hard disk
drives (“HDD”). Once this data is ingested and processed, it typically needs to be stored and protected forever. We provide both object storage systems and
tape storage systems for low-cost, long-term protection and archiving, and the complete solution is managed by our StorNext software. StorNext is both a
high-speed file system as well as a data management platform. In addition to providing customers access to their data across the various types of storage
systems above, StorNext can also move data to and from public cloud storage, which our customers are increasingly using as part of their overall data
infrastructure.

We also offer a portfolio of products designed for video surveillance recording and storage, including a line of network video recording servers, and a line of
hyperconverged storage systems for surveillance recording and management.

With the exception of our tape storage systems, which are based on hardware we have designed, all of our products are powered by our software, and run on
commodified server hardware. Our product portfolio is increasingly software-defined, and our technology roadmap is moving to becoming completely software-
defined.

We are a member of the consortium that develops, patents, and licenses Linear Tape-Open, (or “LTO® tape”) technology to media manufacturing companies.
We receive royalty payments for LTO media technology sold under licensing agreements. We have also entered into various licensing agreements with
respect to our technology, patents and similar intellectual property which provide licensing revenues in certain cases and may expand the market for products
and solutions using these technologies.

Industry Background

Digital video and imaging data is growing exponentially, and in the next few years is likely to represent the vast majority of the data produced in the world. This
class of data presents a unique set of challenges for our customers. These data sets are exponentially larger than the average corporate database, they need
to be stored and protected for decades, and many of the data services designed for databases and other corporate applications do not work with this data. In
addition, video and image data is very difficult to search, and yet it is the data that has the most value to the business lines of many of our customers. Lastly,
these datasets typically have a lifecycle that initially requires very high performance for creation, intake, cataloging, analysis and collaboration, which then
needs to be archived and protected for decades at a low cost. With these challenges in mind, our mission is to design products to address these needs,
enabling our customers with solutions that will help them create, innovate and protect.
Some examples across the industries that we serve include:

• The media and entertainment industry producing high-resolution content for movies and TV shows, including content in streaming
services;

• Large corporations producing video content for marketing and advertising, and for internal training and communication
purposes;
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• Surveillance cameras for city surveillance, critical infrastructure, higher education, retail, restaurants, and
more;

• Scientific research and
applications;

• Life sciences, genome sequencing and
microscopy;

• Military and defense applications that manage images and video from drones and satellites;
• Video, image, and sensor data captured on the manufacturing

floor;
• Video, image, and sensor data produced by cars as part of ADAS and autonomous vehicle

development.

Products

High-Performance Shared Storage Systems

At the core of our high-performance shared storage product line is our StorNext software that enables high-speed ingest, editing, processing and management
of digital video and image datasets. Major broadcasters and studios, post-production companies including streaming services, sports franchises, and
corporations around the world use StorNext.

Our StorNext software is both a shared file system and data management platform. StorNext provides fast streaming performance and data access, a shared
file storage environment for macOS, Microsoft Windows, and Linux workstations, and intelligent data management to protect data across its lifecycle. StorNext
runs on standard servers and is sold with storage arrays that are used within the StorNext environment. These storage arrays include:

• The Quantum F-Series: A line of ultra-fast, highly available NVMe storage servers for editing, rendering, and processing of video content and other
large unstructured datasets.

• Quantum QXS-Series: A line of high performance, reliable hybrid storage arrays, offered with either HDDs, SSDs, or some combination of the two.

Customers are now deploying our StorNext file system with a combination of NVMe storage and more traditional SSD and HDD storage to balance cost and
performance. Our StorNext software can also manage data across different types, or pools, of storage, such as public cloud object stores and disk-based
object storage systems. StorNext supports a broad range of both private and public object stores to meet customer needs. For customers that archive video
and image data for years, StorNext is also integrated with our tape storage, and can assign infrequently used but important data to tape to create a large-
scale active archive.

Object Storage Systems

With the acquisition of the ActiveScale object storage business from Western Digital that was completed in March of 2020, we now offer leading object storage
systems for massive-scale, online content repositories such as media archives, genome sequencing data repositories, and big data lakes. Our ActiveScale
object storage provides high levels of data durability and facilitates the management of many petabytes and billions of objects. ActiveScale object storage
software stores data in object format and uses patented erasure-encoding software to protect data across storage nodes and across multiple geographic sites.

Tape Storage

Our Scalar® tape systems are low-cost, long-term data storage used by large cloud providers and leading enterprises to archive and preserve digital content
for decades. The product line scales from entry-level libraries for small backup environments up to massive petabyte and even exabyte scale archive libraries.

Our tape systems provide storage density, offline secure storage to protect against ransomware and malware, and an intelligent, advanced diagnostics engine
designed to reduce downtime and operational expense relative to other tape systems. Our tape systems are used by thousands of enterprises around the
world as well as by large cloud service providers. In addition to our tape systems, we also sell LTO tape cartridges as well as standalone LTO tape drives for
small business and desktop use.

Backup Storage Systems

5



Table of Contents

Our DXi backup systems provide high-performance, scalable storage for backup and multi-site disaster recovery. Our variable-length de-
duplication technology maximizes data reduction, our replication engine enables multi-site protection and data recovery, and our high-efficiency design
enables customers to maximize backup performance while minimizing data center footprint.

Storage Systems for Surveillance and Physical Security

We offer a broad portfolio of products designed for the capture and analysis of video surveillance and security. These products include network video
recording servers, as well as hyperconverged storage systems for video surveillance management and recording. In addition, we offer appliances designed for
video surveillance analytics and to run different types of access control systems.

Our strategy is to offer the broadest physical security server and storage portfolio available from any single supplier, with solutions designed and optimized for
surveillance and physical security workloads, providing high performance and density, resulting in cost-effective solutions.

In-Vehicle Storage Systems

Our R-Series is a line of ruggedized, removable storage systems for in-vehicle data capture, mobile surveillance, and military applications. Our R-
Series includes a removable storage magazine which allows data generated in the vehicle to be easily uploaded to a shared storage environment, such as our
StorNext file system, for processing and analytics.

Services

We offer a broad range of services to complement our systems and technology, including managed services, implementation and training services, and
support services for our customers around the world. Our customers are increasingly looking to purchase our technology using an as-a-service model, or
different forms of managed services, and we now offer a full line of these services to meet these needs.

Global Services and Warranty

Our global services strategy is an integral component of our total customer solution. Service is typically a significant purchase factor for customers considering
long-term storage for archiving and retention or data protection storage solutions. Consequently, our ability to provide comprehensive installation and
integration services as well as maintenance services can be a noteworthy competitive advantage to attract new customers and retain existing customers. In
addition, we believe that our ability to retain long-term customer relationships and secure repeat business is frequently tied directly to our comprehensive
service capabilities and performance.

Our extensive use of technology and innovative product intelligence allows us to scale our global services operations to meet the needs of our customers. We
are currently able to provide service to customers in more than 100 countries, supported by 24-hour, multi-language technical support centers located in North
America, Europe, and Asia. We provide our customers with warranty coverage on our products. Customers with high availability requirements may also
purchase additional services to obtain faster response times on our high-performance shared storage systems, tape systems, and disk backup systems. We
offer this additional support coverage at a variety of response levels up to 24-hours a day, seven-days-a-week, 365-days-a-year, for customers with stringent
high-availability needs. We provide support ranging from repair and replacement to 24-hour rapid exchange to on-site service support for our midrange and
enterprise-class products. In addition to these traditional installation and maintenance services, we also provide project management, managed services, and
other value-added services to enhance our customer’s experience and engagement. These incremental services create a deeper relationship with customers
that enables them to maximize the value of our solution and better positions us to retain our customers through technology transitions.

We generally warrant our hardware products against defects for periods ranging from one to three years from the date of sale. We provide warranty and non-
warranty repair services through our service team and third-party service providers. In addition, we utilize various other third-party service providers
throughout the world to perform repair and warranty services for us to reach additional geographic areas and industries to provide quality services in a cost-
effective manner.
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Research and Development

We compete in an industry characterized by rapid technological change and evolving customer requirements. Our success depends, in part, on our ability to
introduce new products and features to meet end user needs. Our research and development teams are focused on technology and services to make our
storage systems smarter and easier to manage at scale; software enhancements to make our storage more searchable and accessible, software-defined
hyperconverged storage technology, next generation solid-state and hard-drive storage system software, data deduplication and other data reduction
technologies, and making tape even more efficient as a storage medium for long term archival storage.

Sales and Distribution Channels

Product Sales Channels

We utilize distributors, VARs and DMRs in our sales process. Our reseller program provides our channel partners the option of purchasing products directly or
through distribution channels and provides them access to a more comprehensive product line. Additionally, we sell directly to multiple large corporate entities
and government agencies.

OEM Relationships

We sell our products to several OEM customers that resell our hardware products under their own brand names and typically assume responsibility for product
sales, end user service and support. We also license our software to certain OEM customers that include this software in their own brand name products.
These OEM relationships enable us to reach end users not served by our branded distribution channels or our direct sales force. They also allow us to sell to
select geographic or vertical markets where specific OEMs have exceptional strength.

Customers

Our customers vary across multiple industries worldwide ranging from small businesses to global enterprises. In addition, we sell to OEMs, distributors, VARs
and DMRs to reach end user customers. Sales to our top five customers represented 23%, 33%, 29% revenue in fiscal 2020, fiscal 2019 and fiscal 2018,
respectively, of which no customer represented 10% or more of our total revenue.

Competition

The markets in which we participate are highly competitive, characterized by rapid technological change and changing customer requirements. In some cases,
our competitors in one market area are customers or suppliers in another. Our competitors often have greater financial, technical, manufacturing, marketing,
or other resources than we do. Additionally, the competitive landscape continues to change due to merger and acquisition activity as well as new entrants into
the market.

As our customers look to use more public cloud storage services, providers provide both a competitive threat and new platforms on which to run our software.
We expect that the infrastructures of the future will be both hybrid-cloud and multi-cloud, meaning our customers will store their data in the various large public
cloud environments, and also want to use services from multiple public cloud vendors.

Our high-performance shared storage systems and object storage systems primarily face competition from the EMC business unit of Dell Inc., (“Dell”),
International Business Machines Corporation, (“IBM”), NetApp, Inc., (“NetApp”), and other enterprise storage vendors in the markets we serve.

Our tape storage systems primarily compete in the midrange and enterprise reseller and end user markets with IBM, Oracle Corporation and SpectraLogic
Corporation as well as Hewlett-Packard Enterprise Company, (“HPE”), through its OEM relationship with other tape system suppliers. Competitors for entry-
level and OEM tape systems include BDT Products, Inc. and several others that supply or manufacture similar products. In addition, disk backup products and
cloud storage are an indirect competitive alternative to tape storage.

7



Table of Contents

Our backup storage systems primarily compete with products sold by Dell, HPE and Veritas Technologies LLC. Additionally, several software companies that
have traditionally been partners with us have deduplication features in their products and will, at times, compete with us.

Manufacturing and Supply Chain

We are constantly improving our supply chain and manufacturing operations to deliver a variable cost model while improving customer delivered quality and
service. This process includes the transition to a multi-geographical manufacturing model using a configure-to-order methodology; a redesign of our service
and supplier network; and talent acquisition and development. Our supply chain and manufacturing strategy minimizes geo-political and environmental causal
risks and provides flexibility to support demand fluctuations by region, further enhancing our variable cost structure.

Manufacturing of our tape, backup, and shared storage systems is performed in the U.S. and Mexico using contract manufacturers, along with supporting
third-party logistics companies in the Europe, Middle East, and Africa region, or (“EMEA”), and the Asia-Pacific region, or (“APAC”). The value of utilizing well-
run logistics companies and supply chain solutions is that our product logistics is optimized for cost reductions with a competitive advantage allowing the
physical flow and information flow to work together seamlessly.

Our tape media is manufactured in Japan and distributed globally.

Intellectual Property and Technology

We generally rely on patent, copyright, trademark and trade secret laws and contract rights to establish and maintain our proprietary rights in our technology
and products. As of March 31, 2020, we hold approximately 319 U.S. patents and have 40 pending U.S. patent applications. In general, these patents have
a 20-year term from the first effective filing date for each patent. We also hold multiple foreign patents and patent applications for certain of our products and
technologies. Although we believe that our patents and applications have significant value, rapidly changing technology in our industry means that our future
success may also depend heavily on the technical competence and creative skills of our employees.

From time to time, third parties have asserted that the manufacture and sale of our products have infringed on their patents. We are not knowingly infringing
any third-party patents. Should it ultimately be determined that licenses for third-party patents are required, we will undertake best efforts to obtain such
licenses on commercially reasonable terms. See Item 3 Legal Proceedings for additional disclosures regarding lawsuits alleging patent infringement.

On occasion, we have entered into various patent licensing and cross-licensing agreements with other companies. We may enter into patent cross-licensing
agreements with other third parties in the future as part of our normal business activities. These agreements, when and if entered into, would enable these
third parties to use certain patents we own and enable us to use certain patents owned by these third parties. We have also sold certain patents, retaining a
royalty-free license for these patents.

We, along with HPE and IBM, belong to the LTO Consortium, an organization that licenses the Consortium members’ patents covering the LTO specifications.
Media manufacturers and other parties take licenses to the LTO Consortium patent pool in exchange for a royalty payment to the Consortium, which then
distributes the royalties to each of the three Consortium members.

Segment Information

We operate as a single reporting unit and operating segment for business and operating purposes. Information about revenue attributable to each of our
product groups is included in Item 7 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations  and information about revenue
and long-lived assets attributable to certain geographic regions is included in Note 2 , Revenue and Note 3, Balance Sheet Information , respectively, to the
consolidated financial statements and risks attendant to our foreign operations is set forth below in Item 1A Risk Factors.

Seasonality
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As is typical in our industry, we generally have the greatest demand for our products and services in the fourth quarter of each calendar year, or our fiscal third
quarter. We usually experience the lowest demand for our products and services in the first and second quarters of each calendar year, or our fiscal fourth
quarter and fiscal first quarter, respectively.

Backlog

We believe that product backlog has not been a meaningful indicator of net revenue that can be expected for any period. Our products are manufactured
based on forecasts of customer demand and we work with our manufacturers and suppliers to support increases and decreases in demand. Orders are
generally placed by customers on an as-needed basis. Product orders are confirmed and, in most cases, shipped to customers within four to six weeks. More
complex systems and product configurations often have longer lead times, sometimes as much as 26 weeks. Much of the product backlog is from these more
complex systems and typically increases at the end of each fiscal quarter, with these products typically being shipped in the following quarter. Product backlog
at any point in time may not translate into net revenue in any subsequent period, as unfilled orders can generally be canceled at any time by the customer.

Executive Officers and Management Team

Following are the names and positions of our management team as of June 22, 2020, including a brief account of the business experience of each.

Name  Position with Quantum
James J. Lerner  President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board

J. Michael Dodson  Chief Financial Officer

Elizabeth King  Chief Revenue Officer

Lewis Moorehead  Chief Accounting Officer

Regan MacPherson  Senior Vice President, Chief Legal & Compliance Officer and Secretary

Don Martella  Senior Vice President, Engineering

James J. Lerner, 50, was appointed as President and CEO of the Company, effective July 1, 2018, and was appointed Chairman of the Board on August 7,
2018. He also serves on the Company’s Board. Mr. Lerner has previously served as Vice President and Chief Operating Officer at Pivot3 Inc. from March
2017 to June 2018, and Chief Revenue Officer from November 2016 to March 2017. Prior to Pivot3, from March 2014 to August 2015, Mr. Lerner served as
President of Cloud Systems and Solutions at Seagate Technology Public Limited Company. Prior to Seagate, Mr. Lerner served in various executive roles at
Cisco Systems, Inc., including most recently as Senior Vice President and General Manager of the Cloud & Systems Management Technology Group. Before
beginning his career as a technology company executive, Mr. Lerner was a Senior Consultant at Andersen Consulting. Since 2011, Mr. Lerner has served on
the Board of Trustees of Astia, a global not-for-profit organization built on a community of men and women dedicated to the success of women-led, high-growth
ventures, and is currently serving as the Chair of the Board of Trustees. Mr. Lerner earned a Bachelor of Arts in Quantitative Economics and Decision
Sciences from U.C. San Diego.
 
J. Michael Dodson, 59, was appointed Chief Financial Officer effective May 31, 2018. He was also appointed interim Chief Executive Officer, a position in
which he served until James J. Lerner joined the Company on July 1, 2018. From August 2017 to May 2018, Mr. Dodson served as the Chief Financial Officer
of Greenwave Systems. Prior to joining Greenwave Systems, Mr. Dodson served as the Chief Operating Officer and Chief Financial Officer at Mattson
Technology, Inc. from 2012 to 2017. He joined Mattson as Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Secretary in 2011. Prior to joining Mattson,
Mr. Dodson served as Chief Financial Officer at four global public technology companies and Chief Accounting Officer for an S&P 500 company. Mr. Dodson
started his career with Ernst & Young in San Jose, California. Since July 2013, he has served on the Board of Directors of Sigma Designs, Inc., a
provider of system-on-chip solutions, including as Lead Independent Director since January 2014 and Chairman of the Audit Committee since 2015. He has
also served on Board of Directors of A10 Network since February 2020 and was named Chairman of their Audit Committee in June 2020. In addition,
Mr. Dodson serves as a director of two private entities: a charitable organization and a privately held for-profit company. He holds a B.B.A. degree with dual
majors in Accounting and Information Systems Analysis and Design from the University of Wisconsin-Madison.
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Elizabeth King, 62, has served as Quantum’s Chief Revenue Officer since March 2019. Prior to Quantum, from January 2017 to February 2019, she was Vice
President, Go-to-Market & Enablement, HPC & AI at HPE. She joined HPE as part of HPE’s acquisition of SGI, where she served as SVP of worldwide sales
from January 2014 through December 2016. Prior to HPE/SGI, she was vice president of strategic alliances for IBM and global systems integrators at Juniper
Networks from June 2010 to January 2014. Prior to Juniper, she was vice president and general manager of the Hitachi Server Group of Hitachi Data
Systems. She also held key senior sales, business development and operations roles at Nokia (formerly Alcatel-Lucent), Oracle (formerly Sun Microsystems),
Raytheon, and Texas Instruments. Ms. King holds an MBA with honors from the University of Dallas and a Bachelor of Science in mechanical engineering
from Lehigh University.

Lewis Moorehead, 48, has served as our Chief Accounting Officer since October 2018. Prior to joining Quantum, Mr. Moorehead was the Director of Finance,
Accounting and Tax at Carvana, Co., a publicly traded on-line retailer, from November 2016 to October 2018. From September 2004 to October 2016, he
served as Managing Partner at Quassey, an investment firm. While at Quassey, he also served as Vice President of Finance and Principal Accounting Officer
at Limelight Networks, a NASDAQ-listed global content delivery network and SaaS provider, from March 2010 to August 2013. He has also held finance and
accounting positions at eTelecare Global Solutions, Rivers and Moorehead PLLC, Intelligentias, Inc., American Express and PricewaterhouseCoopers. He
holds a Bachelor of Business Administration (B.B.A.), cum laude, in Accounting from the University of Wisconsin-Whitewater.

Regan MacPherson, 57, joined Quantum in October 2019 as Chief Legal & Compliance Officer. Prior to joining Quantum, she was the Vice President and
Chief Compliance Officer at Marvell Semiconductor, Inc. from June 2017 to October 2019. Ms. MacPherson served as Senior Vice President and General
Counsel of Seagate Technology, PLC from March 2016 to June 2017. Ms. MacPherson also served as Vice President and Interim General Counsel from
August 2015 to March 2016, Deputy General Counsel from September 2013 to August 2015, in addition to varying roles of increasing responsibility from July
2005 to September 2013, at Seagate Technology plc. Ms. MacPherson holds a Juris Doctor from Southwestern Law School and a Bachelor of Arts in political
science from San Francisco State University.

Don Martella, 52, joined Quantum in August 2006 as Vice President, Tape Automation Engineering in connection with Quantum’s acquisition of ADIC. In April
2011, he assumed his current role as Senior Vice President of Engineering. In that capacity he is responsible for our research and development and advanced
manufacturing activities. Before joining Quantum, Mr. Martella held leadership positions in R&D and Quality at ADIC; and engineering and management roles
at Oracle (formerly StorageTek) in the tape business. Mr. Martella holds a master's in business administration and a Bachelor of Science in electrical and
computer engineering from the University of Colorado.

Employees

As of March 31, 2020, we had 829 employees.
 
Available Information

We were founded in 1980 and reincorporated in Delaware in 1987.

Our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to reports filed or furnished pursuant to
Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, are available free of charge on our website at https://www.quantum.com
generally when such reports are available on the SEC website. The contents of our website are not incorporated into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The public may read and copy any materials we file with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, D.C. 20549. The
public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains an internet site that
contains reports, proxy, and information statements and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at http://www.sec.gov.
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ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

You should carefully consider the risks described below, together with all other information in this Annual Report, before investing in any of our securities. The
occurrence of any single risk or any combination of risks could materially and adversely affect our business, operating results, financial condition, liquidity, or
competitive position, and consequently, the value of our securities. The material adverse effects include, but are not limited to, not growing our revenue or
market share at the pace that they have grown historically or at all, our revenue and market share fluctuating on a quarterly and annual basis, an extension of
our history of losses and a failure to become profitable, not achieving the revenue and net income (loss) guidance that we provide, and harm to our reputation
and brand.

The recent COVID-19 pandemic could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition.

The COVID-19 pandemic and efforts to control its spread have impacted and will continue to impact our workforce and operations, and those of our strategic
partners, customers, suppliers and logistics providers. These impacts have included and may include under-absorbed overhead, increased logistics and other
costs and decreased product output. While our third-party partners are all currently operational, in some cases with exemptions from government restrictions,
this is subject to change based on evolving conditions related to the pandemic.

The effects of the pandemic are uncertain and difficult to predict, but may include:

• Further disruptions to our supply chain, our operations or those of our strategic partners, customers or suppliers caused by employees or others
contracting COVID-19, or governmental orders to contain the spread of COVID-19 such as travel restrictions, quarantines, shelter in place orders,
trade controls, and business shutdowns;

• A global economic downturn or a recession causing a decrease in short- or long-term demand for our products, resulting in industry oversupply and
decreases of average selling prices (“ASPs”), which would negatively impact our sales and profitability;

• Deterioration of worldwide credit markets that may limit our ability or increase our cost to obtain external financing to fund our operations and capital
expenditures and result in a higher rate of losses on our accounts receivables due to customer credit defaults;

• Extreme volatility in financial markets which has and may continue to adversely impact our stock price and our ability to access the financial markets
on acceptable terms, or at all;

• Increased data security and technology risk as many employees transition to work from home arrangements, including possible outages to systems
and technologies critical to remote work and increased data privacy risk with cybercriminals attempting to take advantage of the disruption; and

• Management’s ongoing commitment of significant time, attention and resources to respond to the pandemic.

The degree to which the pandemic ultimately impacts our business and results of operations will depend on future developments beyond our control which are
highly uncertain and cannot be predicted at this time, including the severity and duration of the pandemic, the extent of actions to contain or treat COVID-19,
the effectiveness of government stimulus programs, any possible resurgence of COVID-19 that may occur after the initial outbreak subsides, how quickly and
to what extent normal economic and operating activity can resume, and the severity and duration of the global economic downturn that results from the
pandemic. To the extent the COVID-19 pandemic adversely affects our business and financial results, it may also have the effect of heightening many of the
other risks described in more detail in this “Risk Factors” section, such as those relating to adverse global or regional conditions, our highly competitive
industry, supply chain disruption, customer demand conditions and our ability to forecast demand, cost saving initiatives, our indebtedness and liquidity, and
cyber-attacks.

We have significant indebtedness, which imposes upon us debt service obligations, and our term loan and credit facility contains various
operating and financial covenants that limit our discretion in the operation of our business. If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flows from
operations and overall results of operations to meet these debt obligations or remain in compliance with the covenants, our business, financial
condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

Our level of indebtedness presents significant risks to our business and investors, both in terms of the constraints that it places on our ability to operate our
business and because of the possibility that we may not generate
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sufficient cash and results of operations to remain in compliance with our covenants and pay the principal and interest on our indebtedness as it becomes due.
We recently failed to meet certain financial covenants in our debt agreements, which could have resulted in a default under these agreements if we had not
obtained a waiver of noncompliance from our lenders. For further description of our outstanding debt, see the section captioned “Liquidity and Capital
Resources” in Part II, Item 7 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

As a result of our indebtedness:

• Our ability to invest in growing our business is constrained by the financial covenants contained in our credit facility, which require us to maintain a
minimum fixed charge coverage ratio and liquidity levels;

• We must dedicate a significant portion of our cash flow from operations and other capital resources to debt service, thereby reducing our ability to fund
working capital, capital expenditures, research and development and other cash requirements;

• Our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes and opportunities in the markets in which we compete may be limited, including our ability to
engage in mergers and acquisitions activity, which may place us at a competitive disadvantage;

• We are subject to mandatory field audits and control of cash receipts by the lenders if we do not maintain liquidity above certain thresholds;
• We may be more vulnerable to adverse economic and industry conditions; and
• We may be unable to make payments on other indebtedness or obligations.

Our credit facility contains restrictive covenants that require us to comply with and maintain certain liquidity levels and a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio,
as well as restrict our ability, subject to certain thresholds, to:

• Incur debt;
• Incur

liens;
• Make acquisitions of businesses or entities or sell certain assets;
• Make investments, including loans, guarantees and

advances;
• Engage in transactions with

affiliates;
• Pay dividends or engage in stock repurchases; and
• Enter into certain restrictive

agreements.

The weakness we experienced for several years in the market for our storage, back up and data protection business, which is the primary driver of our overall
cash flow and operating income, placed increased pressure on our ability to meet our liquidity and fixed charge coverage ratio covenants. In recent periods,
our business has declined due, in part, to the negative impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. As a result, we fell out of compliance with certain financial
covenants, including, for example, the total net leverage ratio and total leverage ratio covenants for the fourth fiscal quarter period ending March 31, 2020. We
received a waiver from our lenders for the noncompliance of these covenants. In June 2020, we amended our debt agreements to revise our financial
covenants in light of currently expected business levels under current market conditions, including the negative impact of COVID-19. These amendments
required us to make significant payments to our lenders, including approximately $1.0 million and to issue 3,400,000 warrants that are exercisable for shares of
our common stock, which when exercised will result in significant dilution to our stockholders and could cause our stock price to decline. In addition, we also
incurred significant costs related to advisors, attorneys and accountants. We believe we will be able to meet these covenants in the future, but if our financial
results turn out to be lower than expected, we may breach a covenant, which could result in a default under our credit facility agreements.

Our ability to make scheduled payments of the principal, to pay interest on, or to refinance our indebtedness, or to make cash payments in connection with our
credit facility, depends on our future performance, which is subject to economic, financial, competitive and other factors beyond our control. Further, as our
indebtedness reaches maturity, we will be required to make large cash payments or adopt one or more alternatives, such as restructuring indebtedness or
obtaining additional debt or equity financing on terms that may be onerous or highly dilutive. Our ability to restructure or refinance our indebtedness will
depend on the capital markets and our financial condition at such time. We may be unable to incur additional debt or refinance our existing debt on acceptable
terms, if at all.

Our credit facility is collateralized by a pledge of all our assets. If we were to default and were unable to obtain a waiver for such a default, the lenders would
have a right to foreclose on our assets to satisfy our obligations under
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these agreements. Any such action on the part of the lenders against us could have a materially adverse impact on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

In connection with entering into our credit facilities and certain amendments to our prior credit facilities, we were required to issue warrants to purchase our
common stock to our lenders. When exercised, these warrants will result in significant dilution to our stockholders. As a result, the issuance of common stock
upon the exercise of our outstanding warrants may cause our stock price to decline.

We have previously identified deficiencies in our control environment and financial reporting process that resulted in material weaknesses in our
internal control over financial reporting and previously concluded that our internal control over financial reporting and our disclosure controls
and procedures were not effective as of March 31, 2019. As of March 31, 2020, we remediated these material weaknesses and have concluded that
our internal control over financial reporting and our disclosure controls and procedures were effective. However, if we fail to maintain proper and
effective internal controls, material misstatements in our financial statements could occur and impair our ability to produce accurate and timely
financial statements and could adversely affect investor confidence in our financial reports, which could negatively affect our business.

We have concluded that our internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of March 31, 2020. However, in
our prior fiscal year and as of March 31, 2019, we concluded that our internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures were not
effective due to the existence of material weaknesses in our control environment, financial reporting process and internal control over financial reporting. We
restated our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures for the year ended March 31, 2017, and restated each of the quarterly periods related
to the three months ended June 30, 2017 and the three- and six-month periods ended September 30, 2017, following the identification of misstatements as a
result of an internal investigation that we concluded in fiscal 2020. This prior restatement and our ineffective internal control over financial reporting damaged
our reputation, caused us to incur a significant amount of costs and resulted in the distraction of our management team from the operation of our business. We
cannot provide assurance that the material weaknesses and deficiencies that we identified as of March 31, 2019 will not reoccur, or that additional material
weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting will not arise or be identified in the future. We intend to continue to monitor the tone at the top of our
organization, our financial reporting process, and our operational, information technology, financial systems, compliance and infrastructure procedures and
controls. We also intend to continue to expand, train, retain and manage our personnel who are essential to effective internal control and compliance. In doing
so, we will continue to incur expenses and expend management time.

If we fail to maintain proper and effective internal controls, our consolidated financial statements may contain material misstatements and we could be required
to restate our financial results in the future. Moreover, because of the inherent limitations of any control system, material misstatements due to error or fraud
may not be prevented or detected on a timely basis, or at all. If we are unable to provide reliable and timely financial reports in the future, our business and
reputation may be further harmed. Restated financial statements and failures in internal control may also cause us to fail to meet reporting obligations or debt
covenants, negatively affect investor confidence in our management and the accuracy of our financial statements and disclosures, or result in adverse publicity
and concerns from investors, any of which could have a negative effect on the price of our common stock, subject us to further regulatory investigations and
penalties or stockholder litigation, and materially and adversely impact our business and financial condition.

Risks Related to our Business Operations

We derive significant revenue from products incorporating tape technology. Our future results of operations depend in part on continued market
acceptance and use of products incorporating tape technology; in the past, decreases in the market have materially and adversely impacted our
business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, if we are unable to compete with the introduction of new storage technologies
by other companies, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

We currently derive significant revenue from products that incorporate some form of tape technology, and we expect to continue to derive significant revenue
from these products in the next several years. As a result, our future results of operations depend in part on continued market acceptance and use of products
employing tape technology. We believe that the storage environment is changing, including reduced demand for tape products.
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Decreased market acceptance or use of products employing tape technology has materially and adversely impacted our business, financial condition and
results of operations, and we expect that our revenues from certain types of tape products could continue to decline, which could materially and adversely
impact our business, financial condition and results of operations in the future.

Disk and solid-state products, as well as various software solutions and alternative technologies such as crystal and organic material-based storage have been
announced by other companies. We expect that, over time, many of our tape customers could migrate toward our other products and solutions and that
revenue from these other products and solutions will generate a greater proportion of our revenue in the future. While we are making targeted investments in
software, disk backup systems and other alternative technologies, these markets are characterized by rapid innovation, evolving customer demands and
strong competition, including competition with several companies who are also significant customers. If we are not successful in our efforts, we may not be
able to retain customers or attract new customers, and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

We may not be entitled to forgiveness of our recently received Paycheck Protection Program loan, and our application for the Paycheck Protection
Program loan could in the future be determined to have been impermissible, which could result in the imposition on us of fines and other penalties,
or could result in damage to our reputation.

On April 13, 2020 we entered into a Paycheck Protection Term Note for a principal amount of $10,000,000, or the PPP Loan, under the Paycheck Protection
Program, or PPP, of the recently enacted Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act, or the CARES Act. We have used all of the proceeds from the
PPP Loan to maintain our employees and their current salaries in the United States. The PPP Loan has a two-year term and bears annual interest at a rate of
1.0%. Payments of principal and interest on the PPP Loan will be deferred for no longer than ten months from loan origination. Thereafter, we are required to
pay the lender equal monthly payments of principal and interest.

The CARES Act and the PPP provide a mechanism for forgiveness of up to the full amount borrowed. Under the PPP, we may apply for and be granted
forgiveness for all or part of the PPP Loan. The amount of loan proceeds eligible for forgiveness is based on a formula that takes into account a number of
factors, including the amount of loan proceeds used by us during a specified period after receipt of the loan proceeds for certain purposes, including payroll
costs, interest on certain mortgage obligations, rent payments on certain leases, and certain qualified utility payments, provided that at least 60% of the loan
amount is used for eligible payroll costs. Subject to the other requirements and limitations on loan forgiveness, only loan proceeds spent on payroll and other
eligible costs during the covered period will qualify for forgiveness. We will be required to repay any portion of the outstanding principal that is not forgiven,
along with accrued interest, in accordance with the amortization schedule described above, and we cannot provide any assurance that we will be eligible for
loan forgiveness, that we will ultimately apply for forgiveness, or that any amount of the PPP Loan will ultimately be forgiven by the U.S. Small Business
Administration, or the SBA.

In order to apply for the PPP Loan, we were required to certify, among other things, that the current economic uncertainty made the PPP Loan request
necessary to support our ongoing operations. We made this certification in good faith after analyzing, among other things, our financial situation and access to
alternative forms of capital, and believe that we satisfied all eligibility criteria for the PPP Loan, and that our receipt of the PPP Loan is consistent with the spirit
and broad objectives of the PPP and of the CARES Act. The certification described above does not contain any objective criteria and is subject to
interpretation. On April 23, 2020, the SBA issued guidance stating that it is unlikely that a public company with substantial market value and access to capital
markets will be able to make the required certification in good faith. In addition, the SBA stated its intent to audit the PPP Loan application of any company,
like us, that received proceeds under the PPP of more than $2 million. Additionally, on May 8, 2020, we were one of five publicly traded companies to receive
a letter from the United States House of Representatives’ Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Crisis, or the Subcommittee, requesting that we return the
PPP Loan proceeds, and if we did not return the proceeds, requiring us to produce to the Subcommittee specified documentation related to our PPP Loan. We
intend to cooperate fully with the Subcommittee’s review of our PPP Loan. There has also been significant media coverage and controversy with respect to
public companies applying for and receiving PPP loans. If we are later determined to have violated any of the laws or governmental regulations that apply to
us in connection with the PPP Loan, such as the False Claims Act, or it is otherwise determined that we were ineligible to receive the PPP Loan, we may be
subject to penalties, including significant

14



Table of Contents

civil, criminal and administrative penalties and could be required to repay the PPP Loan in its entirety. In addition, receipt of a PPP Loan may result in adverse
publicity and damage to our reputation. The Subcommittee’s review of our PPP Loan is requiring us to consume a significant amount of financial and
management resources. In addition, any review or audit by the SBA or other government entity or claims under the False Claims Act, could consume
additional significant financial and management resources. Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition.

We rely on indirect sales channels to market and sell our branded products. Therefore, the loss of or deterioration in our relationship with one or
more of our resellers or distributors, or our inability to establish new indirect sales channels to drive growth of our branded revenue, especially
for disk backup systems and scale-out tiered storage, could negatively affect our results of operations.

We sell most of our branded products to distributors such as Arrow Electronics, Inc. and other VARs and DMRs such as CDW Corporation, who in turn sell our
products to end users. We use different distributors, VARs and DMRs in different countries and regions in the world. The success of these sales channels is
hard to predict, particularly over time, and we have no purchase commitments or long-term orders from them that assure us of any baseline sales through
these channels. Several of our resellers carry competing product lines that they may promote over our products. A reseller might not continue to purchase our
products or market them effectively, and each reseller determines the type and amount of our products that it will purchase from us and the pricing of the
products that it sells to end user customers. Establishing new indirect sales channels is an important part of our strategy to drive growth of our branded
revenue and as our business shifts toward our branded products, these indirect sales channels will have increasing importance to our business.

When we introduce new products and solutions, as we did in the last half of our fiscal year 2019, our relationship with channel partners that historically have
sold other products and solutions and that now compete with our new offerings could be adversely impacted. For example, we introduced our new F-Series all-
flash array and R-Series ruggedized products in fiscal year 2019, causing us in some cases to more directly compete for primary storage sales with channel
partners that sell other primary storage products.

Our results of operations could be adversely affected by any number of factors related to our channel partners, including:

• A change in competitive strategy that adversely affects a reseller’s willingness or ability to distribute our products;
• The reduction, delay or cancellation of orders or the return of a significant amount of products;
• Our inability to gain traction in developing new indirect sales channels for our branded products;
• The loss of one or more of such distributors or resellers;
• Any financial difficulties of such distributors or resellers that result in their inability to pay amounts owed to us; or
• Changes in requirements or programs that allow our products to be sold by third parties to government customers.

If our products fail to meet our or our customers’ specifications for quality and reliability, we may face liability and reputational or financial harm
which may adversely impact our results of operations and our competitive position may suffer.

Although we place great emphasis on product quality, we may from time to time experience problems with the performance of our products, which could result
in one or more of the following:

• Increased costs related to fulfillment of our warranty obligations;
• The reduction, delay or cancellation of orders or the return of a significant amount of products;
• Focused failure analysis causing distraction of the sales, operations and management teams; or
• The loss of reputation in the market and customer goodwill.

These factors could cause our business, financial condition and results of operations to be materially and adversely affected.

In addition, we face potential liability for performance problems of our products because our end users employ our storage technologies for the storage and
backup of important data and to satisfy regulatory requirements. Loss of
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this data could cost our customers significant amounts of money, directly and indirectly as a result of lost revenues, intellectual property, proprietary business
information or other harm to their business. In some cases, the failure of our products may have been caused by third-party technology that we incorporate into
our products. Even if failures are caused by third-party technology, we may be required to expend resources to address the failure and work with our
customers to preserve our relationship with them. We could also potentially face claims for product liability from our customers if our products cause property
damage or bodily injury. Although there are limitations of liability in our commercial agreements and we maintain technology errors and omissions liability and
general liability insurance, our insurance may not cover potential claims of these types or may not be adequate to indemnify us for all liability that may be
imposed. Any imposition of liability or litigation costs that are not covered by insurance or is in excess of our limitation of liability or our insurance coverage
could harm our business.

A certain percentage of our sales are to a few customers, some of which are also competitors, and these customers generally have no minimum or
long-term purchase commitments. The loss of, or a significant reduction in demand from, one or more key customers could materially and
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our product sales have been and continue to be concentrated among a small number of our direct end-user customers and channel partners as a result of
how we sell our products. Under our business model, we sell directly to end user customers, through distributors, VARs and DMRs (which we collectively call
our “channel partners”), as well as to OEMs. We sell to many end-user customers and channel partners on purchase orders, not under the terms of a binding
long-term procurement agreement. Accordingly, they generally are not obligated to purchase any minimum product volume, and our relationships with them
are terminable at will. In addition, recently we have focused our direct-sales business on the largest users of hierarchical storage architectures, the so-
called “Hyper-scalers”; there are very few of these extremely large storage customers. During the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and March 31, 2019 no
customers represented 10% or more of the Company’s total revenue. A significant reduction in orders from, or a loss of, one or more large customers would
have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.

Some of our tape and disk products are incorporated into larger storage systems or solutions that are marketed and sold to end users by large OEM customers
as well as channel partners. Because of this, we have limited market access to the end users who purchase from the OEMs and channel partners, which limits
our ability to influence the end users’ purchasing decisions and to forecast their future purchases of our products. Revenue from OEM customers has
decreased in recent years. Certain of our large OEM customers are also our competitors, and such customers could decide to reduce or terminate their
purchases of our products for competitive reasons. These market conditions increase our reliance on these OEM and channel partners. Thus, a significant
reduction, delay or cancellation of their orders with us would materially and adversely affect our results of operations.

A portion of our sales are to various agencies and departments of the U.S. federal government, and funding cuts to federal spending can adversely impact our
revenue. In the past, we have experienced the impact of reduced government spending and temporary government shutdowns on our sales to government
agencies. Future spending cuts by the U.S. federal government, temporary shutdowns of the U.S. federal government or changes in its procurement
processes or criteria could decrease our sales to the federal government and could materially and adversely affect our results of operations.

Our results of operations depend on continuing and increasing market acceptance of our existing limited number of products and on new product
introductions, which may not be successful, in which case our business, financial condition and results of operations may be materially and
adversely affected.

A limited number of products comprise a significant majority of our sales, and due to rapid technological change in the industry, our future results of operations
depend on our ability to develop and successfully introduce new products. To compete effectively, we must continually improve existing products and
introduce new ones. We have devoted and expect to continue to devote considerable management and financial resources to these efforts. Since July 2018,
we have introduced several new products that are designed to solve a variety of our customers’ pressing needs. Those products include:

• F-Series: an all-flash NVMe storage array – designed for the most demanding media
workloads

• R-Series: a ruggedized in-vehicle storage array purpose-built for autonomous vehicle development (to ingest large number of data streams) or for
transportation surveillance applications;
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• VS-Series: a highly resilient, hyper-converged surveillance storage system that meets all the needs of security teams;
and

• Distributed Cloud Services:  a set of Quantum services that offers cloud-like simplicity and economics for on-premise environments.

We have seen market interest in each of these new product lines; however, we cannot provide assurance that:

• Our new products will achieve market acceptance and significant market share, or that the markets for these products will continue or grow as we
have anticipated;

• Our new products will be successfully or timely qualified with our customers by meeting customer performance and quality specifications which must
occur before customers will place large product orders; or

• We will achieve high volume production of these new products in a timely manner, if at all;
• We will introduce additional new products in the time frame we are forecasting; or
• We will not experience technical, quality, performance-related or other difficulties that could prevent or delay the introduction and market acceptance

of new products.

If we are not successful in timely completion of our new product qualifications and then ramping sales to our key customers, our revenue and results of
operations could be adversely impacted. In addition, if the quality of our products is not acceptable to our customers, this could result in customer
dissatisfaction, lost revenue and increased warranty and repair costs.

We continue to face risks related to economic uncertainty and slow economic growth.

Uncertainty about economic conditions, particularly under the current circumstances caused by the COVID-19 pandemic, poses a risk as businesses may
further reduce or postpone spending in response to reduced budgets, tightening of credit markets, negative financial news and declines in income or asset
values which could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. The volatile economic conditions in recent years along with
periods of economic uncertainty in various countries around the world has made planning more difficult for us. We continue to face risks related to uncertain
tariff levels between countries where our products are manufactured and where they are sold, unstable political and economic conditions in Europe, including
concerns about sovereign debt, and uncertainty related to the United Kingdom’s exit from the European Union and related political matters, which could
negatively impact the U.S. and global economies and adversely affect our financial results. In addition, we may not be able to access capital markets in the
near-term or our ability to access capital markets may be restricted. We will not be eligible to use a common short-form registration statement on Form S-3,
which would better enable us to access capital markets, until November 2020. Our inability to access capital markets in an effective and efficient manner could
have an impact on our ability to react to changing economic and business conditions and could also materially and adversely affect our ability to sustain our
operations at their current levels.

Competition is intensifying in the data storage and protection market as a result of competitors introducing products based on new technology
standards and merger and acquisition activity, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

Our competitors in the data storage and protection market are aggressively trying to advance and develop new technologies and products to compete against
our technologies and products; consequently, we face the risk that customers could choose competitor products over ours. Competition in our markets is
characterized by technological innovation and advancement. As a result of competition and new technology standards, our sales or gross margins could
decline, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Some of those competitors, such as IBM, HPE,
Seagate Technology and others, are much larger and have more diverse product offerings, and aggressively compete based on their reputations and greater
size.

Technological developments and competition over the years in the tape automation market, and in the storage market in general, have resulted in decreased
prices for tape automation products and our other product offerings. Pricing pressure is more pronounced in the tape automation market for entry-level
products and less pronounced for enterprise products. Over time, the prices of our products and competitor products have decreased, but such products often
incorporate new and/or different features and technologies from what we offered in prior years. We face risks that customers could choose competitors’
products over ours due to these features and technologies or
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due to pricing differences. We address pricing pressure in three ways: first, by reducing production costs; second, by adding features to increase value to
maintain a certain level of gross margin for our tape automation systems; and third, by selling the overall value of our technologies in solving the customer’s
business challenges thereby changing the conversation from a pricing negotiation to a value discussion. However, short term cost reduction efforts, and the
value discussions may not yield new sales. In addition, if competition further intensifies, or if there is additional industry consolidation, our sales and gross
margins for tape automation systems could decline, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Industry consolidation and competing technologies with device products, which include tape drives and removable hard drives, have resulted in decreased
prices and increasingly commoditized device products. Additionally, the competitive landscape in the data storage and protection market could continue to
change due to merger and acquisition activity. Such transactions may impact us in a number of ways. For instance, they could result in:

• competitors consolidating, having greater resources and becoming more competitive with
us;

• companies that we have not historically competed against entering into one or more of our primary markets and increasing competition in such
market(s);

• customers that are also competitors becoming more competitive with us and/or reducing their purchase of our products; and
• competitors acquiring our current suppliers or business partners and negatively impacting our business model.

These transactions also create uncertainty and disruption in the market because the timing of such a transaction and its degree of impact, or whether it will
happen at all, are often unknown. Given these factors and others, such merger and acquisition activity may materially and adversely impact our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

A significant decline in our media royalty or branded software revenues could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Our media royalties and branded software revenues generate relatively greater profit margins than some of our other products, and can significantly impact
our overall profitability. We receive media royalty revenue based on tape media cartridges sold by various tape media manufacturers and resellers. Under our
patent and technology license agreements with these companies, each of the licensees determines the pricing and number of units of tape media cartridges
that it sells. Our media royalty revenue varies depending on the level of sales of the various media cartridge offerings sold by the licensees and other factors,
including:

• The continued use by our customers of tape media for
storage;

• The size of the installed base of devices and similar products that use tape media cartridges;
• The performance of our strategic licensing partners, which sell tape media

cartridges;
• The relative growth in units of newer device products, since the associated media cartridges for newer products typically sell at higher prices than the

media cartridges associated with older products;
• The media consumption habits and rates of end users;
• The pattern of device retirements;
• The level of channel inventories; and
• agreement on standards for newer generations of the tape media that generates our royalty revenue.

Some of our products contain licensed, third-party technology that provides important product functionality and features. The loss or inability to
obtain any such license could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Certain of our products contain technology licensed from third parties that provides important product functionality and features. We may not have continued
access to this technology, for instance, if the licensing company ceased to exist, either from bankruptcy, dissolution or purchase by a competitor. In some
cases, we may seek to enforce our contractual protections via litigation against the licensing company itself, which may cause us to incur significant legal or
other costs and may not be resolved in our favor. Other legal actions, such as intellectual property actions, brought against the licensing company could also
impact our future access to the technology. We also have limited visibility or control of the technology roadmap at the licensing company and cannot ensure
that the licensing company will advance the roadmap of the licensed technology in the manner best for us. Any of these actions could negatively impact our
technology licensing, thereby reducing the functionality or features of our products, and could
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materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. We also face the risk of not being able to quickly implement a
replacement technology or otherwise mitigate the risks associated with not having access to this licensed technology, which may also materially and adversely
affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We have taken considerable steps towards reducing our cost structure. The steps we have taken may not reduce our cost structure to a level
appropriate in relation to our future sales and therefore, these cost reductions may be insufficient to achieve profitability.

In the last several years, we have recorded significant restructuring charges and made cash payments to reduce our cost of sales and operating expenses to
respond to adverse economic and industry conditions, to execute strategic management decisions and to rationalize our operations following acquisitions.
During fiscal years 2018 through 2020 we have implemented restructuring plans to eliminate certain positions in the U.S. and internationally and to exit certain
locations. These restructuring plans may result in decreases to our revenues or adversely affect our ability to grow our business in the future. Workforce
reductions may also adversely affect employee morale and our ability to retain our employees. We may take future steps to further reduce our operating costs,
including future cost reduction steps or restructurings in response to strategic decisions, adverse changes in our business or industry or future acquisitions.
We may be unable to reduce our cost of sales and operating expenses at a rate and to a level appropriate in relation to our future sales, which may materially
and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, our ability to achieve the anticipated cost savings and other benefits from these restructuring plans within the expected time frame is subject to
many estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions are subject to significant economic, competitive and other uncertainties, some of which
are beyond our control. If these estimates and assumptions are incorrect, if we experience delays, or if other unforeseen events occur, our business, financial
condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Since May 2018, we have hired almost an entirely new executive team, including a new CEO and new CFO. In addition, prior year restructurings
and the events that led to our restatement have resulted in a significant loss of employees. If we are unable to integrate our new executives, as well
as retain skilled executives and other employees, our business could be materially and adversely impacted.

In May of 2018, we hired a new CFO, and in July 2018, we hired a new CEO. Since that time, we have hired several other new senior executives in many
areas of our business, including sales, supply chain management, finance and legal. These changes were due in part to the events that caused us to restate
our financial statements for the past several years. In addition, in fiscal 2016, 2017 and 2018, we laid off employees in order to reduce costs in response to
declining sales. All of these factors have increased the possibility that employees may decide to leave our company to pursue their careers elsewhere.

We may not be able to integrate all of our new executives successfully. Further, we may be subject to continued turnover in our employee base or the inability
to fill open headcount requisitions due to competition, concerns about our operational performance, business culture or other factors. In addition, we may need
to rely on the performance of employees whose skill sets are not sufficiently developed to fulfill their expected job responsibilities. Any of these situations could
disrupt our business, prevent us from implementing the policy and process changes advocated by new management, and otherwise impair or delay our ability
to realize operational and strategic objectives and cause increased expenses and lost sales opportunities.

The loss of the services of any of our key employees, the inability to attract or retain qualified talent in the future, or delays in hiring required talent, particularly
sales and engineering talent, could delay the development and introduction of our products or services and/or negatively affect our ability to sell our products or
services.
 
If we do not successfully manage the changes that we have made and may continue to make to our infrastructure and management, our business
could be disrupted, and that could adversely impact our results of operations and financial condition.

Managing change is an important focus for us. In recent years, we have implemented several significant initiatives involving our sales and marketing, product
engineering and operations organizations, aimed at increasing our efficiency and better aligning these groups with our corporate strategy. In addition, we have
reduced headcount to streamline and consolidate our supporting functions as appropriate in response to market or competitive conditions
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and following past acquisitions and have increased our reliance on certain third-party business relationships. If we are unable to successfully manage the
changes that we implement and detect and address issues as they arise, our business could be disrupted, and our results of operations and financial condition
could be materially and adversely impacted.

Third-party intellectual property infringement claims could result in substantial liability and significant costs, and, as a result, our business,
financial condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

From time to time, third parties allege that our products infringe their patented or proprietary technology and demand that we purchase a license from them.
For example, we are currently in patent litigation with Realtime Data LLC d/b/a IXO, which has been stayed, described in Note 10: Commitments and
Contingencies. The ultimate outcome of any license discussion or litigation, including the Realtime litigation, is uncertain. Adverse resolution of any third-party
infringement claim could subject us to substantial liabilities and require us to refrain from manufacturing and selling certain products. In addition, the costs
incurred in intellectual property litigation can be substantial, regardless of the outcome. As a result, our business, financial condition and results of operations
could be materially and adversely affected.

If we fail to protect our intellectual property or if others use our proprietary technology without authorization, our competitive position may suffer.

Our future success and ability to compete depends in part on our proprietary technology. We rely on a combination of copyright, patent, trademark and trade
secrets laws and nondisclosure agreements to establish and protect our proprietary technology. However, we cannot provide assurance that patents will be
issued with respect to pending or future patent applications that we have filed or plan to file or that our patents will be upheld as valid or will prevent the
development of competitive products or that any actions we have taken will adequately protect our intellectual property rights. We generally enter into
confidentiality agreements with our employees, consultants, customers, potential customers, contract manufacturers and others as required, in which we
strictly limit access to, and distribution of, our software and further limit the disclosure and use of our proprietary information.

Despite our efforts to protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy or otherwise obtain or use our products or technology. Enforcing
our intellectual property rights can sometimes only be accomplished through the use of litigation. Our competitors may also independently develop
technologies that are substantially equivalent or superior to our technology. In addition, the laws of some foreign countries do not protect our proprietary rights
to the same extent as the laws of the U.S.

We license certain of our software under “open source” licenses. Because of the characteristics of open source software licenses, it may be
relatively easy for competitors, some of whom have greater resources than we have, to enter our markets and compete with us.

One of the characteristics of open source software is that the source code for our open source projects is publicly available, and anyone who obtains copies
has a license under certain of our intellectual property rights, which, depending on the license, may include certain of our patents, to modify and redistribute
the software and use it to compete in the marketplace. Such competition can develop without the degree of overhead and lead time required by traditional
proprietary software companies. It is possible for competitors to use our open source project software to develop their own software, potentially reducing the
demand for our solution and putting price pressure on our subscription offerings. We cannot guarantee that competitive pressure or the availability of new open
source software will not result in price reductions, reduced operating margins and loss of market share, any one of which could harm our business, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.
 
In addition, we use our own open source project software in our proprietary products. As a result, there is a risk that we may inadvertently release as open
source certain code that was intended to be kept as proprietary, that reveals confidential information regarding the inner workings of our proprietary products,
or that could enable competitors to more readily reverse engineer or replicate aspects of our proprietary technology that we would otherwise protect as trade
secrets. We may also accept contributions from third parties to our open source projects, and it may be difficult for us to accurately determine the origin of the
contributions and whether their use, including in our proprietary products, infringes, misappropriates or violates third-party intellectual property or other rights.
The availability of certain of our own software in source code form may also enable others to detect and exploit security vulnerabilities in our products.
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Our products may contain "open source" software and failure to comply with the terms of the open source license could have a material adverse
effect on our competitive positions and financial results.

Certain products or technologies acquired or developed by us may include “open source” software. Open source software is typically licensed for use at no
initial charge. Certain open source software licenses, however, require users of the open source software to license to others any software that is based on,
incorporates or interacts with, the open source software under the terms of the open source license. Although we endeavor to comply fully with such
requirements, third parties could claim that we are required to license larger portions of our software than we believe we are required to license under open
source software licenses. If such claims were successful, they could adversely impact our competitive position and financial results by providing our
competitors with access to sensitive information that may help them develop competitive products. In addition, our use of open source software may harm our
business and subject us to intellectual property claims, litigation or proceedings in the future because:

• open source license terms may be ambiguous and may subject us to unanticipated obligations regarding our products, technologies and intellectual
property;

• open source software generally cannot be protected under trade secret law;
and

• it may be difficult for us to accurately determine the origin of the open source code and whether the open source software infringes, misappropriates or
violates third-party intellectual property or other rights.

As a result of our global manufacturing and sales operations, we are subject to a variety of risks related to our business outside of the U.S., any of
which could, individually or in the aggregate, have a material adverse effect on our business.

A significant portion of our manufacturing and sales operations and supply chain occurs in countries other than the U.S. We also have sales outside the U.S.
We utilize contract manufacturers to produce and fulfill orders for our products and have suppliers for various components, several of which have operations
located in foreign countries including China, Hungary, Japan, Malaysia, Singapore, Mexico, the Philippines and Thailand. Because of these operations, we are
subject to a number of risks including:

• import and export duties and value-added taxes;
• import, export and trade regulation changes that could erode our profit margins or restrict our ability to transport our products;
• reduced or limited protection of our intellectual property;
• compliance with multiple and potentially conflicting regulatory requirements and practices;
• commercial laws that favor local businesses;
• exposure to economic fluctuations including inflationary risk and continuing sovereign debt risk;
• shortages in component parts and raw

materials;
• the burden and cost of complying with foreign and U.S. laws governing corporate conduct outside the U.S. including the Foreign Corrupt Practices

Act, the United Kingdom Bribery Act and other similar regulations;
• adverse movement of foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar (the currency in which our results are reported) and uncertain global economic

conditions generally;
• inflexible employee contracts and employment laws that may make it difficult to terminate or change the compensation structure for employees in

some foreign countries in the event of business downturns;
• recruiting employees in highly competitive markets and wage inflation in certain

markets;
• potential restrictions on the transfer of funds between

countries;
• political instability, military, social and infrastructure risks, especially in emerging or developing

economies;
• natural disasters, including earthquakes, flooding, typhoons and

tsunamis;
• pandemics and epidemics, including the impact of COVID-19, and governmental restrictions on the operation of businesses, travel and other

restrictions, which may vary from country-to-country; and
• cultural differences that affect the way we do business.

Any or all of these risks could have a material adverse effect on our business.
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Our quarterly results of operations have fluctuated significantly, and past quarterly results of operations should not be used to predict future
performance.

Our quarterly results of operations have fluctuated significantly in the past and could fluctuate significantly in the future. As a result, our quarterly results of
operations should not be used to predict future performance. Quarterly results of operations could be materially and adversely affected by a number of factors,
including, but not limited to:

• fluctuations in IT spending as a result of economic conditions or fluctuations in U.S. federal government spending;
• failure by our contract manufacturers to complete shipments in the last month of a quarter during which a substantial portion of our products are

typically shipped;
• changes in product

mix;
• new product announcements by us or our competitors which may cause delays in purchasing;
• customers canceling, reducing, deferring or rescheduling significant orders as a result of excess inventory levels, weak economic conditions or other

factors;
• seasonality, including customer fiscal year-ends and budget availability impacting customer demand for our products;
• declines in large orders (defined as orders greater than $200,000);
• declines in royalty or software

revenues;
• product development and ramp cycles and product performance or quality issues of ours or our competitors;
• poor execution of and performance against expected sales and marketing plans and strategies;
• reduced demand from our OEM or distributors, VAR, DMR and other large customers;
• increased competition which may, among other things, increase pricing pressure or reduce

sales;
• restructuring actions or unexpected costs;

and
• foreign exchange

fluctuations.

Our manufacturing, component production and service repair are outsourced to third-party contract manufacturers, component suppliers and
service providers. If we cannot obtain products, parts and services from these third parties in a cost effective and timely manner that meets our
customers’ expectations, this could materially and adversely impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Many aspects of our supply chain and operational results are dependent on the performance of third-party business partners. We use third-party contract
manufacturers, service providers and/or product integrators in connection with our outsourced manufacturing model. We face a number of risks as a result of
these relationships, including, among others:

Sole source of product supply

In many cases, our business partner may be the sole source of supply for the products or parts they manufacture, or the services they provide, for us.
Because we are relying on one supplier, we are at greater risk of experiencing shortages, reduced production capacity or other delays in customer deliveries
that could result in customer dissatisfaction, lost sales and increased expenses, each of which could materially damage customer relationships and result in
lost revenue.

Cost and purchase commitments

We may not be able to control the costs for the products our business partners manufacture for us or the services they provide to us. They procure inventory to
build our products based upon a forecast of customer demand that we provide. We could be responsible for the financial impact on the contract manufacturer,
supplier or service provider of any reduction or product mix shift in the forecast relative to materials that they had already purchased under a prior forecast.
Such a variance in forecasted demand could require us to pay them for finished goods in excess of current customer demand or for excess or obsolete
inventory and generally incur higher costs. As a result, we could experience reduced gross margins and operating losses based on these purchase
commitments. With respect to service providers, although we have contracts for most of our third-party repair service vendors, the contract period may not be
the same as the underlying service contract with our customer. In such cases, we face risks that the third-party service provider may increase the cost of
providing services over subsequent periods contracted with our customer.
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Financial condition and stability

Our third-party business partners may suffer adverse financial or operational results or may be negatively impacted by global and local economic conditions.
Therefore, we may face interruptions in the supply of product components or service as a result of financial or other volatility affecting our supply chain. We
could suffer production downtime or increased costs to procure alternate products or services as a result of the possible inadequate financial condition of one
or more of our business partners.

Quality and supplier conduct

We have limited control over the quality of products and components produced and services provided by our supply chain and third-party contract
manufacturing and service business partners. Therefore, the quality of the products, parts or services may not be acceptable to our customers and could result
in customer dissatisfaction, lost revenue and increased warranty costs. In addition, we have limited control over the manner in which our business partners
conduct their business. Sub-tier suppliers selected by the primary third-party could have process control issues or could select components with latent defects
that manifest over a longer period of time. We may face negative consequences or publicity as a result of a third-party’s failure to comply with applicable
compliance, trade, environmental or employment regulations.

Any or all of these risks could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Because we may order components from suppliers in advance of receipt of customer orders for our products that include these components, we
could face a material inventory risk if we fail to accurately forecast demand for our products or manage production, which could have a material
and adverse effect on our results of operations and cash flows.

Although we use third parties to manufacture our products, in some cases we may retain the responsibility to purchase component inventory to support third-
party manufacturing activities, which presents a number of risks that could materially and adversely affect our financial condition. For instance, as part of our
component planning, we may place orders with or pay certain suppliers for components in advance of receipt of customer orders. We may occasionally enter
into negotiated orders with vendors early in the manufacturing process of our products to ensure that we have sufficient components for our products to meet
anticipated customer demand. Because the design and manufacturing process for these components can be complicated, it is possible that we could
experience a design or manufacturing flaw that could delay or even prevent the production of the components for which we previously committed to pay. We
also face the risk of ordering too many components, or conversely, not enough components, since supply orders are generally based on forecasts of customer
orders rather than actual customer orders. In addition, in some cases, we may make non-cancelable order commitments to our suppliers for work-in-
progress, supplier’s finished goods, custom sub-assemblies, discontinued (end-of-life) components and Quantum-unique raw materials that are necessary to
meet our lead times for finished goods. If we cannot change or be released from supply orders, we could incur costs from the purchase of unusable
components, either due to a delay in the production of the components or other supplies or as a result of inaccurately predicting supply orders in advance of
customer orders. These same risks exist with our third-party contract manufacturing partners. Our business and results of operations could be materially and
adversely affected if we incur increased costs or are unable to fulfill customer orders.

Because we rely heavily on distributors and other resellers to market and sell our products, if one or more distributors were to experience a
significant deterioration in its financial condition or its relationship with us, this could disrupt the distribution of our products and reduce our
revenue, which could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We heavily utilize distributors and VARs to perform the functions necessary to market and sell our products in certain product and geographic segments. To
fulfill this role, the distributor must maintain an acceptable level of financial stability, creditworthiness and the ability to successfully manage business
relationships with the customers it serves directly. Under our distributor agreements with these companies, each of the distributors determines the type and
amount of our products that it will purchase from us and the pricing of the products that it sells to its customers. If the distributor is unable to perform in an
acceptable manner, we may be required to reduce the amount of sales of our product to the distributor or terminate the relationship. We may also incur
financial losses for product returns from distributors or for the failure or refusal of distributors to pay obligations owed to us. Either scenario could result in
fewer of our products being available to the affected market segments, reduced levels of
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customer satisfaction and/or increased expenses, which could in turn have a material and adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial
condition.

Our stock price has experienced significant volatility in the recent past, and this significant volatility may continue to occur and could cause the
trading price of our common stock to
decline.

Our stock price has been extremely volatile in the recent past. For example, the closing price of our common stock was $8.35 on January 29, 2020 and was
$1.48 on March 18, 2020.

The trading price of our common stock may fluctuate in response to a number of events and factors, many of which are beyond our control, such as:

• quarterly variations in our results of operations;
• failure to meet our expectations or the expectations of securities analysts and investors;
• failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements or any investigations or enforcement actions; related to a potential failure to comply with

applicable regulations;
• significant changes in our brand or

reputation;
• new products, services, innovations and strategic developments by our competitors or us, or business combinations and investments by our

competitors or us;
• changes in our capital structure, including issuance of additional debt or equity to the public, and the issuance of common stock upon exercise of our

outstanding warrants;
• large or sudden purchases or sales of stock by existing or new investors; and
• the result of any litigation or governmental investigation, which could result in liabilities and reputational harm.

Other macro-economic forces also could affect our stock price, including:

• changes in interest and exchange
rates;

• a continued widespread decline in the U.S. or global economy as a result of the continued impact of COVID-19 or other pandemics or natural
disasters;

• fluctuations in the stock market in general and market prices for technology companies in particular; and
• tariffs imposed by the U.S. Government on sales originating in or being shipped to countries with which we have on-going trade or other political

conflicts.

Any of these events and factors may cause our stock price to rise or fall and may adversely affect our business and financing opportunities.

Our operation and design processes are subject to safety and environmental regulations which could lead to increased costs, or otherwise
adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to a variety of laws and regulations relating to, among other things, the use, storage, discharge and disposal of materials and substances used
in our facilities as well as the safety of our employees and the public. Current regulations in the U.S. and various international jurisdictions restrict the use of
certain potentially hazardous materials used in electronic products and components (including lead and some flame retardants), impose a “take back”
obligation on manufacturers for the financing of the collection, recovery and disposal of electrical and electronic equipment and require extensive investigation
into and disclosure regarding certain minerals used in our supply chain. We have implemented procedures and will likely continue to introduce new processes
to comply with current and future safety and environmental legislation. However, measures taken now or in the future to comply with such legislation may
adversely affect our costs or product sales by requiring us to acquire costly equipment or materials, redesign processes or to incur other significant expenses
in adapting our supply chain, waste disposal and emission management processes. Furthermore, safety or environmental claims or our failure to comply with
present or future regulations could result in the assessment of damages or imposition of fines against us or the suspension of affected operations, which could
have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We are subject to many laws and regulations, and violation of or changes in those requirements could materially and adversely affect our
business.
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We are subject to numerous U.S. and international laws and requirements regarding corporate conduct, fair competition, corruption prevention and import and
export practices, including laws applicable to U.S. government contractors. In addition, the SEC has adopted disclosure rules related to the supply of certain
minerals originating from the conflict zones of the Democratic Republic of the Congo or adjoining countries, and we have incurred costs to comply with such
regulations and may realize other costs relating to the sourcing and availability of minerals used in our products. While we maintain a rigorous corporate ethics
and compliance program, we may be subject to increased regulatory scrutiny, significant monetary fines or penalties, suspension of business opportunities or
loss of jurisdictional operating rights as a result of any failure to comply with those requirements. If we were to be subject to a compliance investigation, we
may incur increased personnel and legal costs. In addition, if we identify that we have fallen out of compliance, we may proactively take corrective actions,
including the filing of voluntary self-disclosure statements with applicable agencies, which could cause us to incur additional expenses and subject us to
penalties and other consequences that could adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition. Our supply and distribution models may
be reliant upon the actions of our third-party business partners and we may also be exposed to potential liability resulting from their violation of these or other
compliance requirements. Further, our U.S. and international business models are based on currently applicable regulatory requirements and exceptions.
Changes in those requirements or exceptions could necessitate changes to our business model. Any of these consequences could materially and adversely
impact our business and results of operations.

A cybersecurity breach into our products when used by our customers could adversely affect our ability to conduct our business, harm our
reputation, expose us to significant liability or otherwise damage our financial results.

A cybersecurity breach into a system we have sold to a customer could negatively affect our reputation as a trusted provider of large-scale storage, archive
and data protection products by adversely affecting the market’s perception of the security or reliability of our products and services. Many of our customers
and partners store sensitive data on our products, and a cybersecurity breach related to our products could harm our reputation and potentially expose us to
significant liability.

We also maintain sensitive data related to our employees, strategic partners and customers, including intellectual property, proprietary business information
and personally identifiable information on our own systems. We employ sophisticated security measures; however, we may face threats across our
infrastructure including unauthorized access, security breaches and other system disruptions.

It is critical to our business that our employees’, strategic partners’ and customers’ sensitive information remains secure and that our customers perceive that
this information is secure. A cybersecurity breach could result in unauthorized access to, loss of, or unauthorized disclosure of such information. A
cybersecurity breach could expose us to litigation, indemnity obligations, government investigations and other possible liabilities. Additionally, a cyber-attack,
whether actual or perceived, could result in negative publicity which could harm our reputation and reduce our customers’ confidence in the effectiveness of
our solutions, which could materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations. A breach of our security systems could also expose us to
increased costs including remediation costs, disruption of operations or increased cybersecurity protection costs that may have a material adverse effect on
our business. Although we maintain technology errors and omissions liability insurance, our insurance may not cover potential claims of these types or may
not be adequate to indemnify us for inability that may be imposed. Any imposition or liability or litigation costs that are not covered by insurance or in excess of
our insurance coverage could harm our business.

Our actual or perceived failure to adequately protect personal data could adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of
operations.

A variety of state, national, foreign, and international laws and regulations apply to the collection, use, retention, protection, disclosure, transfer and other
processing of personally identifiable information. These privacy- and data protection-related laws and regulations are evolving, with new or modified laws and
regulations proposed and implemented frequently and existing laws and regulations subject to new or different interpretations. Compliance with these laws
and regulations can be costly and can delay or impede the development of new products.

For example, in 2016, the European Parliament enacted the General Data Protection Regulation (or “GDPR”) which governs the collection, storage and use of
personal information gathered in the European Union, regardless of
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where such information is stored. In 2018, California enacted the Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”), which regulates information stored by companies doing
business in California. The regulations implementing the CCPA have not yet been published, and the implementation of standards for GDPR compliance
continue to evolve. Our products’ and internal systems’ actual or alleged failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations, or to protect personal data,
could result in enforcement actions and significant penalties against us, which could result in negative publicity, increase our operating costs, subject us to
claims or other remedies and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

We must maintain appropriate levels of service parts inventories. If we do not have sufficient service parts inventories, we may experience
increased levels of customer dissatisfaction. If we hold excessive service parts inventories, we may incur financial losses.
 
We maintain levels of service parts inventories to satisfy future warranty obligations and also to earn service revenue by providing enhanced and extended
warranty and repair service during and beyond the warranty period. We estimate the required amount of service parts inventories based on historical usage
and forecasts of future warranty and extended warranty requirements, including estimates of failure rates and costs to repair, and out of warranty revenue.
Given the significant levels of judgment inherently involved in the process, we cannot provide assurance that we will be able to maintain appropriate levels of
service parts inventories to satisfy customer needs and to avoid financial losses from excess service parts inventories. If we are unable to maintain appropriate
levels of service parts inventories, our business, financial condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely impacted.

From time to time we have made acquisitions. The failure to successfully integrate future acquisitions could harm our business, financial condition
and results of operations.

As a part of our business strategy, we have in the past and may make acquisitions in the future, subject to certain debt covenants. For example, in March
2020, we acquired the ActiveScale object storage business from Western Digital Technologies, Inc. We may also make significant investments in
complementary companies, products or technologies. If we fail to successfully integrate such acquisitions or significant investments, it could harm our
business, financial condition and results of operations. Risks that we may face in our efforts to integrate any recent or future acquisitions include, among
others:

• failure to realize anticipated synergies from the
acquisition;

• difficulties in assimilating and retaining employees;
• potential incompatibility of business cultures or resistance to change;
• coordinating geographically separate organizations;
• diversion of management’s attention from ongoing business

concerns;
• coordinating infrastructure operations in a rapid and efficient manner;
• the potential inability to maximize our financial and strategic position through the successful incorporation of acquired technology and rights into our

products and services;
• failure of acquired technology or products to provide anticipated revenue or margin contribution;
• insufficient revenues to offset increased expenses associated with the

acquisition;
• costs and delays in implementing or integrating common systems and procedures;
• reduction or loss of customer orders due to the potential for market confusion, hesitation and delay;
• impairment of existing customer, supplier and strategic relationships of either

company;
• insufficient cash flows from operations to fund the working capital and investment requirements;
• difficulties in entering markets in which we have no or limited direct prior experience and where competitors in such markets have stronger market

positions;
• the possibility that we may not receive a favorable return on our investment, the original investment may become impaired, and/or we may incur losses

from these investments;
• dissatisfaction or performance problems with the acquired

company;
• the assumption of risks of the acquired company that are difficult to quantify, such as litigation;
• the cost associated with the acquisition, including restructuring actions, which may require cash payments that, if large enough, could materially and

adversely affect our liquidity; and
• assumption of unknown liabilities or other unanticipated adverse events or

circumstances.

Acquisitions present many risks, and we may not realize the financial and strategic goals that were contemplated at the time of any transaction. We cannot
provide assurance that we will be able to successfully integrate any business, products, technologies or personnel that we may acquire in the future, and our
failure to do so could negatively impact our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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If the future outcomes related to the estimates used in recording tax liabilities to various taxing authorities result in higher tax liabilities than
estimated, then we would have to record tax charges, which could be material.

We have provided amounts and recorded liabilities for probable and estimable tax adjustments required by various taxing authorities in the U.S. and foreign
jurisdictions. If events occur that indicate payments of these amounts will be less than estimated, then reversals of these liabilities would create tax benefits
recognized in the periods when we determine the liabilities have reduced. Conversely, if events occur which indicate that payments of these amounts will be
greater than estimated, then tax charges and additional liabilities would be recorded. In particular, various foreign jurisdictions could challenge the
characterization or transfer pricing of certain intercompany transactions. In the event of an unfavorable outcome of such challenge, there exists the possibility
of a material tax charge and adverse impact on the results of operations in the period in which the matter is resolved or an unfavorable outcome becomes
probable and estimable.

Certain changes in stock ownership could result in a limitation on the amount of net operating loss and tax credit carryovers that can be utilized each year.
Should we undergo such a change in stock ownership, it would severely limit the usage of these carryover tax attributes against future income, resulting in
additional tax charges, which could be material.

We are exposed to fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates, and an adverse change in foreign currency exchange rates relative to our
position in such currencies could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

We do not currently use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes. We have used in the past, and may use in the future, foreign currency
forward contracts and derivative instruments to hedge our exposure to foreign currency exchange rates. To the extent that we have assets or liabilities
denominated in a foreign currency that are inadequately hedged or not hedged at all, we may be subject to foreign currency losses, which could be significant.

Our international operations can act as a natural hedge when both operating expenses and sales are denominated in local currencies. In these instances,
although an unfavorable change in the exchange rate of a foreign currency against the U.S. dollar would result in lower sales when translated to U.S. dollars,
operating expenses would also be lower in these circumstances. An increase in the rate at which a foreign currency is exchanged for U.S. dollars would
require more of that particular foreign currency to equal a specified amount of U.S. dollars than before such rate increase. In such cases, and if we were to
price our products and services in that particular foreign currency, we would receive fewer U.S. dollars than we would have received prior to such rate
increase for the foreign currency. Likewise, if we were to price our products and services in U.S. dollars while competitors priced their products in a local
currency, an increase in the relative strength of the U.S. dollar would result in our prices being uncompetitive in those markets. Such fluctuations in currency
exchange rates could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

 

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

Our headquarters are located in San Jose, California. We lease facilities in North America, Europe, and Asia Pacific. We believe our facilities are adequate for
our current needs. The following is a summary of the significant locations and primary functions of those facilities as of March 31, 2020:

Location             Function

North America   
San Jose, CA  Corporate headquarters, administration, research and development
Irvine, CA  Administration, research and development, sales, service
Englewood, CO  Administration, research and development, sales, service, operations
Mendota Heights, MN  Research and development
Richardson, TX  Research and development
Bellevue, WA  Administration and sales
 
Europe   
Paris, France  Sales and service
Boehmenkirch, Germany  Service
Munich, Germany  Sales, service
Zurich, Switzerland  Administration, operations management
Bracknell, UK  Sales, service
London, UK  Sales
Ghent, Belgium  Research and development
 
Asia Pacific   
Adelaide, Australia  Research and development
Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia  Customer service
Seoul, Korea  Sales, service
Singapore City, Singapore  Administration, operations management, sales
Tokyo, Japan  Sales

 

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

See Item 8 of Part II, “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data — Note 10 — Commitments and Contingencies.”

 
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE

None.

 

PART II

 
      
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information, Holders of Record, and Dividends

28



Table of Contents

Our common stock was traded on the New York Stock Exchange ("NYSE") under the symbol “QTM.” On January 15, 2019, we were delisted from the NYSE.

On January 16, 2019, we started trading under the symbol “QMCO” on the OTC Pink, which is operated by OTC Markets Group Inc.

On February 4, 2020, we started trading on the Nasdaq Global Select Market under the symbol "QMCO".

The per share prices reflected in the following table represent the range of high and low sales prices of our common stock for the quarters indicated. The OTC
Pink quotations do not reflect retail markup, markdown or commission and may not necessarily represent the prices of actual transactions during these
quarterly periods.

 High  Low

Fiscal 2020    
First quarter ended June 30, 2019 $2.81  $2.31

Second quarter ended September 30, 2019 6.26  2.63

Third quarter ended December 31, 2019 7.42  5.30

Fourth quarter ended March 31, 2020 8.35  1.48

    

Fiscal 2019    
First quarter ended June 30, 2018 $4.04  $2.06

Second quarter ended September 30, 2018 2.58  1.63

Third quarter ended December 31, 2018 2.97  1.21

Fourth quarter ended March 31, 2019 2.65  1.40

As of June 22, 2020, we had 248 holders of record of our common stock.

We have no intention of paying cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Our ability to pay dividends is restricted by the covenants in our senior secured term
loan and amended PNC credit facility agreements. See the section captioned “Liquidity and Capital Resources” in Item 7 Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and Note 4: Debt to the consolidated financial statements.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
During the year ended March 31, 2020, we did not sell any equity securities that were not registered under the Securities Act of 1933.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
During the year ended March 31, 2020, there were no purchases of our common stock by or on behalf of us or any of our affiliated purchasers, as such term is
defined in Rule 10b-18(a)(3) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
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Stock Performance Graph

The graph below compares the cumulative total return of a $100 investment in our common stock with the cumulative total return of the same investment in
the Nasdaq and the S&P 500 Index from March 31, 2015 through March 31, 2020.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

You should read the following selected financial data in conjunction with Item 7, "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations," our audited consolidated financial statements included in Item 8, "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data" and other financial information
included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

 For the Year Ended March 31,

 2020(1)  2019  2018  2017  2016
 (In thousands, except per share data)
Statement of Operations Data          
Total revenue $ 402,949  $ 402,680  $ 437,684  $ 493,054  $ 479,843

Total cost of revenue 230,441  235,066  264,900  287,782  276,524

Gross margin 172,508  167,614  172,784  205,272  203,319

Income (loss) from operations 21,204  (4,746)  (28,622)  6,681  (67,040)

Net loss (5,210)  (42,797)  (43,346)  (2,408)  (75,626)

Net loss per share - basic and diluted $ (0.14)  $ (1.20)  $ (1.25)  $ (0.07)  $ (2.30)

          

Balance Sheet Data          
Total assets $ 165,995  $ 172,871  $ 202,639  $ 221,242  $ 230,812

Short-term debt 7,321  1,650  7,500  62,827  3,000

Long-term debt, net 146,847  145,621  115,986  66,676  131,961

(1) 2020 amounts reflect our adoption of the new lease accounting standard, which resulted in the recording of $12.7 million of right-of-use assets and corresponding lease liabilities as of
April 1, 2020, which were not retroactively adjusted and reflect our historical accounting policies. See Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements for additional information.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATIONS

 
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read together with our consolidated financial statements,
the accompanying notes, and other information included in this Annual Report. In particular, the risk factors contained in Item 1A may reflect trends, demands,
commitments, events, or uncertainties that could materially impact our results of operations and liquidity and capital resources.

The following discussion contains forward-looking statements, such as statements regarding COVID-19's anticipated impacts on our business, our future
operating results and financial position, our business strategy and plans, our market growth and trends, and our objectives for future operations. Please see
"Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements" for more information about relying on these forward-looking statements.

OVERVIEW

We are a leader in storing and managing digital video and other forms of unstructured data. We help customers around the world to ingest, process, and
analyze digital data at high speed, and preserve and protect it for decades. Our customers include some of the world’s largest corporations, government
agencies, service providers, broadcasters, movie studios, sports leagues and teams, and enterprises in all industries. We work closely with a broad network of
distributors, VARs, DMRs, OEMs and other suppliers to solve our customers most pressing business challenges.
We earn our revenue from the sale of products and services through our channel partners and our sales force. Our products are sold under both the Quantum
brand name and the names of various OEM providers. Our portfolio of solutions includes:
• StorNext scale out file storage: A line of products designed for the highest speed ingest, processing, and analysis of video and other forms of

unstructured data. Powered by the StorNext file system software and data management platform, this product line includes new NVMe flash storage
servers (F-series) and hybrid SSD/HDD storage arrays.

• Video Surveillance Systems: Quantum offers a broad portfolio of solutions designed for video surveillance and physical security, including network video
recording servers (NVRs), hyperconverged (HCI) storage servers to host multiple physical security workloads, GPU-based analytics servers, and file and
object storage systems for large scale surveillance archives.

• ActiveScale Object Storage: Massively scalable object storage systems used to preserve and protect data with the highest levels of data durability.
• Tape Storage: Low cost, ultra-secure storage systems for long term archiving and ransomware protection. Quantum provides both the storage systems

and sells tape media under the Quantum brand.
• Backup Storage Systems: high-performance, scalable storage for backup and multi-site disaster

recovery.
• Quantum Services: A full line of services including managed services and Storage-as-a-Service offerings, as well as maintenance, implementation,

training and consulting services.

COVID-19 IMPACT AND ASSOCIATED ACTIONS
Since the beginning of March 2020, COVID-19 has led governments and other authorities around the world, including federal, state and local authorities in the
United States, to impose measures intended to reduce its spread, including restrictions on freedom of movement and business operations such as travel bans,
border closings, business limitations and closures (subject to exceptions for essential operations and businesses), quarantines and shelter-in-place orders.
These measures may remain in place for a significant period of time.

In light of these events, we have taken actions to protect the health and safety of our employees while continuing to serve our global customers as an essential
business. We have implemented more thorough sanitation practices as outlined by health organizations and instituted social distancing policies at our
locations around the world, including working from home, limiting the number of employees attending meetings, reducing the number of people in our sites at
any one time, and suspending employee travel.

For many of our customers, the COVID-19 pandemic has significantly affected their business. Movie and television production has been paused, professional
and collegiate sports seasons have been postponed or cancelled, and many corporations and enterprises have put information technology spending on hold
while they assess the short- and long-term impact of the pandemic. While our supply chain remains intact and operating, we have experienced issues related
to our logistics network. The reduced capacity within and across freight lanes (aircraft, personnel,
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customs clearance, etc.) has caused late deliveries from re-routes and mis-shipments, as well as increased expedite and other charges to deliver and receive
products. To date, we have experienced minimal impact on product availability, although future capacity constraints across the network due to lost capacity
from factory down time, closures, as well as reduced staff and demand signal fluctuations are expected to impact product availability in the months and
possibly quarters to come.

We believe that these social and economic impacts have had a negative effect on sales due to the decline in our customers' ability or willingness to purchase
our products and services. The extent of the impact will depend, in part, on how long the negative trends in customer demand and supply chain levels will
continue. We expect COVID-19 to significantly impact our financial condition, results of operations, and liquidity through at least our second quarter and likely
much longer.

We will continue to actively monitor the situation and may take further actions altering our business operations that we determine are in the best interests of
our employees, customers, partners, suppliers, and stakeholders, or as required by federal, state, or local authorities. See “The recent COVID-19 pandemic
could adversely affect our business, results of operations and financial condition” in Part II, Item 1A, Risk Factors, of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more
information regarding the risks we face as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

NON-U.S. GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES

To provide investors with additional information regarding our financial results, we have presented Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income (Loss), non-
U.S. GAAP financial measures defined below.

Adjusted EBITDA is a non-U.S. GAAP financial measure defined by us as net loss before interest expense, net, provision for income taxes, depreciation and
amortization expense, stock-based compensation expense, restructuring charges, costs related to the financial restatement and related activities described in
the Explanatory Paragraph and Note 2: – Restatement in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2019, and other non-recurring
expenses.

Adjusted Net Income (Loss) is a non-U.S. GAAP financial measure defined by us as net loss before restructuring charges, stock-based compensation
expense, costs related to the financial restatement and related activities described in the Explanatory Paragraph and Note 2: – Restatement in the Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2019 and other non-recurring (income) expenses. The Company calculates Adjusted Net Income (Loss)
per Basic and Diluted share using the Company’s above-referenced definition of Adjusted Net Income (Loss).

The Company considers non-recurring expenses to be expenses that have not been incurred within the prior two years and are not expected to recur within
the next two years. Such expenses include certain strategic and financial restructuring expenses.

We have provided below a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income (Loss) to Net Income (Loss), the most directly comparable U.S. GAAP
financial measure. We have presented Adjusted EBITDA because it is a key measure used by our management and the board of directors to understand and
evaluate our core operating performance and trends, to prepare and approve our annual budget and to develop short and long-term operating plans. In
particular, we believe that the exclusion of the amounts eliminated in calculating Adjusted EBITDA can provide a useful measure for period-to-period
comparisons of our core business performance. We believe Adjusted Net Income (Loss) and Adjusted Net Income (Loss) per Basic and Diluted Share serve
as appropriate measures to be used in evaluating the performance of our business and help our investors better compare our operating performance over
multiple periods. Accordingly, we believe that Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income (Loss) provide useful information to investors and others in
understanding and evaluating our operating results in the same manner as our management and our board of directors.

Our use of Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income (Loss) have limitations as analytical tools, and you should not consider them in isolation or as a
substitute for analysis of our financial results as reported under U.S. GAAP. Some of these limitations are as follows:

• Although depreciation and amortization expense are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized may have to be replaced in the future,
and Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect cash capital expenditure requirements for such replacements or for new capital expenditure requirements;

• Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect: (1) interest and tax payments that may represent a reduction in cash available to us; (2) capital expenditures, future
requirements for capital expenditures or contractual commitments; (3) changes in, or cash requirements for, working capital needs; (4) the potentially
dilutive impact
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of stock-based compensation expense; (5) loss on debt extinguishment or (6) potential future restructuring expenses;

• Adjusted Net Income (Loss) does not reflect: (1) potential future restructuring activities; (2) the potentially dilutive impact of stock-based compensation
expense; (3) loss on debt extinguishment; or (4) potential future restructuring expenses; and

• Other companies, including companies in our industry, may calculate Adjusted EBITDA, Adjusted Net Income (Loss) or similarly titled measures
differently, which reduces its usefulness as a comparative measure.

Because of these and other limitations, you should consider Adjusted EBITDA and Adjusted Net Income (Loss) along with other U.S. GAAP-based financial
performance measures, including various cash flow metrics and our U.S. GAAP financial results.
The following is a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to the most comparable U.S. GAAP financial measure, Net Income (Loss) (dollars in thousands):

 Year Ended March 31,

 2020  2019  2018
Net loss $ (5,210 )  $ (42,797)  $ (43,346 )

Interest expense, net 25,350  21,095  11,670

Provision (benefit) for income taxes 803  2,376  (3,113 )

Depreciation and amortization expense 4,287  4,266  4,970

Stock-based compensation expense 6,748  3,409  5,394

Restructuring charges 1,022  5,570  8,474

Loss on debt extinguishment —  17,458  6,934

Cost related to financial restatement and related activities 12,868  19,664  1,709

Other non-recurring (income) expense, net —  1,500  2,848

Adjusted EBITDA $ 45,868  $ 32,541  $ (4,460 )

      

The following is a reconciliation of Adjusted Net Income (Loss) to the most comparable U.S. GAAP financial measure, Net Income (Loss) (in thousands,
except per share amounts):

 Year Ended March 31,

 2020  2019  2018
Net loss $ (5,210 )  $ (42,797)  $ (43,346 )

Restructuring charges 1,022  5,570  8,474

Loss on debt extinguishment —  17,458  6,934

Stock-based compensation 6,748  3,409  5,394

Cost related to financial restatement and related activities 12,868  19,664  1,709

Other non-recurring (income) expense, net —  1,500  2,848

   Adjusted net income (loss) $ 15,428  $ 4,804  $ (17,987 )

   Adjusted net income (loss) per share:      
      Basic $ 0.41  $ 0.14  $ (0.52 )

      Diluted $ 0.34  $ 0.12  $ (0.52 )

   Weighted average shares outstanding:      
      Basic 37,593  35,551  34,687
      Diluted 45,059  40,515  34,687
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

 Year Ended March 31,
(dollars in thousands) 2020  2019  2018
Total revenue $ 402,949  $ 402,680  $ 437,684

Total cost of revenue (1) 230,441  235,066  264,900

Gross profit 172,508  167,614  172,784

Operating expenses      
Research and development (1) 36,301  32,113  38,562

Sales and marketing (1) 59,524  69,400  102,242

General and administrative (1) 54,457  65,277  52,128

Restructuring charges 1,022  5,570  8,474

Total operating expenses 151,304  172,360  201,406

Income (loss) from operations 21,204  (4,746 )  (28,622 )

Other income (expense) (261 )  2,878  767

Interest expense (25,350 )  (21,095 )  (11,670 )

Loss on debt extinguishment, net —  (17,458 )  (6,934 )

Income (loss) before income taxes (4,407 )  (40,421 )  (46,459 )

Income tax provision (benefit) 803  2,376  (3,113 )

Net income (loss) $ (5,210 )  $ (42,797 )  $ (43,346 )

(1) Includes stock-based compensation as follows:

 Year Ended March 31,
(dollars in thousands) 2020  2019  2018
Cost of revenue $ 452  $ 334  $ 725

Research and development 984  440  906

Sales and marketing 1,165  179  1,790

General and administrative 4,147  2,456  1,973

   Total $ 6,748  $ 3,409  $ 5,394
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Comparison of the Years Ended March 31, 2020 and 2019

Revenue

 Year Ended March 31,     
(dollars in thousands)

2020  
% of

revenue  20191  
% of

revenue  $ Change  % Change

Product revenue            
   Secondary storage systems $ 111,672  28%  $ 126,528  31%  $ (14,856)  (12)%

   Primary storage systems 77,152  19%  58,811  15%  18,341  31 %

   Devices and media 62,344  15%  59,315  15%  3,029  5 %

      Total product revenue $ 251,168  62%  $ 244,654  61%  $ 6,514  3 %

Service revenue 131,050  33%  134,696  33%  (3,646)  (3)%

Royalty revenue 20,731  5%  23,330  6%  (2,599)  (11)%

Total revenue $ 402,949  100%  $ 402,680  100%  $ 269  — %

1 Primary and Secondary storage system revenue has been adjusted for fiscal year 2019 due to certain reclassifications from Primary to Secondary storage systems.

Product Revenue

In fiscal 2020, product revenue increased $6.5 million, or 3%, as compared to fiscal 2019. Primary storage systems represented $18.3 million of the increase
driven by growth across both our Media & Entertainment and government vertical markets. Devices and media increased $3.0 million driven by the resolution
of a legal dispute, which had caused a constraint on LTO tape supply between the two principal suppliers in the market. This was offset in part by a $14.9
million decrease in Secondary storage systems due to declines in our legacy enterprise backup business for both branded and OEM products.

Service Revenue

Service revenue decreased $3.6 million, or 3%, in fiscal 2020 compared to fiscal 2019. This decrease was due to reduced support renewals from our legacy
backup customers, partially offset by new customer support agreements and installations.

Royalty Revenue

We receive royalties from third parties that license our LTO media patents through our membership in the LTO consortium. Royalty revenue decreased $2.6
million, or 11%, in fiscal 2020, as compared to fiscal 2019, related to overall declines in market unit volumes as the primary use of tape transitions from
backup to archive workflows.

Gross Profit and Margin

 Year Ended March 31,     
(dollars in thousands)

2020  
Gross

margin %  2019  
Gross

margin %  $ Change  
Basis point

change
Product gross profit $ 71,408  28.4%  $ 64,808  26.5%  $ 6,600  190

Service gross profit 80,369  61.3%  79,476  59.0%  893  230

Royalty gross profit 20,731  100.0%  23,330  100.0%  (2,599)  —

Gross profit $ 172,508  42.8%  $ 167,614  41.6%  $ 4,894  120

Product Gross Margin

Product gross margin increased 190 basis points in fiscal 2020, as compared with fiscal 2019. This increase was due primarily to cost reductions across a
wide range of product offerings, and a mix weighted towards more profitable products.

Service Gross Margin
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Service gross margin increased 230 basis points for fiscal 2020, as compared with the same period in 2019. This increase was due primarily to reductions in
cost of service.

Royalty Gross Margin

Royalties do not have significant related cost of sales.

Operating expenses

 Year Ended March 31,     
(dollars in thousands)

2020  
% of

revenue  2019  
% of

revenue  $ Change  % Change
Research and development $ 36,301  9%  $ 32,113  8%  $ 4,188  13 %

Sales and marketing 59,524  15%  69,400  17%  (9,876)  (14)%

General and administrative 54,457  14%  65,277  16%  (10,820)  (17)%

Restructuring charges 1,022  —%  5,570  1%  (4,548)  (82)%

   Total operating expenses $ 151,304  38%  $ 172,360  43%  $ (21,056)  (12)%

In fiscal 2020, research and development expense increased $4.2 million, or 13%, as compared with fiscal 2019. This increase was partially attributable to an
increase in research and development headcount and professional services cost related to new product development.

In fiscal 2020, sales and marketing expenses decreased $9.9 million, or 14%, as compared with fiscal 2019. This decrease was driven by a decrease in
compensation and benefits as the result of lower headcount and a decrease in marketing programs and professional services costs.

In fiscal 2020, general and administrative expenses decreased $10.8 million, or 17%, as compared with fiscal 2019. This decrease was driven primarily by
lower costs related to our prior financial restatement and related activities, which we primarily incurred in fiscal 2019 compared to fiscal 2020, lower software
expenses as we streamline our processes and tools throughout the company, decreased facilities expenses as we consolidate our physical footprint, and
decreased bank fees. These decreases were partially offset by increases to stock compensation expense.

In fiscal 2020, restructuring expenses decreased $4.5 million, or 82%, as compared with fiscal 2019. This decrease was primarily due to the higher level of
headcount reductions that occurred during fiscal 2019.

Other Income (Expense)

 Year Ended March 31,     
(dollars in thousands)

2020  
% of

revenue  2019  
% of

revenue  $ Change  % Change
Other income (expense) $ (261)  0 %  $ 2,878  1 %  $ 3,139  (109)%

Interest expense (25,350)  (6)%  (21,095)  (5)%  4,255  20 %

Loss on debt extinguishment —  — %  (17,458)  (4)%  (17,458)  (100)%

In fiscal 2020, other (income) expense, net decreased $3.1 million or 109%, compared to fiscal 2019. The decrease was primarily related to a gain on the
disposal of an investment that occurred in fiscal 2019, and differences in foreign currency gains and losses during each period.

In fiscal 2020, interest expense increased $4.3 million, or 20%, as compared to fiscal 2019. This increase was primarily due to a higher average principal
balance of our outstanding debt.

In fiscal 2019, we incurred a loss on debt extinguishment related to our Term Loan.
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 Year Ended March 31,     
(dollars in thousands)

2020  
% of

revenue  2019  
% of

revenue  $ Change  % Change
Income tax provision $ 803  —%  $ 2,376  1%  $ (1,573)  (66)%

Our income tax provision is primarily influenced by foreign and state income taxes. In fiscal 2020, the income tax provision decreased $1.6 million or 66%,
compared to fiscal 2019, related primarily to an unfavorable $1.4 million valuation allowance recorded in fiscal 2019 for our Australian deferred tax assets. 

Due to our history of net losses in the U.S., the protracted period for utilizing tax attributes in certain foreign jurisdictions, and the difficulty in predicting future
results, we believe that we cannot rely on projections of future taxable income to realize most of our deferred tax assets. Accordingly, we have established a
full valuation allowance against our U.S. and certain foreign net deferred tax assets. Significant management judgement is required in assessing our ability to
realize any future benefit from our net deferred tax assets. We intend to maintain this valuation allowance until sufficient positive evidence exists to support its
reversal. Our income tax expense recorded in the future will be reduced to the extent that sufficient positive evidence materializes to support a reversal of, or
decrease in, our valuation allowance.

Comparison of the Years Ended March 31, 2019 and 2018

Revenue

 Year Ended March 31,     
(dollars in thousands)

20191  
% of

revenue  20181  
% of

revenue  $ Change  % Change

Product revenue            
   Primary storage systems $ 58,811  15%  $ 77,976  18%  $ (19,165)  (25)%

   Secondary storage systems 126,528  31%  121,402  28%  5,126  4 %

   Devices and media 59,315  15%  69,204  16%  (9,889)  (14)%

      Total product revenue $ 244,654  61%  $ 268,582  61%  $ (23,928)  (9)%

Service revenue 134,696  33%  136,523  31%  (1,827)  (1)%

Royalty revenue 23,330  6%  32,579  8%  (9,249)  (28)%

Total revenue $ 402,680  100%  $ 437,684  100%  $ (35,004)  (8)%

1 Primary and Secondary storage system revenue has been adjusted for fiscal years 2019 and 2018 due to certain reclassifications from Primary to Secondary storage systems.

Product Revenue

In fiscal 2019, product revenue decreased $23.9 million, or 9%, as compared to fiscal 2018. Primary storage systems represented $19.2 million of the
decrease, driven by declines in lower margin disk business in our U.S. domestic market. Devices and media decreased $9.9 million driven by a legal dispute,
which caused a constraint on LTO tape supply between the two principal suppliers in the market. These were offset in part by secondary storage systems
which increased $5.1 million driven by growth with our hyperscale customers.

Service Revenue

Service revenue was relatively flat, decreasing 1% in fiscal 2019 compared to fiscal 2018. This decrease was due to a combination of reduced new customer
installations and reduced support renewals from our legacy customers.

Royalty Revenue

We receive royalties from third parties that license our LTO media patents through our membership in the LTO consortium. Royalty revenue decreased $9.2
million, or 28%, in fiscal 2019 as compared to fiscal 2018 due to overall declines in market unit volumes as the primary use of tape transitions from backup to
archive workflows.
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Gross Profit and Margin

 Year Ended March 31,     
(dollars in thousands)

2019  
Gross

margin %  2018  
Gross

margin %  $ Change  
Basis point

change
Product gross profit $ 64,808  26.5%  $ 62,471  23.3%  $ 2,337  320

Service gross profit 79,476  59.0%  77,734  56.9%  1,742  210

Royalty gross profit 23,330  100.0%  32,579  100.0%  (9,249)  —

Gross profit $ 167,614  41.6%  $ 172,784  39.5%  $ (5,170)  210

Product Gross Margin

Product gross margin increased 320 basis points in fiscal 2019, as compared with fiscal 2018. This increase was due primarily to cost reductions across a
wide range of product offerings, and a mix weighted towards more profitable products.

Service Gross Margin

Service gross margin increased 210 basis points in fiscal 2019, as compared with fiscal 2018. This increase was due primarily to reductions in cost of service.

Royalty Gross Margin

Royalties do not have significant related cost of sales.

Operating expenses

 Year Ended March 31,     
(dollars in thousands)

2019  
% of

revenue  2018  
% of

revenue  $ Change  % Change
Research and development $ 32,113  8%  $ 38,562  9%  $ (6,449)  (17)%

Sales and marketing 69,400  17%  102,242  23%  (32,842)  (32)%

General and administrative 65,277  16%  52,128  12%  13,149  25 %

Restructuring charges 5,570  1%  8,474  2%  (2,904)  (34)%

   Total operating expenses $ 172,360  43%  $ 201,406  46%  $ (29,046)  (14)%

In fiscal 2019, research and development expense decreased $6.4 million, or 17%, as compared with fiscal 2018. This decrease was partially attributable to a
decrease in research and development headcount and professional services cost as we drove efficiencies throughout the business.

In fiscal 2019, sales and marketing expenses decreased $32.8 million, or 32%, as compared with fiscal 2018. This decrease was driven by a decrease in
compensation and benefits as the result of lower headcount and a decrease in marketing programs and professional services costs.

In fiscal 2019, general and administrative expenses increased $13.1 million, or 25%, as compared with fiscal 2018. This increase was driven primarily by
higher costs in fiscal 2019 related to our prior financial restatement and related activities. and increases in stock compensation expense.

In fiscal 2019, restructuring expenses decreased $2.9 million, or 34%, as compared with fiscal 2018. This decrease was primarily due to the high level of
headcount reductions that occurred during fiscal 2018.
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Other Income (Expense)

 Year Ended March 31,     
(dollars in thousands)

2019  
% of

revenue  2018  
% of

revenue  $ Change  % Change
Other income (expense) $ 2,878  1 %  $ 767  0 %  (2,111)  275 %

Interest expense (21,095)  (5)%  (11,670)  (3)%  9,425  (81)%

Loss on debt extinguishment (17,458)  (4)%  (6,934)  (2)%  10,524  (152)%

In fiscal 2019, other (income) expense, net increased $2.1 million or 275%, compared to fiscal 2018. The increase was primarily due to a gain of $2.8 million
on the disposal of an investment in fiscal 2019, offset by a $0.6 million reduction in foreign exchange gain as compared to fiscal 2018.

In fiscal 2019, interest expense increased $9.4 million, or 81%, as compared with fiscal 2018. This increase was primarily due to a higher average principal
balance.

Loss on debt extinguishment increased $10.5 million or 152% in fiscal 2019 compared to fiscal 2018. The fiscal 2019 loss on debt extinguishment included
$14.9 million related to the August 2018 modification of our TCW Term Loan, $1.8 million related to the August 2018 amendment to the PNC Credit Facility,
and $0.8 million related to the December 2018 amendment to the PNC Credit Facility. During fiscal 2018, we recorded a loss on debt extinguishment of $6.9
million related to the February 2018 amendment to our TCW Term Loan.

 Year Ended March 31,     
(dollars in thousands)

2019  
% of

revenue  2018  
% of

revenue  $ Change  % Change
Income tax provision (benefit) $ 2,376  1%  $ (3,113)  (1)%  $ 5,489  (176)%

Our income tax provision is primarily influenced by foreign and state income taxes. In fiscal 2019, our income tax provision (benefit) increased $5.5 million or
176%, compared to fiscal 2018. The increase was primarily due to fiscal 2018 benefitting from a $2.1 million reserve release resulting from an audit settlement
with a foreign taxing authority and a $2.9 million refundable tax credit resulting from the repeal of the Corporate Alternative Minimum Tax enacted as part of
the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act in 2017.

40



 
Table of Contents

Quarterly Results of Operations and Key Business Metrics

The following tables set forth our unaudited quarterly statements of operations data for the most recent eight quarters, as well as the percentage that each line
item represents of our revenue for each quarter presented. The information for each quarter has been prepared on a basis consistent with our consolidated
financial statements and reflect, in the opinion of management, all adjustments of a normal, recurring nature that are necessary for a fair presentation of the
financial information contained in those statements. The following quarterly financial data should be read in conjunction with Item 7, "Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," our audited consolidated financial statements included in Item 8, "Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data" and other financial information included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

 Three Months Ended

 Mar. 31, 2020  Dec. 31, 2019  Sep. 30, 2019  June 30, 2019  Mar. 31, 2019  Dec. 31, 2018  Sep. 30, 2018  June 30, 2018
Total revenue $ 88,215  $ 103,315  $ 105,789  $ 105,630  $ 103,277  $ 101,979  $ 89,912  $ 107,512

Total cost of revenue 52,132  56,239  62,266  59,804  60,611  58,897  54,385  61,173

Gross profit 36,083  47,076  43,523  45,826  42,666  43,082  35,527  46,339

Operating expenses:                
Research and development 9,243  9,325  9,350  8,383  8,083  7,907  7,862  8,261

Sales and marketing 13,423  15,421  14,824  15,856  16,603  16,990  16,682  19,125

General and administrative 10,833  10,719  14,329  18,576  18,333  13,481  14,072  19,391

Restructuring charges 2  (64)  821  263  142  1,227  294  3,907

Total 33,501  35,401  39,324  43,078  43,161  39,605  38,910  50,684

Income (loss) from operations 2,582  11,675  4,199  2,748  (495)  3,477  (3,383)  (4,345)

Other income (expense) 185  (611)  76  89  (992)  3,846  (196)  220

Interest expense (6,272)  (6,425)  (6,347)  (6,306)  (6,286)  (6,238)  (4,636)  (3,935)

Loss on debt extinguishment, net —  —  —  —  —  (5,033)  (12,425)  —

Income (loss) before income taxes (3,505)  4,639  (2,072)  (3,469)  (7,773)  (3,948)  (20,640)  (8,060)

Income tax provision (benefit) 332  (110)  243  338  1,637  337  977  (575)

Net income (loss) $ (3,837)  $ 4,749  $ (2,315)  $ (3,807)  $ (9,410)  $ (4,285)  $ (21,617)  $ (7,485)

Net income (loss) per share                
   Basic $ (0.10)  $ 0.12  $ (0.06)  $ (0.11)  $ (0.26)  $ (0.12)  $ (0.61)  $ (0.21)

   Diluted $ (0.10)  $ 0.10  $ (0.06)  $ (0.11)  $ (0.26)  $ (0.12)  $ (0.61)  $ (0.21)

 
Liquidity and Capital Resources

We consider liquidity in terms of the sufficiency of internal and external cash resources to fund our operating, investing and financing activities. Our principal
sources of liquidity include cash from operating activities, cash and cash equivalents on our balance sheet and amounts available under our Amended PNC
Credit Facility (as defined below). We require significant cash resources to meet obligations to pay principal and interest on our outstanding debt, provide for
our research and development activities, fund our working capital needs, and make capital expenditures. Our future liquidity requirements will depend on
multiple factors, including our research and development plans and capital asset needs. We are subject to the risks arising from COVID-19 which have caused
substantial financial market volatility and have adversely affected both the U.S. and the global economy. We believe that these social and economic impacts
have had a negative effect on sales due to the decline in our customers' ability or willingness to purchase our products and services. The extent of the impact
will depend, in part, on how long the negative trends in customer demand and supply chain levels will continue. We expect the impact of COVID-19 to have a
significant impact on our liquidity and capital resources.

We believe that our existing sources of liquidity including the Amended PNC Credit Facility will be sufficient to fund our cash flow requirements for at least the
next 12 months. We may need or decide to seek additional funding through equity or debt financings but cannot guarantee that additional funds would be
available on terms
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acceptable to us, if at all. We believe we were in compliance with all covenants under the Credit Agreements as of the date of filing of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

We had cash and cash equivalents of $6.4 million as of March 31, 2020, compared to $10.8 million as of March 31, 2019. These amounts exclude, as of both
dates, $5.0 million in restricted cash that we are required to maintain under the Credit Agreements (as defined below) and $0.8 million and $1.1 million of
short-term restricted cash, respectively.

Our outstanding long-term debt amounted to $146.8 million as of March 31, 2020, net of $13.7 million in unamortized debt issuance costs and $7.3 million in
current portion of long-term debt, and $145.6 million as of March 31, 2019, net of $17.3 million in unamortized debt issuance costs and $1.7 million in current
portion of long-term debt. Included in long-term debt as of March 31, 2020 was $2.6 million of borrowings under our Amended PNC Credit Facility, which had
an additional $22.7 million of borrowing availability as of March 31, 2020 (subject to change based on certain financial metrics). See “—Liquidity and Long-
Term Debt” and “—Contractual Obligations” below for further information about our outstanding debt.

We are subject to various debt covenants under our Credit Agreements (as defined below). Our failure to comply with our debt covenants could materially and
adversely affect our financial condition and ability to service our obligations. See "Risks Related to our Business Operations" section of Item 1A Risk Factors.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes our consolidated cash flows for the periods indicated.

 Year Ended March 31,

(Dollars in thousands) 2020  2019  2018

Cash provided by (used in):      
   Operating activities (1,181 )  $ (16,859 )  $ (5,032 )

   Investing activities (4,599 )  235  (2,296 )

   Financing activities 1,211  16,210  (11,232 )

   Effect of exchange rate changes (16 )  62  (145 )

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash $ (4,585 )  $ (352 )  $ (18,705 )

Net Cash Used In Operating Activities

Net cash used in operating activities was $1.2 million for the year ended March 31, 2020, primarily attributable $20.9 million of changes in assets and liabilities
due primarily to lower deferred revenue and manufacturing inventories, offset in part by certain non-cash items.

Net cash used in operating activities was $16.9 million in fiscal 2019, an increase of $11.8 million from $5.0 million in fiscal 2018, mainly reflecting a
$25.4 million decrease in payables in fiscal 2019, compared to a $21.6 million increase in fiscal 2018, and an approximately $7.4 million increase in cash
interest expense in fiscal 2019 compared to fiscal 2018, reflecting the terms of our refinanced debt. Our outstanding payables increased steadily through each
quarter in 2018 due to our efforts to manage working capital, undertaken mainly to fund costs related to professional fees associated with the financial
restatement activities and related civil ligation defense costs, and decreased steadily through fiscal 2019, except in the fourth quarter, reflecting a
normalization of our payables cycles following our debt refinancing in late December 2018. These factors more than offset the impact of a $20.9 million
improvement in loss from operations.

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities was $4.6 million for the year ended March 31, 2020, primarily attributable to $2.6 million of capital expenditures and $2.0
million for the purchase of the ActiveScale business.

42



Table of Contents

Net cash provided by investing activities was $0.2 million in fiscal 2019, reflecting investment income of $2.9 million related to an investment in an equity fund
that was liquidated during the period, which more than offset $2.7 million in capital expenditures.

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities was $1.2 million, $16.2 million, and ($11.2) million for the years ended March 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018. Net
cash provided by financing activities during the year ended March 31, 2020 related primarily to net borrowings under the Amended PNC Credit Facility.
Activity during the years ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 related primarily to our debt refinancing activities, which are summarized under “—Debt Profile and
Covenants” below and Note 4: Debt, to our consolidated financial statements.

Liquidity and Long-Term Debt

Paycheck Protection Program

On April 13, 2020, we entered into a Payment Protection Term Note (the “Note”) effective April 11, 2020 with PNC Bank, National Association as the lender
(“Lender”) in an aggregate principal amount of $10.0 million pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program under the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic
Security (CARES) Act (the “PPP Loan”). Subject to the terms of the Note, the PPP Loan bears interest at a fixed rate of 1% per annum, with interest deferred
up to a maximum of 10 months payable monthly thereafter, has an initial term of two years and is unsecured and guaranteed by the Small Business
Administration. Under the terms of the PPP Loan, we may apply for forgiveness of the amount due on the Loan. We have utilized the proceeds from the PPP
Loan for qualifying expenses and to apply for forgiveness of the PPP Loan in accordance with the terms of the CARES Act. However, we cannot be assured at
this time that the PPP Loan will be forgiven partially, or in full.

Long-Term Debt

We are party to the Amended PNC Credit Agreement, a senior secured revolving credit facility in an available principal amount equal to the lesser of (i)
$45.0 million and (ii) the “borrowing base” (as defined under the Amended PNC Credit Agreement). The Amended PNC Credit Facility had a borrowing base
of $27.0 million as of March 31, 2020, $22.7 million of which was available at that date.

We are also party to a senior secured term loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of $165.2 million as of March 31, 2020 (the “Senior Secured Term
Loan” and together with the Amended PNC Credit Agreement, the “Credit Agreements”). The Senior Secured Term Loan provides for a senior secured term
loan of $150.0 million, drawn on the closing date, and a senior secured delayed draw term loan of $15.0 million, drawn in January 2019. The proceeds of the
Senior Secured Term Loan were used to repay our previously outstanding long-term debt and fund our working capital requirements. Outstanding amounts
under both Credit Agreements mature and are due and payable on December 27, 2023.

Pursuant to each Credit Agreement, we granted a lien to the respective agents under the Senior Secured Term Loan and the Amended PNC Credit Facility in
all of the assets now owned or hereafter acquired by us, Quantum LTO Holdings, LLC, our wholly-owned direct subsidiary and any future domestic subsidiary
that, at the respective agent’s discretion, becomes a loan party under the Credit Agreements, including, without limitation: accounts, books, chattel paper,
commercial tort claims, deposit accounts, equipment, fixtures, general intangibles, inventory, investment property, intellectual property and intellectual property
licenses, equity interests, securities accounts, supporting obligations, money and cash equivalents, and the proceeds and products of each of the foregoing, in
each case, subject to certain exceptions.

The Credit Agreements contain certain customary financial and other covenants, including requirements to prepay the loans in an amount equal to 100% of
the net cash proceeds from certain assets dispositions, subject to certain reinvestment rights and other exceptions, and restrictions on the payment of
dividends and certain other payments (subject to certain exceptions). Amounts outstanding under the Credit Agreements may become due and payable upon
the occurrence of specified events, which among other things include (subject to certain exceptions and cure periods): failure to pay principal, interest, or any
fees when due; breach of any representation or warranty, covenant, or other agreement in the Credit Agreements; the occurrence of a bankruptcy or
insolvency proceeding with respect us or any of our subsidiaries; any “Event of Default” with respect to other indebtedness involving an aggregate amount of
$1.0 million or more; any lien created by the Credit Agreements or any related security
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documents ceasing to be valid and perfected; the Credit Agreements or any related security documents or guarantees ceasing to be legal, valid, and binding
upon the parties thereto; or a change of control.

Amendments to the Senior Secured Term Loan

On March 30, 2020 and March 31, 2020, we entered into amendments to the Senior Secured Term Loan which, among other things, included (a) a payment of
$1.9 million of the interest due on April 1, 2020 in kind rather than in cash, and (b) the waiver of compliance with the total net leverage ratio covenant, as
defined in the Senior Secured Term Loan agreement, for the quarter ended March 31, 2020.

On June 16, 2020, we entered into an amendment to the Senior Secured Term Loan (the "June 2020 Term Loan Amendment"). The amendment provides an
additional borrowing of $20.0 million in senior secured term loans, which was immediately drawn in full. The amendment also: (a) waives the excess cash flow
payment ("ECF") of $5.3 million for the year ended March 31, 2020; (b) defers payment of the scheduled amortization payments due on June 30, 2020,
September 30, 2020, and December 31, 2020 until the maturity date; (c) amends the definition of “EBITDA” to, among other things, add an add-back for
certain costs, expenses and fees incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated by the amendment; (d) waives compliance with the total net
leverage ratio, fixed charge coverage ratio, minimum liquidity and minimum EBITDA financial covenants for the quarters ending on June 30, 2020, September
30, 2020, December 31, 2020, and March 31, 2021; (e) adds a financial covenant that requires a minimum monthly average undrawn availability of $7.0
million under the Amended PNC Credit Facility during the period from June 30, 2020 through and including May 31, 2021; and (f) amends the covenant levels
for the total net leverage ratio, fixed charge coverage ratio, and minimum EBITDA financial covenants, commencing with the quarter ending June 30, 2021.
The amendment modified the Equity Clawback to allow us to prepay up to 50% of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Senior Secured Term
Loan balance with cash proceeds of a public offering of our common stock at a prepayment premium of 5% of the principal amount being repaid. The
amendment also added an exit fee of 2% of the aggregate principal amount repaid excluding amounts repaid that are subject to the Equity Clawback.
 
Borrowings under the Senior Secured Term Loan bear interest at a rate per annum, at our option, equal to (a) the greater of (i) 3.00%, (ii) the Federal funds
rate plus 0.50%, (iii) the LIBOR rate plus 1.0%, and (iv) the Prime rate as quoted by the Wall Street Journal, plus an applicable margin of 9.00% or (b) LIBOR
Rate plus an applicable margin of 10.00%. Interest on the Senior Secured Term Loan is payable quarterly. Principal payments of 0.25% of the original balance
of the Senior Secured Term Loan are due quarterly with the remaining principal balance due at maturity. Additionally, on an annual basis beginning with the
fiscal year ending March 31, 2021, we will be required to perform a calculation of ECF which may require an additional payment of the principal in certain
circumstances. The interest rate applicable to our borrowings under the Senior Secured Term Loan as of March 31, 2020 was 12.0%.

In connection with the June 2020 Term Loan Amendment, we issued to certain lenders and certain of their affiliates warrants (the “2020 Term Loan Warrants”)
to purchase 3,400,000 shares our common stock, at an exercise price of $3.00 per share. The exercise price and the number of shares underlying the 2020
Term Loan Warrants are subject to adjustment in the event of specified events, including dilutive issuances of common stock linked equity instruments at a
price lower than the exercise price of the 2020 Term Loan Warrants, a subdivision or combination of our common stock, a reclassification of our common
stock or specified dividend payments. The 2020 Term Loan Warrants are exercisable until June 16, 2030. Upon exercise, the aggregate exercise price may be
paid, at each warrant holder’s election, in cash or on a net issuance basis, based upon the fair market value of our common stock at the time of exercise.

Amendments to Amended PNC Credit Facility

On April 3, 2020, we entered into an amendment to the Amended PNC Credit Facility. The amendment amends certain terms, including to waive compliance
with the total net leverage ratio and total leverage ratio covenants for the quarter ending March 31, 2020.

On June 16, 2020, we entered into an amendment to the Amended PNC Credit Facility. The amendment includes certain terms, including: (a) amend the
definition of “EBITDA” to, among other things, an add-back for certain costs, expenses and fees incurred in connection with the transactions contemplated by
the amendment; (b) waive compliance with the total net leverage ratio, total leverage ratio, fixed charge coverage ratio, minimum average liquidity and
minimum EBITDA financial covenants for the quarters ending on June 30, 2020, September 30, 2020, December 31, 2020, and
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March 31, 2021; (c) add a financial covenant that requires a minimum monthly average undrawn availability level of $7.0 million for the period from June 30,
2020 through and including May 31, 2021; (d) add a financial covenant that requires a minimum liquidity of not less than $10.0 million at the end of each
quarter, beginning with the quarter ending June 30, 2021; and (e) amend the covenant levels for the total net leverage ratio, total leverage ratio, fixed charge
coverage ratio, and minimum EBITDA financial covenants, commencing with the quarter ending June 30, 2021. The Amended PNC Credit Facility continues to
include a covenant that requires a minimum of $5.0 million of PNC qualified cash at all times.

The amendment also adjusts the applicable margin for advances under the Amended PNC Credit Facility such that (i) advances designated as “Domestic Rate
Loans” and “Swing Loans” will have an applicable margin of (a) 4.50% for the period from the June 16, 2020 until the date quarterly financial statements are
delivered to PNC for the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2021 and (b) thereafter, ranging from 3.50% to 4.50% based on our applicable total leverage ratio and
(ii) advances designated as “LIBOR Rate Loans” will have an applicable margin of (a) 5.50% for the period from June 16, 2020, until the date quarterly
financial statements are delivered to PNC for the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2021 and (b) thereafter, ranging from 4.50% to 5.50% based on our applicable
total leverage ratio.

Commitments and Contingencies

Our contingent liabilities consist primarily of certain financial guarantees, both express and implied, related to product liability and potential infringement of
intellectual property. We have little history of costs associated with such indemnification requirements and contingent liabilities associated with product liability
may be mitigated by our insurance coverage. In the normal course of business to facilitate transactions of our services and products, we indemnify certain
parties with respect to certain matters, such as intellectual property infringement or other claims. We also have indemnification agreements with our current
and former officers and directors. It is not possible to determine the maximum potential amount under these indemnification agreements due to the limited
history of our indemnification claims, and the unique facts and circumstances involved in each particular agreement. Historically, payments made by us under
these agreements have not had a material impact on our operating results, financial position or cash flows.

We are also subject to ordinary course of business litigation, See Note 10, Commitments and Contingencies, to our consolidated financial statements included
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not currently have any other off-balance sheet arrangements and do not have any holdings in variable interest entities.

Contractual Obligations

Contractual obligations are cash amounts that we are obligated to pay as part of certain contracts that we have entered into during the normal course of
business. Below is a table that shows our contractual obligations as of March 31, 2020 (in thousands):

 Payments Due by Period

(in thousands) Total  
Less than

1 year  1 – 3 Years  3 –5 Years  
More than

5 years

Long-term debt(1) $ 167,828  $ 7,321  $ 3,300  $ 157,207  $ —

Interest on long-term debt(2) 69,419  17,546  37,874  13,999  —

Operating leases(3) 19,405  4,878  6,496  5,142  2,889

Purchase obligations(4) 19,487  19,487  —  —  —

     Total $ 276,139  $ 49,232  $ 47,670  $ 176,348  $ 2,889

(1) Represents nominal principal amount of debt outstanding under the Senior Secured Term Loan as of March 31, 2020. See Note 4: Debt, to our consolidated financial statements included
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(2) Estimated interest payment obligations have been calculated for all periods assuming an interest rate of 12.0%, which was the rate applicable to outstanding amounts under the Senior
Secured Term Loan as of March 31, 2020.
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(3) Operating leases include leases of certain facilities under non-cancelable lease agreements and equipment leases for various types of office equipment. Some of the leases have renewal
options ranging from one to ten years and others contain escalation clauses.

(4) Includes primarily contractual commitments to purchase inventory from contract manufacturers and other suppliers.

See Note 4: Debt, to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND POLICIES

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. GAAP requires management to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes included elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate estimates, which are based on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be
reasonable under the circumstances. We consider the following accounting policies to be critical to understanding our financial statements because the
application of these policies requires significant judgment on the part of management, which could have a material impact on our financial statements if actual
performance should differ from historical experience or if our assumptions were to change. The following accounting policies include estimates that require
management’s subjective or complex judgments about the effects of matters that are inherently uncertain. For information on our significant accounting
policies, including the policies discussed below, see Note 1: Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies , to our consolidated
financial statements.

Revenue Recognition

Our revenue is derived from three main sources: (1) Products, (2) Professional services and (3) Royalties. Our performance obligations are satisfied at a point
in time or over time as stand ready obligations. The majority of our revenue is recognized at a point in time when products are accepted, installed or delivered.
Product revenue is recognized at the point in time when the customer takes control of the product, which typically occurs at the point of shipment.
Professional services revenue primarily consists of installation, consulting and training and hardware and software support. Installation services are typically
completed within a short period of time and revenue from these services is recognized upon completion, while revenue from support plans is recognized
ratably over the contractual term of the service contract. We license certain products under royalty arrangements, pursuant to which our licensees periodically
provide us with reports containing units sold to end users subject to the royalties. The reports substantiate that our performance obligation has been satisfied
and we recognize royalty revenue based on the reports or when amounts can be reasonably estimated.

There are significant judgements used when applying ASC Topic 606 to contracts with customers. Most of our contracts contain multiple goods and services
designed to meet each customers’ unique storage needs. For contracts with multiple performance obligations, we allocate the transaction price to each
performance obligation based on the relative standalone selling price of the good or service underlying each performance obligation. Where standalone selling
price may not be directly observable (e.g., the performance obligation is not sold separately), we maximize the use of observable inputs by using information
including reviewing discounting practices, performance obligations with similar customers and product groupings. We determined that invoice price is the best
representation of what we expect to receive from the delivery of each performance obligation. This judgment is based on the fact that each storage solution is
customizable to meet an individual customer’s needs and every product’s transaction price can vary depending on the mix of other products included in the
same purchase order and there are no identifiable trends that provide a good representation of expected margin for each product.
Product revenue may be impacted by a variety of price adjustments or other factors, including rebates, returns and stock rotation. We use the expected value
method to estimate the net consideration expected to be returned by the customer. We use historical data and current trends to drive our estimates. We
record a reduction to revenue to account for these items that may result in variable consideration. We initially measure a returned asset at the carrying amount
of the inventory, less any expected costs to recover the goods including potential decreases in value of the returned goods.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized based on temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities,
measured at the enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the
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years in which those tax assets or liabilities are expected to be realized or settled. Based on the evaluation of available evidence, both positive and negative,
we recognize future tax benefits, such as net operating loss carryforwards and tax credit carryforwards, to the extent that realizing these benefits is considered
to be more likely than not.

A valuation allowance is provided if we believe it is more likely than not that all or some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. An increase or
decrease in the valuation allowance, if any, that results from a change in circumstances, and which causes a change in our judgment about the realizability of
the related deferred tax asset, is included in the tax provision.

We recognize the financial statement effects of an uncertain income tax position when it is more likely than not, based on technical merits, that the position will
be sustained upon examination. We reevaluate these uncertain tax positions on a quarterly basis. This evaluation is based on factors including, but not limited
to, changes in facts or circumstances and changes in tax law. We recognize penalties and tax-related interest expense as a component of income tax
expense in our consolidated statements of operations. See Note 9: Income Taxes, to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

Inventories

Manufacturing Inventories

Our manufacturing inventory is recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value, with cost being determined on a first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) basis. Costs
include material, direct labor, and an allocation of overhead in the case of work in process. Adjustments to reduce the cost of manufacturing inventory to its net
realizable value, if required, are made for estimated excess, obsolete or impaired balances. Factors influencing these adjustments include declines in
demand, rapid technological changes, product life cycle and development plans, component cost trends, product pricing, physical deterioration and quality
issues. Revisions to these adjustments would be required if these factors differ from our estimates.

Service Parts Inventories

Our service parts inventories are recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value, with cost being determined on a FIFO basis. Service parts inventories
consist of both component parts, which are primarily used to repair defective units, and finished units, which are provided for customer use permanently or on
a temporary basis while the defective unit is being repaired. We record adjustments to reduce the carrying value of service parts inventory to its net realizable
value and dispose of parts with no use and a net realizable value of zero. Factors influencing these adjustments include product life cycles, end of service life
plans and the volume of enhanced or extended warranty service contracts. Estimates of net realizable value involve significant estimates and judgments about
the future, and revisions would be required if these factors differ from our estimates.

Restructuring Reserves

Restructuring reserves include charges related to the realignment and restructuring of our business operations. These charges represent judgments and
estimates of costs of severance, closure and consolidation of facilities and settlement of contractual obligations under our operating leases, including sublease
rental rates, asset write-offs and other related costs. We reassess the reserve requirements to complete each individual plan under restructuring programs at
the end of each reporting period. If these estimates change in the future or actual results differ from our estimates, additional charges may be required.

 
Recently Issued and Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

For recently issued and adopted accounting pronouncements, see Note 1: Business Description and Significant Accounting Policies , to our consolidated
financial statements.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position due to adverse changes in financial market prices and rates. Our market risk
exposure is primarily a result of exposure due to potential changes in inflation or interest rates. We do not hold financial instruments for trading purposes.

Interest Rate Risk

Our primary interest rate risk exposure is to changing interest rates on our long-term debt. We had total outstanding debt of $165.2 million under our variable
interest Senior Secured Term Loan as of March 31, 2020. Borrowings under the Senior Secured Term Loan bear interest at a rate per annum, at the
Company’s option, equal to (a) the greater of (i) 3.00%, (ii) the Federal funds rate plus 0.50%, (iii) the LIBOR Rate based upon an interest period of 1 month
plus 1.00%, and (iv) the Prime Rate as quoted by the Wall Street Journal, plus an applicable margin of 9.00% or (b) LIBOR Rate plus an applicable margin of
10.00%. Interest on the Senior Secured Term Loan is payable quarterly beginning in the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2021 under the terms of our amended
Senior Secured Term Loan. As of March 31, 2020, we have $2.6 million in borrowings on our Amended PNC Credit Facility. Based on the amounts
outstanding, a 100-basis point increase or decrease in market interest rates as of March 31, 2020 would not result in a change to our annual interest expense.
Our other long-term debt related to lease obligations have fixed interest rates and terms, and as such, we consider the associated risk to our results of
operations from changes in market rates of interest applied to our lease obligations to be minimal.

Foreign Exchange Risk

We conduct business in certain international markets. Because we operate in international markets, we have exposure to different economic climates, political
arenas, tax systems and regulations that could affect foreign exchange rates. Our primary exposure to foreign currency risk relates to transacting in foreign
currency and recording the activity in U.S. dollars. Changes in exchange rates between the U.S. dollar and these other currencies will result in transaction
gains or losses, which we recognize in our Consolidated Statements of Operations.

To the extent practicable, we minimize our foreign currency exposures by maintaining natural hedges between our assets and liabilities and revenues and
expenses denominated in foreign currencies. We may enter into foreign exchange derivative contracts or other economic hedges in the future. Our goal in
managing our foreign exchange risk is to reduce to the extent practicable our potential exposure to the changes that exchange rates might have on our
earnings.

Inflation Risk

Based on our analysis of the periods presented, we believe that inflation has not had a material effect on our operating results. There can be no assurance
that future inflation will not have an adverse impact on our operating results and financial condition.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Quantum Corporation
San Jose, California

Opinions on the Consolidated Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Quantum Corporation and its subsidiaries (the Company) as of March 31, 2020 and 2019
and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, stockholders' deficit, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended March 31, 2020, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the consolidated financial statements). We also have audited the Company's
internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of March
31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended March 31, 2020 in conformity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective
internal control over financial reporting as of March 31, 2020, based on the criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013)  issued by
COSO.

Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for leases in 2020 due to the adoption of
Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), using the modified retrospective transition method.

Basis for Opinion

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management Report on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's consolidated financial statements and an opinion on the Company's internal
control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States) ("PCAOB") and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis,
evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our audits of internal
control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing
such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting
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A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Emphasis of Matter - COVID-19
 
As described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the World Health Organization has declared COVID-19 a global pandemic leading to broader
global economic uncertainties. The measures taken by government agencies to slow the progression of the disease are uncertain and may adversely affect
the Company’s result of operations, cash flows and financial position. Our opinions are not modified with respect to this matter.

/s/ ArmaninoLLP 

San Ramon, California

June 24, 2020

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2019.
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QUANTUM CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

 March 31,

 2020  2019

Assets    
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,440  $ 10,790

Restricted cash 830  1,065

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,247 and $68, respectively 70,370  86,828

Manufacturing inventories 29,196  18,440

Service parts inventories 20,502  19,070

Other current assets 8,489  18,095

Total current assets 135,827  154,288

Property and equipment, net 9,046  8,437

Restricted cash 5,000  5,000

Right-of-use assets, net 12,689  —

Other long-term assets 3,433  5,146

Total assets $ 165,995  $ 172,871

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Deficit    
Current liabilities:    

Accounts payable $ 36,949  $ 37,395

Deferred revenue 81,492  90,407

Accrued restructuring charges —  2,876

Long-term debt, current portion 7,321  1,650

Accrued compensation 14,957  17,117

Other accrued liabilities 17,535  29,025

Total current liabilities 158,254  178,470

Deferred revenue 37,443  36,733

Long-term debt, net of current portion 146,847  145,621

Operating lease liability 10,822  —

Other long-term liabilities 11,154  11,827

Total liabilities 364,520  372,651

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 10)  
Stockholders’ deficit  

Preferred stock:    
Preferred stock, 20,000 shares authorized; no shares issued as of March 31, 2020 and 2019 —  —

Common stock:    
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 125,000 shares authorized; 39,905 and 36,040 shares issued and
outstanding at March 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively 399  360

Additional paid-in capital 505,762  499,224

Accumulated deficit (703,164 )  (697,954 )

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (1,522 )  (1,410 )

Total stockholders' deficit (198,525 )  (199,780 )

Total liabilities and stockholders' deficit $ 165,995  $ 172,871

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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QUANTUM CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

(in thousands, except per share amounts)

 Year Ended March 31,

 2020  2019  2018

Revenue:      
Product $ 251,168  $ 244,654  $ 268,582

Service 131,050  134,696  136,523

Royalty 20,731  23,330  32,579

Total revenue 402,949  402,680  437,684

Cost of revenue:      
Product 179,760  179,846  206,111

Service 50,681  55,220  58,789

Total cost of revenue 230,441  235,066  264,900

Gross profit 172,508  167,614  172,784

Operating expenses:      
Research and development 36,301  32,113  38,562

Sales and marketing 59,524  69,400  102,242

General and administrative 54,457  65,277  52,128

Restructuring charges 1,022  5,570  8,474

Total operating expenses 151,304  172,360  201,406

Income (loss) from operations 21,204  (4,746 )  (28,622 )

Other income (expense), net (261 )  2,878  767

Interest expense (25,350 )  (21,095 )  (11,670 )

Loss on debt extinguishment, net —  (17,458 )  (6,934 )
Net loss before income taxes (4,407 ) (40,421 ) (46,459 )

Income tax provision (benefit) 803  2,376  (3,113 )

Net loss $ (5,210 )  $ (42,797 )  $ (43,346 )

      
Net loss per share - basic and diluted $ (0.14 )  $ (1.20 )  $ (1.25 )

Weighted average shares - basic and diluted 37,593  35,551  34,687

      

Net loss $ (5,210 )  $ (42,797 )  $ (43,346 )

Foreign currency translation adjustments, net (112 )  (1,136 )  1,402

Total comprehensive loss $ (5,322 )  $ (43,933 )  $ (41,944 )

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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QUANTUM CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

 Year Ended March 31,

 2020  2019  2018

Operating activities      
Net loss $ (5,210)  $ (42,797)  $ (43,346)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:      
Depreciation and amortization 4,287  4,266  4,970

Amortization of debt issuance costs 4,017  2,825  1,537

Paid-in-kind interest 1,858  —  —

Provision for manufacturing and service inventories 6,255  8,851  8,146

Tax benefit from settlement and Tax Reform Act —  —  (3,952)

Stock-based compensation 6,748  3,409  5,394

Deferred income taxes 458  2,356  69

Bad debt expense 1,221  315  295

Unrealized foreign exchange (gain) loss 128  (224)  1,437

Non-cash loss on debt extinguishment —  17,851  6,962

(Gain) loss on investment —  (2,729)  118

Other non-cash —  1,795  566

Changes in assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisition:      
Accounts receivable 15,237  8,054  6,510

Manufacturing inventories (11,092)  13,054  (2,613)

Service parts inventories (3,817)  (3,506)  (6,760)

Accounts payable (768)  (25,356)  21,647

Deferred revenue (11,334)  (8,367)  4,228

Accrued restructuring charges (2,876)  (2,943)  (463)

Accrued compensation (2,161)  (2,342)  (4,330)

Other assets and liabilities (4,132)  8,629  (5,447)

Net cash used in operating activities (1,181)  (16,859)  (5,032)

Investing activities      
Purchases of property and equipment (2,633)  (2,708)  (2,584)

Cash distributions from investments —  2,943  288

Business acquisition (1,966)  —  —

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (4,599)  235  (2,296)

Financing activities      
Borrowings of long-term debt and credit facility 331,632  507,707  367,755

Repayments of long-term debt and credit facility (330,250)  (491,143)  (316,053)

Repayments of convertible subordinated debt —  —  (62,827)

Payment of taxes due upon vesting of restricted stock (171)  (354)  (1,822)
Proceeds from issuance of common stock —  —  1,715

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 1,211  16,210  (11,232)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (16)  62  (145)

Net change in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (4,585)  (352)  (18,705)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 16,855  17,207  35,912

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 12,270  $ 16,855  $ 17,207

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information      
Cash paid for interest $ 16,488  $ 17,677  $ 10,244

Cash paid for income taxes, net of refunds $ (490)  $ 68  $ 1,455

Non-cash transactions      
Purchases of property and equipment included in accounts payable $ 368  $ 105  $ 173

Transfer of inventory to property and equipment $ 400  $ 408  $ 1,036

Payment of litigation settlements with insurance proceeds $ 8,950  $ —  $ —
The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the consolidated balance sheets that sum to the total of the same such
amounts shown in the statement of cash flows:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 6,440  $ 10,790  $ 10,865

Restricted cash, current 830  1,065  1,342

Restricted cash, long-term 5,000  5,000  5,000

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at the end of period $ 12,270  $ 16,855  $ 17,207

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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QUANTUM CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT

(in thousands)

 Common Stock  
Additional

Paid-in Capital

 
Accumulated

Deficit

 Accumulated Other
Comprehensive

Loss

 Total
Stockholders'

Deficit Shares  Amount     
Balance, March 31, 2017 34,063  $ 340  $ 473,851  $ (611,811)  $ (1,676)  $ (139,296)

Net loss —  —  —  (43,346)  —  (43,346)

Foreign currency translation adjustments, net —  —  —  —  1,402  1,402

Shares issued under employee stock purchase plan 316  3  1,712  —  —  1,715

Shares issued under employee incentive plans, net 1,064  11  (1,827)  —  —  (1,816)

Share-based compensation —  —  5,990  —  —  5,990
Reclassifications of liability classified warrants to
equity —  —  1,884  —  —  1,884

Balance, March 31, 2018 35,443  354  481,610  (655,157)  (274)  (173,467)

Net loss —  —  —  (42,797)  —  (42,797)

Foreign currency translation adjustments, net —  —  —  —  (1,136)  (1,136)

Shares issued under employee incentive plans, net 597  6  (360)  —  —  (354)

Share-based compensation —  —  3,409  —  —  3,409
Reclassifications of liability classified warrants to
equity —  —  14,565  —  —  14,565

Balance, March 31, 2019 36,040  360  499,224  (697,954)  (1,410)  (199,780)

Net loss —  —  —  (5,210)  —  (5,210)

Foreign currency translation adjustments, net —  —  —  —  (112)  (112)

Shares issued under employee incentive plans, net 1,082  11  (182)  —  —  (171)

Shares issued from warrants exercised, net 2,783  28  (28)  —  —  —

Share-based compensation —  —  6,748  —  —  6,748

Balance, March 31, 2020 39,905  $ 399  $ 505,762  $ (703,164)  $ (1,522)  $ (198,525)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1: DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Description of Business

Quantum Corporation, together with its consolidated subsidiaries (“Quantum” or the “Company”), was founded in 1980 and reincorporated in Delaware in
1987, and is headquartered in San Jose, California. The Company is a leader in storing and managing digital video and other forms of unstructured data,
delivering top streaming performance for video and rich media applications, along with low-cost, long-term storage systems for data protection and archiving.
The Company helps customers around the world capture, create and share digital data and preserve and protect it for decades. The Company’s software-
defined, hyperconverged storage solutions span from non-violate memory express (“NVMe”), to solid state drives, (“SSD”), hard disk drives, (“HDD”), tape
and the cloud and are tied together leveraging a single namespace view of the entire data environment. The Company works closely with a broad network of
distributors, value-added resellers (“VARs”), direct marketing resellers (“DMRs”), original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”) and other suppliers to meet
customers’ evolving needs.

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United
States of America (“GAAP”). All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated. The Company reviews subsidiaries and affiliates, as well as
other entities, to determine if they should be considered variable interest entities (“VIE”), and whether it should change the consolidation determinations based
on changes in their characteristics. The Company considers an entity a VIE if its equity investors own an interest therein that lacks the characteristics of a
controlling financial interest or if such investors do not have sufficient equity at risk for the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated
financial support or if the entity is structured with non-substantive voting interests. To determine whether or not the entity is consolidated with the Company’s
results, the Company also evaluates which interests are variable interests in the VIE and which party is the primary beneficiary of the VIE.

COVID-19 Risks and Uncertainties

We are subject to the risks arising from COVID-19 which have caused substantial financial market volatility and have adversely affected both the U.S. and the
global economy. For many of our customers, the COVID-19 pandemic has significantly affected their business. Movie and television production has been
paused, professional and collegiate sports seasons have been postponed or cancelled, and many corporations and enterprises have put
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information technology spending on hold while they assess the short- and long-term impact of the pandemic. While our supply chain remains intact and
operating, we have experienced issues related to our logistics network. The reduced capacity within and across freight lanes (aircraft, personnel, customs
clearance, etc.) has caused late deliveries from re-routes and mis-shipments, as well as increased expedite and other charges to deliver and receive products.
To date, we have experienced minimal impact on product availability, although future capacity constraints across the network due to lost capacity from factory
down time, closures, as well as reduced staff and demand signal fluctuations are expected to impact product availability in the months and possibly quarters to
come.

We believe that these social and economic impacts have had a negative effect on sales due to the decline in our customers' ability or willingness to purchase
our products and services. The extent of the impact will depend, in part, on how long the negative trends in customer demand and supply chain levels will
continue. Our management continues to actively monitor the situation and may take further actions altering our business operations that we determine are in
the best interests of our employees, customers, partners, suppliers, and stakeholders, or as required by federal, state, or local authorities.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Quantum and our wholly owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have
been eliminated.

Use of Estimates

Company management has made estimates and assumptions relating to the reporting of certain assets and liabilities in conformity with U.S. GAAP. These
estimates and assumptions have been applied using methodologies that are consistent throughout the periods presented with consideration given to the
potential impacts of COVID-19 pandemic. However, actual results could differ materially from these estimates and be significantly affected by the severity and
duration of the pandemic, the extent of actions to contain or treat COVID-19, how quickly and to what extent normal economic and operating activity can
resume, and the severity and duration of the global economic downturn that results from the pandemic.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company has cash deposits and cash equivalents deposited in or managed by major financial institutions. Cash equivalents include all highly liquid
investment instruments with an original maturity of three months or less and consist primarily of money market accounts. At times the related amounts are in
excess of amounts insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation. The Company has not experienced any losses with these financial institutions and
does not believe such balances are exposed to significant credit risk.

Restricted Cash

Restricted cash is primarily attributable to minimum cash reserve requirements under the Company’s revolving credit agreements. The remaining restricted
cash is comprised of bank guarantees and similar required minimum balances that serve as cash collateral in connection with various items including
insurance requirements, value added taxes, ongoing tax audits and leases in certain countries.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses based on historical experience and expected collectability of outstanding
accounts receivable. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition, and for the majority of its customers require no
collateral. For customers that do not meet the Company’s credit standards, the Company often requires a form of collateral, such as cash deposits or letters of
credit, prior to the completion of a transaction. These credit evaluations require significant judgment and are based on multiple sources of information. The
Company analyzes such factors as its historical bad debt experience, industry and geographic concentrations of credit risk, current economic trends and
changes in customer payment terms. The Company will write-off customer balances in full to the reserve when it has determined that the balance is not
recoverable. Changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts are recorded in general and administrative expenses.
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Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. To increase the comparability of fair value measures, the following hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation methodologies used to
measure fair value:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2: Other than quoted prices that are observable in the market for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for

similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or model-derived valuations or other inputs that are observable or can
be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3: Inputs are unobservable and reflect management’s estimates of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or
liability.

The categorization of a financial instrument within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value
measurement. Our financial instruments consist of Level 3 liabilities.

Manufacturing Inventories

Manufacturing inventory is recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value, with cost being determined on a first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) basis. Costs include
material, direct labor, and an allocation of overhead in the case of work in process. Adjustments to reduce the cost of manufacturing inventory to its net
realizable value, if required, are made for estimated excess, obsolete or impaired balances. Factors influencing these adjustments include declines in
demand, rapid technological changes, product life cycle and development plans, component cost trends, product pricing, physical deterioration and quality
issues. Revisions to these adjustments would be required if these factors differ from the Company’s estimates.

Service Parts Inventories

Service parts inventories are recorded at the lower of cost or net realizable value, with cost being determined on a FIFO basis. The Company carries service
parts because it generally provides product warranty for one to three years and earns revenue by providing enhanced and extended warranty and repair
services during and beyond this warranty period. Service parts inventories consist of both component parts, which are primarily used to repair defective units,
and finished units, which are provided for customer use permanently or on a temporary basis while the defective unit is being repaired. The Company records
adjustments to reduce the carrying value of service parts inventory to its net realizable value and disposes of parts with no use and a net realizable value of
zero. Factors influencing these adjustments include product life cycles, end of service life plans and volume of enhanced or extended warranty service
contracts. Estimates of net realizable value involve significant estimates and judgments about the future, and revisions would be required if these factors differ
from the Company’s estimates.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are carried at cost, less accumulated depreciation and amortization, computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives
of the assets as follows:

Machinery and equipment 3 to 5 years
Computer equipment 3 to 5 years
ERP software 10 years
Other software 3 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Other office equipment 5 years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of useful life or life of lease

When assets are retired or otherwise disposed of, the related costs and accumulated depreciation are removed from the balance sheet and any resulting gain
or loss is reflected in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss) in the period realized.
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The Company evaluates the recoverability of the carrying amount of its property and equipment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of an asset group may not be fully recoverable. A potential impairment charge is evaluated when the undiscounted expected cash flows
derived from an asset group are less than its carrying amount. Impairment losses, if applicable, are measured as the amount by which the carrying value of
an asset group exceeds its fair value and are recognized in operating results. Judgment is used when applying these impairment rules to determine the timing
of impairment testing, the undiscounted cash flows used to assess impairments and the fair value of the asset group.

Cost of Service Revenue

The Company classifies expenses as service cost of revenue by estimating the portion of our total cost of revenue that relates to providing field support to our
customers under contract. These estimates are based upon a variety of factors, including the nature of the support activity and the level of infrastructure
required to support the activities from which it earns service revenue. In the event its service business changes, its estimates of cost of service revenue may
be impacted.

Research and Development Costs

Expenditures relating to the development of new products and processes are expensed as incurred. These costs include expenditures for employee
compensation, materials used in the development effort, other internal costs, as well as expenditures for third party professional services. The Company has
determined that technological feasibility for its software products is reached shortly before the products are released to manufacturing. Costs incurred after
technological feasibility is established have not been material. The Company expenses software-related research and development costs as incurred.
Research and development costs were $36.3 million, $32.1 million, and $38.6 million in fiscal 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Advertising Expense

Advertising expense is recorded as incurred and was $3.4 million, $4.5 million, and $8.9 million in fiscal 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Shipping and Handling Fees

Shipping and handling fees are included in cost of revenue and were $9.4 million, $9.1 million, and $10.3 million in fiscal 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Restructuring Reserves

Restructuring reserves include charges related to the realignment and restructuring of the Company’s business operations. These charges represent
judgments and estimates of the Company’s costs of severance, closure and consolidation of facilities and settlement of contractual obligations under its
operating leases, including sublease rental rates, asset write-offs and other related costs. The Company reassesses the reserve requirements to complete
each individual plan under the restructuring programs at the end of each reporting period. If these estimates change in the future or actual results differ from
the Company’s estimates, additional charges may be required.

Foreign Currency Translation

The Company's international operations generally use their local currency as their functional currency. Assets and liabilities are translated at exchange rates in
effect at the balance sheet date. Income and expense accounts are translated at the average monthly exchange rates during the year. Resulting translation
adjustments are reported as a component of other comprehensive income (loss) and recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss on our consolidated
balance sheets.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with ASC Topic 740, Income Taxes in which deferred tax asset and liabilities are recognized based
on differences between the financial reporting carrying values of assets and liabilities and the tax basis of those assets and liabilities, measured at the enacted
tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those tax assets or liabilities are expected to be realized or settled.
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A valuation allowance is provided if the Company believes it is more likely than not that all or some portion of the deferred tax asset will not be realized. An
increase or decrease in the valuation allowance, if any, that results from a change in circumstances, and which causes a change in the Company’s judgment
about the realizability of the related deferred tax asset, is included in the tax provision.

The Company assesses whether tax benefits claimed or expected to be claimed on a tax return should be recorded in the financial statements. The Company
may recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will be sustained on examination by the taxing
authorities, including resolution of any related appeals or litigation processes, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefit to be recognized in
the financial statements from such a position is measured as the largest amount of benefit that has a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized
upon ultimate settlement. The Company reevaluates these uncertain tax positions on a quarterly basis. This evaluation is based on factors including, but not
limited to, changes in facts or circumstances and changes in tax law. The Company recognizes penalties and tax-related interest expense as a component of
income tax expense in the consolidated statements of operations.

Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company records an asset retirement obligation for the fair value of legal obligations associated with the retirement of tangible long-lived assets and a
corresponding increase in the carrying amount of the related asset in the period in which the obligation is incurred. In periods subsequent to initial
measurement, the Company recognizes changes in the liability resulting from the passage of time and revisions to either the timing or the amount of the
original estimate. Over time, the liability is accreted to its present value and the capitalized cost is depreciated over the estimated useful life of the asset. The
Company’s obligations relate primarily to certain legal obligations to remediate leased property on which certain assets are located.

Warranty Expense

The Company warranties its products against certain defects and the terms range from one to three years. The Company provides for the estimated costs of
fulfilling its obligations under hardware warranties at the time the related revenue is recognized. The Company estimates the provision based on historical and
projected product failure rates, historical and projected repair costs, and knowledge of specific product failures (if any). The Company regularly reassess its
estimates to determine the adequacy of the recorded warranty liability and adjusts the provision, as necessary.

Debt Issuance Costs

Debt issuance costs for revolving credit agreements are capitalized and amortized over the term of the underlying agreements on a straight-line basis.
Amortization of these debt issuance costs is included in interest expense while the unamortized debt issuance cost balance is included in other current assets
and other assets. Debt issuance costs for the Company’s term loans are recorded as a reduction to the carrying amount and are amortized over their term
using the effective interest method. Amortization of these debt issuance costs is included in interest expense.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company classifies stock-based awards granted in exchange for services as either equity awards or liability awards. The classification of an award as
either an equity award or a liability award is generally based upon cash settlement options. Equity awards are measured based on the fair value of the award
at the grant date. Liability awards are re-measured to fair value each reporting period. Each reporting period, the Company recognizes the change in fair value
of awards issued to non-employees as expense. The Company recognizes stock-based compensation on a straight-line basis over the award’s requisite
service period, which is generally the vesting period of the award, less actual forfeitures. No compensation expense is recognized for awards for which
participants do not render the requisite services. For equity and liability awards earned based on performance or upon occurrence of a contingent event, when
and if the awards will be earned is estimated. If an award is not considered probable of being earned, no amount of stock-based compensation is recognized.
If the award is deemed probable of being earned, related compensation expense is recorded over the estimated service period. To the extent the estimate of
awards considered probable of being earned changes, the amount of stock-based compensation recognized will also change.

Concentration of Credit Risk
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The Company sells products to customers in a wide variety of industries on a worldwide basis. In countries or industries where the Company is exposed to
material credit risk, the Company may require collateral, including cash deposits and letters of credit, prior to the completion of a transaction. The Company
does not believe it has significant credit risk beyond that provided for in the consolidated financial statements in the ordinary course of business. During the
fiscal years ended March 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 no customers represented 10% or more of the Company’s total revenue. The Company had one customer
comprising approximately 7% of accounts receivable as of March 31, 2020, one customer comprising approximately 21% of accounts receivable as of
March 31, 2019 and one customer comprising approximately 10% of accounts receivable as of March 31, 2018.

If the Company is unable to obtain adequate quantities of the inventory needed to sell its products, the Company could face costs increases or delays or
discontinuations in product shipments, which could have a material/adverse effect on the Company’s results of operations. In many cases, the Company’s
chosen vendor may be the sole source of supply for the products or parts they manufacture, or services they provide, for the Company. Some of the products
the Company purchases from these sources are proprietary or complex in nature, and therefore cannot be readily or easily replaced by alternative sources.

Segment Reporting

Business segments are defined as components of an enterprise about which discrete financial information is available and is evaluated regularly by the chief
operating decision maker in deciding how to allocate resources and in assessing operating performance. Based on the way the Company manages its
business, the Company has determined that it currently operates with one reportable segment. The chief operating decision maker focuses on consolidated
results in assessing operating performance and allocating resources. Furthermore, the Company offers similar products and services and uses similar
processes to sell those products and services to similar classes of customers.

The Company’s chief operating decision-maker is its Chief Executive Officer who makes resource allocation decisions and assesses performance based on
financial information presented on a consolidated basis. There are no segment managers who are held accountable by the chief operating decision-maker, or
anyone else, for operations, operating results, and planning for levels or components below the consolidated unit level. Accordingly, the Company has
determined that it has a single reportable segment and operating segment structure.
Based on how the Company manages its business, the Company has determined that it currently operates in one reportable segment. The Company
operates in three geographic regions: (a) Americas; (b) Europe, Middle East, and Africa (“EMEA”); and (c) Asia Pacific (“APAC”).

The following table summarizes property and equipment, net by geographic region (in thousands):

 For the year ended March 31,

 2020  2019
United States $ 8,488  $ 7,912

International 558  525

Total $ 9,046  $ 8,437

Defined Contribution Plan

The Company sponsors a qualified 401(k) retirement plan for its U.S employees. The plan covers substantially all employees who have attained the age of 18.
Participants may voluntarily contribute to the plan up to the maximum limits established by Internal Revenue Service regulations. No matching contributions
were made in the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019, and $0.8 million was incurred for the year ended March 31, 2018.

Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements

In April 2019, the Company adopted ASU 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), using the modified retrospective transition method under ASU 2018-11, Leases
(Topic 842) Targeted Improvements. The modified retrospective transition method applies to all leases existing at the date of initial application and recognizes
a cumulative-effect adjustment
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to the opening balance of retained earnings in the period of adoption. The Company evaluated its portfolio of leases upon adoption and determined a
cumulative-effect adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings was not needed, as the portfolio of leases contained only operating leases. Further
description of the impact of this pronouncement is included in Note 5.

In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02, Income Statement – Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects
from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (“ASU 2018-02”). ASU 2018-20 allows a reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive income to
retained earnings for stranded tax effects resulting from the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. The Company did not elect to reclassify the income tax effects of the Tax
Cuts and Jobs Act from accumulated other comprehensive income to accumulated deficit.

In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-07, Share-based Payments to Non-Employees (“ASU 2018-07”), to simplify the accounting for share- based
payments to non-employees by aligning it with the accounting for share-based payments to employees, with certain exceptions. For public business entities,
this ASU is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods within that fiscal year. The adoption of ASU
2018-07 did not impact the Company’s condensed consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-15, Implementation Costs Incurred in Cloud Computing Arrangements  (“ASU 2018-15”), which aligns the
requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing
implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software (and hosting arrangements that include an internal-use software license). For public
entities, ASU 2018-15 is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2019, and interim periods within that fiscal year. The accounting
guidance should be applied either retrospectively or prospectively to all implementation costs incurred after the date of adoption. The Company will apply the
guidance in ASU 2018-15 prospectively and adoption will not have an impact on its historical consolidated financial statements.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13,  Financial Instruments-Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments (“ASU-2016-13”). ASU 2016-13 will change how entities account for credit impairment for trade and other receivables, as well as for certain
financial assets and other instruments. ASU 2016-13 will replace the current “incurred loss” model with an “expected loss” model. Under the “incurred loss”
model, a loss (or allowance) is recognized only when an event has occurred (such as a payment delinquency) that causes the entity to believe that it is
probable that a loss has occurred (i.e., that it has been “incurred”). Under the “expected loss” model, a loss (or allowance) is recognized upon initial
recognition of the asset that reflects all future events that leads to a loss being realized, regardless of whether it is probable that the future event will occur.
The “incurred loss” model considers past events and current conditions, while the “expected loss” model includes expectations for the future which have yet to
occur. ASU 2018-19, Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments – Credit Losses , was issued in November 2018 and excludes operating
leases from the new guidance. The standard will require entities to record a cumulative-effect adjustment to the balance sheet as of the beginning of the first
reporting period in which the guidance is effective. For public entities, ASU 2016-13 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019. The
Company is currently evaluating the potential impact that ASU 2016-13 may have on the timing of recognition and measurement of future provisions for
expected losses on its accounts receivable.

 

NOTE 2: REVENUE RECOGNITION

In May 2014 the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers  (ASC 606), which is a comprehensive new revenue recognition
model that requires a company to recognize revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to a customer at an amount that reflects the consideration it
expects to receive in exchange for those goods or services. On April 1, 2018, the Company adopted ASC 606, using the modified retrospective transition
method applied to those contracts which were not completed as of April 1, 2018. Results for reporting periods beginning after April 1, 2018 are presented
under ASC 606, while prior period amounts have not been adjusted and continue to be reported in accordance with the Company’s historical accounting
policies.
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The Company’s performance obligations are satisfied at a point in time or over time as stand ready obligations. A majority of the Company’s revenue is
recognized at a point in time when products are accepted, installed or delivered. The Company’s revenue is derived from three main sources: (1) Product, (2)
Professional services, and (3) Royalties. Sales tax collected on sales is netted against government remittances and thus, recorded on a net basis.

Product Revenue

The Company's product revenue is comprised of multiple storage solution hardware and software offerings targeted towards consumer and enterprise
customers. Revenue from product sales is recognized at the point in time when the customer takes control of the product. If there are significant post-delivery
obligations, the related revenue is deferred until such obligations are fulfilled. Revenue from contracts with customer acceptance criteria are recognized upon
end user acceptance. The Company's standard contractual terms are F.O.B. shipping point and net 30 days payment, with exceptions on a case by case
basis.

Service Revenue

Service revenue primarily consists of three components: (1) post-contract customer support agreements.
(2) installation, and (3) consulting & training.

Customers have the option to choose between different levels of hardware and software support. The Company's support plans include various stand-ready
obligations such as technical assistance hot-lines, replacement parts maintenance, and remote monitoring that are delivered whenever called upon by its
customers. Support plans provide additional services and assurance outside the scope of our primary product warranties. Revenue from support plans are
recognized ratably over the contractual term of the service contract.

The Company offers installation services on all its products. Customers can opt to either have Quantum or a Quantum-approved third-party service provider
install our products. Installation services are typically completed within a short period of time and revenue from these services are recognized at the point
when installation is complete. A majority of our consulting and training revenue does not take significant time to complete therefore these obligations are
satisfied upon completion of such services at a point in time.

Royalty Revenue

The Company licenses certain intellectual property to third party manufacturers which gives the manufacturers rights to intellectual property including the right
to either manufacture or include the intellectual property in their products for resale. Licensees pay us a per-unit royalty for sales of their products that
incorporate our intellectual property. On a periodic and timely basis, the licensees provide the Company with reports containing units sold to end users subject
to the royalties. The reports substantiate that the performance obligation has been satisfied therefore revenue is recognized based on the reports or when
amounts can be reasonably estimated.

Significant Judgments

The following significant judgments were used when applying ASC 606 to contracts with customers.

Identification of performance obligations

The Company generally enters into contracts with customers to provide storage solutions to meet their individual needs. Most of the Company’s contracts
contain multiple goods and services designed to meet each customers’ unique storage needs. Contracts with multiple goods and services have multiple
distinct performance obligations as the promise to transfer hardware, installation services, and support services are capable of being distinct and provide
economic benefit to customers on their own.

Stand-alone selling price

For contracts with multiple performance obligations, the Company allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation based on the relative
standalone selling price (“SSP”) of the good or service underlying each performance obligation. The SSP represents the amount for which the Company
would sell the good or service to a customer on a standalone basis (i.e., not sold as a bundle with any other products or services). Where
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SSP may not be directly observable (e.g., the performance obligation is not sold separately), the Company maximized the use of observable inputs by using
information including reviewing discounting practices, performance obligations with similar customers and product groupings. The Company evaluated all
methods included in ASC 606 to determine SSP and concluded that invoice price is the best representation of what the Company expects to receive from the
delivery of each performance obligation.

This judgment is based on; (1) the fact that each storage solution is customizable to meet an individual customer’s needs (2) sales representatives use various
discounting methods based on each purchase orders’ unique mix of product offerings (3) every products’ transaction price can vary depending on the mix of
other products included in the same purchase order and (4) there are no identifiable trends that provide a good representation of expected margin for each
product. In addition, individual products may have multiple values for SSP depending on factors such as where they are sold, what channel they are sold
through, and other products on the purchase order. Due to the use of invoice price as SSP, Step 4 (Allocate Transaction Price) of ASC 606’s 5 step model
creates no differences when compared to U.S. GAAP.

Variable consideration

Product revenue includes multiple types of variable consideration, such as rebates, returns, or stock rotations. All contracts with variable consideration require
payment upon satisfaction of the performance obligation typically with net 30-day payment terms. The Company does not include significant financing
components in its contracts. The Company constrains estimates of variable consideration to amounts that are not expected to result in a significant revenue
reversal in the future, primarily based on the most likely level of consideration to be returned to the customer under the specific terms of the underlying
programs.

The expected value method is used to estimate the consideration expected to be returned to the customer. The Company uses its large volume of historical
data and current trends to drive its estimates. The Company records a reduction to revenue to account for these programs. ASC 606 requires entities to
recognize a return asset and corresponding adjustment to cost of sales for its right to recover the goods returned by the customer, at the time of the initial
sale. Quantum initially measures this asset at the carrying amount of the inventory, less any expected costs to recover the goods including potential
decreases in the value of the returned goods.

In the following table, revenue is disaggregated by major product offering and geographies (in thousands):
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 Year Ended March 31,

 2020  20191  20181

Americas2      
   Primary storage systems $ 54,211  $ 33,789  $ 44,693

   Secondary storage systems 57,192  72,696  69,582

   Device and media 31,228  34,079  39,664

   Service 82,607  87,040  87,960

Total revenue 225,238  227,604  241,899

      

EMEA      
   Primary storage systems 16,078  18,902  24,006

   Secondary storage systems 40,008  40,666  37,376

   Device and media 25,484  19,064  21,306

   Service 39,467  37,216  37,875

Total revenue 121,037  115,848  120,563

      

APAC      
   Primary storage systems 6,863  6,120  9,277

   Secondary storage systems 14,472  13,166  14,444

   Device and media 5,632  6,172  8,234

   Service 8,976  10,440  10,688

Total revenue 35,943  35,898  42,643

      

Consolidated      
   Primary storage systems 77,152  58,811  77,976

   Secondary storage systems 111,672  126,528  121,402

   Device and media 62,344  59,315  69,204

   Service 131,050  134,696  136,523

   Royalty3 20,731  23,330  32,579

Total revenue $ 402,949  $ 402,680  $ 437,684

1 Primary and Secondary storage system revenue has been adjusted for fiscal years 2019 and 2018 due to certain reclassifications from Primary to Secondary storage systems.

2 Revenue for Americas geographic region outside of the United States is not significant.

3 Royalty revenue is not allocable to geographic regions.

Contract Balances

Contract assets consist of unbilled receivables and are recorded when revenue is recognized in advance of scheduled billings to our customers. Contract
liabilities consist of deferred revenue which is recorded when customers have been billed for support services, but the Company hasn’t fulfilled its service
obligation and revenue related to certain product sales.

The following table presents the Company’s contract liabilities and certain information related to this balance as of March 31, 2020 (in thousands): 

  March 31, 2020
Deferred revenue  $ 118,935

Revenue recognized in the period from amounts included in contract liabilities at the beginning of the period  $ 80,977
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Costs of Obtaining and Fulfilling Contracts with Customers

ASC 606 provides new guidance on capitalizing certain fulfillment costs and costs to obtain a contract. The Company’s primary cost to obtain contracts is
sales commissions earned by sales representatives. These costs are incremental and expected to be recovered indirectly through the margin inherent within
the contract. A large portion of the Company’s contracts are completed within a one-year performance period, and for contracts with a specified term of one
year or less, the Company has elected to apply a practical expedient available in ASC 606, which allows the Company to recognize the incremental costs of
obtaining a contract as an expense when incurred if the amortization period of the asset that the Company would otherwise have recognized is one year or
less.

Only sales commissions attributed to service contracts qualify for capitalization after application of the practical expedient. Total costs subject to capitalization
were immaterial to the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2019.

The Company’s costs to fulfill contracts consist of shipping and handling activities. The Company elected to apply the practical expedient available in ASC 606
which allows entities to expense the costs of shipping and handling in the period incurred.

Remaining Performance Obligations

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations represents contracted revenue that has not yet been recognized, which includes
deferred revenue and contractually agreed upon amounts, yet to be invoiced, that will be recognized as revenue in future periods. Remaining performance
obligations are subject to change and are affected by several factors, including terminations, changes in the scope of contracts, adjustments for revenue that
have not materialized and foreign exchange adjustments. The Company applied the practical expedient in accordance with ASC 606, to exclude amounts for
variable consideration constituting a sale- or usage-based royalty promised in exchange for a license of intellectual property from remaining performance
obligations.

Remaining performance obligation consisted of the following (in thousands):

  Current  Non-Current  Total
As of March 31, 2020  $ 89,036  $ 46,827  $ 135,864

The Company expects to recognize approximately 65.5% of the remaining performance obligations within the next 12 months. The majority of the Company’s
noncurrent remaining performance obligations is expected to be recognized in the next 13 to 60 months.

Revenue Recognition - Prior to the Adoption of ASC 606

The Company followed the guidance provided in ASC 605 prior to the adoption of ASC 606, which the Company adopted using the modified retrospective
method beginning on April 1, 2018.

Under ASC 605, revenue is considered realized, earned, and recognized when all of the following occurs,
• persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists,

• delivery has occurred or services have been rendered,

• the price to the buyer is fixed or determinable, and

• when collectability is reasonably
assured.

Royalty revenue is recognized when earned or when earned amounts can be reasonably estimated.

Multiple Element Arrangements

The Company enters into contracts with customers that contain multiple deliverables such as hardware, software and services, and these arrangements
require assessment of each deliverable to determine its estimated selling price. Additionally, the Company used judgment in order to determine the
appropriate timing of revenue recognition and to assess whether any software and non-software components function together to deliver a tangible product’s
essential functionality in order to ensure the arrangement is properly accounted for as software or hardware
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revenue. The majority of the Company’s products are hardware products which contain software essential to the overall functionality of the product. Hardware
products are generally sold with customer support agreements.

Consideration in such multiple element arrangements is allocated to each non-software element based on the fair value hierarchy, where the selling price for
an element is based on vendor-specific objective evidence (“VSOE”), if available; third-party evidence (“TPE”) if VSOE is not available; or the best estimate of
selling price (“BESP”), if neither VSOE nor TPE is available. The Company establishes VSOE based upon the selling price of elements when sold on a
standalone basis and TPE is determined based upon competitor’s selling price for largely interchangeable products. For BESP, the Company considers its
discounting and internal pricing practices, external market conditions and competitive positioning for similar offerings.

For software deliverables, the Company allocates consideration between multiple elements based on software revenue recognition guidance, which requires
revenue to be allocated to each element based on the relative fair values of those elements. The fair value of an element must be based on VSOE. Where fair
value of delivered elements is not available, revenue is recognized on the “residual method” deferring the fair value of the undelivered elements and
recognizing the balance as revenue for the delivered elements. If evidence of fair value of one or more undelivered elements does not exist, all revenue is
deferred and recognized at the earlier of the delivery of those elements or the establishment of fair value of the remaining undelivered elements.

Product Revenue — Hardware

Revenue for hardware products sold to distributors, VARs, DMRs, OEMs and end users is generally recognized upon shipment, consistent with the transfer of
title and risk of loss. When significant post-delivery obligations exist, the related revenue is deferred until such obligations are fulfilled (sell-through basis). If
there are customer acceptance criteria in the contract, the Company recognized revenue upon end user acceptance.

In the period revenue is recognized, allowances are provided for estimated future price adjustments, such as rebates, price protection and future product
returns. These allowances are based on programs in existence at the time revenue is recognized, plans regarding future price adjustments, the customers’
master agreements and historical product return rates. Since the Company has historically been able to reliably estimate the amount of allowances required,
the Company recognized revenue, net of projected allowances, upon shipment to its customers. If the Company was unable to reliably estimate the amount of
revenue adjustments in any specific reporting period, then it would be required to defer recognition of the revenue until the rights had lapsed and the Company
was no longer under any obligation to reduce the price or accept the return of the product.

Product Revenue — Software

For software products, the Company generally recognized revenue upon delivery of the software. Revenue from post-contract customer support agreements,
which entitle software customers to both telephone support and any unspecified upgrades and enhancements during the term of the agreement, is classified
as product revenue, as the value of these support arrangements are the upgrades and enhancements to the software licenses themselves and there is no on-
site support. The Company recognized revenue from its post-contract customer support ratably over the term of the agreement. The Company licenses
certain software to customers under licensing agreements that allow those customers to embed the Company’s software into specific products offered by the
customer. The Company also licenses its software to licensees who pay a fee based on the amount of sales of their products that incorporate the Company’s
software. On a periodic basis, the licensees provide the Company with reports listing their sales to end users for which they owe the Company license fees.
As the reports substantiate delivery has occurred, the Company recognized revenue based on the information in these reports or when amounts could be
reasonably estimated.

Service Revenue

Revenue for service is generally recognized upon the services being rendered. Service revenue primarily consists of customer field support agreements for
the Company’s hardware products. For customer field support agreements, revenue equal to the separately stated price of these service contracts is initially
deferred and recognized as revenue ratably over the contract period.

Royalty Revenue
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The Company licenses certain intellectual property to third party manufacturers under arrangements that are represented by master contracts. The master
contracts give the third-party manufacturers rights to the intellectual property which include allowing them to either manufacture or include the intellectual
property in products for resale. As consideration, the licensees pay the Company a per-unit royalty for sales of their products that incorporate the Company’s
intellectual property. On a periodic and timely basis, the licensees provide the Company with reports listing units sold to end users subject to the royalties. As
the reports substantiate delivery has occurred, the Company recognized revenue based on the information either in these reports or when amounts can be
reasonably estimated.

 

NOTE 3: BALANCE SHEET INFORMATION

Certain significant amounts included in the Company's consolidated balance sheets consist of the following (in thousands):

Manufacturing inventories March 31,

 2020  2019
Finished goods  
   Manufactured finished goods $ 15,790  $ 8,160

   Distributor inventory 504  3,345

   Total finished goods 16,294  11,505

   Work in progress 1,001  107

   Raw materials 11,901  6,828

      Total manufacturing inventories $ 29,196  $ 18,440

Service inventories March 31,

 2020  2019
Finished goods $ 15,845  $ 13,437

Component parts 4,657  5,633

   Total service inventories $ 20,502  $ 19,070

Other current assets March 31,

 2020  2019
Insurance receivable $ —  $ 8,950

Other 8,489  9,145

   Total other current assets $ 8,489  $ 18,095

Property and equipment, net March 31,

 2020  2019
Machinery and equipment $ 33,804  $ 30,306

Leasehold improvements 6,733  6,990

Furniture and fixtures 1,862  2,073

 42,399  39,369

Less: accumulated depreciation (33,353 )  (30,932 )

   Total property, plant and equipment, net $ 9,046  $ 8,437

Other accrued liabilities March 31,

 2020  2019
Accrued expenses $ 3,237  $ 8,925

Asset retirement obligation 1,655  1,936

Accrued settlement 101  10,452

Accrued warranty 2,668  3,456

Accrued interest 3,192  230

Other 6,682  4,026

   Total other accrued liabilities $ 17,535  $ 29,025
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Depreciation and amortization expense for property and equipment amounted to $4.3 million, $4.2 million, and $4.8 million for the years ended March 31,
2020, 2019, and 2018, respectively.

The following table details the change in the accrued warranty balance (in thousands):

 Year Ended March 31,

 2020  2019  2018
Balance as of April 1 $ 3,456  $ 2,422  3,689

   Current period accruals 3,516  5,766  5,140

   Adjustments to prior estimates (114 )  326  (116 )

   Charges incurred (4,190 )  (5,058 )  (6,291 )

Balance as of March 31 $ 2,668  $ 3,456  $ 2,422

 

NOTE 4: DEBT

TCW Term Loan and PNC Credit Facility

On October 21, 2016 (the “Closing Date”), the Company entered into a term loan and security agreement (the “TCW Term Loan”) with TCW Asset
Management Company LLC (“TCW”) and a revolving credit and security agreement (the “PNC Credit Facility” and together with the TCW Term Loan, the
“Credit Agreements”) with PNC Bank, National Association (“PNC”).

Borrowings under the TCW Term Loan paid interest at a rate per annum equal to, at the Company’s option, either (a) the greater of (i) 3.00%, (ii) the federal
funds rate plus 0.50%, (iii) the LIBOR rate based upon an interest period of 1 month plus 1.0% and (iv) the “prime rate” last quoted by the Wall Street Journal,
plus a margin ranging from 6.00% to 7.25% based on the applicable senior net leverage ratio, as defined in the TCW Term Loan agreement, or (b) the LIBOR
rate plus 7.00% to 8.25% based on the applicable senior net leverage ratio. Borrowings under the PNC Credit Facility charged interest at a rate per annum
equal to, at the Company’s option, either (a) the greater of (i) the base rate, as defined in the PNC Credit Facility Agreement, (ii) the federal funds rate
plus 0.50% and (iii) the 1 month LIBOR rate, plus 1.0%, plus an applicable margin of 1.50%, or (b) the LIBOR rate plus an applicable margin of 2.50%.
Additionally, the Company was required to pay a 0.375% commitment fee on undrawn amounts under the PNC Credit Facility on a quarterly basis, which was
recorded as interest expense in the period incurred.

February 2018 Amendment

In February 2018, the Company amended the Credit Agreements (the “February 2018 Amendment”) to, among other things, (a) provide for 2% paid-in-
kind interest on the TCW Term Loan, (b) allow for the release of $7.0 million in restricted cash required under the terms of the PNC Credit Facility, and
(c) modify certain covenants associated with the Credit Agreements.

In connection with the February 2018 Amendment, the Company issued warrants to purchase 150,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise
price of $0.01 per share to TCW (“February 2018 Amendment Warrants”). TCW immediately exercised 75,000 of the February 2018 Amendment Warrants
and the remaining warrants to purchase 75,000 of the Company’s common stock were contingently exercisable if the Company failed to meet certain financial
requirements. The Company determined the fair value of the February 2018 Amendment Warrants to be approximately $0.6 million of which $0.3 million was
allocated to the non-contingent warrants to purchase 75,000 shares of the Company’s common stock and recorded as additional paid in capital and $0.3
million was allocated to the remaining contingency exercisable warrants to purchase 75,000 shares of the Company’s common stock and was recorded as a
liability with changes in fair value recorded in the consolidated statements of operations until the exercise contingencies were met.

The Company accounted for the February 2018 Amendment related to the TCW Term Loan as a debt extinguishment. Accordingly, a $6.9 million loss on debt
extinguishment was recorded during the year ended
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March 31, 2018 which included unamortized debt issuance costs of approximately $3.8 million and fees paid to TCW of $3.1 million (including $0.6 million
related to the value of the February 2018 Amendment Warrants). The Company accounted for the February 2018 Amendment related to the PNC Credit
Facility as a modification. The Company paid PNC an amendment fee of $0.6 million which was included in other current assets and amortized to interest
expense over the term of the PNC Credit Facility.

August 2018 Amendment

In August 2018, the Company amended the Credit Agreements (the “August 2018 Amendment”) to, among other things, (a) provide for an additional $20
million in available borrowings under an additional incremental delayed draw term loan with TCW (the “AIDDTL”) of which $6.7 million was immediately
borrowed, (b) accelerate the maturity date of the TCW Term Loan to January 31, 2019, (c) defer required principal and interest payments until the January 31,
2019 maturity date, (d) modify certain financial covenants and related definitions, (e) extend the due date for the Company to provide audited financial
statements, and (f) require the Company to meet certain milestones related to the Company completing a refinancing transaction, as defined in the August
2018 Amendment (the “Refinancing Transaction”).

In connection with the August 2018 Amendment, the Company issued warrants to purchase 1,099,533 of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of
$2.11 per share. To the extent that the Company did not complete a Refinancing Transaction and repay the entire TCW Term Loan by September 30, 2018,
October 31, 2018, November 30, 2018 and December 31, 2018, then on each such date the Company was required to issue additional warrants to purchase
3% of the then outstanding common stock of the Company with an exercise price equal to the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the business
day immediately prior to the date of issuance of the warrants. A total of 4,398,132 warrants to purchase the Company’s common stock were issued related to
the August 2018 Amendment (the “August 2018 Amendment Warrants”) with warrants to purchase 1,099,533 shares issued on each of September 30, 2018,
October 31, 2018 and November 30, 2018 with exercise prices of $2.40 per share, $2.39 per share and $2.40 per share, respectively.

The August 2018 Amendment Warrants were not exercisable until February 1, 2019, on which date, the exercise price of each of the warrants that were
issued was reset to the lower of: (a) the applicable existing exercise price for such warrant or (b) the lowest of the 5-day volume-weighted average closing
prices of the Company’s common stock for the last five trading days in the months of September 2018, October 2018, November 2018, December 2018 and
January 2019. The exercise price for all of the August 2018 Amendment Warrants was adjusted to $1.62 per share on February 1, 2019.

Due to the exercise price reset provision in the August 2018 Amendment Warrants, the Company initially recorded the value of the warrants as a liability with
changes in fair value recorded as other income (expense) in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. The Company reclassified the fair
value of the warrants of $5.6 million to additional paid in capital on February 1, 2019, the exercise price reset date. A loss of approximately $0.4 million was
recorded to other income (expense) during fiscal year 2019 before the reclassification to equity.

The August 2018 Amendment provided a repurchase right allowing the Company to repurchase 50% of the August 2018 Amendment Warrants issued within
30 days of repayment of amounts due under the TCW Term Loan for $0.001 per warrant. The Company repaid the TCW Term Loan on December 27, 2018
and repurchased 549,766 warrants for $550 which resulted in a reduction in the fair value of the August 2018 Amendment Warrants liability of $0.4 million
which was recorded as other income (expense) in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income. On November 18,
2019, the 3.8 million outstanding August 2018 Amendment Warrants were exercised on a cashless basis, resulting in the issuance of 2.8 million shares of
common stock.

The Company accounted for the August 2018 Amendment related to the TCW Term Loan as a debt extinguishment. Accordingly, a $14.9 million loss on debt
extinguishment was recorded during the year ended March 31, 2018 related primarily to fees paid to TCW (including $5.7 million related to the value of the
August 2018 Amendment Warrants). The Company also accounted for the August 2018 Amendment related to the PNC Credit Facility as a debt
extinguishment and recorded a loss on debt extinguishment of approximately $1.8 million related to a portion of the unamortized debt issuance costs. The
Company paid PNC an amendment fee of $1.7 million which was included into other current assets and amortized to interest expense over the original term of
the PNC Credit Facility.
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Senior Secured Term Loan and Amended PNC Credit Facility

On December 27, 2018 (the “Closing Date”), the Company entered into a senior secured term loan of $150.0 million with U.S. Bank, National Association
(“U.S. Bank”), drawn on the Closing Date, and a senior secured delayed draw term loan of $15.0 million (collectively, “the Senior Secured Term Loan”) which
was drawn in January 2019. In connection with the Senior Secured Term Loan, the Company amended its existing PNC Credit Facility providing for
borrowings up to a maximum principal amount of the lesser of: (a) $45.0 million or (b) the amount of the borrowing base, as defined in the PNC Credit Facility
agreement. Borrowings under the Senior Secured Term Loan and Amended PNC Credit Facility (collectively, the “December 2018 Credit Agreements”)
mature on December 27, 2023.

A portion of the proceeds from the Senior Secured Term Loan was used to repay all outstanding borrowings under the TCW Term Loan. The Company
recorded a loss on debt extinguishment of $0.8 million related to repayment of the TCW Term Loan including unamortized debt issuance costs of $0.1 million
and costs paid to TCW of $0.7 million. The Company accounted for the Amended PNC Credit Facility as a modification. The Company incurred $1.4 million in
costs related to the amendment which was recorded to other assets and is being recognized as interest expense over the term of the Amended PNC Credit
Facility.

Borrowings under the Senior Secured Term Loan bear interest at a rate per annum, at the Company’s option, equal to (a) the greater of (i) 3.00%, (ii) the
Federal funds rate plus 0.50%, (iii) the LIBOR Rate based upon an interest period of 1 month plus 1.0%, and (iv) the Prime Rate as quoted by the Wall Street
Journal, plus an applicable margin of 9.00% or (b) LIBOR Rate plus an applicable margin of 10.00%. Interest on the Senior Secured Term Loan is payable
quarterly. Principal payments of 0.25% of the original balance of the Senior Secured Term Loan are due quarterly with the remaining principal balance due at
maturity. Additionally, on an annual basis beginning with the fiscal year ending March 31, 2020, the Company will be required to perform a calculation of
excess cash flow, as defined in the Senior Secured Term Loan agreement, which may require an additional payment of the principal in certain circumstances
(the "ECF Payment"). As of March 31, 2020, an ECF Payment of $5.3 million was payable during the quarter ended June 30, 2020 and has been included in
the current portion of long-term debt in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Borrowings under the Amended PNC Credit Facility bear interest, at the Company’s option, equal to, (a) the greater of (i) the base rate, as defined in the PNC
Credit Facility, (ii) the daily Overnight Bank Funding Rate plus 0.5% and (iii) the daily LIBOR rate plus 1.0%, plus an applicable margin of (a) 4.50% for the
period from the Amendment Date until the date quarterly financial statements are delivered to PNC for the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2021 and
(b) thereafter, ranging from 3.50% to 4.50% based on the Company’s applicable Total Leverage Ratio, as defined, or (b) the LIBOR Rate plus an applicable
margin of (a) 5.00% for the period from the Amendment Date until the date quarterly financial statements are delivered to PNC for the fiscal quarter ending
June 30, 2021 and (b) thereafter, ranging from 4.50% to 5.00% based on the Company’s applicable total leverage ratio, as defined in the Amended PNC
Credit Facility agreement. Interest on the Amended PNC Credit Facility is payable quarterly.

In connection with the Senior Secured Term Loan agreement, the Company issued warrants to purchase 7,110,616 shares of the Company’s common stock,
at an exercise price of $1.33 per share (the “2018 Term Loan Warrants”). The exercise price and the number of shares underlying the 2018 Term Loan
Warrants are subject to adjustment in the event of specified events, including dilutive issuances of common stock linked equity instruments at a price lower
than the exercise price of the warrants (“Down Round Feature”), a subdivision or combination of the Company’s common stock, a reclassification of the
Company’s common stock or specified dividend payments. The 2018 Term Loan Warrants are exercisable until December 27, 2028. Upon exercise, the
aggregate exercise price may be paid, at each warrant holder’s election, in cash or on a net issuance basis, based upon the fair market value of the
Company’s common stock at the time of exercise.

In accordance with ASU No. 2017-11, Earnings Per Share (Topic 260); Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity (Topic 480); Derivatives and Hedging (Topic
815): (Part I) Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Down Round Features; (Part II) Replacement of the Indefinite Deferral for Mandatorily
Redeemable Financial Instruments of Certain Nonpublic Entities and Certain Mandatorily Redeemable Noncontrolling Interests with a Scope Exception (“ASU
2017-11”), the presence of the Down Round Feature does not preclude the Term Loan Warrants from being classified in stockholders’ deficit. Accordingly, the
Company determined that the fair value of the warrants of $8.8 million should be classified within stockholders’ deficit upon issuance. The Company incurred
$18.3 million in costs related to the Senior Secured Term Loan (including $8.8 million related to the value of the Term Loan Warrants).
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These debt issuance costs are reflected as a reduction of the carrying amount of the Senior Secured Term Loan and are being recognized as interest expense
over the term of the Senior Secured Term Loan.

The December 2018 Credit Agreements contain certain covenants, including requirements to prepay the loans in an amount equal to 100% of the net cash
proceeds from certain assets dispositions, subject to certain reinvestment rights and other exceptions and equity issuances. Amounts outstanding under the
December 2018 Credit Agreements may become due and payable upon the occurrence of specified events, which among other things include (subject to
certain exceptions and cure periods) (i) failure to pay principal, interest, or any fees when due, (ii) breach of any representation or warranty, covenant, or other
agreement, (iii) the occurrence of a bankruptcy or insolvency proceeding with respect to the Company or any of its subsidiaries, (iv) any event of default with
respect to other indebtedness involving an aggregate amount of $1.0 million or more, (v) any lien created by the December 2018 Credit Agreements or any
related security documents ceasing to be valid and perfected; (vi) the December 2018 Credit Agreements or any related security documents or guarantees
ceasing to be legal, valid, and binding upon the parties thereto; or a change of control shall occur. The December 2018 Credit Agreements contain financial
covenants relating to a fixed charge coverage ratio, total net leverage ratio, minimum EBITDA, and minimum liquidity. The Amended PNC Credit Facility also
includes a total leverage ratio covenant. As of March 31, 2020, the Company was in compliance with all covenants.

The Senior Secured Term Loan contains a prepayment penalty which is calculated based on (i) if prepayment occurs prior to 30-month anniversary of the
Closing Date, the prepayment penalty is the present value of all required interest payments due on the Senior Secured Term Loan that are prepaid from the
date of prepayment through and including the 30-month anniversary of the Closing Date calculated based on the 3 month LIBOR Rate plus 10%, plus 5.0% of
the amount of principal prepaid, (ii) if prepayment occurs between the 30-month anniversary of Closing Date through the third anniversary of the Closing Date,
the prepayment penalty is 5.0% of the principal prepaid and (iii) if prepayment occurs between the third anniversary of the Closing Date through the fourth
anniversary of Closing Date, the prepayment penalty is 2.0% of the principal prepaid (the “Prepayment Penalty”). There is no Prepayment Penalty after the
fourth anniversary of the Closing Date. In the event of a change in control, as defined in the Senior Secured Term Loan agreement, the Company is required
to make a change in control premium payment equal to the greater of the Prepayment Penalty or 1.0% of the principal amount being repaid. The Company is
permitted to prepay up to 25% of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Senior Secured Term Loan balance with cash proceeds of a public
offering of the Company’s common stock at a prepayment premium of 12% of the principal amount being repaid (the "Equity Clawback").

On March 30, 2020 and March 31, 2020, the Company entered into amendments to the Senior Secured Term Loan which, among other things, included (a)
payment deferral of the scheduled amortization payment of $0.4 million due on April 1, 2020 to June 30, 2020; payment of $1.9 million of the interest due on
April 1, 2020 in kind rather than in cash, and (b) the waiver of compliance with the total net leverage ratio covenant, as defined in the Senior Secured Term
Loan agreement, for the quarter ended March 31, 2020.

Registration Rights Agreement

In connection with the 2018 Senior Secured Term Loan, the Company entered into a registration rights agreement with the holders of the 2018 Term Loan
Warrants (the “Registration Rights Agreement”). The Registration Rights Agreement grants the holders of the 2018 Term Loan Warrants certain registration
rights for the shares of common stock issuable upon the exercise of the warrants. The agreement calls for the Company to prepare and file a registration
statement with the SEC and use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the registration statement to be declared effective as soon as practicable, but in no
event later than October 31, 2019 (the “Registration Penalty Date”). If the Company is unable to file and have a Form S-1 registration statement declared
effective on the Registration Penalty Date (the “Filing Failure”), the Company is required to pay each holder of Term Loan Warrants an amount of cash equal
to (i) $0.3 million multiplied by (ii) such holder’s pro rata share of all Term Loan Warrants (the “Registration Delay Payments”) on the day of a Registration
Penalty Date and on every thirtieth day thereafter until such Filing Failure is cured. In the event the Company fails to make Registration Delay Payments in a
timely manner, such Registration Delay Payments shall bear interest at 5.0% of such unpaid Registration Delay Payment until paid in full. The Company
expects to meet all registration requirements and has determined that such a payment under the Registration Rights Agreement was not probable at the time
the agreement was entered into, nor did such a payment become probable prior to or as of March 31, 2020.

As of March 31, 2020, the interest rates on the Senior Secured Term Loan and the Amended PNC Credit Facility were 12.0% and 6.25%, respectively. The
Company is required to maintain a $5.0 million restricted cash reserve
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as part of the Amended PNC Credit Facility, which is presented as long-term restricted cash within the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of
March 31, 2020.

The following table summarizes the Company's borrowing as of the periods presented (in thousands):

 Year Ended March 31,

 2020  2019
Senior Secured Term Loan $ 165,208  $ 164,588

Amended PNC Credit Facility 2,620  —

Less: current portion (7,321 )  (1,650 )

Less unamortized debt issuance costs(1) (13,660 )  (17,317 )

Long-term debt, net $ 146,847  $ 145,621

(1) The unamortized debt issuance costs related to the Senior Secured Term Loan are presented as a reduction of the carrying amount of the corresponding debt balance on the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Unamortized debt issuance costs related to the PNC Credit Facility are presented within other assets on the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets.

See Note 12, Subsequent Events, for additional information related to amendments to the Company's Amended PNC Credit Facility and the Senior Secured
Term Loan.

 

NOTE 5: LEASES

The Company adopted ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (“ASC 842”) effective April 1, 2019 using the optional transition method in ASU 2018-11, Targeted
Improvements. Therefore, the consolidated balance sheet and consolidated statements of operations as of and for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2020
reflect the application of Topic 842, while the consolidated balance sheet as of March 31, 2019 and consolidated statements of operations for the fiscal years
ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 were not adjusted and continue to be reported under ASC 840, Leases, the accounting guidance in effect for the prior
periods. The adoption of ASC 842 resulted in the recording of right of use assets and corresponding lease liabilities of $13.5 million and $12.7 million,
respectively, as of April 1, 2019, which include the impact of existing deferred rents and tenant improvement allowances on the consolidated balance sheet as
of April 1, 2019.

Under ASC 842, the Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception. The lease term begins on the commencement date, which is the date the
Company takes possession of the property and may include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the option will be
exercised. The lease terms are used to determine lease classification as an operating or finance lease and is used to calculate straight-line lease expense for
operating leases. The Company elected the package of practical expedients permitted under the transition guidance within the standard, allowing it to carry
forward the historical lease classification, carry forward the conclusions on whether current or expired contracts contain leases and carry forward the
accounting for initial direct costs for existing leases. Additionally, the Company elected the practical expedient for use of hindsight to determine the lease term
for existing leases whereby the Company evaluated the performance of existing leases in relation to the Company's leasing strategy and determined that
most renewal options would not be reasonably certain to be exercised. This resulted in the shortening of lease terms for the existing leases.

Right-of-use (“ROU”) assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent the Company’s
obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease. ROU assets and lease liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value
of lease payments over the lease term. ROU assets also include prepaid lease payments and exclude lease incentives received. As the Company’s leases
typically do not provide an implicit rate, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date for its
leases. The Company determines the incremental borrowing rate using the Company’s current unsecured borrowing rate, adjusted for various factors such as
collateralization and term to align with the terms of the lease. The determination of the incremental borrowing rate requires judgment. The Company elected
the short-term lease recognition exemption for all leases that qualify. Therefore, leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the
balance sheet; instead, lease payments are recognized as lease expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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The Company has operating leases for facilities, vehicles, computers, and other office equipment with various expiration dates. The leases have remaining
terms of 1 to 8 years. Certain leases contain renewal options for varying periods, which are at the Company’s sole discretion. The Company did not use
hindsight when determining lease term, therefore, the Company carried forward the lease term as determined prior to the adoption of ASC 842. For new
leases with renewal or termination options, such option periods will be included in the determination of the Company’s ROU assets and lease liabilities if the
Company is reasonably certain to exercise the option. Certain leases require the Company to pay taxes, insurance, maintenance, and other operating
expenses associated with the leased asset. Such amounts are not included in the measurement of the lease liability to the extent they are variable in nature.
These variable lease costs are recognized as a variable lease expense when incurred.

Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases is as follows (in thousands):

Operating leases  March 31, 2020
Operating lease right-of-use asset   $ 12,689

   

Other current liabilities   $ 3,065
Operating lease liability   10,822

   Total operating lease liabilities   $ 13,887

The components of lease expense were as follows (in thousands):

Lease expense  Year Ended March 31, 2020
Operating lease expense   $ 4,901
Variable lease expense   277
Short-term lease expense   102

   Total lease expense   $ 5,280

Maturity of Lease Liabilities  Operating Leases
   2021  4,878

   2022  3,671

   2023  2,825

   2024  2,857

   2025  2,285

   Thereafter  2,889

Total lease payments  $ 19,405

Less: Imputed interest  (5,518 )

Present value of lease liabilities  $ 13,887

Lease Term and Discount Rate  March 31, 2020
Weighted average remaining operating lease term (years)  4.99

Weighted average discount rate for operating leases  13.91 %

Operating cash outflows related to operating leases totaled $4.5 million for the twelve months ended March 31, 2020.

 

NOTE 6: RESTRUCTURING CHARGES

During fiscal years 2019 and 2018, the Company approved certain restructuring plans to improve operational efficiencies and rationalize its cost structure.
These plans included a reduction in workforce of approximately 80 positions and 210 positions during the fiscal years 2019 and 2018, respectively, and the
exit of certain facility space occurring throughout fiscal years 2018 through 2020.
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The following tables show the activity and the estimated timing of future payouts for accrued restructuring (in thousands):

 
Severance and

benefits  Facilities  Total
Balance as of March 31, 2017 $ 130  $ 6,152  $ 6,282

Restructuring costs 8,266  208  8,474

Cash payments (6,368 )  (1,971)  (8,339)

Other non-cash (598 )  —  (598)

Balance as of March 31, 2018 1,430  4,389  5,819

Restructuring costs 4,708  862  5,570

Cash payments (6,138 )  (2,375)  (8,513)

Balance as of March 31, 2019 —  2,876  2,876

Adjustments of prior estimates —  1,022  1,022

Cash payments —  (3,961)  (3,961)

Other non-cash —  63  63

Balance as of March 31, 2020 $ —  $ —  $ —

Facility restructuring accruals will be paid in accordance with the respective facility lease terms and amounts above are net of estimated sublease amounts.

 

NOTE 7: STOCK INCENTIVE PLANS AND SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

Amended and Restated 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan

The Company has a stockholder-approved 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) which has 6.3 million shares authorized for issuance of new shares at
March 31, 2020. There were 2.7 million stock options, performance shares and restricted shares outstanding, and 3.6 million shares available for future
issuance under the Plan as of March 31, 2020.

In February 2018, the Company enacted a deferral of release of all vested restricted stock units and performance share units granted prior to February 2018.
The deferral of release impacted only pre-February 2018 restricted stock units and performance share units and was intended to prevent the release of
unregistered shares to grantees. During the deferral period, a grantee retained the legal right to the awards they had vested in, but the Company deferred the
release of the underlying shares until it could become current with its SEC reporting requirements. The Company ended the deferral of release in February
2019. The deferral of release and its removal were both modifications to the awards; however, the impact of the modifications were not material and no
incremental compensation expense was recorded. All employees with outstanding stock-based awards were impacted by the modifications.

Stock options under the Plan are granted at prices determined by the Board of Directors, but at not less than the fair market value of our common stock on the
date of grant. The majority of performance share units, restricted stock units and stock options granted to employees vest over three to four years. Stock
options, performance shares and restricted stock grants to non-employee directors typically vest over one year. The term of each stock option under the plan
will not exceed seven years. Stock options, performance share units and restricted stock units granted under the Plan are subject to forfeiture if employment
terminates. The Company accounts for all forfeitures of stock-based awards when they occur.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company's Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "ESPP") has 9.7 million shares authorized at March 31, 2020. The plan enables eligible employees to
purchase shares of our common stock at a discount. Purchases will be accomplished through participation in discrete offering periods. On each purchase
date, eligible employees will purchase our common stock at a price per share equal to 85% of the lesser of (i) the fair market value of our common stock on the
first trading day of the offering period, and (ii) the fair market value of our common stock on the purchase date.
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We have reserved shares of common stock for future issuance under our ESPP as follows:

 March 31,

 2020  2019
Shares available for issuance at beginning of period 497  497

Additional shares authorized during the period 900  —

   Total shares available for future issuance at end of period 1,397  497

The Company uses the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model (“Black-Scholes”) to determine the fair value for stock options, shares forecasted to be
issued pursuant to our ESPP, and warrants. This requires the use of assumptions about expected life, stock price, volatility, risk-free interest rates and
expected dividends.

Expected Life—The expected term was based on historical experience with similar awards, giving consideration to the contractual terms, exercise patterns
and post-vesting forfeitures.

Volatility—The expected stock price volatility for our common stock was based on the historical volatility of our common stock over the most recent period
corresponding with the estimated expected life of the award.

Risk-Free Rate—The risk-free interest rate is based on the yields of U.S. Treasury securities with maturities similar to the expected term of the options for
each option group.

Dividend Yield—We have never declared or paid any cash dividends and do not presently plan to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Consequently,
an expected dividend yield of zero was used.

The weighted-average grant date fair value and the assumptions used in calculating fair values of shares forecasted to be issued pursuant to our ESPP are as
follows:

 Year Ended March 31,

 2020  2019  2018
Expected life 0.5 years  n/a  0.5 years

Volatility 49.81%  n/a  0.05%

Risk-free interest rate 0.41%  n/a  91%

Dividend yield —%  n/a  —%

Weighted-average grant date fair value $4.78  n/a  $2.20

Other Stock Incentive Plans

In addition to the Plan, we have other stock incentive plans which are mostly inactive for future share grant purposes, including plans assumed in acquisitions,
under which stock options, stock appreciation rights, stock purchase rights, restricted stock awards and long-term performance awards to employees,
consultants, officers and affiliates were authorized (“Other Plans”). On April 1, 2019, we granted 0.3 million shares as an inducement to employment of our
Chief Revenue Officer, half of which are time-based and the other half performance-based. The shares have the same vesting and market performance
conditions as the performance stock units we granted in 2020. As of March 31, 2020, there were 0.25 million shares outstanding pertaining to this grant.

Performance Stock Units

The Company granted 1.5 million, 0.7 million and 0.5 million of performance share units with market conditions (“Market PSUs”) in fiscal 2020, 2019, and
2018, respectively. The number of Market PSUs issued is dependent on Quantum’s common stock achieving certain average closing stock price targets as of
specified dates. Market PSUs vest one to three years after the issuance date based on the stock price targets achieved and are contingent upon continued
service of the holder of the award during this period. The estimated fair value of these Market PSUs is determined at the issuance date using a Monte Carlo
simulation model.
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Assumptions used in the Monte Carlo model to calculate fair values of market PSU’s during each fiscal period are as follows:

Weighted-Average  2020  2019  2018
Discount period (years)  3.00  1.95  7.00

Risk-free interest rate  1.45%  2.63%  2.48%

Stock price volatility  72.00%  69.35%  75.52%

Grant date fair value  $5.92  $1.70  $4.29

The Company granted 0.3 million, 0.0 million and 0.4 million of performance share units with financial performance conditions (“Performance PSUs”) in the
fiscal years ended March 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Performance PSUs become eligible for vesting based on the Company achieving certain
financial performance targets through the end of the fiscal year when the performance PSUs were granted, and are contingent upon continued service of the
holder of the award during this period. Performance PSUs are valued at the market closing share price on the date of grant and compensation expense for
Performance PSUs is recognized when it is probable that the performance conditions will be achieved. Compensation expense recognized related to
Performance PSUs is reversed if the Company determines that it is no longer probable that the performance conditions will be achieved.

The following table summarizes activity for Market PSUs and Performance PSUs for the year ended March 31, 2020:

 Shares  

Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair
Value per Share

Outstanding as of March 31, 2019 770  $ 1.78

Granted 1,807  $ 4.99

Vested (311)  $ 1.94

Forfeited or cancelled (322)  $ 5.67

Outstanding as of March 31, 2020 1,944  $ 4.09

As of March 31, 2020, there was $4.9 million of total unrecognized stock-based compensation related to Market PSUs, which is expected to be recognized
over a weighted-average period of 1.23 years. As of March 31, 2020, there was no unrecognized stock-based compensation related to Performance PSUs.
The total fair value of shares vested during fiscal years ended March 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 was $0.6 million, $0.1 million, and $0.7 million, respectively.

Restricted Stock Units

The Company granted 0.6 million, 1.0 million, and 1.5 million of service-based restricted stock units (“RSUs”) in the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020, 2019
and 2018, respectively, which generally vest ratably over a three-year service period. RSUs are valued at the market closing share price on the date of grant
and compensation expense for RSUs is recognized ratably over the applicable vesting period.

The following table summarizes activity for restricted stock units for the year ended March 31, 2020:

 Shares  

Weighted-Average
Grant Date Fair
Value per Share

Outstanding as of March 31, 2019 1,313  $ 3.61

Granted 645  $ 4.77

Vested (877)  $ 4.55

Forfeited or cancelled (95)  $ 5.54

Outstanding as of March 31, 2020 986  $ 3.42
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As of March 31, 2020, there was $1.4 million of total unrecognized stock-based compensation related to restricted stock units, which is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.03 years. The total fair value of RSUs vested during fiscal years ended March 31, 2020, 2019, and 2018 was
$4.0 million, $5.1 million, and $4.8 million, respectively.

Compensation Expense

The following table details the Company's stock-based compensation, net of forfeitures:

 Year Ended March 31,

 2020  2019  2018
Cost of revenue $ 452  $ 334  $ 725

Research and development 984  440  906

Sales and marketing 1,165  179  1,790

General and administrative 4,147  2,456  1,973

Total share-based compensation $ 6,748  $ 3,409  $ 5,394

 Year Ended March 31,

 2020  2019  2018
Restricted stock units $ 3,610  $ 3,178  $ 5,004

Performance share units 3,103  274  (171)

Stock options —  (43)  44

Employee stock purchase plan 35  —  517

Total share-based compensation $ 6,748  $ 3,409  $ 5,394

 

NOTE 8: NET LOSS PER SHARE

Equity Instruments Outstanding

The Company has stock options, performance share units, restricted stock units and options to purchase shares under its ESPP, granted under various stock
incentive plans that, upon exercise and vesting, respectively, would increase shares outstanding. In addition, the Company had Convertible Notes, which were
convertible at the option of the holders at any time prior to maturity into shares of Quantum common stock. During November 2017, the Company paid all
outstanding principal and accrued interest on the Convertible Notes. The Company has also issued warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s stock that
are related to the TCW Term Loan and the Senior Secured Term Loan as described within Note 4: Debt to the consolidated financial statements.

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per share (in thousands, except per-share data):

 Year Ended March 31,

 2020  2019  2018

Numerator:      
Net loss $ (5,210)  $ (42,797)  $ (43,346)

Denominator:      
Weighted average shares - basic and diluted 37,593  35,551  34,687

Net loss per share - basic and diluted $ (0.14)  $ (1.20)  $ (1.25)

The following outstanding shares of common stock equivalents were excluded from the computation of the diluted net loss per share attributable to common
stock for the periods presented because their effect would have been anti-dilutive (in thousands):
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 Year Ended March 31,

 2020  2019  2018
Stock awards 931  307  1,838

Warrants 6,312  4,657  75

ESPP 223  —  —

Total 7,466  4,964  1,913

The dilutive impact related to common shares from stock incentive plans and outstanding warrants is determined by applying the treasury stock method to the
assumed vesting of outstanding performance share units and restricted stock units and the exercise of outstanding options and warrants. The dilutive impact
related to common shares from contingently issuable performance share units is determined by applying a two-step approach using both the contingently
issuable share guidance and the treasury stock method.

We had outstanding market based restricted stock units as of March 31, 2020 that were eligible to vest into shares of common stock subject to the
achievement of certain average stock price targets in addition to a time-based vesting period. These contingently issuable shares are excluded from the
computation of diluted earnings per share if, based on current period results, the shares would not be issuable if the end of the reporting period were the end
of the contingency period. There were 0.9 million shares of contingently issuable market based restricted stock units that were excluded from the table above
as the market conditions were not satisfied as of March 31, 2020.

On November 18, 2019, 3.8 million warrants issued by the Company related to the TCW Term Loan agreement were exercised on a cashless basis, resulting
in the issuance of 2.8 million shares of common stock.

 

NOTE 9: INCOME TAXES

Pre-tax loss reflected in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended March 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018 is as follows (in thousands):

 Year Ended March 31,

 2020  2019  2018
U.S. $ (6,318)  $ (40,935)  $ (46,923)

Foreign 1,911 514 514  464

Total $ (4,407)  $ (40,421)  $ (46,459)

Income tax provision (benefit) consists of the following (in thousands):

 Year Ended March 31,

 2020  2019  2018

Current tax expense      
   Federal $ (115)  $ (217)  $ (3,484)

   State 106  31  26

   Foreign 1,271  1,103  206

      Total current tax expense 1,262  917  (3,252)

Deferred tax expense   
   State 33  32  32

   Foreign (492)  1,427  107

      Total deferred tax expense (459)  1,459  139

Income tax provision (benefit) $ 803  $ 2,376  $ (3,113)
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The income tax provision differs from the amount computed by applying the federal statutory rate of 21% for 2020 and 2019, and 31.5% for 2018 to income
(loss) before income taxes as follows (in thousands):

 For the year ended March 31,

 2020  2019  2018
Expense (benefit) at the federal statutory rate $ (925)  $ (8,488)  $ (14,634)

Equity compensation 280  905  1,024

Permanent items 914  359  564

Foreign taxes 1,612  (2,133)  1,336

State income taxes (20)  (997)  (830)

Valuation allowance (2,639)  10,913  (42,784)

Uncertain tax positions (8,654)  (9,278)  (336)

Tax reform —  (207)  52,682

Credit monetization —  —  (323)

Expiration of attributes 11,679  12,268  410

Research and development credits (1,566)  (879)  (1,714)

Other 122  (87)  1,492

Income tax provision $ 803  $ 2,376  $ (3,113)

Significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows (in thousands):

 As of March 31,

 2020  2019

Deferred tax assets    
Inventory valuation method $ 924  $ 882

Accrued warranty expense 650  814

Distribution reserves 187  2,137

Loss carryforwards 85,638  93,308

Tax credits 17,416  20,346

Restructuring charge accruals —  678

Deferred revenue 17,043  13,094

Acquired intangibles 2,660  2,822

Lease obligations 3,413  —

Other accruals and reserves not currently deductible for tax purposes 16,152  7,051

Gross deferred tax assets 144,083  141,132

Valuation allowance (137,814)  (140,359)

   Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance $ 6,269  $ 773

Deferred tax liabilities    
Depreciation $ (1,440)  $ (450)

Lease assets (3,413)  —

Other (967)  (524)

   Total deferred tax liabilities $ (5,820)  $ (974)

           Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $ 449  $ (201)

The valuation allowance decreased by $2,545 during the year ended March 31, 2020, increased by $10,311 during the year ended March 31, 2019, and
decreased by $24,248 during the year ended March 31, 2018.

A reconciliation of the gross unrecognized tax benefits follows (in thousands):

80



Table of Contents

 For the year ended March 31,

 2020  2019  2018
Beginning Balance $ 116,032  $ 150,559  $ 170,730

Increase in balances related to tax positions in current period 2,275  1,718  3,298

Increase in balances related to tax positions in prior period 144  —  25

Decrease in balances related to tax positions in prior period (4)  (25,095)  (20,692)

Decrease in balances due to lapse in statute of limitations (11,165)  (11,150)  (810)

Settlement and effective settlements with tax authorities and related remeasurements —  —  (1,992)

Ending balance $ 107,282  $ 116,032  $ 150,559

During fiscal 2020, excluding interest and penalties, there was a $8.8 million change in the Company's unrecognized tax benefits. Including interest and
penalties, the total unrecognized tax benefit at March 31, 2020 was $108.4 million, of which $90.1 million, if recognized, would favorably affect the effective
tax rate. At March 31, 2020, accrued interest and penalties totaled $1.1 million. The Company's practice is to recognize interest and penalties related to
income tax matters in the income tax provision in the consolidated statements of operations. As of March 31, 2020, $102.3 million of unrecognized tax
benefits were recorded as a contra deferred tax asset in other long-term assets in the consolidated balance sheets and $6.1 million (including interest and
penalties) were included in other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

The Company files its tax returns as prescribed by the laws of the jurisdictions in which we operate. Our U.S. tax returns have been audited for years through
2002 by the Internal Revenue Service. In other major jurisdictions, the Company is generally open to examination for the most recent three to five fiscal years.
During the next 12 months, it is reasonably possible that approximately $9.1 million of tax benefits, inclusive of interest and penalties, that are currently
unrecognized could be recognized as a result of the expiration of applicable statutes of limitations.

As of March 31, 2020, the Company had federal net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards of approximately $334.2 million and $67.6 million,
respectively. The net operating loss and tax credit carryforwards expire in varying amounts beginning in fiscal year 2022 if not previously utilized, and $13.3
million are indefinite-lived net operating loss carryforwards. These carryforwards include $11.1 million of acquired net operating losses and $8.4 million of
acquired credits, the utilization of which is subject to various limitations due to prior changes in ownership.

Certain changes in stock ownership could result in a limitation on the amount of both acquired and self-generated net operating loss and tax credit carryovers
that can be utilized each year. If the Company has previously undergone, or should it experience in the future, such a change in stock ownership, it could
severely limit the usage of these carryover tax attributes against future income, resulting in additional tax charges.

Due to its history of net losses and the difficulty in predicting future results, Quantum believes that it cannot rely on projections of future taxable income to
realize the deferred tax assets. Accordingly, it has established a full valuation allowance against its U.S. and certain foreign net deferred tax assets. Significant
management judgement is required in determining the Company's deferred tax assets and liabilities and valuation allowances for purposes of assessing its
ability to realize any future benefit from its net deferred tax assets. The Company intends to maintain this valuation allowance until sufficient positive evidence
exists to support the reversal of the valuation allowance. The Company's income tax expense recorded in the future will be reduced to the extent that
sufficient positive evidence materializes to support a reversal of, or decrease in, its valuation allowance.

 

NOTE 10: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Commitments to Purchase Inventory

The Company uses contract manufacturers for our manufacturing operations. Under these arrangements, the contract manufacturer procures inventory to
manufacture products based upon our forecast of customer demand. The Company has similar arrangements with certain other suppliers. The Company is
responsible for the financial impact on the supplier or contract manufacturer of any reduction or product mix shift in the forecast relative to materials that the
third party had already purchased under a prior forecast. Such a variance in forecasted demand could require a cash payment for inventory in excess of
current customer demand or for costs of excess or obsolete
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inventory. As of March 31, 2020, the Company had issued non-cancelable commitments for $19.5 million to purchase inventory from our contract
manufacturers and suppliers.

Legal Proceedings

On July, 22 2016, Realtime Data LLC d/b/a IXO (“Realtime Data”) filed a patent infringement lawsuit against Quantum in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern
District of Texas, alleging infringement of U.S. Patents Nos. 7,161,506, 7,378,992, 7,415,530, 8,643,513, 9,054,728, and 9,116,908. The lawsuit has been
transferred to the U.S. District Court for the Northern District of California for further proceedings. Realtime Data asserts that we have incorporated Realtime
Data’s patented technology into our compression products and services. Realtime Data seeks unspecified monetary damages and other relief that the Court
deems appropriate. On July 31, 2017, the District Court stayed proceedings in this litigation pending decision in Inter Partes Review proceedings before the
Patent Trial and Appeal Board relating to the Realtime patents.  In those proceedings the asserted claims of the ’506 patent, the ’992 patent, and the ’513
patent were found unpatentable.  In addition on July 19, 2019, all claims of the ’728 patent, the ’530 patent, and the ’908 patent were found invalid under 35
U.S.C. § 101 by Judge Connolly in the District of Delaware.  The stay remains in effect pending Realtime’s appeal of those rulings.  We believe the probability
that this lawsuit will have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results or financial condition is remote.

Indemnifications

The Company has certain financial guarantees, both express and implied, related to product liability and potential infringement of intellectual property. Other
than certain product warranty liabilities recorded as of March 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company did not record a liability associated with these guarantees, as
the Company has little, or no history of costs associated with such indemnification requirements. Contingent liabilities associated with product liability may be
mitigated by insurance coverage that the Company maintains.

In the normal course of business to facilitate transactions of the Company’s services and products, the Company indemnifies certain parties with respect to
certain matters. The Company has agreed to hold certain parties harmless against losses arising from a breach of representations or covenants, or out of
intellectual property infringement or other claims made against certain parties. These agreements may limit the time within which an indemnification claim can
be made and the amount of the claim. In addition, the Company has entered into indemnification agreements with its officers and directors, and the
Company’s bylaws contains similar indemnification obligations to its agents. It is not possible to determine the maximum potential amount under these
indemnification agreements due to the limited history of the Company’s indemnification claims, and the unique facts and circumstances involved in each
particular agreement. Historically, payments made by the Company under these agreements have not had a material impact on its operating results, financial
position, or cash flows.

 

NOTE 11: FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company has certain non-financial assets that are measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis when there is an indicator of impairment, and they are
recorded at fair value only when an impairment is recognized. These assets include property and equipment and amortizable intangible assets. The Company
did not record impairments to any non-financial assets in the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018. The Company does not have any non-
financial liabilities measured and recorded at fair value on a non-recurring basis. The carrying amounts reported in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements for cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities approximate
their respective fair values because of the short-term nature of these accounts.

Warrants and Warrant Liability

The Company uses the Black-Scholes-Merton option valuation model for estimating fair value of common stock warrants. The expected life of warrants
granted represent the period of time that they are expected to be outstanding. The Company determines the expected life based on historical experience with
similar awards, giving consideration to the contractual terms, exercise patterns, and post-vesting forfeitures. The Company estimates volatility based on the
historical volatility of the common stock over the most recent period corresponding with the estimated expected life of the award. The Company bases the
risk-free interest rate used in the Black-Scholes-Merton stock option valuation model on the implied yield currently available on U.S. Treasury zero-
coupon issues
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with an equivalent term equal to the expected life of the award. The Company has not paid any cash dividends on the common stock and does not anticipate
paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future.

During fiscal year 2018, the Company began issuing common stock warrants in connection with amendments to the TCW Term Loan. The warrants were
initially accounted for as a liability and recorded at estimated fair value on a recurring basis due to exercise price reset provisions contained in the warrant
agreements. As such, the Company estimated the fair value of the warrants at the end of each reporting period using the Black-Scholes-Merton valuation
model. At the end of each reporting period, the Company recorded the changes in the estimated fair value during the period in other (income) expense in the
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). The warrant liabilities are valued at issuance and each subsequent measurement
date using the Black-Scholes-Merton option valuation model.

The following table shows the ranges of assumptions and estimates utilized within the Black-Scholes-Merton option valuation models for the period presented:

Inputs  Year Ended March 31,

  2019  2018
Company's stock price  $1.62 - $2.40  $3.64 - $5.63

Exercise prices  $0.01 - $2.40  $0.01

Expected term (years)  4.5 to 5.0  4.8 to 5.0

Volatility  64.1% - 71.8%  59.8% - 69.1%

Risk free interest rate  2.5% - 3.0%  2.1% - 2.7%

Dividend rate  —%  —%

During the three months ended March 31, 2019, the exercise price for these warrants reset and became fixed, at which time they were considered to be
indexed to the Company’s own stock and met the scope requirements for equity classification. The fair value of the warrants upon the exercise price reset was
reclassified to stockholders’ deficit. The Company classified the warrant liability subject to recurring fair value measurement as Level 3 prior to the
reclassification to stockholders’ deficit. As the outstanding warrants were reclassified to stockholders’ deficit in the three months ended March 31, 2019, there
was no warrant liability as of March 31, 2020 and 2019.

The table presented below is a summary of changes in the fair value of the Company’s Level 3 valuations for the warrant liability for the periods presented (in
thousands):

 Warrant liability
As of March 31, 2018 $ 272
   Issuances 5,683
   Settlements (615 )
   Changes in fair value 297
   Reclassifications to stockholders' deficit (5,637 )

As of March 31, 2019 $ —

Debt

The table below represents the carrying value and total estimated fair value of long-term debt as of March 31, 2020 and March 31, 2019, respectively. The fair
value has been classified as Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy.

  March 31,

  2020  2019

  Carrying Value  Fair Value  Carrying Value  Fair Value
Senior Secured Term Loan  $ 165,208  $ 151,678  $ 164,588  $ 160,259

Amended PNC Credit Facility  2,620  2,226  —  —
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NOTE 12: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Paycheck Protection Program

On April 13, 2020, Quantum Corporation (the “Company”) entered into a Payment Protection Term Note (the “Note”) effective April 11, 2020 with PNC Bank,
National Association as the lender (“Lender”) in an aggregate principal amount of $10.0 million pursuant to the Paycheck Protection Program under the
Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security (CARES) Act (the “PPP Loan”). Subject to the terms of the Note, the PPP Loan bears interest at a fixed rate of
1% per annum, with interest deferred up to a maximum of 10 months payable monthly thereafter, has an initial term of two years and is unsecured and
guaranteed by the Small Business Administration. Under the terms of the PPP Note, the Company may apply for forgiveness of the amount due on the Loan.
The Company intends to use the proceeds from the PPP Loan for qualifying expenses and to apply for forgiveness of the PPP Loan in accordance with the
terms of the CARES Act. However, the Company cannot assure at this time that the PPP Loan will be forgiven partially, or in full.

In order to apply for the PPP Loan, the Company was required to certify, among other things, that the current economic uncertainty made the PPP Loan
request necessary to support its ongoing operations. The Company made this certification in good faith after analyzing, among other things, its financial
situation and access to alternative forms of capital, and believe that it satisfied all eligibility criteria for the PPP Loan, and that its receipt of the PPP Loan is
consistent with the spirit and broad objectives of the PPP and of the CARES Act. The certification described above does not contain any objective criteria and
is subject to interpretation. On April 23, 2020, the SBA issued guidance stating that it is unlikely that a public company with substantial market value and
access to capital markets will be able to make the required certification in good faith. In addition, the SBA stated its intent to audit the PPP Loan application of
any company, like the Company, that received proceeds under the PPP of more than $2 million. Additionally, on May 8, 2020, the Company was one of five
publicly traded companies to receive a letter from the United States House of Representatives’ Select Subcommittee on the Coronavirus Crisis ("the
Subcommittee") requesting that the Company return the PPP Loan proceeds, and if it did not return the proceeds, requiring the Company to produce to the
Subcommittee specified documentation related to its PPP Loan. The Company intends to cooperate fully with the Subcommittee’s review of its PPP Loan. If
the Company is later determined to have violated any of the laws or governmental regulations that apply to it in connection with the PPP Loan, such as the
False Claims Act, or it is otherwise determined that the Company was ineligible to receive the PPP Loan, the Company may be subject to penalties, including
significant civil, criminal and administrative penalties and could be required to repay the PPP Loan in its entirety.

Long-Term Debt Amendments

Amendment to the Senior Secured Term Loan

On June 16, 2020, the Company entered into an amendment to the Senior Secured Term Loan (the "June 2020 Term Loan Amendment"). The amendment
provides an additional borrowing of $20.0 million which was immediately drawn in full. The amendment also: (a) waives the ECF Payment of $5.3 million for
the year ended March 31, 2020; (b) defers payment of the scheduled amortization payments due on June 30, 2020, September 30, 2020, and December 31,
2020 until the maturity date; (c) amends the definition of “EBITDA” to, among other things, add an add-back for certain costs, expenses and fees incurred in
connection with the transactions contemplated by the amendment; (d) waives compliance with the total net leverage ratio, fixed charge coverage ratio,
minimum liquidity and minimum EBITDA financial covenants for the quarters ending on June 30, 2020, September 30, 2020, December 31, 2020, and March
31, 2021; (e) adds a financial covenant that requires a minimum monthly average undrawn availability of $7.0 million under the Amended PNC Credit Facility
during the period from June 30, 2020 through and including May 31, 2021; and (f) amends the covenant levels for the total net leverage ratio, fixed charge
coverage ratio, and minimum EBITDA financial covenants, commencing with the quarter ending June 30, 2021. The amendment modified the Equity
Clawback to allow the Company to prepay up to 50% of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding Senior Secured Term Loan balance with cash
proceeds of a public offering of the Company’s common stock at a prepayment premium of 5% of the principal amount being repaid. The amendment also
added an exit fee of 2% of the aggregate principal amount repaid excluding amounts repaid that are subject to the Equity Clawback.

In connection with the June 2020 Term Loan Amendment, the Company issued to the lenders warrants (the “2020 Term Loan Warrants”) to purchase
3,400,000 shares of the Company’s common stock, at an exercise price of $3.00
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per share. The exercise price and the number of shares underlying the 2020 Term Loan Warrants are subject to adjustment in the event of specified events,
including dilutive issuances of common stock linked equity instruments at a price lower than the exercise price of the warrants, a subdivision or combination of
the Company’s common stock, a reclassification of the Company’s common stock or specified dividend payments. The 2020 Term Loan Warrants are
exercisable until June 16, 2030. Upon exercise, the aggregate exercise price may be paid, at each warrant holder’s election, in cash or on a net issuance
basis, based upon the fair market value of the Company’s common stock at the time of exercise.

Registration Rights Agreement

In connection with the June 2020 Term Loan Amendment, the Company entered into an amended and restated registration rights agreement (the “Amended
Registration Rights Agreement”) with the holders of the 2018 Term Loan Warrants and the 2020 Term Loan Warrants (collectively, the “Term Loan Warrants”).
The Amended Registration Rights Agreement grants the holders of the Term Loan Warrants certain registration rights for the shares of common stock issuable
upon the exercise of the applicable Term Loan Warrants, including (i) the ability of a holder to request that the Company file a Form S-1 registration statement
with respect to at least 40% of the registrable securities held by such holder as of the issuance date of the applicable Term Loan Warrants on or after June 16,
2020; (ii) the ability of a holder to request that the Company file a Form S-3 registration statement with respect to outstanding registrable securities if at any
time the Company is eligible to use a Form S-3 registration statement; and (iii) certain piggyback registration rights related to potential future equity offerings of
the Company, subject to certain limitations.

Amendments to Amended PNC Credit Facility

On April 3, 2020, the Company entered into an amendment to the Amended PNC Credit Facility. The amendment amends certain terms, including to waive
compliance with the total net leverage ratio and total leverage ratio covenants for the quarter ending March 31, 2020.

On June 16, 2020, the Company entered into an amendment to the Amended PNC Credit Facility. The amendment amends certain terms, including: (a)
amends the definition of “EBITDA” to, among other things, add an add-back for certain costs, expenses and fees incurred in connection with the transactions
contemplated by the amendment; (b) waives compliance with the total net leverage ratio, total leverage ratio, fixed charge coverage ratio, minimum liquidity
and minimum EBITDA financial covenants for the quarters ending on June 30, 2020, September 30, 2020, December 31, 2020, and March 31, 2021; (c) adds
a financial covenant that requires a minimum monthly average undrawn availability level of $7.0 million for the period from June 30, 2020 through and
including May 31, 2021; (d) adds a financial covenant that requires a minimum liquidity of not less than $10.0 million at the end of each quarter and a minimum
average liquidity level $10.0 million for the ninety days preceding the last day of each quarter, beginning with the quarter ending June 30, 2021; (e) amends
the covenant levels for the total net leverage ratio, total leverage ratio, fixed charge coverage ratio, and minimum EBITDA financial covenants, commencing
with the quarter ending June 30, 2021; and (f) continues to includes a covenant that requires a minimum of $5.0 million of PNC qualified cash at all times.

The amendment also adjusts the applicable margin for advances under the Amended PNC Credit Facility such that (i) advances designated as “Domestic Rate
Loans” and “Swing Loans” will have an applicable margin of (a) 4.50% for the period from the June 16, 2020 until the date quarterly financial statements are
delivered to PNC for the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2021 and (b) thereafter, ranging from 3.50% to 4.50% based on the Company’s applicable total
leverage ratio and (ii) advances designated as “LIBOR Rate Loans” will have an applicable margin of (a) 5.50% for the period from June 16, 2020, until the
date quarterly financial statements are delivered to PNC for the fiscal quarter ending June 30, 2021 and (b) thereafter, ranging from 4.50% to 5.50% based on
the Company’s applicable total leverage ratio.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

 

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls and Procedures

In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed
and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures
must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints and that management is required to apply judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and
procedures relative to their costs.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the "Exchange Act,") as of the end of
the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Based on this evaluation, our chief executive officer and chief financial officer concluded that, as of March 31, 2020, our disclosure controls and procedures
were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

Remediation of Material Weakness

Throughout the year ended March 31, 2020, the Company undertook remediation measures related to the previously reported material weaknesses in internal
control over financial reporting. We completed these remediation measures in the quarter ended March 31, 2020, including testing of the design, and
concluding on the operating effectiveness of the related controls.

Specifically, we undertook the following remediation measures:

• We enhanced the controls over revenue recognition and the preparation, analysis, and review of significant account reconciliations and closing
adjustments required to assess the appropriateness of revenue recognition and certain other account balances at period end. The enhanced controls
have operated for a sufficient period of time in order for management to conclude, through testing, that these controls are designed and operating
effectively.

• We assessed our accounting resource requirements across the Company and as a result have hired additional experienced accounting personnel and
have taken steps to improve the overall control effectiveness and efficiency of our accounting and reporting processes. Our assessment was
performed in the prior fiscal year, continuing into the current fiscal year, which has allowed for the hiring of additional personnel to have a sufficient
period of time to operate relevant controls. In addition to these resources, we have enhanced the design of our existing controls and implemented
certain new controls over the following areas: (1) our global risk assessment process, evaluation, and mitigation strategies; (2) updated our internal
audit plan to include internal audit monitoring activities responsive to the issues identified in the independent investigation and review of our financial
records; and (3)  implemented new procedures and enhanced controls governing our internal management-led Disclosure Committee and
strengthened our sub-certification and external reporting processes associated with the review and approval of the content of our SEC filings and
other public disclosures. The enhanced controls have operated for a sufficient period of time in order for management to conclude, through testing,
that these controls are designed and operating effectively.

• We have designed and where appropriate enhanced controls over the preparation, analysis and review of revenue recognition and significant account
reconciliations. In addition, we have reinforced existing policies
and procedures and enacted policy and procedures changes, where necessary, to better define requirements for effective and timely reconciliations of
balance sheet and significant accounts, including independent review.

Based on these procedures, we believe that the previously reported material weaknesses have been remediated. However, completion of remediation
procedures for these material weaknesses does not provide assurance that our modified controls will continue to operate properly or that our financial
statements will be free from error.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our management, with the participation of our principal executive and principal financial officers, evaluated the effectiveness
of our internal control over financial reporting using the framework set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in
Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013) . Based on this assessment, management concluded
that Quantum Corporation maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report. Armanino
LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, has issued an attestation report on our internal control over financial reporting, and this attestation
report appears in Item 8.

Changes in Internal Controls over Financial Reporting

Other than described above in this Item 9A, there was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)
under the Exchange Act) identified in connection with the evaluation of our internal control performed during the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2020, that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

 

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.



 

PART III

 

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required by Item 10 is incorporated by reference from the sections entitled “Election of Directors”, “Board of Directors and Committees”,
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “Audit Committee Report” in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2020 annual
stockholders’ meeting.

 

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by Item 11 is incorporated by reference from the sections entitled “Election of Directors”, “Director Compensation”, “Corporate
Governance”, “Director Compensation”, “Compensation Discussion and Analysis”, “Compensation Committee Report”, “Compensation Committee Interlocks
and Insider Participation”, and “Executive Compensation” in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2020 annual stockholders’ meeting.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by Item 12 is incorporated by reference from the section entitled “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management”
and “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2020 annual stockholders’ meeting.

 
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required by Item 13 is incorporated by reference from the section entitled “Board of Directors and Committees” , “Corporate Governance” and
“Transactions with Related Persons” in our definitive Proxy Statement for our 2020 annual stockholders’ meeting.

 

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by Item 14 is incorporated by reference from the section entitled “Audit and Audit-Related Fees” in our definitive Proxy Statement for
our 2020 annual stockholders’ meeting.
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PART IV

 

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

The financial statements and financial statement schedules required to be filed as part of this Annual Report are included under Item 8. The exhibits required
to be filed as part of this Annual Report are listed below. Exhibits 10.1 through 10.39 constitute management contracts or compensatory plans or
arrangements. Notwithstanding any language to the contrary, Exhibits 32.1, 32.2, 101, and 104 shall not be deemed to be filed as part of this Annual Report
for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

    Incorporated by Reference   

Exhibit
Number  Exhibit Description  Form  Filing Date  Exhibit  

Filed or
Furnished
Herewith

3.1  Amended and Restated Certificate Of Incorporation Of Quantum  8-K  8/16/07  3.1   
3.2  Amended and Restated By-Laws Of Quantum, As Amended  8-K  12/5/08  3.1   

3.3  
Certification Of Amendment To The Bylaws Of Quantum Corporation, As Adopted On January 20,
2010  8-K  1/26/10  3.1   

3.4  
Certification Of Amendment To The Bylaws Of Quantum Corporation, As Adopted On February 3,
2016  8-K  2/8/16  3.5   

3.5  Certificate Of Amendment To The Amended Articles Of Incorporation Of Quantum Corporation  10-Q  11/9/17  3.1   

4.1  
Certificate Of Designation Of Rights, Preferences and Privileges Of Series B Junior Participating
Preferred Stock.  S-3  10/9/03  4.7   

4.2  Warrant to Purchase Common Stock dated December 27, 2018 issued to OC II FIE V LP  8-K  12/28/18  4.1   

4.3  
Warrant to Purchase Common Stock dated December 27, 2018 issued to BTC Holdings Fund I,
LLC  8-K  12/28/18  4.2   

4.4  
Registration Rights Agreement, dated December 27, 2018 between the Company, OC II FIE V LP
and BTC Holdings Fund I, LLC  8-K  12/28/18  4.3   

4.5  Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, dated June 16, 2020, Warrant No. B-1  8-K  6/17/20  4.1   
4.6  Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, dated June 16, 2020, Warrant No. B-2  8-K  6/17/20  4.2   
4.7  Warrant to Purchase Common Stock, dated June 16, 2020, Warrant No. B-3  8-K  6/17/20  4.3   
4.8  Warrant Agreement, dated June 16, 2020  8-K  6/17/20  4.4   

4.9  

Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 16, 2020, between the
Company, OC II FIE V LP, Blue Torch Credit Opportunities Fund I LP and BTC Holdings SC Fund
LLC  8-K  6/17/20  4.5   

4.10  Description of Common Stock      4.1  X

10.1   
Lease Agreement, Dated February 6, 2006, between the Company and CS/Federal Drive AB LLC
(For Building A)   8-K  2/10/06   10.2   

10.2   
Lease Agreement, Dated February 6, 2006, between the Company and Cs/Federal Drive AB LLC
(For Building B)   8-K   2/10/06   10.3   

10.3  
Form Of Indemnification Agreement between the Company and The Named Executive Officers and
Directors  8-K  4/4/07  10.4   

10.4  
Form Of Amended and Restated Director Change Of Control Agreement between the Company
and the Directors (other than the Executive Chairman and the CEO)  8-K  5/10/11  10.3   

10.5   
Form Of Agreement To Advance Legal Fees between the Company and Certain Of Its Executive
Officers   10-K  6/12/15   10.25   

10.6  
Form Of Amended and Restated Change Of Control Agreement between the Company and Each
Of Registrant’s Executive Officers  10-Q  11/6/15  10.2   

10.7   
Revolving Credit and Security Agreement, Dated October  21, 2016, among Quantum Corporation,
PNC Bank, National Association, As Agent, and The Lender Party Thereto   8-K  10/21/16   10.2   

10.8   Offer Letter, Dated May 1, 2017, between the Company and Marc Rothman   8-K   5/4/17   10.1   
10.9   Quantum Corporation Executive Officer Incentive Plan, Restated As Of August 23, 2017   8-K   8/24/17   10.2   
10.10   Offer Letter with Raghu Rau, Dated August 31, 2017   8-K   9/5/17   10.1   

10.11   

Second Amendment To Revolving Loan Credit and Security Agreement, Dated November  6, 2017,
by and among the Company, PNC Bank, National Association, As Agent, and The Lender Parties
Thereto   8-K   11/9/17   10.2   

10.12  
Third Amendment To Revolving Credit and Security Agreement, Dated As Of February  14, 2018,
between the Company and PNC Bank, National Association, As Agent  8-K  2/20/18  10.1   
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https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/709283/000118143108065792/rrd225428_26679.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/709283/000118143110004589/rrd263790_30929.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/709283/000120677416004418/exhibit3-1.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/709283/000162828017011361/exhibit31q218.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/709283/000070928303000033/exhibit4_7.htm
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10.13  Offer Letter between the Company and J. Michael Dodson, Dated May 29, 2018  8-K  5/30/18  10.1   
10.14  Change Of Control Agreement between the Company and J. Michael Dodson, Dated May 29, 2018  8-K  5/30/18  10.2   
10.15  Offer Letter between the Company and James J. Lerner, Dated June 22, 2018  8-K  6/27/18  10.1   
10.16  Change Of Control Agreement between the Company and James J. Lerner, Dated June 22, 2018  8-K  6/27/18  10.2   

10.17  
Term Loan Credit and Security Agreement, dated December  27, 2018, between the Company,
Quantum LTO, the lenders party thereto, and U.S. Bank, National Association  8-K  12/28/18  10.1   

10.18  

Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Security Agreement, dated December  27, 2018,
between the Company, Quantum LTO, the lenders party thereto, and PNC Bank, National
Association  8-K  12/28/18  10.2   

10.19  Stipulation and Agreement Of Settlement Entered Into April 11, 2019  8-K  5/31/19  99.2   

10.20  
Joinder and Fourth Amendment To Term Loan Credit and Security Agreement Dated August 23,
2018  10-K  8/6/19  10.68   

10.21  Offer Letter between the Company and Lewis W. Moorehead, Dated October 3, 2018  10-K  8/6/19  10.75   
10.22  Offer Letter between the Company and John Fichthorn, Dated April 4, 2019  10-K  8/6/19  10.76   
10.23  Offer letter between the Company and Regan MacPherson, dated September10,2019  10-Q  11/5/19  10.1   

10.24  
Amended and Restated Long-term Incentive Plan Agreement (As amended and restated through
November 13, 2019)  8-K  11/13/2019  10.1   

10.25  
Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan Agreement (As amended and restated
through November 13, 2019)  8-K  11/13/2019  10.2   

10.26  Offer letter between the Company and Rebecca Jacoby, dated December 16, 2019  10-Q  1/29/2020  10.1   

10.27  

Amendment Number 2 to Term Loan Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of December 27,
2018, as amended on March 31, 2020, among the Company, Quantum LTO Holdings, LLC, the
lenders from time to time party thereto, and U.S. Bank National Association  8-K  4/6/20  10.1   

10.28  

First Amendment to Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of
December 27, 2018, as amended on April 3, 2020 among the Company, Quantum LTO Holdings,
LLC, the lenders from time to time party thereto, and PNC Bank, National Association, as
administrative agent for such lenders  8-K  4/6/20  10.2   

10.29  
 Payment Protection Program Term Note, effective as of April 11, 2020, in favor of PNC Bank,
National Association  8-K  4/16/20  10.1   

10.30  

Amendment Number 3 to the Term Loan Credit and Security Agreement, dated as of December 27,
2018, as amended on April 13, 2020, among the Company, Quantum LTO Holdings, LLC, the
lenders from time to time party thereto, and U.S. Bank National Association, as disbursing and
collateral agent for such lenders  8-K  4/16/20  10.2   

10.31  

Second Amendment to the Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Security Agreement, dated
as of December 27, 2018, amended as of April 11, 2020 among the Company, Quantum LTO
Holdings, LLC, the lenders from time to time party thereto, and PNC Bank, National Association, as
administrative agent for such lenders  8-K  4/16/20  10.3   

10.32  

Amendment No. 4 To Term Loan Credit and Security Agreement, dated June 16, 2020, between the
Company, Quantum LTO Holdings, LLC, the lenders party thereto, and U.S. Bank National
Association, as disbursing and collateral agent  8-K  6/17/20  10.1   

10.33  

Third Amendment to Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Security Agreement, Dated June
16, 2020, between the Company, Quantum LTO Holdings, LLC, the lenders party thereto, and PNC
Bank, National Association, as administrative agent  8-K  6/17/20  10.2   

10.34  Offer letter between the Company and Elizabeth King, dated January 14, 2019      10.1  X

10.35  
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (US Employees) under the Quantum Corporation 2012
Long Term Incentive Plan      10.2  X

10.36  
Form of Market-Based Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (US Employees) under the Quantum
Corporation 2012 Long Term Incentive Plan      10.3  X

10.37  
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Non-US Employees) under the Quantum Corporation
2012 Long Term Incentive Plan      10.4  X

10.38  
Form of Restricted Stock (PSU) Unit Agreement (Non-US Employees) under the Quantum
Corporation 2012 Long Term Incentive Plan      10.5  X

10.39  
Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement (Directors) under the Quantum Corporation 2012 Long
Term Incentive Plan      10.6  X

16.1  
Pricewaterhousecoopers LLP Letter Dated January 25, 2019 Acknowledging the Company’s
Change In Accounting Firm.  8-K  1/25/19  16.1   
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21.1  List of Subsidiaries        X

23.1  Consent of Armanino, LLP        X

24.1  Power of Attorney        X

31.1  
Certification of the Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
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31.2  
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ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.

 

SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

   Quantum Corporation  
   (Registrant)  
     

 June 24, 2020  /s/ J. Michael Dodson  
 (Date)  J. Michael Dodson  
   Chief Financial Officer  
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints James Lerner and Michael
Dodson, jointly and severally, his attorneys-in-fact, each with the power of substitution, for him in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, and to file the same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact, or his substitute or substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following persons in the capacities on
June 24, 2020.

Signature        Title

   

/s/ James J. Lerner  President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board

James J. Lerner  (Principal Executive Officer)

   
/s/ J. Michael Dodson  Chief Financial Officer

J. Michael Dodson  (Principal Financial Officer)

   
/s/ Lewis Moorehead  Chief Accounting Officer

Lewis Moorehead  (Principal Accounting Officer)

   

/s/ Raghavendra Rau  Director

Raghavendra Rau   
   

/s/ Marc E. Rothman  Director

Marc E. Rothman   
   

  Director

John A. Fichthorn   
   

/s/ Rebecca J. Jacoby  Director

Rebecca J. Jacoby   
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Exhibit 4.1

DESCRIPTION OF REGISTRANT’S SECURITIES

REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE

SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

The following description of the common stock, par value $0.01 per share (“Common Stock”) of Quantum Corporation (the “Company”) is based upon the
Company’s amended and restated certificate of incorporation (the “Certificate of Incorporation”), the Company’s amended and restated bylaws (the “Bylaws”), and applicable
provisions of law. The following description summarizes the most important terms of the Company’s Common Stock. For a complete description of the matters set forth in
this exhibit, please refer to the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws, each of which is filed as an exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10‑K of which this
exhibit is a part, and to the applicable provisions of the Delaware General Corporation Law (“Delaware Law”).

Authorized Capital Stock

Under the Certificate of Incorporation, the Company’s authorized capital stock consists of 125,000,000 shares of Common Stock and 20,000,000 shares of preferred
stock, $0.01 par value per share. Of such preferred stock, 1,000,000 shares are designated Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock and the remaining shares are
undesignated.
 
Common Stock

Common Stock Outstanding. The outstanding shares of Common Stock are duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and nonassessable.

Voting Rights. Each holder of Common Stock is entitled to one vote per share, except in the case of election of directors of the Company. At all election of directors
of the Company, each holder of stock or any class or classes or of a series thereof shall be entitled to as many votes as shall equal the number of votes which (except for this
provision as to cumulative voting) such holder would be entitled to cast for the election of directors with respect to such holder’s shares of stock multiplied by the number of
directors to be elected, and such holder may cast all of such votes for a single director or may distribute them among the number of directors to be voted for, or for any two or
more of them as such holder sees fit.

Dividend Rights. The Company’s Board of Directors, subject to any restrictions contained in the Delaware Law, the Company’s Bylaws, any preferences and
relative, participating, optional or other special rights of any outstanding class or series of preferred stock of the Company and any qualifications or restrictions on the
Common Stock created thereby, may declare and pay dividends upon the shares of its capital stock. The directors of the Company may set apart out of any of the funds of the
corporation available for dividends a reserve or reserves for any proper purpose and may abolish any such reserve. The Company does not currently pay dividends on the
Common Stock.

Rights upon Liquidation. In the event of a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, holders of Common Stock will be entitled to share ratably in the net
assets legally available for distribution to stockholders after the payment of all of the Company’s debts and other liabilities and the satisfaction of any liquidation preference
granted to the holders of any then outstanding shares of preferred stock.

Other Rights. Holders of Common Stock have no preemptive, conversion, subscription or other rights, and there are no redemption or sinking fund provisions
applicable to Common Stock. The rights, preferences and privileges of the holders of Common Stock are subject to and may be adversely affected by, the rights of the holders
of shares of any series of preferred stock that the Company may designate and issue in the future.

Registration Rights. The Company has entered into a registration rights agreement dated December 27, 2018, as amended on June 16, 2020 (the “Registration Rights
Agreement”) with the holders of the warrants issued to the lenders under the Company’s Senior Secured Term Loan. Under the terms of the Registration Rights Agreement,
the warrant holders have the right to require the Company to prepare and file a registration statement with the Securities and Exchange Commission within



45 days of a demand and use commercially reasonable efforts to cause the registration statement to be declared effective as soon as practicable thereafter. The Company’s
obligation to file a registration statement is subject to a limited deferral if the Company meets specific conditions. The right of any warrant holder to request registration
terminates six months following the expiration date of the warrants.

Preferred Stock

Under the Certificate of Incorporation, without further stockholder action, the Company’s board of directors is authorized to issue from time to time up to 20,000,000
shares of preferred stock in one or more series and to fix the designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights thereof. These rights,
preferences and privileges could include dividend rights, conversion rights, voting rights, terms of redemption, liquidation preferences, sinking fund terms and the number of
shares constituting any series or the designation of such series, any or all of which may be greater than the rights of Common Stock. The issuance of preferred stock by the
Company could adversely affect the voting power of holders of Common Stock and the likelihood that such holders will receive dividend payments and payments upon
liquidation. In addition, the issuance of preferred stock could have the effect of delaying, deferring or preventing a change of control of the Company or other corporate
action.

Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock

Under the Certificate of Incorporation, 1,000,000 shares of preferred stock are designated Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock. Subject to the prior and
superior right of holders of any shares of any series of preferred stock ranking prior and superior to the shares of Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock, the holders of
shares of Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock are entitled to receive when, as and if declared by the Company’s board of directors, accruing quarterly dividends
payable in cash on the last day of January, April, July and October in each year (each such date a “Quarterly Dividend Payment Date”), commencing on the first Quarterly
Payment Date after the first issuance of the Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock. The amount of such payment will be equal to 1,000 times the aggregate per share
amount of all cash dividends and 1,000 times the aggregate per share amount (payable in kind) of all non-cash dividends or other distributions. The Company’s board of
directors is required to declare a dividend payment on the Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock immediately after it declares a dividend or distribution on Common
Stock.

Each share of Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock is entitled to 1,000 votes on all matters upon which holders of Common Stock are entitled to vote but
otherwise have the same general voting rights as the Common Stock. Upon any liquidation of the Company, the holders of shares of Series B Junior Participating Preferred
Stock are entitled to receive an aggregate amount per share equal to 1,000 times the aggregate amount to be distributed to holders of Common Stock plus any accrued and
unpaid dividends. Upon a consolidation, merger or similar transaction involving the Company, Series B Junior Participating Junior Preferred Stock will receive an amount per
share equal to 1,000 times the aggregate amount of consideration for which each share of Common Stock received in such transaction.

As of June 30, 2020, there were no shares of Series B Junior Participating Preferred Stock outstanding.

Anti-Takeover Effects of Delaware Law, the Certificate of Incorporation and the Bylaws

Certain provisions of Delaware law, the Certificate of Incorporation and the Bylaws may have the effect of delaying, deferring or discouraging another person from
acquiring control of the Company. These provisions, which are summarized below, may have the effect of discouraging takeover bids, coercive or otherwise. They are also
designed, in part, to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of the Company to negotiate first with the Company’s board of directors.

Delaware Law. The Company is a Delaware corporation and subject to Section 203 of the Delaware Law, an anti-takeover law. In general, Section 203 prohibits a
publicly held Delaware corporation from engaging in a “business combination” transaction with an “interested stockholder” for a period of three years after the person
became an interested stockholder, unless the business combination or the transaction in which the person became an interested stockholder is approved in the manner
described below.

Section 203 restrictions do not apply if: (i) the business combination or transaction is approved by the Company’s board of directors before the date the interested
stockholder obtained the status as “interested”; (ii) upon consummation of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder obtaining the status, the stockholder owned at least
85% of the shares of stock



entitled to vote in the election of directors (“Voting Stock”). The 85% calculation does not include those shares owned by directors who are also officers of the Company, and
held by employee stock plans that do not permit employees to decide confidentially whether to accept a tender or exchange offer; or (iii) on or after the date the interested
stockholder obtained its status, the business combination is approved by the Company’s board of directors and at a stockholder meeting by the affirmative vote of at least 66
2/3% of the outstanding Voting Stock that is not owned by the interested stockholder. Generally, an “interested stockholder” is a person who, together with its affiliates and
associates, owns, or within three years prior to the determination of interested stockholder status, did own, 15% or more of a corporation’s Voting Stock. Section 203 may
prohibit or delay mergers or other takeover or change in control attempts with respect to the Company. As a result, Section 203 may discourage attempts to acquire the
Company even though such transaction may offer our stockholders the opportunity to sell their stock at a price above the prevailing market price.

Board of Directors Vacancies. The Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws authorize only the Company’s board of directors to fill vacant directorships, including
newly created seats. In addition, the number of directors constituting the Company’s board of directors is permitted to be set only by a resolution adopted by a majority vote
of the board of directors. These provisions would prevent a stockholder from increasing the size of the Company’s board of directors and then gaining control of the board of
directors by filling the resulting vacancies with its own nominees. This makes it more difficult to change the composition of the Company’s board of directors but promotes
continuity of management.

Limits on Ability of Stockholders to Act by Written Consent or Call a Special Meeting. The Bylaws provide that stockholders may not take action by written consent.
This limit on the ability of stockholders to act by written consent may lengthen the amount of time required to take stockholder actions. As a result, the holders of a majority of
the Company’s capital stock would not be able to amend the Bylaws or remove directors without holding a meeting of stockholders called in accordance with the Bylaws. The
Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws further provide that special meetings of stockholders may be called only by the Company’s board of directors, the chairperson of the
board of directors, if there be one, or the president, thus prohibiting a stockholder from calling a special meeting. These provisions might delay the ability of stockholders to
force consideration of a proposal or for stockholders controlling a majority of the Company’s capital stock to take any action, including the removal of directors.

Requirements for Advance Notification of Stockholder Nominations and Proposals. The Bylaws provide advance notice procedures for stockholders seeking to bring
business before an annual meeting of stockholders or to nominate candidates for election as directors at an annual meeting of stockholders. The Bylaws also specify certain
requirements regarding the form and content of a stockholder’s notice. These provisions might preclude stockholders from bringing matters before an annual meeting of
stockholders or from making nominations for directors at an annual meeting of stockholders if the proper procedures are not followed. These provisions may also discourage
or deter a potential acquirer from conducting a solicitation of proxies to elect the acquirer’s own slate of directors or otherwise attempting to obtain control of the Company.



 

Exhibit 10.1

Quantum Corporation
224 Airport Parkway Suite 550
San Jose, CA 95110-1382
USA +1 [408] 944-4000
www.quantum.com

January 14, 2019

Elizabeth King
766 Batista Drive
San Jose, California 95136

Dear Elizabeth,

I am pleased to confirm our offer to you to join Quantum in the position of Chief Revenue Officer reporting to Jamie Lerner. Your start date will be February 18th, with your
office located in our San Jose, CA location.

You will have a total on target earnings (OTE) of $800,000 with 47.5% paid on base salary in the amount of $380,000 divided equally by 26 pay periods, at $14,615.38 per
pay period. You will receive an annual sales incentive target equal to 52.5% of your OTE or $420,000. Your commissions will be paid monthly, and a formal document with
your assigned quota will follow your start date.

The Company will recommend to the Leadership and Compensation Committee (LCC) of the Board of Directors that a total of 150,000 Restricted Stock Units (RSUs) and
150,000 Performance Stock Units (PSUs) be granted to you. Subject to approval by the LCC, your RSU Grant and PSU Grant will be made effective as of the first business
day on which the Company becomes current with respect to its filings under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and is then-listed on a national securities
exchange (the Exchange), unless the LCC elects in its sole discretion and in accordance with applicable law, to make the RSU Grant and PSU Grant effective as of an earlier
date (the Grant Date). The RSUs will be scheduled to vest 33% on each anniversary of the Grant Date and will become fully vested three (3) years from the Grant Date subject
to your continued employment.

The PSUs will be eligible to vest based on performance metrics based on the achievement of specified levels of the average closing prices of a Share on the Exchange as
quoted in the Wall Street Journal during any sixty (60) day trading period (the 60-Day Average Price) occurring during the time frames specified below, subject to the LCC’s
certification of the performance criteria which must occur within 10 calendar days of satisfying the applicable price targets, subject to your continued service with the
Company through the later of the achievement date and the vest date as follows:

• 50,000 Shares will be earned, if, at any time between February 1, 2019 and May 31, 2022, the 60-Day Average Price is at least $4.00 and will vest upon the later of
the LCC certification and May 31, 2019.

• An additional 50,000 Shares will be earned, if, at any time between February 1, 2019 and May 31, 2022, the 60-Day Average Price is at least $5.00 and will vest
upon the later of the LCC certification and May 31, 2020.

• An additional 50,000 Shares will be earned, if, at any time between February 1, 2019 and May 31, 2022, the 60-Day Average Price is at least $6.00 and will vest
upon the later of the LCC certification and May 31, 2021.

• Notwithstanding the foregoing, to the extent required by the terms of the applicable stock plan, the PSU Shares will not vest earlier than the first anniversary of the
Grant Date

Subject to LCC approval, your stock information will be transferred to E*Trade, the Company’s online equity broker. You will receive information from E*Trade on how to
setup your account and accept your grants. Should you voluntarily terminate your employment with Quantum, any unvested equity will be forfeited.
 
As Quantum’s Chief Revenue Officer, you will be eligible to participate in Quantum’s Change of Control Program. That agreement will be provided to you during your
orientation which will be scheduled during your first week at Quantum. In addition, in the event that (a) you incur an Involuntary Termination other than for Cause (and other
than due to your death or Disability, as such terms are defined in your Change of Control Agreement), and (b) the termination of your employment with the Company occurs
outside of the Change of Control Period, as defined in the Change of Control Agreement, the Company will provide to you the following severance payments and benefits (the
Severance):



(i) a lump sum cash payment equal to six (6) months of your then-annual base salary,

(ii) if you elect continuation coverage under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended (COBRA) within the time period prescribed by
COBRA for you and your eligible dependents (if any), monthly reimbursements from the Company for COBRA premiums for continued coverage under the
Company’s group health plans for you and your eligible dependents, if any, in which you (and your eligible dependents, if any) participated on the day immediately
before the date of termination of your employment with the Company through the earlier of (A) six (6) months after the date of termination of your employment with
the Company, or (B) the date you (and your eligible dependents, if any) no longer are eligible to receive continuation coverage pursuant to COBRA (the COBRA
Benefits). Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Company determines in its sole discretion that it cannot provide the COBRA Benefits without potentially violating
applicable law (including, without limitation, Section 2716 of the Public Health Service Act), then in lieu of the COBRA Benefits, the Company will provide to you a
taxable monthly payment, during the six (6) months after the termination of your employment with the Company, in a monthly amount equal to the monthly COBRA
premium that you would be required to pay to continue coverage under the Company’s group health plans for you and your eligible dependents (if any) in effect on the
day immediately before the date of termination of your employment with the Company (which amount will be based on the premium for the first month of COBRA
coverage), which payments will be made regardless of whether you elect COBRA continuation coverage; and

(iii) in the event the Involuntary Termination contemplated by this paragraph occurs on or before February 1, 2020, six (6) months of accelerated vesting for your
outstanding RSUs; provided that, if the Involuntary Termination occurs prior to the Grant Date, then in lieu of the accelerated vesting contemplated above, the
Company will provide you with a cash payment equal to the number of shares that would have vested multiplied by the closing price of a Share on the date of the
Involuntary Termination.

The Severance is subject to your entering into and not revoking a release of claims, in substantially the form attached to your Change of Control Agreement (and with such
revisions thereto as may be made in accordance with the Change of Control Agreement), in favor of the Company (the Release), within the period required by the Release but
in no event later than sixty (60) days following the date of termination of your employment with the Company, inclusive of any revocation period set forth in the Release. Any
salary Severance due to you under clause (i) above will be paid on the sixty first (61st) day following the date of termination of your employment with the Company, or such
later date required by applicable law, including Section 409A of the Code (as defined below.)

For the avoidance of doubt, if the termination of your employment with the Company occurs on a date during the Change of Control Period, then the terms of the Change of
Control Agreement will govern the payment of any severance benefits to you and no Severance will be payable to you. Any Severance under this offer letter also will be
subject to the provisions set forth in the section of the Change of Control Agreement titled Limitation on Payments relating to Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended, and any regulations and guidance promulgated thereunder (the Code). Further, the provisions set forth in section of the Change of Control Agreement titled
Offset will be deemed to apply to your Severance.

Quantum’s flexible benefit program provides a full range of benefits for you and your qualified dependents. Additionally, you will be eligible to participate in Quantum’s
Deferred Compensation Program. A benefit overview packet will be mailed immediately upon your acceptance and you will receive a detailed review of our benefits program
during your orientation. Information relating to the Deferred Compensation program will be sent to you within 30 days of your hire date. Your orientation will be scheduled
with a representative of HR and will occur shortly after your hire date.

During your employment with Quantum you will have access to confidential and proprietary information, which Quantum vigorously protects. Therefore, this offer is
conditioned on your execution and delivery to Quantum of its Proprietary Information and Inventions Agreement. You will receive these documents as part of a separate
mailing that will also include your orientation packet. You are requested to bring the required documents with you on your first day.

To comply with government mandated confirmation of employment eligibility, please complete the Lists of Acceptable Documents as approved by the United States
Department of Justice for establishing identity and employment eligibility - the I-9 process - which will be mailed to you with your benefits information. Please bring these
documents to your orientation.

To confirm your acceptance of our offer, please sign a copy of this letter electronically through Adobe EchoSign, our electronic signature service partner. Once signed, you
will receive a copy of this letter for records and the offer will be sent directly to DawnAnn Wilmot in recruiting. If you have questions about your offer or onboarding process
prior to your start date, you may



reach DawnAnn via email at DawnAnn.Wilmot@Quantum.com or directly at 719.208.2540. This offer is contingent upon successful completion of security background
verification.

This offer supersedes any and all other written or verbal offers. Employment at Quantum is at will - either you or Quantum has the right to terminate your employment at any
time for any reason, with or without cause. You understand and agree that neither your job performance nor promotions, commendations, bonuses or the like from Quantum
give rise to or in any way serve as the basis for modification, amendment, or extension, by implication or otherwise, of your at-will employment with Quantum.
Elizabeth, we look forward to your start date and having you join the Quantum team.

Sincerely,

Jamie Girouard
Vice President Human Resources

ACCEPTANCE
I accept this offer of employment and acknowledge that my employment with Quantum will be on an at-will basis.

/s/ Elizabeth King
Elizabeth P King (Jan 15, 2019)



Quantum Corporation
224 Airport Parkway Suite 550
San Jose, CA 95110-1382
USA +1 [408] 944-4000
www.quantum.com

March 27, 2019

Elizabeth King
766 Batista Drive
San Jose, California 95136

Dear Liz,

This amendment to your offer letter dated January 14, 2019, corrects an inadvertent clerical error with respect to the vesting commencement date of your RSU grants.

Your original offer letter stated that vesting of your RSU shares will commence on the grant date. Although the Company will not be able to formally complete your equity
grant until our SEC filings are current, the Board’s Leadership and Compensation Committee intends to approve the promise of a future grant on or about April 1, 2019.
Because of the uncertainty of the date on which the grant will become effective - we expect that date to be some time later this year - we intended for your equity vesting to
begin on the first date you began work at Quantum, which was March 4, 2019. Accordingly, we are modifying your offer letter to clarify that your vesting commencement
date is April 1, 2019.

Please sign below to confirm that you agree to this modification of your offer letter. Thank you for your understanding as we work through this modification.

Sincerely,

Jamie Girouard
Vice President Human Resources

Acknowledged and agreed
/s/ Elizabeth King
Elizabeth P King (March 26, 2019)



 

Exhibit 10.2

QUANTUM CORPORATION

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT

FOR U.S. EMPLOYEES    

Quantum Corporation (the “Company”) hereby grants you, %%FIRST_NAME%-% %%LAST_NAME%-% (the “Employee”), the number
of Restricted Stock Units under the Company's 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) indicated below. Capitalized terms used and not
defined herein will have the meaning set forth in the Plan. Subject to the provisions of Appendix A and of the Plan, the principal features of
this Award are as follows:

Number of Restricted Stock Units:     %%TOTAL_SHARES_GRANTED,'999,999,999'%-%  

Scheduled Vesting Dates:  Number of Units:  
%%VEST_DATE_PERIOD1,'Month DD, YYYY'%-%  %%SHARES_PERIOD1,'999,999,999'%-%  
%%VEST_DATE_PERIOD2,'Month DD, YYYY'%-%  %%decode(SHARES_PERIOD2, 0, null, SHARES_PERIOD2),'999,999,999'%-%  
%%VEST_DATE_PERIOD3,'Month DD, YYYY'%-%  %%decode(SHARES_PERIOD3, 0, null, SHARES_PERIOD3),'999,999,999'%-%  
%%VEST_DATE_PERIOD4,'Month DD, YYYY'%-%  %%decode(SHARES_PERIOD4, 0, null, SHARES_PERIOD4),'999,999,999'%-%  
    

IMPORTANT:

By electronically accepting this Award, you agree that this Award is subject to all of the terms and conditions contained in Appendix A and
the Plan. For example, important additional information on vesting and forfeiture of the Restricted Stock Units covered by this grant is
contained in paragraphs 3 through 5 of Appendix A. Also, your acceptance of this Award means that you agree that the Company may use
and transfer your personal information as described in paragraph 14 of Appendix A. PLEASE BE SURE TO READ ALL OF
APPENDIX A, TO THIS RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT FOR U.S. EMPLOYEES (THE “AGREEMENT”) WHICH
CONTAINS THE SPECIFIC TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THIS GRANT.

In addition, by accepting this award, you agree to the following: “This electronic contract contains my electronic signature, which I have
executed with the intent to sign this Agreement.” Please be sure to retain a copy of your electronically signed Agreement; you may obtain a
paper copy at any time and at the Company’s expense by requesting one from the Company’s Stock Administration Department (see
paragraph 12 below).

APPENDIX A - TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT GRANT



FOR U.S. EMPLOYEES
1. Grant. The Company hereby grants to the Employee under the Plan the number of Restricted Stock Units indicated on

the first page of this Agreement, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, this Appendix A, including the exhibits
hereto, and the Plan. When Shares are paid to the Employee in payment for the Restricted Stock Units, par value will be deemed paid
by the Employee for each Restricted Stock Unit by past services rendered by the Employee and will be subject to the appropriate tax
withholdings.
2. Company’s Obligation to Pay. On any date, a Restricted Stock Unit has a value equal to the Fair Market Value of one Share.

Unless and until the Restricted Stock Units have vested in accordance with the Vesting Schedule set forth on the first page of this Agreement,
the Employee will have no right to payment of the Restricted Stock Units. Prior to actual payment of any vested Restricted Stock Units,
Restricted Stock Units represent an unsecured obligation of the Company, payable (if at all) only from the general assets of the Company.

3. Vesting Schedule. Except as provided in paragraph 4, and subject to paragraph 5, the Restricted Stock Units subject to this
grant will vest as to the number of Restricted Stock Units, and on the dates shown, on the first page of this Agreement. Restricted Stock Units
will only vest if the Employee’s Continuous Status as an Employee is not interrupted through the date on which the Restricted Stock Units
otherwise are scheduled to vest.

4. Administrator Discretion. The Administrator, in its discretion, may accelerate the vesting of all or a portion of the Restricted
Stock Units at any time, subject to the terms of the Plan. If so accelerated, such Restricted Stock Units will be considered as having been
earned (vested) as of the date specified by the Administrator. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan or this Agreement to the contrary, if the
vesting of the balance, or some lesser portion of the balance, of the Restricted Stock Units is accelerated in connection with the interruption
of the Employee’s Continuous Status as an Employee (provided that such interruption is a “separation from service” within the meaning of
Section 409A, as determined by the Company), other than due to death, and if (x) the Employee is a “specified employee” within the
meaning of Section 409A at the time of such interruption and (y) the payment of such accelerated Restricted Stock Units will result in the
imposition of additional tax under Section 409A if paid to the Employee on or within the six (6) month period following the interruption of
the Employee’s Continuous Status as an Employee, then the payment of such accelerated Restricted Stock Units will not be made until the
date six (6) months and one (1) day following the date of such interruption, unless the Employee dies during such six (6) month period, in
which case, the Restricted Stock Units will be paid to the Employee’s estate as soon as practicable following his or her death, subject to
paragraph 8. It is the intent of this Agreement to comply with the requirements of Section 409A so that none of the Restricted Stock Units
provided under this Agreement or Shares issuable thereunder will be subject to the additional tax imposed under Section 409A, and any
ambiguities herein will be interpreted to so comply. For purposes of this Agreement, “Section 409A” means Section 409A of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and any proposed, temporary or final Treasury Regulations and Internal Revenue Service
guidance thereunder, as each may be amended from time to time.

5. Forfeiture. Notwithstanding any contrary provision of this Agreement, the balance of the Restricted Stock Units that have not
vested pursuant to paragraphs 3 or 4 will be forfeited and cancelled automatically on the first to occur of (a) the date the Employee’s
Continuous Status as an Employee is interrupted or (b) the Termination Date set forth on first page of this Agreement.

6. Payment after Vesting. Subject to paragraph 4, Restricted Stock Units that vest will be paid to the Employee (or in the event
of the Employee’s death, to his or her estate) in Shares as soon as practicable following the date of vesting, but in each such case no later than
the date that is two-and-one-half months from the end of the Company’s tax year that includes the vesting date. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, and if permitted by the Administrator, the Employee may elect to defer the payout of vested Restricted Stock Units by properly
completing and submitting a Restricted Stock Unit Deferral Election to the Company in accordance with the directions on the Election form
and such rules and procedures as shall be determined



by the Administrator in its sole discretion, which rules and procedures shall comply with the requirements of Section 409A, unless otherwise
expressly determined by the Administrator.

7. Death of the Employee. Any distribution or delivery to be made to the Employee under this Agreement will, if the Employee
is then deceased, be made to the administrator or executor of the Employee’s estate. Any such transferee must furnish the Company with (a)
written notice of his or her status as transferee, and (b) evidence satisfactory to the Company to establish the validity of the transfer and
compliance with any laws or regulations pertaining to said transfer.

8. Responsibility for Taxes. The Employee acknowledges that, regardless of any action the Company or, if different, the Parent
or Subsidiary employing the Employee (the “Employer”) takes with respect to any or all income tax, social insurance, fringe benefit tax,
payroll tax, payment on account or other tax-related items related to the Employee’s participation in the Plan and legally applicable to the
Employee (“Tax-Related Items”), the ultimate liability for all Tax-Related Items is and remains his or her responsibility and may exceed the
amount to be withheld by the Company or the Employer. The Employee further acknowledges that the Company and/or the Employer
(1) make no representations or undertakings regarding the treatment of any Tax-Related Items in connection with any aspect of the Restricted
Stock Units, including, but not limited to, the grant, vesting or settlement of the Restricted Stock Units, the issuance of Shares upon
settlement of the Restricted Stock Units, the subsequent sale of Shares acquired pursuant to such issuance and the receipt of any dividends;
and (2) do not commit to structure the terms of the grant or any aspect of the Restricted Stock Units to reduce or eliminate the Employee’s
liability for Tax-Related Items or achieve any particular tax result. Further, if the Employee is subject to tax in more than one jurisdiction, the
Employee acknowledges that the Company and/or the Employer (or former employer, as applicable) may be required to withhold or account
for Tax-Related Items in more than one jurisdiction.

If any tax withholding is required when Shares are issued as payment for vested Restricted Stock Units or, in the discretion of the
Company, at such earlier time as the Tax-Related Items are due, the Company will withhold a portion of the Shares that has an aggregate
market value sufficient to pay all Tax-Related Items. In addition and to the maximum extent permitted by law, the Company (or the
Employer) has the right to retain without notice from any fees, salary or other amounts payable to the Employee, cash having a sufficient
value to satisfy any Tax-Related Items that the Company determines cannot be satisfied through the withholding of otherwise deliverable
Shares or that are due prior to the issuance of Shares under the Restricted Stock Unit Award. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company, in
its sole discretion, may require the Employee to make alternate arrangements satisfactory to the Company for payment of such Tax-Related
Items before they arise. Further, if permissible under applicable local law, the Administrator, in its sole discretion and pursuant to such
procedures as it may specify from time to time, may permit or require the Employee to satisfy the Tax‑Related Items, in whole or in part, by
selling a sufficient number of Shares otherwise deliverable to the Employee through such means as the Company may determine in its sole
discretion, including through a broker‑assisted arrangement or otherwise, equal to the amount to be withheld (and any associated broker or
other fees, as applicable).

To avoid negative tax consequences, if Tax-Related Items are satisfied by withholding in Shares otherwise issuable, the Company
may withhold or account for Tax-Related Items by considering applicable minimum statutory rates or other applicable withholding rates,
including maximum applicable rates, in which case the Employee will receive a refund of any over-withheld amount in cash and will have no
entitlement to the Share equivalent. In addition, if the obligation for Tax-Related Items is satisfied by withholding in Shares, the Employee is
deemed to have been issued the full number of Shares subject to the vested Restricted Stock Units, notwithstanding that a number of the
Shares are held back solely for the purpose of paying the Tax-Related Items due as a result of any aspect of the Restricted Stock Units.



Notwithstanding any contrary provision of this Agreement, no Shares will be issued unless and until satisfactory arrangements (as
determined by the Company) have been made by the Employee with respect to the payment of any Tax-Related Items that the Company
determines must be withheld or collected with respect to the Restricted Stock Units. If the Employee fails to make satisfactory arrangements
for the payment of any Tax‑Related Items at the time any applicable Restricted Stock Units otherwise vest pursuant to this Agreement or the
terms of the Plan, or at the time any Tax‑Related Items with respect to the Restricted Stock Units otherwise are due, the Employee
permanently will forfeit such Restricted Stock Units and any right to receive the Shares thereunder and the Restricted Stock Units will be
returned to the Company at no cost to the Company.

9. Rights as Stockholder. Neither the Employee nor any person claiming under or through the Employee will have any of
the rights or privileges of a stockholder of the Company in respect of any Shares deliverable hereunder unless and until certificates
representing such Shares have been issued, recorded on the records of the Company or its transfer agents or registrars, and delivered to
the Employee. Except as provided in paragraph 11, after such issuance, recordation, and delivery, the Employee will have all the rights
of a stockholder of the Company with respect to voting such Shares and receipt of dividends and distributions on such Shares.
10. No Effect on Employment. The Employee's employment with the Company and its Subsidiaries is on an at‑will basis only.

Accordingly, the terms of the Employee's employment with the Company and its Subsidiaries will be determined from time to time by the
Company or the Subsidiary employing the Employee (as the case may be), and the Company or the Subsidiary will have the right, which is
hereby expressly reserved, to terminate or change the terms of the employment of the Employee at any time for any reason whatsoever, with
or without good cause. The transactions contemplated hereunder and the vesting schedule set forth on the first page of this Agreement do not
constitute an express or implied promise of continued employment for any period of time.

11. Changes in Shares. In the event that as a result of a dividend or other distribution (whether in the form of cash, Shares, other
securities, or other property), stock split, reverse stock split, repurchase or exchange of Shares or other securities of the Company,
reclassification, recapitalization, combination of Shares or the adjustment in capital stock of the Company or otherwise, or as a result of a
merger, consolidation, split-up, spin-off or other reorganization, or other change in the corporate structure of the Company affecting the
Shares, the Restricted Stock Units will be increased, reduced or otherwise changed, as the Administrator deems necessary or appropriate in
order to prevent diminution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under the Award, and by virtue
of any such change the Employee will in his capacity as owner of unvested Restricted Stock Units which have been awarded to him (the
“Prior Units”) be entitled to new or additional or different restricted stock units, cash, securities (other than rights or warrants to purchase
securities) or other property, such new or additional or different restricted stock units, cash, securities or other property will thereupon be
considered to be unvested Restricted Stock Units and will be subject to all of the conditions and restrictions which were applicable to the
Prior Units pursuant to this Agreement and the Plan. If the Employee receives rights or warrants with respect to any Prior Units, such rights or
warrants may be held or exercised by the Employee, provided that until such exercise any such rights or warrants and after such exercise any
shares or other securities acquired by the exercise of such rights or warrants will be considered to be unvested Restricted Stock Units and will
be subject to all of the conditions and restrictions which were applicable to the Prior Units pursuant to the Plan and this Agreement. The
Administrator in its absolute discretion at any time may accelerate the vesting of all or any portion of such new or additional units, cash or
securities, rights or warrants to purchase securities or shares or other securities acquired by the exercise of such rights or warrants.

12. Address for Notices. Any notice to be given to the Company under the terms of this Agreement will be addressed to the
Company, in care of the Company’s Stock Administration Department, at Quantum Corporation, 224 Airport Parkway, Suite 300, San Jose,
CA 95110, or at such other address as the Company may hereafter designate in writing.



13. Grant is Not Transferable. Except to the limited extent provided in paragraph 7 above, this grant and the rights and
privileges conferred hereby will not be transferred, assigned, pledged or hypothecated in any way (whether by operation of law or otherwise)
and will not be subject to sale under execution, attachment or similar process. Upon any attempt to transfer, assign, pledge, hypothecate or
otherwise dispose of this grant, or any right or privilege conferred hereby, or upon any attempted sale under any execution, attachment or
similar process, this grant and the rights and privileges conferred hereby immediately will become null and void.

14. Data Privacy Notice. All of Employee’s information that is described or referenced in this Agreement and the Plan may be
used by the Company and its Subsidiaries and affiliates to administer and manage Employee’s participation in the Plan. Employee
understands that he or she may contact the Company’s international privacy officer if Employee needs to update or correct any of the
information. The Company will transfer this information to, and store this information in one or several of its U.S. offices. In addition, if
necessary to administer and manage Employee’s participation in the Plan, the Company may transfer to, or share this information with its
Subsidiaries and affiliates and any third party agents acting on the Company’s behalf to provide services to Employee, or any other third
parties or governmental agencies, as required or permitted by law or the Safe Harbor framework established by the U.S. Department of
Commerce. In particular, without limitation, the Company has engaged eTrade and any entity controlled by, controlling, or under common
control with eTrade (“eTrade’s affiliates”; and together with eTrade collectively “eTrade”) to provide brokerage services and to help
administer the Company’s stock plans. eTrade is acting primarily as a data processing agent under the Company’s instructions and directions,
but eTrade reserved the right to share Employee’s information with eTrade’s affiliates. Except as provided in this Section or as required or
permitted by law or the Safe Harbor framework established by the U.S. Department of Commerce, the Company will not disclose Employee’s
information outside the Company without Employee’s consent.

Unless Employee notifies Company within 30 days of the grant of the Restricted Stock Units the Company may use and transfer
Employee’s personal information as described in this Section 14, particularly as it concerns transfers to eTrade. Employee understands that
participation in the Plan is entirely voluntary and that his or her denial of consent does not have any adverse effects other than exclusion from
the Plan.

15. Restrictions on Sale of Securities. The Shares issued as payment for vested Restricted Stock Units under this
Agreement will be registered under U.S. federal securities laws and will be freely tradable upon receipt. However, an Employee’s
subsequent sale of the Shares may be subject to any market blackout-period that may be imposed by the Company and must comply
with the Company’s insider trading policies, and any other applicable securities laws.
16. Binding Agreement. Subject to the limitation on the transferability of this grant contained herein, this Agreement will be

binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, legatees, legal representatives, successors, and assigns of the parties hereto.
17. Additional Conditions to Issuance of Certificates for Shares. If at any time the Company will determine, in its discretion,

that the listing, registration or qualification of Shares upon any securities exchange or under any state or federal law, or the consent or
approval of any governmental regulatory authority is necessary or desirable as a condition to the settlement of Restricted Stock Units
pursuant to paragraph 6, such settlement will not occur unless and until such listing, registration, qualification, consent or approval will have
been effected or obtained free of any conditions not acceptable to the Company. The Company will make all reasonable efforts to meet the
requirements of any such state or federal law or securities exchange and to obtain any such consent or approval of any such governmental
authority.

18. Electronic Delivery. The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any documents related to this or future
grants of Restricted Stock Units by electronic means or to request Employee’s consent to participate in the Plan by electronic means.
Employee hereby consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and, if requested, to accept this or future grants of Restricted
Stock Units through an on-



line or electronic system established and maintained by the Company or another third party designated by the Company.
19. Plan Governs. This Agreement is subject to all terms and provisions of the Plan. In the event of a conflict between one or

more provisions of this Agreement and one or more provisions of the Plan, the provisions of the Plan will govern. Capitalized terms used and
not defined in this Agreement will have the meaning set forth in the Plan.

20. Administrator Authority. The Administrator will have the power to interpret the Plan and this Agreement and to adopt such
rules for the administration, interpretation, and application of the Plan as are consistent therewith and to interpret or revoke any such rules
(including, but not limited to, the determination of whether or not any Restricted Stock Units have vested). All actions taken and all
interpretations and determinations made by the Administrator in good faith will be final and binding upon the Employee, the Company, and
all other interested persons. No person acting as the Administrator will be personally liable for any action, determination, or interpretation
made in good faith with respect to the Plan or this Agreement.

21. Captions. Captions provided herein are for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for interpretation or construction
of this Agreement.

22. Agreement Severable. In the event that any provision in this Agreement will be held invalid or unenforceable, such
provision will be severable from, and such invalidity or unenforceability will not be construed to have any effect on, the remaining provisions
of this Agreement.

23. Modifications to the Agreement. This Agreement, together with the Employee’s Change of Control Agreement (or any
similar severance or change of control arrangement), constitute the entire understanding of the parties on the subjects covered. The Employee
expressly warrants that he or she is not accepting this Agreement in reliance on any promises, representations, or inducements other than
those contained in the documents described in the preceding sentence. Notwithstanding the preceding, the Change of Control Agreement
shall apply to this Award only to the extent provided in Exhibit A. Modifications to this Agreement or the Plan may be made only in an
express written agreement executed by a duly authorized officer of the Company. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan or this
Agreement, the Company reserves the right to revise this Agreement as it deems necessary or advisable, in its sole discretion and without the
consent of the Employee, to comply with Section 409A or to otherwise avoid imposition of any additional tax or income recognition under
Section 409A in connection with these Restricted Stock Units (including settlement or payment thereof), provided that no such revision may
materially reduce the economic benefits provided or intended to be provided under this Agreement. Further, in no event will the Company (or
any of its Parent or Subsidiaries) reimburse the Employee for any taxes imposed or other costs incurred as a result of Section 409A.

24. Amendment, Suspension or Termination of the Plan. By accepting this Award, the Employee expressly warrants that he or
she has received a right to an equity based award under the Plan, and has received, read, and understood a description of the Plan. The
Employee understands that the Plan is discretionary in nature and may be modified, suspended, or terminated by the Company at any time.

25. Notice of Governing Law. This award shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of
California, without regard to principles of conflict of laws. For purposes of litigating any dispute that arises directly or indirectly from the
relationship of the parties evidenced by this grant or the Agreement, the parties hereby submit to and consent to the exclusive jurisdiction of
the State of California in United States of America, and agree that such litigation shall be conducted only in the courts of Santa Clara County,
California, or the federal courts for the United States for the Northern District of California, and in no other courts, where this grant is made
and/or to be performed.

26. Waiver. The Employee acknowledges that a waiver by the Company of breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not
operate or be construed as a waiver of any other provision of this Agreement, or of any subsequent breach by the Employee or any other
grantee.

Exhibit A



To the extent Employee entered into a Change of Control Agreement with the Company (as may be amended from time to time) and while
Employee’s Change of Control Agreement remains effective, this Restricted Stock Unit Award will be subject to any vesting acceleration
provisions set forth in the Employee’s then-effective Change of Control Agreement (including for example and without limitation, the
vesting acceleration being subject to Employee entering into and not revoking a release of claims in favor of the Company).

Exhibit B

General Provisions
1. General. The provisions of this Exhibit B apply to the

Award.

2. Definitions. As used herein, the following definition will
apply:

(a) “Continuous Status as an Employee” means the absence of any interruption or termination of service as an Employee.
Continuous Status as an Employee shall not be considered interrupted in the case of: (i) a leave of absence agreed to in writing by the
Company, provided that such leave is for a period of not more than three (3) months or re-employment upon the expiration of such
leave is guaranteed by contract or statute; or (ii) notification by the Company of termination under a reduction-in-force. Termination of
participation in the Plan in the case of a reduction-in-force shall be considered to have occurred upon the earlier of (x) the end of the
employee’s continuation period, or (y) the first (1st) day after the three (3) month period immediately following the cessation of his or
her employment services with the Company.



 

Exhibit 10.3

QUANTUM CORPORATION

MARKET-BASED RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT

FOR U.S. EMPLOYEES    

Quantum Corporation (the “Company”) hereby grants you, %%FIRST_NAME%-% %%LAST_NAME%-% (the “Employee”), the number
of Restricted Stock Units under the Company's 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) indicated below. Capitalized terms used and not
defined herein will have the meaning set forth in the Plan. Subject to the provisions of Appendix A and of the Plan, the principal features of
this award are as follows:

Number of Restriced
Stock Units:  0 - %%TOTAL_SHARES_GRANTED%-%  
    

Vesting of Restricted
Stock Units:  

The Restricted Stock Units will vest upon achievement of both market goals and time-based vesting
requirements, described in detail in Exhibit A.  

    

    

IMPORTANT:

By electronically accepting this award, you agree that this award is subject to all of the terms and conditions contained in Appendix A and the
Plan. For example, important additional information on vesting and forfeiture of the Restricted Stock Units covered by this grant is contained
in Paragraphs 3 through 5 of Appendix A. Especially, you consent that the Company may use and transfer your personal information as
described in Paragraph 14 of Appendix A. PLEASE BE SURE TO READ ALL OF APPENDIX A, WHICH CONTAINS THE
SPECIFIC TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THIS GRANT.

In addition, by accepting this award, you agree to the following: “This electronic contract contains my electronic signature, which I have
executed with the intent to sign this Agreement.” Please be sure to retain a copy of your electronically signed Agreement; you may obtain a
paper copy at any time and at the Company’s expense by requesting one from the Company’s Stock Administration Department (see
paragraph 12 below).

APPENDIX A



TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF PERFORMANCE-BASED
RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT GRANT

FOR U.S. EMPLOYEES

1. Grant. The Company hereby grants to the Employee under the Plan the number of Restricted Stock Units indicated on
the first page of this Agreement, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, this Appendix A, including the exhibits
hereto, and the Plan. When Shares are paid to the Employee in payment for the Restricted Stock Units, par value will be deemed paid
by the Employee for each Restricted Stock Unit by past services rendered by the Employee and will be subject to the appropriate tax
withholdings.
2. Company’s Obligation to Pay. On any date, a Restricted Stock Unit has a value equal to the Fair Market Value of one Share.

Unless and until the Restricted Stock Units have vested in accordance with the Vesting Schedule set forth on the first page of this Agreement,
the Employee will have no right to payment of the Restricted Stock Units. Prior to actual payment of any vested Restricted Stock Units,
Restricted Stock Units represent an unsecured obligation of the Company, payable (if at all) only from the general assets of the Company.

3. Vesting Schedule. Except as provided in paragraph 4, and subject to paragraph 5, the Restricted Stock Units subject to this
grant will be scheduled to vest in accordance with the vesting provisions set forth in Exhibit A to this Agreement. Restricted Stock Units will
only vest if the Employee’s Continuous Status as an Employee is not interrupted through the date on which the Restricted Stock Units
otherwise are scheduled to vest.

4. Administrator Discretion. The Administrator, in its discretion, may accelerate the vesting of all or a portion of the Restricted
Stock Units at any time, subject to the terms of the Plan. If so accelerated, such Restricted Stock Units will be considered as having been
earned (vested) as of the date specified by the Administrator. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan or this Agreement to the contrary, if the
vesting of the balance, or some lesser portion of the balance, of the Restricted Stock Units is accelerated in connection with the interruption
of the Employee’s Continuous Status as an Employee (provided that such interruption is a “separation from service” within the meaning of
Section 409A, as determined by the Company), other than due to death, and if (x) the Employee is a “specified employee” within the
meaning of Section 409A at the time of such interruption and (y) the payment of such accelerated Restricted Stock Units will result in the
imposition of additional tax under Section 409A if paid to the Employee on or within the six (6) month period following the interruption of
the Employee’s Continuous Status as an Employee, then the payment of such accelerated Restricted Stock Units will not be made until the
date six (6) months and one (1) day following the date of such interruption, unless the Employee dies during such six (6) month period, in
which case, the Restricted Stock Units will be paid to the Employee’s estate as soon as practicable following his or her death, subject to
paragraph 8. It is the intent of this Agreement to comply with the requirements of Section 409A so that none of the Restricted Stock Units
provided under this Agreement or Shares issuable thereunder will be subject to the additional tax imposed under Section 409A, and any
ambiguities herein will be interpreted to so comply. For purposes of this Agreement, “Section 409A” means Section 409A of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and any proposed, temporary or final Treasury Regulations and Internal Revenue Service
guidance thereunder, as each may be amended from time to time.

5. Forfeiture. Notwithstanding any contrary provision of this Agreement, the balance of the Restricted Stock Units that have not
vested pursuant to paragraphs 3 or 4 will be forfeited and cancelled automatically on the first to occur of (a) the date the Employee’s
Continuous Status as an Employee is interrupted or (b) the Termination Date set forth on first page of this Agreement.

6. Payment after Vesting. Subject to paragraph 4, Restricted Stock Units that vest will be paid to the Employee (or in the event
of the Employee’s death, to his or her estate) in Shares as soon as practicable



following the date of vesting, but in each such case no later than the date that is two-and-one-half months from the end of the Company’s tax
year that includes the vesting date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, and if permitted by the Administrator, the Employee may elect to defer
the payout of vested Restricted Stock Units by properly completing and submitting a Restricted Stock Unit Deferral Election to the Company
in accordance with the directions on the Election form and such rules and procedures as shall be determined by the Administrator in its sole
discretion, which rules and procedures shall comply with the requirements of Section 409A, unless otherwise expressly determined by the
Administrator.

7. Death of the Employee. Any distribution or delivery to be made to the Employee under this Agreement will, if the Employee
is then deceased, be made to the administrator or executor of the Employee’s estate. Any such transferee must furnish the Company with (a)
written notice of his or her status as transferee, and (b) evidence satisfactory to the Company to establish the validity of the transfer and
compliance with any laws or regulations pertaining to said transfer.

8. Responsibility for Taxes. The Employee acknowledges that, regardless of any action the Company or, if different, the Parent
or Subsidiary employing the Employee (the “Employer”) takes with respect to any or all income tax, social insurance, fringe benefit tax,
payroll tax, payment on account or other tax-related items related to the Employee’s participation in the Plan and legally applicable to the
Employee (“Tax-Related Items”), the ultimate liability for all Tax-Related Items is and remains his or her responsibility and may exceed the
amount to be withheld by the Company or the Employer. The Employee further acknowledges that the Company and/or the Employer
(1) make no representations or undertakings regarding the treatment of any Tax-Related Items in connection with any aspect of the Restricted
Stock Units, including, but not limited to, the grant, vesting or settlement of the Restricted Stock Units, the issuance of Shares upon
settlement of the Restricted Stock Units, the subsequent sale of Shares acquired pursuant to such issuance and the receipt of any dividends;
and (2) do not commit to structure the terms of the grant or any aspect of the Restricted Stock Units to reduce or eliminate the Employee’s
liability for Tax-Related Items or achieve any particular tax result. Further, if the Employee is subject to tax in more than one jurisdiction, the
Employee acknowledges that the Company and/or the Employer (or former employer, as applicable) may be required to withhold or account
for Tax-Related Items in more than one jurisdiction.

If any tax withholding is required when Shares are issued as payment for vested Restricted Stock Units or, in the discretion of the
Company, at such earlier time as the Tax-Related Items are due, the Company will withhold a portion of the Shares that has an aggregate
market value sufficient to pay all Tax-Related Items. In addition and to the maximum extent permitted by law, the Company (or the
Employer) has the right to retain without notice from any fees, salary or other amounts payable to the Employee, cash having a sufficient
value to satisfy any Tax-Related Items that the Company determines cannot be satisfied through the withholding of otherwise deliverable
Shares or that are due prior to the issuance of Shares under the Restricted Stock Unit Award. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company, in
its sole discretion, may require the Employee to make alternate arrangements satisfactory to the Company for payment of such Tax-Related
Items before they arise. Further, if permissible under applicable local law, the Administrator, in its sole discretion and pursuant to such
procedures as it may specify from time to time, may permit or require the Employee to satisfy the Tax‑Related Items, in whole or in part, by
selling a sufficient number of Shares otherwise deliverable to the Employee through such means as the Company may determine in its sole
discretion, including through a broker‑assisted arrangement or otherwise, equal to the amount to be withheld (and any associated broker or
other fees, as applicable).

To avoid negative tax consequences, if Tax-Related Items are satisfied by withholding in Shares otherwise issuable, the Company
may withhold or account for Tax-Related Items by considering applicable minimum statutory rates or other applicable withholding rates,
including maximum applicable rates, in which case the Employee will receive a refund of any over-withheld amount in cash and will have no
entitlement to the Share equivalent. In addition, if the obligation for Tax-Related Items is satisfied by withholding in



Shares, the Employee is deemed to have been issued the full number of Shares subject to the vested Restricted Stock Units, notwithstanding
that a number of the Shares are held back solely for the purpose of paying the Tax-Related Items due as a result of any aspect of the
Restricted Stock Units.

Notwithstanding any contrary provision of this Agreement, no Shares will be issued unless and until satisfactory arrangements (as
determined by the Company) have been made by the Employee with respect to the payment of any Tax-Related Items that the Company
determines must be withheld or collected with respect to the Restricted Stock Units. If the Employee fails to make satisfactory arrangements
for the payment of any Tax‑Related Items at the time any applicable Restricted Stock Units otherwise vest pursuant to this Agreement or the
terms of the Plan, or at the time any Tax‑Related Items with respect to the Restricted Stock Units otherwise are due, the Employee
permanently will forfeit such Restricted Stock Units and any right to receive the Shares thereunder and the Restricted Stock Units will be
returned to the Company at no cost to the Company.

9. Rights as Stockholder. Neither the Employee nor any person claiming under or through the Employee will have any of
the rights or privileges of a stockholder of the Company in respect of any Shares deliverable hereunder unless and until certificates
representing such Shares have been issued, recorded on the records of the Company or its transfer agents or registrars, and delivered to
the Employee. Except as provided in paragraph 11, after such issuance, recordation, and delivery, the Employee will have all the rights
of a stockholder of the Company with respect to voting such Shares and receipt of dividends and distributions on such Shares.
10. No Effect on Employment. The Employee's employment with the Company and its Subsidiaries is on an at‑will basis only.

Accordingly, the terms of the Employee's employment with the Company and its Subsidiaries will be determined from time to time by the
Company or the Subsidiary employing the Employee (as the case may be), and the Company or the Subsidiary will have the right, which is
hereby expressly reserved, to terminate or change the terms of the employment of the Employee at any time for any reason whatsoever, with
or without good cause. The transactions contemplated hereunder and the vesting schedule set forth on the first page of this Agreement do not
constitute an express or implied promise of continued employment for any period of time.

11. Changes in Shares. In the event that as a result of a dividend or other distribution (whether in the form of cash, Shares, other
securities, or other property), stock split, reverse stock split, repurchase or exchange of Shares or other securities of the Company,
reclassification, recapitalization, combination of Shares or the adjustment in capital stock of the Company or otherwise, or as a result of a
merger, consolidation, split‑up, spin-off or other reorganization, or other change in the corporate structure of the Company affecting the
Shares, the Restricted Stock Units will be increased, reduced or otherwise changed, as the Administrator deems necessary or appropriate in
order to prevent diminution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under the Award, and by virtue
of any such change the Employee will in his capacity as owner of unvested Restricted Stock Units which have been awarded to him (the
“Prior Units”) be entitled to new or additional or different restricted stock units, cash, securities (other than rights or warrants to purchase
securities) or other property, such new or additional or different restricted stock units, cash, securities or other property will thereupon be
considered to be unvested Restricted Stock Units and will be subject to all of the conditions and restrictions which were applicable to the
Prior Units pursuant to this Agreement and the Plan. If the Employee receives rights or warrants with respect to any Prior Units, such rights or
warrants may be held or exercised by the Employee, provided that until such exercise any such rights or warrants and after such exercise any
shares or other securities acquired by the exercise of such rights or warrants will be considered to be unvested Restricted Stock Units and will
be subject to all of the conditions and restrictions which were applicable to the Prior Units pursuant to the Plan and this Agreement. The
Administrator in its absolute discretion at any time may accelerate the vesting of all or any portion of such new or additional units, cash or
securities, rights or warrants to purchase securities or shares or other securities acquired by the exercise of such rights or warrants.



12. Address for Notices. Any notice to be given to the Company under the terms of this Agreement will be addressed to the
Company, in care of the Company’s Stock Administration Department, at Quantum Corporation, 224 Airport Pkwy., 3 rd Floor, San Jose, CA
95110, or at such other address as the Company may hereafter designate in writing.

13. Grant is Not Transferable. Except to the limited extent provided in paragraph 7 above, this grant and the rights and
privileges conferred hereby will not be transferred, assigned, pledged or hypothecated in any way (whether by operation of law or otherwise)
and will not be subject to sale under execution, attachment or similar process. Upon any attempt to transfer, assign, pledge, hypothecate or
otherwise dispose of this grant, or any right or privilege conferred hereby, or upon any attempted sale under any execution, attachment or
similar process, this grant and the rights and privileges conferred hereby immediately will become null and void.

14. Data Privacy Notice. All of Employee’s information that is described or referenced in this Agreement and the Plan may be
used by the Company and its Subsidiaries and affiliates to administer and manage Employee’s participation in the Plan. Employee
understands that he or she may contact the Company’s international privacy officer if Employee needs to update or correct any of the
information. The Company will transfer this information to, and store this information in one or several of its U.S. offices. In addition, if
necessary to administer and manage Employee’s participation in the Plan, the Company may transfer to, or share this information with its
Subsidiaries and affiliates and any third party agents acting on the Company’s behalf to provide services to Employee, or any other third
parties or governmental agencies, as required or permitted by law or the Safe Harbor framework established by the U.S. Department of
Commerce. In particular, without limitation, the Company has engaged eTrade and any entity controlled by, controlling, or under common
control with eTrade (“eTrade’s affiliates”; and together with eTrade collectively “eTrade”) to provide brokerage services and to help
administer the Company’s stock plans. eTrade is acting primarily as a data processing agent under the Company’s instructions and directions,
but eTrade reserved the right to share Employee’s information with eTrade’s affiliates. Except as provided in this Section or as required or
permitted by law or the Safe Harbor framework established by the U.S. Department of Commerce, the Company will not disclose Employee’s
information outside the Company without Employee’s consent.

Unless Employee notifies Company within 30 days of the grant of the Restricted Stock Units the Company may use and transfer
Employee’s personal information as described in this Section 14, particularly as it concerns transfers to eTrade. Employee understands that
participation in the Plan is entirely voluntary and that his or her denial of consent does not have any adverse effects other than exclusion from
the Plan.

15. Restrictions on Sale of Securities. The Shares issued as payment for vested Restricted Stock Units under this
Agreement will be registered under U.S. federal securities laws and will be freely tradable upon receipt. However, an Employee’s
subsequent sale of the Shares may be subject to any market blackout-period that may be imposed by the Company and must comply
with the Company’s insider trading policies, and any other applicable securities laws.
16. Binding Agreement. Subject to the limitation on the transferability of this grant contained herein, this Agreement will be

binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, legatees, legal representatives, successors, and assigns of the parties hereto.
17. Additional Conditions to Issuance of Certificates for Shares. If at any time the Company will determine, in its discretion,

that the listing, registration or qualification of Shares upon any securities exchange or under any state or federal law, or the consent or
approval of any governmental regulatory authority is necessary or desirable as a condition to the settlement of Restricted Stock Units
pursuant to paragraph 6, such settlement will not occur unless and until such listing, registration, qualification, consent or approval will have
been effected or obtained free of any conditions not acceptable to the Company. The Company will make all reasonable efforts to meet the
requirements of any such state or federal law or securities exchange and to obtain any such consent or approval of any such governmental
authority.



18. Electronic Delivery. The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any documents related to this or future
grants of Restricted Stock Units by electronic means or to request Employee’s consent to participate in the Plan by electronic means.
Employee hereby consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and, if requested, to accept this or future grants of Restricted
Stock Units through an on-line or electronic system established and maintained by the Company or another third party designated by the
Company.

19. Plan Governs. This Agreement is subject to all terms and provisions of the Plan. In the event of a conflict between one or
more provisions of this Agreement and one or more provisions of the Plan, the provisions of the Plan will govern. Capitalized terms used and
not defined in this Agreement will have the meaning set forth in the Plan.

20. Administrator Authority. The Administrator will have the power to interpret the Plan and this Agreement and to adopt such
rules for the administration, interpretation, and application of the Plan as are consistent therewith and to interpret or revoke any such rules
(including, but not limited to, the determination of whether or not any Restricted Stock Units have vested). All actions taken and all
interpretations and determinations made by the Administrator in good faith will be final and binding upon the Employee, the Company, and
all other interested persons. No person acting as the Administrator will be personally liable for any action, determination, or interpretation
made in good faith with respect to the Plan or this Agreement.

21. Captions. Captions provided herein are for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for interpretation or construction
of this Agreement.

22. Agreement Severable. In the event that any provision in this Agreement will be held invalid or unenforceable, such
provision will be severable from, and such invalidity or unenforceability will not be construed to have any effect on, the remaining provisions
of this Agreement.

23. Modifications to the Agreement. This Agreement, together with the Employee’s Change of Control Agreement (or any
similar severance or change of control arrangement), constitute the entire understanding of the parties on the subjects covered. The Employee
expressly warrants that he or she is not accepting this Agreement in reliance on any promises, representations, or inducements other than
those contained in the documents described in the preceding sentence. Notwithstanding the preceding, the Change of Control Agreement
shall apply to this Award only to the extent provided in Exhibit B. Modifications to this Agreement or the Plan may be made only in an
express written agreement executed by a duly authorized officer of the Company. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan or this
Agreement, the Company reserves the right to revise this Agreement as it deems necessary or advisable, in its sole discretion and without the
consent of the Employee, to comply with Section 409A or to otherwise avoid imposition of any additional tax or income recognition under
Section 409A in connection with these Restricted Stock Units (including settlement or payment thereof), provided that no such revision may
materially reduce the economic benefits provided or intended to be provided under this Agreement. Further, in no event will the Company (or
any of its Parent or Subsidiaries) reimburse the Employee for any taxes imposed or other costs incurred as a result of Section 409A.

24. Amendment, Suspension or Termination of the Plan. By accepting this award, the Employee expressly warrants that he or
she has received a right to an equity based award under the Plan, and has received, read, and understood a description of the Plan. The
Employee understands that the Plan is discretionary in nature and may be modified, suspended, or terminated by the Company at any time.

25. Notice of Governing Law. This award shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of
California, without regard to principles of conflict of laws. For purposes of litigating any dispute that arises directly or indirectly from the
relationship of the parties evidenced by this grant or the Agreement, the parties hereby submit to and consent to the exclusive jurisdiction of
the State of California in United States of America, and agree that such litigation shall be conducted only in the courts of Santa Clara County,
California, or the federal courts for the United States for the Northern District of California, and in no other courts, where this grant is made
and/or to be performed.



26. Waiver. The Employee acknowledges that a waiver by the Company of breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not
operate or be construed as a waiver of any other provision of this Agreement, or of any subsequent breach by the Employee or any other
grantee.

Exhibit A

[Insert Vesting Terms]

Exhibit B

To the extent Employee entered into a Change of Control Agreement with the Company (as may be amended from time to time) and while
Employee’s Change of Control Agreement remains effective, this Restricted Stock Unit Award will be subject to any vesting acceleration
provisions set forth in the Employee’s then-effective Change of Control Agreement (including for example and without limitation, the
vesting acceleration being subject to Employee entering into and not revoking a release of claims in favor of the Company).

Exhibit C

General Provisions
1. General. The provisions of this Exhibit C apply to the

Award.

2. Definitions. As used herein, the following definition will
apply:

(a) “Continuous Status as an Employee” means the absence of any interruption or termination of service as an Employee.
Continuous Status as an Employee shall not be considered interrupted in the case of: (i) a leave of absence agreed to in writing by the
Company, provided that such leave is for a period of not more than three (3) months or re-employment upon the expiration of such
leave is guaranteed by contract or statute; or (ii) notification by the Company of termination under a reduction-in-force. Termination of
participation in the Plan in the case of a reduction-in-force shall be considered to have occurred upon the earlier of (x) the end of the
employee’s continuation period, or (y) the first (1st) day after the three (3) month period immediately following the cessation of his or
her employment services with the Company.



 

Exhibit 10.4
QUANTUM CORPORATION

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT

FOR NON-U.S. EMPLOYEES

Quantum Corporation (the “Company”) hereby grants you, %%FIRST_NAME%-% %%LAST_NAME%-% (the “Employee”), the number
of Restricted Stock Units under the Company's 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) indicated below. Capitalized terms used and not
defined herein will have the meaning set forth in the Plan. Subject to the provisions of Appendix A and of the Plan, the principal features of
this Award are as follows:

Number of Restricted Stock Units:     %%TOTAL_SHARES_GRANTED,'999,999,999'%-%  

Scheduled Vesting Dates:  Number of Units:  
%%VEST_DATE_PERIOD1,'Month DD, YYYY'%-%  %%SHARES_PERIOD1,'999,999,999'%-%  
%%VEST_DATE_PERIOD2,'Month DD, YYYY'%-%  %%decode(SHARES_PERIOD2, 0, null, SHARES_PERIOD2),'999,999,999'%-%  
%%VEST_DATE_PERIOD3,'Month DD, YYYY'%-%  %%decode(SHARES_PERIOD3, 0, null, SHARES_PERIOD3),'999,999,999'%-%  
%%VEST_DATE_PERIOD4,'Month DD, YYYY'%-%  %%decode(SHARES_PERIOD4, 0, null, SHARES_PERIOD4),'999,999,999'%-%  
    

IMPORTANT:

By electronically accepting this award, you agree that this award is subject to all of the terms and conditions contained in Appendix A,
Appendix B and the Plan. For example, important additional information on vesting and forfeiture of the Restricted Stock Units covered by
this grant is contained in paragraphs 3 through 5 of Appendix A. Also, your acceptance of this award means that you agree that the Company
may use and transfer your personal information as described in paragraph 15 of Appendix A. PLEASE BE SURE TO READ ALL OF
APPENDIX A AND ANY PROVISIONS FOR YOUR COUNTRY SET FORTH IN APPENDIX B TO THIS RESTRICTED
STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT FOR NON-U.S. EMPLOYEES (THE “AGREEMENT”), WHICH, TOGETHER, CONTAIN THE
SPECIFIC TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THIS GRANT.

In addition, by accepting this award, you agree to the following: “This electronic contract contains my electronic signature, which I have
executed with the intent to sign this Agreement.” Please be sure to retain a copy of your electronically signed Agreement; you may obtain a
paper copy at any time and at the Company’s expense by requesting one from the Company’s Stock Administration Department (see
paragraph 13 below).

APPENDIX A - TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT GRANT AGREEMENT

FOR NON-U.S. EMPLOYEES



1. Grant. The Company hereby grants to the Employee under the Plan the number of Restricted Stock Units indicated on
the first page of this Agreement, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Agreement, including this Appendix A and any
special terms and conditions for the Employee’s country set forth in Appendix B, and the Plan. When Shares are paid to the Employee
in payment for the Restricted Stock Units, par value will be deemed paid by the Employee for each Restricted Stock Unit by past
services rendered by the Employee and will be subject to the appropriate tax withholdings.
2. Company’s Obligation to Pay. On any date, a Restricted Stock Unit has a value equal to the Fair Market Value of one Share.

Unless and until the Restricted Stock Units have vested in accordance with the Vesting Schedule set forth on the first page of this Agreement,
the Employee will have no right to payment of the Restricted Stock Units. Prior to actual payment of any vested Restricted Stock Units,
Restricted Stock Units represent an unsecured obligation of the Company, payable (if at all) only from the general assets of the Company.

3. Vesting Schedule. Except as provided in paragraph 4, and subject to paragraph 5, the Restricted Stock Units subject to this
grant will vest as to the number of Restricted Stock Units, and on the dates shown, on the first page of this Agreement, but in each case, only
if the Employee’s status as a Service Provider has not been interrupted, as further described in paragraph 5.

4. Administrator Discretion. The Administrator, in its discretion, may accelerate the vesting of all or a portion of the Restricted
Stock Units at any time, subject to the terms of the Plan. If so accelerated, such Restricted Stock Units will be considered as having been
earned (vested) as of the date specified by the Administrator. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan or this Agreement to the contrary, if the
vesting of the balance, or some lesser portion of the balance, of the Restricted Stock Units is accelerated in connection with the interruption
of the Employee’s status as a Service Provider (provided that such interruption is a “separation from service” within the meaning of Section
409A), as determined by the Company), other than due to death, and if (x) the Employee is a “specified employee” within the meaning of
Section 409A at the time of such interruption and (y) the payment of such accelerated Restricted Stock Units will result in the imposition of
additional tax under Section 409A if paid to the Employee on or within the six (6) month period following Employee’s “separation from
service” (within the meaning of Section 409A), then the payment of such accelerated Restricted Stock Units will not be made until the date
six (6) months and one (1) day following the date of such separation, unless the Employee dies during such six (6) month period, in which
case, the Restricted Stock Units will be paid to the Employee’s estate as soon as practicable following his or her death, subject to paragraph 8.
It is the intent of this Agreement to comply with the requirements of Section 409A so that none of the Restricted Stock Units provided under
this Agreement or Shares issuable thereunder will be subject to the additional tax imposed under Section 409A, and any ambiguities herein
will be interpreted to so comply. The Company and the Employee will cooperate diligently to amend the terms of this Agreement to avoid the
imposition of any taxes or penalties under Section 409A. Notwithstanding the foregoing, under no circumstances will the Company be
responsible for any taxes, penalties, interest or other losses or expenses incurred by the Employee due under Section 409A or any other law or
regulation. For purposes of this Agreement, “Section 409A” means Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”), and any proposed, temporary or final Treasury Regulations and Internal Revenue Service guidance thereunder, as each may be
amended from time to time.

5. Forfeiture. Notwithstanding any contrary provision of this Agreement, the balance of the Restricted Stock Units that have not
vested pursuant to paragraphs 3 or 4 will be forfeited and cancelled automatically on the first to occur of (a) the date the Employee’s status as
a Service Provider is interrupted or (b) any Termination Date set forth on the first page of this Agreement.

For purposes of these Restricted Stock Units, the date the Employee’s status as a Service Provider is interrupted (regardless of the
reason for such interruption and whether or not later found to be invalid or in breach of labor laws or the terms of the Service Provider’s
employment or service agreement, if any) is



the date that the Employee is no longer actively employed or actively rendering services and will not be extended by any notice period
mandated under local law. The Administrator shall have the exclusive discretion to determine when the Employee is no longer actively
employed or actively rendering services for purposes of these Restricted Stock Units (including whether the Employee may still be
considered to be actively rendering services while on leave of absence).

6. Payment after Vesting. Subject to paragraph 4, Restricted Stock Units that vest will be paid to the Employee (or in the
event of the Employee’s death, to his or her legal heirs) in Shares (which may be in electronic form) as soon as practicable following the
date of vesting, but in each such case no later than the date that is two-and-one-half months from the end of the Company’s tax year
that includes the vesting date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, and if permitted by the Administrator, the Employee may elect to defer
the payout of vested Restricted Stock Units by properly completing and submitting a Restricted Stock Unit Deferral Election to the
Company in accordance with the directions on the Election form and such rules and procedures as shall be determined by the
Administrator in its sole discretion, which rules and procedures shall comply with the requirements of Section 409A, unless otherwise
expressly determined by the Administrator.
7. Death of the Employee. Any distribution or delivery to be made to the Employee under this Agreement will, if the Employee

is then deceased, be made to the Employee’s legal heirs. Any such transferee must furnish the Company with (a) written notice of his or her
status as transferee, and (b) evidence satisfactory to the Company to establish the validity of the transfer and compliance with any laws or
regulations pertaining to said transfer.

8. Responsibility for Taxes. The Employee acknowledges that, regardless of any action the Company or, if different, the Parent
or Subsidiary employing the Employee (the “Employer”) takes with respect to any or all income tax, social insurance, fringe benefit tax,
payroll tax, payment on account or other tax-related items related to the Employee’s participation in the Plan and legally applicable to the
Employee (“Tax-Related Items”), the ultimate liability for all Tax-Related Items is and remains his or her responsibility and may exceed the
amount to be withheld by the Company or the Employer. The Employee further acknowledges that the Company and/or the Employer
(1) make no representations or undertakings regarding the treatment of any Tax-Related Items in connection with any aspect of the Restricted
Stock Units, including, but not limited to, the grant, vesting or settlement of the Restricted Stock Units, the issuance of Shares upon
settlement of the Restricted Stock Units, the subsequent sale of Shares acquired pursuant to such issuance and the receipt of any dividends;
and (2) do not commit to structure the terms of the grant or any aspect of the Restricted Stock Units to reduce or eliminate the Employee’s
liability for Tax-Related Items or achieve any particular tax result. Further, if the Employee is subject to tax in more than one jurisdiction, the
Employee acknowledges that the Company and/or the Employer (or former employer, as applicable) may be required to withhold or account
for Tax-Related Items in more than one jurisdiction.

If any tax withholding is required when Shares are issued as payment for vested Restricted Stock Units or, in the discretion of the
Company, at such earlier time as the Tax-Related Items are due, the Company will withhold a portion of the Shares that has an aggregate
market value sufficient to pay all Tax-Related Items. In addition and to the maximum extent permitted by law, the Company (or the
Employer) has the right to retain without notice from any fees, salary or other amounts payable to the Employee, cash having a sufficient
value to satisfy any Tax-Related Items that the Company determines cannot be satisfied through the withholding of otherwise deliverable
Shares or that are due prior to the issuance of Shares under the Restricted Stock Unit Award. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company, in
its sole discretion, may require the Employee to make alternate arrangements satisfactory to the Company for payment of such Tax-Related
Items before they arise.

To avoid negative tax consequences, if Tax-Related Items are satisfied by withholding in Shares otherwise issuable, the Company
may withhold or account for Tax-Related Items by considering



applicable minimum statutory rates or other applicable withholding rates, including maximum applicable rates, in which case the Employee
will receive a refund of any over-withheld amount in cash and will have no entitlement to the Share equivalent. In addition, if the obligation
for Tax-Related Items is satisfied by withholding in Shares, the Employee is deemed to have been issued the full number of Shares subject to
the vested Restricted Stock Units, notwithstanding that a number of the Shares are held back solely for the purpose of paying the Tax-
Related Items due as a result of any aspect of the Restricted Stock Units.

Notwithstanding any contrary provision of this Agreement, no Shares will be issued unless and until satisfactory arrangements (as
determined by the Company) have been made by the Employee with respect to the payment of any Tax-Related Items that the Company
determines must be withheld or collected with respect to the Restricted Stock Units.

9. Rights as Stockholder. Neither the Employee nor any person claiming under or through the Employee will have any of
the rights or privileges of a stockholder of the Company in respect of any Shares deliverable hereunder unless and until certificates
representing such Shares have been issued, recorded on the records of the Company or its transfer agents or registrars, and delivered to
the Employee. Except as provided in paragraph 12, after such issuance, recordation, and delivery, the Employee will have all the rights
of a stockholder of the Company with respect to voting such Shares and receipt of dividends and distributions on such Shares.
10. Nature of Grant. In accepting the grant, the Employee understands, acknowledges and agrees that:

(a) the Plan is established voluntarily by the Company, it is discretionary in nature and it may be modified, amended,
suspended or terminated by the Company at any time, to the extent permitted by the Plan;

(b) the grant of the Restricted Stock Units is voluntary and occasional and does not create any contractual or other right to
receive future grants of Restricted Stock Units, or benefits in lieu of Restricted Stock Units, even if Restricted Stock Units have been granted
in the past;

(c) all decisions with respect to future Restricted Stock Units grants, if any, will be at the sole discretion of the Company;
(d) the Employee’s participation in the Plan shall not create a right to further employment with the Employer and shall not

interfere with the ability of the Employer to terminate the Employee’s employment relationship at any time;
(e) the Employee is voluntarily participating in the Plan;
(f) the Restricted Stock Units and the Shares subject to the Restricted Stock Units, and the income and value of same, are an

extraordinary item that does not constitute compensation of any kind for services of any kind rendered to the Company or the Employer, and
which is outside the scope of the Employee’s employment contract, if any;

(g) the Restricted Stock Units and the Shares subject to the Restricted Stock Units, and the income and value of same, are not
part of normal or expected compensation or salary for any purposes, including, but not limited to, calculating any severance, resignation,
termination, redundancy, dismissal, end of service payments, bonuses, long-service awards, pension or retirement or welfare benefits or
similar payments;

(h) unless otherwise agreed with the Company, the Restricted Stock Units and the Shares subject to the Restricted Stock Units,
and the income and value of same, are not granted as consideration for, or in connection with, the service the Employee may provide as a
director of a Parent, Subsidiary or affiliate of the Company;

(i) the grant of the Restricted Stock Units and the Employee’s participation in the Plan will not be interpreted to form an
employment contract or relationship with the Company or any Parent, Subsidiary or affiliate of the Company;

(j) the future value of the underlying Shares is unknown, indeterminable and cannot be predicted with certainty;



(k) no claim or entitlement to compensation or damages shall arise from forfeiture of the Restricted Stock Units resulting from
the termination of the Employee’s status as a Service Provider (for any reason whatsoever, whether or not later found to be invalid or in
breach of employment laws in the jurisdiction where the Employee is employed or the terms of the Employee’s employment or service
agreement, if any), and in consideration of the grant of the Restricted Stock Units to which the Employee is otherwise not entitled, the
Employee irrevocably agrees never to institute any claim against the Company, the Employer or any other Parent, Subsidiary or affiliate of
the Company, waives the Employee’s ability, if any, to bring any such claim, and releases the Company, the Employer and any other Parent,
Subsidiary or affiliate of the Company from any such claim; if, notwithstanding the foregoing, any such claim is allowed by a court of
competent jurisdiction, then, by participating in the Plan, the Employee shall be deemed irrevocably to have agreed not to pursue such claim
and agree to execute any and all documents necessary to request dismissal or withdrawal of such claim;

(l) unless otherwise provided in the Plan or by the Company in its discretion, the Restricted Stock Units and the benefits
evidenced by this Agreement do not create any entitlement to have the Restricted Stock Units or any such benefits transferred to, or assumed
by, another company nor to be exchanged, cashed out or substituted for, in connection with any corporate transaction affecting the Shares;
and

(m) neither the Company, the Employer nor any other Parent, Subsidiary or affiliate of the Company shall be liable for any
foreign exchange rate fluctuation between the Employee’s local currency and the United States Dollar that may affect the value of the
Restricted Stock Units or of any amounts due to the Employee pursuant to the settlement of the Restricted Stock Units or the subsequent sale
of any Shares acquired upon settlement.

11. No Advice Regarding Grant.
(n) the Company is not providing any tax, legal or financial advice, nor is the Company making any recommendations

regarding the Employee’s participation in the Plan, or the Employee’s acquisition or sale of the underlying Shares; and
(o) the Employee is hereby advised to consult with his or her own personal tax, legal and financial advisors regarding his or her

participation in the Plan before taking any action related to the Plan.
12. Changes in Shares. In the event that as a result of a stock dividend, stock split, reclassification, recapitalization,

combination of Shares or the adjustment in capital stock of the Company or otherwise, or as a result of a merger, consolidation, spin-off
or other reorganization, the Restricted Stock Units will be increased, reduced or otherwise changed, and by virtue of any such change
the Employee will in his capacity as owner of unvested Restricted Stock Units which have been awarded to him (the “Prior Units”) be
entitled to new or additional or different restricted stock units, cash, or securities (other than rights or warrants to purchase securities),
such new or additional or different restricted stock units, cash, or securities will thereupon be considered to be unvested Restricted
Stock Units and will be subject to all of the conditions and restrictions which were applicable to the Prior Units pursuant to this
Agreement and the Plan. If the Employee receives rights or warrants with respect to any Prior Units, such rights or warrants may be
held or exercised by the Employee, provided that until such exercise any such rights or warrants and after such exercise any shares or
other securities acquired by the exercise of such rights or warrants will be considered to be unvested Restricted Stock Units and will be
subject to all of the conditions and restrictions which were applicable to the Prior Units pursuant to the Plan and this Agreement. The
Administrator in its absolute discretion at any time may accelerate the vesting of all or any portion of such new or additional units, cash
or securities, rights or warrants to purchase securities or shares or other securities acquired by the exercise of such rights or warrants.
13. Address for Notices. Any notice to be given to the Company under the terms of this Agreement will be addressed to the

Company, in care of the Company’s Stock Administration Department, at Quantum Corporation, 224 Airport Parkway, Suite 550, San Jose,
CA 95110, or at such other address as the Company may hereafter designate in writing.



14. Grant is Not Transferable. Except to the limited extent provided in paragraph 7 above, this grant and the rights and
privileges conferred hereby will not be transferred, assigned, pledged or hypothecated in any way (whether by operation of law or otherwise)
and will not be subject to sale under execution, attachment or similar process. Upon any attempt to transfer, assign, pledge, hypothecate or
otherwise dispose of this grant, or any right or privilege conferred hereby, or upon any attempted sale under any execution, attachment or
similar process, this grant and the rights and privileges conferred hereby immediately will become null and void.

15. Data Privacy Notice. The Company, as data controller, hereby informs the Employee about the collection, use and
transfer, in electronic or other form, of the Employee’s personal data as described in this Agreement and any other Restricted Stock Unit
grant materials and about the sharing of such personal data by and among, as applicable, the Company, the Employer and/or any other
Parent, Subsidiary or affiliate of the Company (as identified in Appendix B) for the purpose of implementing, administering and
managing the Employee’s participation in the Plan.

The Employee understands that the Company may hold certain personal data about the Employee, including, but not limited to, the
Employee’s name, home address and telephone number, email address, date of birth, social insurance number, passport or other
identification number (e.g., resident registration number) as permitted under applicable law, salary, nationality, job title, any Shares or
directorships held in the Company, details of all Restricted Stock Units or any other entitlement to Shares or equivalent benefits awarded,
canceled, exercised, vested, unvested or outstanding in the Employee’s favor (“Data”), for the purpose of implementing, administering
and managing employee management, compensation, and benefits programs, including the Plan.

In most cases, the Company collects the Data directly from the Employee, although sometimes they may obtain it from alternative
sources such as the Employer.

The processing and sharing of the Employee’s personal data for the above purposes is justified on the following legal bases: (i) the
processing is necessary for the performance of a contract to which the Employee is a party or in order to take steps at the Employee’s
request prior to entering into such contract, (ii) the processing is necessary to comply with a legal obligation to which the Company is
subject to, and (iii) the processing is necessary for the purposes of the legitimate interests of the Company or of a third party, such as
implementing and offering stock and annual incentive plan, which are not overridden by the Employee’s interests or fundamental rights
and freedoms.

The Employee understands that Data will be transferred to E*Trade Financial Services, Inc. and any entity controlled by,
controlling, or under common control with E*Trade Financial Services, Inc. (“eTrade’s affiliates”; and together with E*Trade Financial
Services, Inc., “eTrade”), or such other stock plan service provider as may be selected by the Company in the future, acting on behalf and
under the instructions of the Company, which is assisting the Company with the implementation, administration and management of the
Plan. The Employee understands that the recipients of Data may be located in the United States or in other countries, and that the
recipients’ country (e.g., the United States) may have different data privacy laws and protections than the Employee’s country that may
not be recognized by the European Commission as offering an adequate level of protection of personal data (no adequacy decision). In
order to ensure an adequate level of protection for data transfers to countries that are not subject to an adequacy decision, the Company
implements appropriate safeguards, including by way of certifying under the EU-US Privacy Shield or by entering into Standard
Contractual Clauses (2010/87/EU and/or 2004/915/EC) as referred to in Art. 46 (5) GDPR or other adequate data transfer mechanism.
The Employee understands that he or she may request a list with the names and addresses of any potential recipients of the Data, as well
as a copy of the appropriate safeguards for the transfer, by contacting privacy@quantum.com. The Employee



understands that Data will be held only as long as is necessary to implement, administer and manage the Employee’s participation in the
Plan, and for up to [10[ years after the end of the Employees’ participation in the Plan.

The Employee understands that, subject to the conditions set forth under applicable data protection law, the Employee may exercise
his/her rights to request access to Data that the Company and the Employer hold about him/her, to request the rectification or erasure of
any inaccurate Data, to object, on grounds relating to his or her particular situation, to the processing of his/her Data, to request the
restriction of processing, as well as data portability, by contacting in writing privacy@quantum.com. The Employee also has the right to
lodge a complaint with the competent supervisory authority.

Generally, the processing of the Data is necessary for the conclusion and/or performance of the Plan and the Employee is required
to provide his or her Data, except in limited instances when the Company indicates that certain information is optional. If the requested
Data is not provided, the Company may be unable to manage participation of the Employee in the Plan.

Finally, the Employee understands that, only if required for compliance with the data privacy laws in the Employee's country of residence,
the Company will distribute a separate data privacy consent form to be executed by the Employee, either now or in the future. The
Employee understands that participation in the Plan may not be possible if the Employee does not execute such separate data privacy
consent form.

16. Restrictions on Sale of Securities. The Shares issued as payment for vested Restricted Stock Units under this
Agreement will be registered under U.S. federal securities laws and will be freely tradable upon receipt. However, an Employee’s
subsequent sale of the Shares may be subject to any market blackout-period that may be imposed by the Company and must comply
with the Company’s insider trading policies, and any other applicable securities laws.
17. Binding Agreement. Subject to the limitation on the transferability of this grant contained herein, this Agreement will be

binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, legatees, legal representatives, successors, and assigns of the parties hereto.
18. Additional Conditions to Issuance of Certificates for Shares. The Company shall not be required to issue any certificate or

certificates (which may be in book entry form) for Shares payable under this Agreement prior to fulfillment of all of the following conditions:
(a) the admission of such Shares to listing on all stock exchanges on which such class of stock is then listed; (b) the completion of any
registration or other qualification of such Shares under any U.S. state or federal law or under the rulings or regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission or any other governmental regulatory body, which the Administrator, in its sole discretion, will have determined to be
necessary or advisable; (c) the obtaining of any approval or other clearance from any U.S. state or federal governmental agency, which the
Administrator, in its sole discretion, will have determined to be necessary or advisable; and (d) the lapse of such reasonable period of time
following the vesting date of the Restricted Stock Units, as the Administrator may establish from time to time, for reasons of administrative
convenience.

19. Electronic Delivery and Acceptance . The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any documents related to
this or future grants of Restricted Stock Units by electronic means or to request the Employee’s consent to participate in the Plan by electronic
means. The Employee hereby consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and, if requested, to accept this or future grants of
Restricted Stock Units through an on-line or electronic system established and maintained by the Company or a third party designated by the
Company.



20. Plan Governs. This Agreement is subject to all terms and provisions of the Plan. In the event of a conflict between one or
more provisions of this Agreement and one or more provisions of the Plan, the provisions of the Plan will govern.

21. Administrator Authority. The Administrator will have the power to interpret the Plan and this Agreement and to adopt such
rules for the administration, interpretation, and application of the Plan as are consistent therewith and to interpret or revoke any such rules
(including, but not limited to, the determination of whether or not any Restricted Stock Units have vested). All actions taken and all
interpretations and determinations made by the Administrator in good faith will be final and binding upon the Employee, the Company, and
all other interested persons. No person acting as the Administrator will be personally liable for any action, determination, or interpretation
made in good faith with respect to the Plan or this Agreement.

22. Captions. Captions provided herein are for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for interpretation or construction
of this Agreement.

23. Agreement Severable. In the event that any provision in this Agreement will be held invalid or unenforceable, such
provision will be severable from, and such invalidity or unenforceability will not be construed to have any effect on, the remaining provisions
of this Agreement.

24. Modifications to the Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding of the parties on the subjects covered.
The Employee expressly warrants that he or she is not accepting this Agreement in reliance on any promises, representations, or inducements
other than those contained herein. Modifications to this Agreement or the Plan can be made only in an express written agreement executed by
a duly authorized officer of the Company. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan or this Agreement, the Company reserves the
right to revise this Agreement as it deems necessary or advisable, in its sole discretion and without the consent of the Employee, to comply
with Section 409A or to otherwise avoid imposition of any additional tax or income recognition under Section 409A in connection with these
Restricted Stock Units (including settlement or payment thereof).

25. Language. If the Employee has received this Agreement or any other document related to the Plan translated into a language
other than English and if the meaning of the translated version is different than the English version, the English version will control.

26. Appendix. Notwithstanding any provisions in this Agreement, the Restricted Stock Unit grant shall be subject to any special
terms and conditions set forth in any Appendix B to this Agreement for the Employee’s country. Moreover, if the Employee relocates to one
of the countries included in Appendix B, the special terms and conditions for such country will apply to the Employee, to the extent the
Company determines that the application of such terms and conditions is necessary or advisable for legal or administrative reasons. Appendix
B constitutes part of this Agreement.

27. Imposition of Other Requirements. The Company reserves the right to impose other requirements on the Employee’s
participation in the Plan, or the Restricted Stock Units and on any Shares acquired under the Plan, to the extent the Company determines it is
necessary or advisable for legal or administrative reasons, and to require the Employee to sign any additional agreements or undertakings that
may be necessary to accomplish the foregoing.

28. Amendment, Suspension or Termination of the Plan. By accepting this award, the Employee expressly warrants that he or
she has received a right to an equity based award under the Plan, and has received, read, and understood a description of the Plan. The
Employee understands that the Plan is discretionary in nature and may be modified, suspended, or terminated by the Company at any time.

29. Notice of Governing Law. This award shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of
California, without regard to principles of conflict of laws.

For purposes of litigating any dispute that arises directly or indirectly from the relationship of the parties evidenced by this grant
or the Agreement, the parties hereby submit to and consent to the exclusive jurisdiction of the State of California in United States of America,
and agree that such litigation shall be conducted only in the courts of Santa Clara County, California, or the federal courts for the



United States for the Northern District of California, and in no other courts, where this grant is made and/or to be performed.
30. Waiver. The Employee acknowledges that a waiver by the Company of breach of any provision of this Agreement

shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any other provision of this Agreement, or of any subsequent breach by the Employee or
any other grantee.
31. Insider Trading Restrictions/Market Abuse Laws . The Employee acknowledges that, depending on his or her country, the

Employee may be subject to insider trading restrictions and/or market abuse laws, which may affect his or her ability to acquire or sell Shares
or rights to Shares under the Plan during such times as the Employee is considered to have “inside information” regarding the Company (as
defined by local laws in the Employee’s country). Any restrictions under these laws or regulations are separate from and in addition to any
restrictions that may be imposed under any applicable Company insider trading policy. The Employee acknowledges that it is the Employee’s
responsibility to comply with any applicable restrictions, and the Employee is advised to speak to his or her personal advisor on this matter.

32. Foreign Asset/Account Reporting; Exchange Controls. The Employee acknowledges that the Employee’s country may have
certain foreign asset and/or account reporting requirements and/or exchange controls which may affect the Employee’s ability to acquire or
hold Shares under the Plan or cash received from participating in the Plan (including from any dividends received or sale proceeds arising
from the sale of Shares) in a brokerage or bank account outside the Employee’s country. The Employee may be required to report such
accounts, assets or transactions to the tax or other authorities in his or her country. The Employee also may be required to repatriate sale
proceeds or other funds received as a result of the Employee’s participation in the Plan to his or her country through a designated bank or
broker and/or within a certain time after receipt. The Employee further acknowledges that it is the Employee’s responsibility to be compliant
with such regulations, and the Employee should consult his or her personal legal advisor for any details.

o O o

APPENDIX B - COUNTRY- SPECIFIC TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Non-U.S.
Employees, Appendix A or the Plan.

This Appendix B includes additional terms and conditions that govern the Restricted Stock Units granted to the Employee if the Employee
works and/or resides in one of the countries listed herein. If the Employee is a citizen or resident of a country other than the one in which the
Employee is currently working and/or residing, is considered a resident of another country for local law purposes or transfers employment
and/or residency between countries after the date of grant, the Company shall, in its sole discretion, determine to what extent the additional
terms and conditional included herein will apply to the Employee under these circumstances.

This Appendix B also includes information regarding exchange controls and certain other issues of which the Employee should be aware with
respect to his or her participation in the Plan. The information is based on the securities, exchange control, income tax and other laws in effect
in the respective countries as of May 2017. Such laws are often complex and change frequently. As a result, the Company strongly
recommends that the Employee not rely on the information noted herein as the only source of information relating to the consequences of the
Employee’s participation in the Plan because the information may be out of date at the time the Employee vests in Restricted Stock Units,
acquires Shares or sells Shares acquired under the Plan.



In addition, the information is general in nature and may not apply to the Employee’s particular situation, and the Company is not in a
position to assure the Employee of any particular result. Accordingly, the Employee is advised to seek appropriate professional advice as to
how the relevant laws in the Employee’s country may apply to his or her situation.

If the Employee is a citizen or resident of a country other than the one in which the Employee is currently working and/or residing, is
considered a resident of another country for local law purposes or transfers employment after the Restricted Stock Units are granted but prior
to vesting of the Restricted Stock Units, the information contained herein may not be applicable in the same manner to the Employee.

Australia

Compliance with Laws. Notwithstanding anything in the Agreement to the contrary, you will not be entitled to, and shall not claim, any
benefit under the Plan if the provision of such benefit would give rise to a breach of Part 2D.2 of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), any other
provision of that Act, or any other applicable statute, rule or regulation which limits or restricts the giving of such benefits. Further, the
Employer is under no obligation to seek or obtain the approval of its shareholders in general meeting for the purpose of overcoming any such
limitation or restriction.

Exchange Control Information. Exchange control reporting is required for cash transactions exceeding AUD10,000 and for international fund
transfers. If an Australian bank is assisting with the transaction, the bank will file the report on behalf of the Employee.

Tax Information. The Plan is a plan to which Subdivision 83A-C of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 (Cth) applies (subject to
conditions in the Act).

Belgium

Employer. The Employer in Belgium is Quantum Storage Belgium BV, Ottergemsesteenweg Zuid 803, 4th Floor, Gent, Belgium, 9000.

Foreign Asset/Account Reporting. Belgium residents must report any bank accounts opened and maintained outside of Belgium on their
annual tax returns. In a separate report, Belgian residents must provide the National Bank of Belgium with certain details regarding such
foreign accounts (including the account number, bank name and country in which such account was opened). This report, as well as
additional information on how to complete it, can be found on the website of the National Bank of Belgium at www.nbb.be, under the
Kredietcentrales / Centrales des crédits caption.

Stock Exchange Tax. From January 1, 2017, a stock exchange tax applies to transactions executed by a Belgian resident through a non-
Belgian financial intermediary, such as a U.S. broker. The stock exchange tax (currently at a rate of 35% with a cap of EUR 1,600 per single
transaction) likely will apply when the Shares are sold. The Employee should consult with his or her personal tax advisor for additional
details on his or her obligations with respect to the stock exchange tax.

Dividends. Once the Employee becomes a shareholder at vesting, he may receive dividends if the Company decides to distribute a dividend.
If the Employee receives dividends, he will be subject to US withholding tax and, possibly, Belgian personal income tax. The Belgian tax
treatment will depend on



whether or not a Belgian withholding tax is applied and on the level of the Employee's overall dividend income. The Employee should
consult with his or her personal tax advisor for additional details on his or her obligations with respect to dividends.

Withholding and reporting. With respect to units vested as from January 1, 2019 a Belgian employer has a reporting obligation through the
annual fiscal voucher 281.10. With respect to units vested as from March 1, 2019 a Belgian employer has a withholding obligation.

Brazil

Compliance with Law. By accepting the Restricted Stock Units, the Employee acknowledges that the Employee agrees to comply with
applicable Brazilian laws and report and pay any and all applicable taxes associated with the vesting of the Restricted Stock Units and the
sale of Shares acquired under the Plan.

Nature of Grant. This provision supplements paragraph 9 of Appendix A:

By accepting the Restricted Stock Units, the Employee agrees that he or she is (i) making an investment decision, (ii) the Shares will be
issued to the Employee only if the vesting conditions are met, and (iii) the value of the underlying Shares is not fixed and may increase or
decrease in value over the vesting period without compensation to the Employee.

Foreign Asset/Account Reporting. Brazilian residents must submit annually a declaration of assets and rights held outside of Brazil to the
Central Bank of Brazil if the aggregate value of such assets and rights equals or exceeds US$100,000. If the aggregate value of such assets
and rights exceeds US$100,000,000, Brazilian residents will be required to make such declarations on a quarterly basis. Assets and rights that
must be reported include Shares. Foreign individuals holding Brazilian visas are considered Brazilian residents for purposes of this reporting
requirement and must declare at least the assets held abroad that were acquired subsequent to the date of admittance as a resident of Brazil.

Tax on Financial Transactions. If Brazilian residents repatriate the proceeds from the sale of Shares or receipt of any cash dividends and
convert the funds into local currency, they may be subject to the Tax on Financial Transactions.

Canada

Payment after Vesting. This provision supplements paragraph 6 of Appendix A:

Notwithstanding any discretion contained in Section 8(d) of the Plan, the grant of Restricted Stock Units does not provide any right for the
Employee to receive a cash payment and the Restricted Stock Units are payable in Shares only.

Involuntary Termination of Service. The following provision supplements paragraph 5 of Appendix A:

For purposes of these Restricted Stock Units, the Employee’s status as a Service Provider is interrupted (regardless of the reason for such
termination and whether or not later found to be invalid or in breach of local labor laws or the terms of the Employee’s employment or service
agreement, if any) effective as of the date that is the earlier of (1) the date on which the Employee’s status as a Service Provider is
terminated; or (2) the date the Employee receives written notice of termination of his or her status as a Service Provider; or (3) the date the
Employee is no longer actively providing services, regardless of any notice period or period of pay in lieu of such notice required under local
law (including, but not limited to, statutory law, regulatory law and/or common law). The Administrator shall have the exclusive discretion



to determine when the Employee is no longer actively providing services for purposes of the Restricted Stock Units (including whether the
Employee may still be considered to be actively rendering services while on leave of absence).

Securities Law Notification. The employee may not be permitted to sell within Canada the Shares acquired under the Plan. The employee
may only be permitted to sell Shares acquired under the Plan through the designated broker appointed under the Plan, if any, provided the
resale of Shares acquired under the Plan takes place outside of Canada through the facilities of a stock exchange on which the Shares are
listed. Currently the Shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange in the United States of America.

Foreign Asset/Account Reporting. Foreign specified property, including Shares, Restricted Stock Units, and other rights to receive shares
(e.g., stock options) of a non-Canadian company held by a Canadian resident must generally be reported annually on a Form T1135 (Foreign
Income Verification Statement) if the total cost of his or her foreign specified assets exceeds C$100,000 at any time during the year. Thus,
such Restricted Stock Units must be reported (generally at a nil cost) if the C$100,000 cost threshold is exceeded because other foreign
specified property is held by the Canadian resident. When Shares are acquired pursuant to the Restricted Stock Units, their cost generally is
the adjusted cost base (“ACB”) of the Shares. The ACB ordinarily is equal to the fair market value of the Shares at the time of acquisition,
but if the Employee owns other Shares, this ACB may have to be averaged with the ACB of the other Shares.

The following provisions apply if the Employee is a resident of Quebec:

Language Consent. The parties acknowledge that it is their express wish that the Agreement, as well as all documents, notices and legal
proceedings entered into, given or instituted pursuant hereto or relating directly or indirectly hereto, be drawn up in English.

Les parties reconnaissent avoir exigé la rédaction en anglais de la convention, ainsi que de tous documents, avis et procédures judiciaires,
exécutés, donnés ou intentés en vertu de, ou liés directement ou indirectement à, la présente convention.

Data Privacy. The following provision supplements paragraph 13 of Appendix A:

The Employee hereby authorizes the Company and the Company’s representatives to discuss and obtain all relevant information from all
personnel, professional or non-professional, involved in the administration of the Plan. The Employee further authorizes the Company, the
Employer and/or any other Parent, Subsidiary or affiliate of the Company to record such information and to keep such information in the
Employee’s employment file.

France

Language Consent. By accepting the grant of Restricted Stock Units and this Agreement, including Appendix A and Appendix B, which
provides for the terms and conditions of the Restricted Stock Units, the Employee confirms having read and understood the documents
relating to this Award (the Plan and this Agreement) which were provided in the English language. The Employee accepts the terms of those
documents accordingly.

Consentement relatif à la langue utilisée. En acceptant l’attribution d’Actions Attribuées et ce Contrat, y compris l’Annexe A et Annexe B,
qui contient les termes et conditions de les Actions Attribuées, le Bénéficiare



confirme avoir lu et compris les documents relatifs à cette attribution (le Plan et ce Contrat) qui ont été transmis en langue anglaise. Le
Bénéficiare accepte ainsi les conditions et termes de ces documents.

Foreign Asset/Account Reporting. French residents must declare all cash or Shares held outside of France and any foreign bank and
brokerage accounts (including any accounts that were opened or closed during the tax year) on an annual basis on form No. 3916, together
with their income tax return. Further, French residents with foreign account balances exceeding €1,000,000 may have additional monthly
reporting obligations..

Germany

Exchange Control Information. Cross-border payments in excess of €12,500 must be reported monthly to the German Federal Bank. The
German Federal Bank no longer accepts paper reports; all reports must be filed electronically using the “General Statistics Reporting Portal”
(Allgemeines Meldeportal Statistik) on the German Federal Bank’s website: www.bundesbank.de. In the event that German residents make or
receive a payment in excess of this amount, they are responsible for complying with applicable reporting requirements.

Japan

Foreign Asset/Account Reporting. Japanese residents are required to report details of any assets (including any Shares acquired under the
Plan) held outside of Japan as of December 31st of each year, to the extent such assets have a total net fair market value exceeding
¥50,000,000. The Employee should consult his or her personal tax advisor as to whether the reporting obligation applies to the Employee and
whether the Employee will be required to include details of any cash, outstanding Restricted Stock Units or Shares held by the Employee in
the report.

Korea

Exchange Control Information.  Exchange control laws require Korean residents who realize US$500,000 or more from the sale of Shares or
receipt of dividends in a single transaction to repatriate the proceeds to Korea within three years of the sale/receipt.

Foreign Asset/Account Reporting. Korean residents are required to declare all foreign financial accounts (i.e., non-Korean bank accounts,
brokerage accounts, etc.) to the Korean tax authority and file a report with respect to such accounts if the monthly balance exceeds a certain
limit (currently KRW 1 billion or an equivalent amount in foreign currency) on any month-end date during a calendar year. The Employee
should consult with his or her personal tax advisor to determine whether reporting is required with respect to the Employee’s foreign accounts
and how to value such accounts for purposes of this reporting requirement.

Mexico

Acknowledgement of the Agreement. In accepting the Restricted Stock Units granted hereunder, the Employee acknowledges that the
Employee has received a copy of the Plan, has reviewed the Plan and the Agreement, including Appendix A and Appendix B, in their entirety
and fully understands and accepts all provisions of the Plan and the Agreement, including Appendix A and Appendix B. The Employee
further acknowledges that the Employee has read and specifically and expressly approves the terms and conditions of paragraph 10 of
Appendix A, in which the following is clearly described and established:

(1) The Employee’s participation in the Plan does not constitute an acquired
right.

(2) The Plan and the Employee’s participation in the Plan are offered by the Company on a wholly discretionary
basis.



(3) The Employee’s participation in the Plan is
voluntary.

(4) The Company or any Subsidiaries or affiliates of the Company are not responsible for any decrease in the value of the Restricted
Stock Units or Shares issued under the Plan.

Labor Law Acknowledgement and Policy Statement. In accepting any Restricted Stock Units granted hereunder, the Employee expressly
recognizes that the Company, with registered offices at 224 Airport Parkway, Suite 300, San Jose, California, 945110, U.S.A., is solely
responsible for the administration of the Plan and that the Employee’s participation in the Plan and acquisition of Shares do not constitute an
employment relationship between the Employee and the Company since the Employee is participating in the Plan on a wholly commercial
basis and the Employee is not employed by the Company. Based on the foregoing, the Employee expressly recognizes that the Plan and the
benefits that the Employee may derive from participation in the Plan do not establish any rights between the Employee and the Employee’s
employer; do not form part of the employment conditions and/or benefits provided by the Employee’s employer; and any modification of the
Plan or its termination shall not constitute a change or impairment of the terms and conditions of the Employee’s employment.

The Employee further understands that the Employee’s participation in the Plan is as a result of a unilateral and discretionary decision of the
Company; therefore, the Company reserves the absolute right to amend and/or discontinue the Employee’s participation in the Plan at any
time without any liability to the Employee.

Finally, the Employee hereby declares that the Employee does not reserve any action or right to bring any claim against the Company for any
compensation or damages regarding any provision of the Plan or the benefits derived under the Plan, and the Employee therefore grants a full
and broad release to the Company and its Subsidiaries, affiliates, shareholders, officers, agents or legal representatives with respect to any
claim that may arise.

Spanish Translation

Reconocimiento del acuerdo. Al aceptar las Unidades de Acciones Restringidas, el Trabajador reconoce que ha recibido una copia del
Plan, que ha revisado el Plan y el Contrato, incluyendo el Anexo A y Anexo B en su integridad y acepta y reconoce los términos y
condiciones del Plan y los Anexos A y B. El Empleado reconoce que ha leído y expresamente aprueba los términos y condiciones de la
sección 10 del Anexo A en el que se establece claramente lo siguiente:

(1) La participación del Empleado en el Plan no constituye un derecho
adquirido.

(2) El Plan y la participación en el Plan, se ofrecen por la Empresa en forma totalmente
discrecional.

(3) La participación del Empleado en el Plan es totalmente
voluntaria.

(4) La Empresa y cualquier subsidiaria o afiliada no son responsables por cualquier detrimento en el valor de las Unidades de
Acciones Restringidas o Acciones emitidas en términos del Plan.

Legislación Laboral y Establecimiento de la Política: Al aceptar cualquier Unidad de Acciones Restringidas que sean emitidas, el
Empleado expresamente reconoce que la Empresa, con domicilio registrado en 224 Airport Parkway, Suite 300, San Jose California,
95110, EE.UU. es la única responsable de la administración del Plan y que la participación del Trabajador y la adquisición de acciones
no constituye relación laboral alguna entre el Trabajador y la Empresa, en virtud de que el Trabajador está participando en el Plan en
términos de una relación de carácter comercial y que el Empleado no tiene relación de trabajo alguna con la Empresa. Basado en lo
anterior, el Trabajador expresamente reconoce que el Plan y los beneficios que podría obtener de su participación en el mismo,



no establecen ningún derecho entre Usted y su Patrón, que no forman parte de las condiciones de trabajo y/o beneficios otorgados por su
Patrón, y que cualquier modificación del Plan o la terminación del mismo no deberán constituir modificación u obstáculo alguno de los
términos y condiciones bajo los cuales se rige su relación de trabajo.

El Trabajador reconoce que su participación en el Plan es resultado de una decisión discrecional y unilateral de parte de la Empresa; en
tal virtud, la Empresa se reserva el derecho absoluto de modificar y/o cancelar la participación del Trabajador en el Plan en cualquier
momento sin responsabilidad alguna hacia el Trabajador.

Finalmente, el Trabajador expresamente declara que no se reserva acción legal ni derecho alguno que hacer valer en contra de la
Empresa por concepto de cualquier contraprestación por daños o perjuicios derivados de cualquier disposición contenida en el Plan o de
los beneficios derivados del Plan, por lo que el Trabajador en este acto otorga el finiquito más amplio disponible en derecho, a favor de la
Empresa, sus subsidiarias, afiliadas, accionistas, oficiales, agentes o representantes legales con respecto de cualquier reclamación.

Netherlands

There are no country-specific provisions.

Russia

Exchange Control Information. The Employee must repatriate certain cash amounts received with respect to the Restricted Stock Units,
including any dividend equivalents and proceeds from the sale of Shares that may be issued pursuant to the Restricted Stock Units, as soon as
the Employee intends to use those cash amounts for any purpose, including reinvestment. The sale proceeds received must be initially
credited to the Employee through a foreign currency account opened in the Employee’s name at an authorized bank in Russia. After the funds
are initially received in Russia, they may be further remitted to a foreign bank in accordance to Russian exchange control laws.

Under an express statutory exception to the repatriation rules, cash dividends paid on the Shares can be paid directly to a foreign bank or
brokerage account opened with a bank located in an OECD (Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development) or FATF (Financial
Action Task Force) country. Further, as of January 1, 2018, cash proceeds from the sale of shares listed on one of the foreign stock exchanges
on the list provided for by the Russian Federal law “On the Securities Market” can also be paid directly to a foreign bank or brokerage
account opened with a bank located in an OECD or FATF country. Other statutory exceptions may apply.

Russian exchange control requirements are subject to change at any time, often without notice. The Employee should consult the Employee’s
personal advisor before selling any Shares acquired under the Plan and remitting any sale proceeds to Russia, as significant penalties may
apply in the case of non-compliance with exchange control requirement.

Foreign Asset/Account Reporting. Russian residents may be required to notify the Russian tax authorities within one month of opening or
closing a foreign bank account, or of changing any account details. In addition, residents may be required to notify the Russian tax authorities
of foreign account balances as of the beginning of each calendar year; and from January 1, 2015, they also may need to report transactions
made through foreign accounts.



Securities Law Information. The Agreement, including Appendix A and Appendix B, the Plan and all other materials that the Employee may
receive regarding participation in the Plan do not constitute advertising or an offering of securities in Russia. The issuance of securities
pursuant to the Plan has not and will not be registered in Russia; hence, the securities described in any Plan-related documents may not be
used for offering or public circulation in Russia.

When the Employee acquires Shares upon vesting, the Shares will be held for the Employee in a U.S. brokerage account. The Employee will
not be permitted to request share certificates and hold the certificates in Russia. The Employee may sell his or her Shares on a U.S. stock
market, but is not permitted to sell shares in the Company directly to other Russian individuals.

U.S. Transaction. The Employee understands that his or her acceptance of the grant of Restricted Stock Units results in a contract between the
Employee and the Company completed in the United States and that the Agreement is governed by the laws of the State of California without
giving effect to the conflict of law principles thereof.

Labor Law Information. If the Employee continues to hold Shares after an involuntary termination of the Employee’s employment, the
Employee will not be eligible to receive unemployment benefits in Russia.

Data Privacy. The following provisions supplement paragraph 13 of Appendix A, and to the extent inconsistent, the below language for
Russia supersedes the language in paragraph 13 of Appendix A:

The Employee understands and agrees that the Company may require the Employee to complete and return a Consent to Processing of
Personal Data form (the “Consent”) to the Company. If a Consent is required by the Company but the Employee fails to provide such
Consent to the Company, the Employee understands and agrees that the Company will not be able to administer or maintain the Restricted
Stock Units or any other awards. Therefore, the Employee understands that refusing to complete any required Consent or withdrawing his or
her consent may affect the Employee’s ability to participate in the Plan. For more information on any required Consent or withdrawal of
consent, the Employee may contact the US. Human resources representative.

Anti-Corruption Information. Certain individuals who hold public office in Russia, as well as their spouses and dependent children, are
prohibited from opening or maintaining foreign brokerage or bank accounts and holding any securities, whether acquired directly or
indirectly, in a foreign company (including Shares acquired under the Plan).

Singapore

Sale of Shares. The Shares subject to the Restricted Stock Units will not be offered for sale in Singapore prior to the six-month anniversary of
the date of grant, unless such sale or offer is made pursuant to the exemptions under Part XIII Division (1) Subdivision (4) (other than section
280) of the Securities and Futures Act (Chap. 289, 2006 Ed.) (“SFA”).

Securities Law Information. The grant of Restricted Stock Units is being made pursuant to the “Qualifying Person” exemption under section
273(1)(f) of the SFA and is not made with a view to the Restricted Stock Units or underlying Shares being subsequently offered for sale to
any other party. The Plan has not been lodged or registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore.

Chief Executive Officer and Director Notification. If the Employee is the Chief Executive Officer or a director, associate director or shadow
director of a Singapore Subsidiary or affiliate of the Company, the Employee is subject to certain notification requirements under the
Singapore Companies Act. Among



these requirements is an obligation to notify the Singapore Subsidiary or affiliate in writing when the Employee receives an interest
(e.g., Restricted Stock Units) in the Company or any related companies. In addition, the Employee must notify the Singapore Subsidiary or
affiliate when the Employee sells Shares of the Company or any related company (including when the Employee sells Shares acquired under
the Plan). These notifications must be made within two days of acquiring or disposing of any interest in the Company or any related company.
In addition, a notification must be made of the Employee’s interests in the Company or any related company within two days of becoming the
Chief Executive Officer or a director, associate director or shadow director.

Spain

Labor Law Information. This provision supplements paragraph 10 of Appendix A:

In accepting the award, the Employee acknowledges that he or she consents to participation in the Plan and has received a copy of the Plan.
The Employee understands that the Company has unilaterally, gratuitously and discretionally decided to grant Restricted Stock Units under
the Plan to individuals who may be employees of the Company or a Parent, Subsidiary or affiliate of the Company throughout the world. The
decision is a limited decision that is entered into upon the express assumption and condition that any award will not economically or
otherwise bind the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or affiliates on an ongoing basis, other than as expressly set forth in the Agreement.
Consequently, the Employee understands that the Restricted Stock Units are granted on the assumption and condition that the Restricted
Stock Units or the Shares acquired pursuant to the Restricted Stock Units shall not become a part of any employment contract (either with the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries or affiliates) and shall not be considered a mandatory benefit, salary for any purposes (including severance
compensation) or any other right whatsoever. In addition, the Employee understands that this award would not be made to the Employee but
for the assumptions and conditions referred to above; thus, the Employee acknowledges and freely accepts that should any or all of the
assumptions be mistaken or should any of the conditions not be met for any reason, then this award shall be null and void.

The Employee understands and agrees that, unless otherwise provided by the Plan, the termination of the Employee’s status as a Service
Provider for any reason will automatically result in the forfeiture of unvested Restricted Stock Units in accordance with the provisions of the
Plan and the Agreement. In particular, the Employee understands and agrees that, unless otherwise expressly provided for by the Company,
vesting of the Restricted Stock Units will end if the Employee terminates employment by reason of, including, but not limited to: resignation,
retirement, disciplinary dismissal adjudged to be with cause, disciplinary dismissal adjudged or recognized to be without cause (i.e., subject
to a “despido imporcedente”), individual or collective layoff on objective grounds, whether adjudged to be with cause or adjudged or
recognized to be without cause, material modification of the terms of employment under Article 41 of the Workers’ Statute, relocation under
Article 40 of the Workers’ Statute, Article 50 of the Workers’ Statute, unilateral withdrawal by the Employer, and under Article 10.3 of Royal
Decree 1382/1985.

Exchange Control Information. Spanish residents must declare the acquisition, ownership and disposition of Shares to the Direccion General
de Comercio e Inversiones (the “DGCI”), a department of the Ministry of Industry, Tourism and Commerce. Generally, the declaration must
be made in January for Shares acquired or sold during (or owned as of December 31 of) the prior year; however, if the value of Shares
acquired or sold exceeds €1,502,530 (or the Spanish resident holds 10% or more of the share capital of the Company or such other amount
that would entitle him or her to join the Board), the declaration must be filed within one month of the acquisition or sale, as applicable.



Foreign Asset/Account Reporting. Spanish residents are required to electronically declare to the Bank of Spain any securities accounts
(including brokerage accounts held abroad), as well as the securities (including Shares acquired at vesting of the Restricted Stock Units) held
in such accounts, and any transactions carried out with non-residents, if the value of the transactions for all such accounts during the prior
year or the balances in such accounts as of December 31 of the prior year exceeds €1,000,000. More frequent reporting is required if such
transaction value or account balance exceeds €100,000,000. If neither the total balances nor total transactions with non-residents during the
relevant period exceeds €50,000,000, then a summarized form of declaration may be used.

In addition, Spanish residents must report assets or rights deposited or held outside of Spain (e.g., cash or Shares held in a bank or brokerage
account) to the Spanish tax authorities on their annual tax returns. This reporting obligation is based on the value of those rights and assets as
of December 31 and has a threshold of €50,000 per type of asset (bank account, Shares, real estate, etc.). After such assets or rights are
initially reported, the reporting obligation will apply for subsequent years only if the value of any previously-reported asset or right increases
by more than €20,000 or if the ownership of such asset or right is transferred or relinquished during the year.

Securities Law Information. The Restricted Stock Units and the Shares described in the Agreement do not qualify under Spanish regulations
as securities. No “offer of securities to the public,” as defined under Spanish law, has taken place or will take place in the Spanish territory.
The Agreement (including Appendix A and Appendix B) has not been nor will it be registered with the Comisión Nacional del Mercado de
Valores, and does not constitute a public offering prospectus.

Sweden

There are no country-specific terms and conditions.

Switzerland

Securities Law Information. The Restricted Stock Units are not intended to be publicly offered in or from Switzerland. The offer is considered
a private offering in Switzerland and is therefore not subject to registration in Switzerland. Neither this Agreement nor any other materials
relating to the Restricted Stock Units constitute a prospectus as such term is understood pursuant to article 652a of the Swiss Code of
Obligations, and neither this Agreement nor any other materials relating to the Restricted Stock Units may be publicly distributed or
otherwise made publicly available in Switzerland. Neither this Agreement nor any other materials relating to the Restricted Stock Units have
been or will be filed with, approved or supervised by any Swiss regulatory authority (in particular, the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory
Authority (FINMA)).

United Kingdom

Payment after Vesting. This provision supplements paragraph 6 of Appendix A:

Notwithstanding any discretion contained in Section 8(d) of the Plan, the grant of Restricted Stock Units does not provide any right for the
Employee to receive a cash payment and the Restricted Stock Units are payable in Shares only.

Tax Acknowledgment. Without limitation to paragraph 8 of Appendix A, the Employee hereby agrees that he or she is liable for all Tax-
Related Items and hereby covenants to pay all such Tax-Related Items as and when requested by the Company or the Employer or by Her
Majesty's Revenue and Customs ("HMRC") (or any other tax authority or any other relevant authority). The Employee also hereby agrees to



indemnify and keep indemnified the Company and the Employer against any Tax-Related Items that they are required to pay or withhold on
the Employee's behalf or have paid or will pay to HMRC (or any other tax authority or any other relevant authority).

QUANTUM CORPORATION 2012 LONG TERM INCENTIVE PLAN
Data Privacy Notice

We, Quantum Corporation, 224 Airport Parkway, Suite 550, San Jose, CA 95110, grant selected employees of our company and employees of
our subsidiary’s equity awards under Quantum’s 2012 Long Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), at our sole discretion.  Operating the Plan
necessitates certain collection and usage of personal data, as more fully explained below.

Data Collection and Usage. We, as data controller, collect, process and use personal data of participants, including, name, home address and
telephone number, date of birth, social insurance number or other identification number (as permitted under applicable law), salary,
citizenship, job title, any shares of stock or directorships held in the Quantum Corporation, and details of all purchase rights, canceled,
exercised, or outstanding in a participant's favor, which we receive directly from you or from your employer. If we offer you such an equity
award pursuant to the Plan, then we will collect your personal data for purposes of implementing, administering and managing the Plan.

The processing and sharing of your personal data for the above purposes is justified on the following legal bases: (i) the processing is
necessary for the performance of a contract to which you are a party, as participant, or in order to take steps at your request prior to entering
into such contract, (ii) the processing is necessary to comply with a legal obligation to which Quantum is subject, and (iii) the processing is
necessary for the purposes of our legitimate interests, such as implementing and offering stock and annual incentive plan for employees,
which are not overridden by your interests or fundamental rights and freedoms.

Stock Plan Administration Service Providers . Quantum Corporation transfers participant data to E*Trade Financial Services, Inc., a third-
party service provider based in the United States, acting on our behalf and as per our instructions, which assists us with the implementation,
administration and management of the Plan. In the future, we may select a different service provider and share your data with another
company that serves in a similar manner. Our service provider will open an account for you to receive and trade stock. You will be asked to
agree to separate terms and data processing practices with the service provider, which is a condition to your ability to participate in and
receive equity grants under our Plan.

International Data Transfers. We, Quantum Corporation, and our service providers are based in the USA. If you are outside the USA, you
should note that your country has enacted data privacy laws that are different from the United States and that the destination country may not
be recognized by the European Commission as offering an appropriate level of protection of personal data (no adequacy decision). In order to
ensure an adequate level of protection for data transfers to countries that are not subject to an adequacy decision, we implement appropriate
safeguards, including by way of certifying under the EU-US Privacy Shield [or by entering into Standard Contractual Clauses (2010/87/EU
and/or 2004/915/EC) as referred to in Art. 46 (5) GDPR] or other adequate data transfer mechanism. .For example, the European
Commission has issued a limited adequacy finding with respect to the USA that applies only to the extent companies register for the EU-U.S.
Privacy Shield program, which Quantum Corporation has joined. You may request a list with the names and addresses of any potential
recipients of your personal data, as well as a copy of the appropriate safeguards for the transfer, by contacting privacy@quantum.com.



Data Retention. We will use your personal data only as long as necessary to implement, administer and manage your participation in the Plan
or as required to comply with contractual, legal, or regulatory obligations, including under tax and securities laws. When we no longer need
your personal data, which will generally be 10 years after you participate in the Plan, we will remove it from our systems. If we keep data 10
years or longer after you participated in the Plan, it is to satisfy our business, legal, or regulatory obligations and the relevant contractual
obligations, laws, or regulations will form Quantum’s legal basis to do so.

Voluntariness and Consequences of Consent Denial or Withdrawal. Generally, the processing of your personal data is necessary for the
conclusion and/or implementation, administration and management of your participation in our Plan and you are required to provide your
personal data, except in limited instances when certain information is indicated as optional. Your refusal to provide your personal data may
prevent us from performing our contractual obligations and may affect your ability to participate to the Plan.
Your participation in our Plan is purely voluntary. This would not affect your salary as an employee or your career; you would merely forfeit
the opportunities associated with the Plan.

Data Subject Rights. You have a number of rights under data privacy laws in your country. Subject to the conditions set forth under data
privacy laws in your country, your rights may include the right to (a) request access or copies of personal data we process and hold about you,
(b) rectification of incorrect data, (c) deletion of data, (d) restrictions on processing, (e) portability of data, and/or (f) to lodge complaints with
competent authorities in your country. To receive clarification regarding your rights or to exercise your rights please contact us at
privacy@quantum.com.



 

Exhibit 10.5
QUANTUM CORPORATION

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT

FOR NON-U.S. EMPLOYEES

Quantum Corporation (the “Company”) hereby grants you, %%FIRST_NAME%-% %%LAST_NAME%-% (the “Employee”), the number
of Restricted Stock Units under the Company's 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) indicated below. Capitalized terms used and not
defined herein will have the meaning set forth in the Plan. Subject to the provisions of Appendix A, any special terms and provisions for your
country set forth in Appendix B and of the Plan, the principal features of this award are as follows:

Number of Restriced
Stock Units:  0 - %%TOTAL_SHARES_GRANTED%-%  
    

Vesting of Restricted
Stock Units:  

The Restricted Stock Units will vest upon achievement of both performance goals and time-based vesting requirements,
described in detail in Exhibit A.  

    

    

IMPORTANT:

By electronically accepting this award, you agree that this award is subject to all of the terms and conditions contained in Appendix A,
Appendix B and the Plan. For example, important additional information on vesting and forfeiture of the Restricted Stock Units covered by
this grant is contained in paragraphs 3 through 5 of Appendix A. Also, your acceptance of this award means that you agree that the Company
may use and transfer your personal information as described in paragraph 15 of Appendix A. PLEASE BE SURE TO READ ALL OF
APPENDIX A AND ANY PROVISIONS FOR YOUR COUNTRY SET FORTH IN APPENDIX B TO THIS RESTRICTED
STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT FOR NON-U.S. EMPLOYEES (THE “AGREEMENT”), WHICH, TOGETHER, CONTAIN THE
SPECIFIC TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THIS GRANT.

In addition, by accepting this award, you agree to the following: “This electronic contract contains my electronic signature, which I have
executed with the intent to sign this Agreement.” Please be sure to retain a copy of your electronically signed Agreement; you may obtain a
paper copy at any time and at the



Company’s expense by requesting one from the Company’s Stock Administration Department (see paragraph 13 below).

APPENDIX A
TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT GRANT AGREEMENT

FOR NON-U.S. EMPLOYEES

1. Grant. The Company hereby grants to the Employee under the Plan the number of Restricted Stock Units indicated on
the first page of this Agreement, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in the Agreement, including this Appendix A and any
special terms and conditions for the Employee’s country set forth in Appendix B, and the Plan. When Shares are paid to the Employee
in payment for the Restricted Stock Units, par value will be deemed paid by the Employee for each Restricted Stock Unit by past
services rendered by the Employee and will be subject to the appropriate tax withholdings.
2. Company’s Obligation to Pay. On any date, a Restricted Stock Unit has a value equal to the Fair Market Value of one Share.

Unless and until the Restricted Stock Units have vested in accordance with the Vesting Schedule set forth on the first page of this Agreement,
the Employee will have no right to payment of the Restricted Stock Units. Prior to actual payment of any vested Restricted Stock Units,
Restricted Stock Units represent an unsecured obligation of the Company, payable (if at all) only from the general assets of the Company.

3. Vesting Schedule. Except as provided in paragraph 4, and subject to paragraph 5, the Restricted Stock Units subject to this
grant will vest as to the number of Restricted Stock Units, and on the dates shown, on the first page of this Agreement, but in each case, only
if the Employee’s status as a Service Provider has not been interrupted, as further described in paragraph 5.

4. Administrator Discretion. The Administrator, in its discretion, may accelerate the vesting of all or a portion of the Restricted
Stock Units at any time, subject to the terms of the Plan. If so accelerated, such Restricted Stock Units will be considered as having been
earned (vested) as of the date specified by the Administrator. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan or this Agreement to the contrary, if the
vesting of the balance, or some lesser portion of the balance, of the Restricted Stock Units is accelerated in connection with the interruption
of the Employee’s status as a Service Provider (provided that such interruption is a “separation from service” within the meaning of Section
409A), as determined by the Company), other than due to death, and if (x) the Employee is a “specified employee” within the meaning of
Section 409A at the time of such interruption and (y) the payment of such accelerated Restricted Stock Units will result in the imposition of
additional tax under Section 409A if paid to the Employee on or within the six (6) month period following Employee’s “separation from
service” (within the meaning of Section 409A), then the payment of such accelerated Restricted Stock Units will not be made until the date
six (6) months and one (1) day following the date of such separation, unless the Employee dies during such six (6) month period, in which
case, the Restricted Stock Units will be paid to the Employee’s estate as soon as practicable following his or her death, subject to paragraph 8.
It is the intent of this Agreement to comply with the requirements of Section 409A so that none of the Restricted Stock Units provided under
this Agreement or Shares issuable thereunder will be subject to the additional tax imposed under Section 409A, and any ambiguities herein
will be interpreted to so comply. The Company and the Employee will cooperate diligently to amend the terms of this Agreement to avoid the
imposition of any taxes or penalties under Section 409A. Notwithstanding the foregoing, under no circumstances will the Company be
responsible for any taxes, penalties, interest or other losses or expenses incurred by the Employee due under Section 409A or any other law or
regulation. For purposes of this Agreement, “Section 409A” means Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the
“Code”), and any proposed, temporary or final Treasury Regulations and Internal Revenue Service guidance thereunder, as each may be
amended from time to time.



5. Forfeiture. Notwithstanding any contrary provision of this Agreement, the balance of the Restricted Stock Units that have not
vested pursuant to paragraphs 3 or 4 will be forfeited and cancelled automatically on the first to occur of (a) the date the Employee’s status as
a Service Provider is interrupted or (b) any Termination Date set forth on the first page of this Agreement.

For purposes of these Restricted Stock Units, the date the Employee’s status as a Service Provider is interrupted (regardless of the
reason for such interruption and whether or not later found to be invalid or in breach of labor laws or the terms of the Service Provider’s
employment or service agreement, if any) is the date that the Employee is no longer actively employed or actively rendering services and will
not be extended by any notice period mandated under local law. The Administrator shall have the exclusive discretion to determine when the
Employee is no longer actively employed or actively rendering services for purposes of these Restricted Stock Units (including whether the
Employee may still be considered to be actively rendering services while on leave of absence).

6. Payment after Vesting. Subject to paragraph 4, Restricted Stock Units that vest will be paid to the Employee (or in the
event of the Employee’s death, to his or her legal heirs) in Shares (which may be in electronic form) as soon as practicable following the
date of vesting, but in each such case no later than the date that is two-and-one-half months from the end of the Company’s tax year
that includes the vesting date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, and if permitted by the Administrator, the Employee may elect to defer
the payout of vested Restricted Stock Units by properly completing and submitting a Restricted Stock Unit Deferral Election to the
Company in accordance with the directions on the Election form and such rules and procedures as shall be determined by the
Administrator in its sole discretion, which rules and procedures shall comply with the requirements of Section 409A, unless otherwise
expressly determined by the Administrator.
7. Death of the Employee. Any distribution or delivery to be made to the Employee under this Agreement will, if the Employee

is then deceased, be made to the Employee’s legal heirs. Any such transferee must furnish the Company with (a) written notice of his or her
status as transferee, and (b) evidence satisfactory to the Company to establish the validity of the transfer and compliance with any laws or
regulations pertaining to said transfer.

8. Responsibility for Taxes. The Employee acknowledges that, regardless of any action the Company or, if different, the Parent
or Subsidiary employing the Employee (the “Employer”) takes with respect to any or all income tax, social insurance, fringe benefit tax,
payroll tax, payment on account or other tax-related items related to the Employee’s participation in the Plan and legally applicable to the
Employee (“Tax-Related Items”), the ultimate liability for all Tax-Related Items is and remains his or her responsibility and may exceed the
amount to be withheld by the Company or the Employer. The Employee further acknowledges that the Company and/or the Employer
(1) make no representations or undertakings regarding the treatment of any Tax-Related Items in connection with any aspect of the Restricted
Stock Units, including, but not limited to, the grant, vesting or settlement of the Restricted Stock Units, the issuance of Shares upon
settlement of the Restricted Stock Units, the subsequent sale of Shares acquired pursuant to such issuance and the receipt of any dividends;
and (2) do not commit to structure the terms of the grant or any aspect of the Restricted Stock Units to reduce or eliminate the Employee’s
liability for Tax-Related Items or achieve any particular tax result. Further, if the Employee is subject to tax in more than one jurisdiction, the
Employee acknowledges that the Company and/or the Employer (or former employer, as applicable) may be required to withhold or account
for Tax-Related Items in more than one jurisdiction.

If any tax withholding is required when Shares are issued as payment for vested Restricted Stock Units or, in the discretion of the
Company, at such earlier time as the Tax-Related Items are due, the Company will withhold a portion of the Shares that has an aggregate
market value sufficient to pay all Tax-Related Items. In addition and to the maximum extent permitted by law, the Company (or the
Employer) has the right to retain without notice from any fees, salary or other amounts payable to the Employee, cash having



a sufficient value to satisfy any Tax-Related Items that the Company determines cannot be satisfied through the withholding of otherwise
deliverable Shares or that are due prior to the issuance of Shares under the Restricted Stock Unit Award. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the
Company, in its sole discretion, may require the Employee to make alternate arrangements satisfactory to the Company for payment of such
Tax-Related Items before they arise.

To avoid negative tax consequences, if Tax-Related Items are satisfied by withholding in Shares otherwise issuable, the Company
may withhold or account for Tax-Related Items by considering applicable minimum statutory rates or other applicable withholding rates,
including maximum applicable rates, in which case the Employee will receive a refund of any over-withheld amount in cash and will have no
entitlement to the Share equivalent. In addition, if the obligation for Tax-Related Items is satisfied by withholding in Shares, the Employee is
deemed to have been issued the full number of Shares subject to the vested Restricted Stock Units, notwithstanding that a number of the
Shares are held back solely for the purpose of paying the Tax-Related Items due as a result of any aspect of the Restricted Stock Units.

Notwithstanding any contrary provision of this Agreement, no Shares will be issued unless and until satisfactory arrangements (as
determined by the Company) have been made by the Employee with respect to the payment of any Tax-Related Items that the Company
determines must be withheld or collected with respect to the Restricted Stock Units.

9. Rights as Stockholder. Neither the Employee nor any person claiming under or through the Employee will have any of
the rights or privileges of a stockholder of the Company in respect of any Shares deliverable hereunder unless and until certificates
representing such Shares have been issued, recorded on the records of the Company or its transfer agents or registrars, and delivered to
the Employee. Except as provided in paragraph 12, after such issuance, recordation, and delivery, the Employee will have all the rights
of a stockholder of the Company with respect to voting such Shares and receipt of dividends and distributions on such Shares.
10. Nature of Grant. In accepting the grant, the Employee understands, acknowledges and agrees that:

(a) the Plan is established voluntarily by the Company, it is discretionary in nature and it may be modified, amended,
suspended or terminated by the Company at any time, to the extent permitted by the Plan;

(b) the grant of the Restricted Stock Units is voluntary and occasional and does not create any contractual or other right to
receive future grants of Restricted Stock Units, or benefits in lieu of Restricted Stock Units, even if Restricted Stock Units have been granted
in the past;

(c) all decisions with respect to future Restricted Stock Units grants, if any, will be at the sole discretion of the Company;
(d) the Employee’s participation in the Plan shall not create a right to further employment with the Employer and shall not

interfere with the ability of the Employer to terminate the Employee’s employment relationship at any time;
(e) the Employee is voluntarily participating in the Plan;
(f) the Restricted Stock Units and the Shares subject to the Restricted Stock Units, and the income and value of same, are an

extraordinary item that does not constitute compensation of any kind for services of any kind rendered to the Company or the Employer, and
which is outside the scope of the Employee’s employment contract, if any;

(g) the Restricted Stock Units and the Shares subject to the Restricted Stock Units, and the income and value of same, are not
part of normal or expected compensation or salary for any purposes, including, but not limited to, calculating any severance, resignation,
termination, redundancy, dismissal, end of service payments, bonuses, long-service awards, pension or retirement or welfare benefits or
similar payments;



(h) unless otherwise agreed with the Company, the Restricted Stock Units and the Shares subject to the Restricted Stock Units,
and the income and value of same, are not granted as consideration for, or in connection with, the service the Employee may provide as a
director of a Parent, Subsidiary or affiliate of the Company;

(i) the grant of the Restricted Stock Units and the Employee’s participation in the Plan will not be interpreted to form an
employment contract or relationship with the Company or any Parent, Subsidiary or affiliate of the Company;

(j) the future value of the underlying Shares is unknown, indeterminable and cannot be predicted with certainty;
(k) no claim or entitlement to compensation or damages shall arise from forfeiture of the Restricted Stock Units resulting from

the termination of the Employee’s status as a Service Provider (for any reason whatsoever, whether or not later found to be invalid or in
breach of employment laws in the jurisdiction where the Employee is employed or the terms of the Employee’s employment or service
agreement, if any), and in consideration of the grant of the Restricted Stock Units to which the Employee is otherwise not entitled, the
Employee irrevocably agrees never to institute any claim against the Company, the Employer or any other Parent, Subsidiary or affiliate of
the Company, waives the Employee’s ability, if any, to bring any such claim, and releases the Company, the Employer and any other Parent,
Subsidiary or affiliate of the Company from any such claim; if, notwithstanding the foregoing, any such claim is allowed by a court of
competent jurisdiction, then, by participating in the Plan, the Employee shall be deemed irrevocably to have agreed not to pursue such claim
and agree to execute any and all documents necessary to request dismissal or withdrawal of such claim;

(l) unless otherwise provided in the Plan or by the Company in its discretion, the Restricted Stock Units and the benefits
evidenced by this Agreement do not create any entitlement to have the Restricted Stock Units or any such benefits transferred to, or assumed
by, another company nor to be exchanged, cashed out or substituted for, in connection with any corporate transaction affecting the Shares;
and

(m) neither the Company, the Employer nor any other Parent, Subsidiary or affiliate of the Company shall be liable for any
foreign exchange rate fluctuation between the Employee’s local currency and the United States Dollar that may affect the value of the
Restricted Stock Units or of any amounts due to the Employee pursuant to the settlement of the Restricted Stock Units or the subsequent sale
of any Shares acquired upon settlement.

11. No Advice Regarding Grant.
(n) the Company is not providing any tax, legal or financial advice, nor is the Company making any recommendations

regarding the Employee’s participation in the Plan, or the Employee’s acquisition or sale of the underlying Shares; and
(o) the Employee is hereby advised to consult with his or her own personal tax, legal and financial advisors regarding his or her

participation in the Plan before taking any action related to the Plan.
12. Changes in Shares. In the event that as a result of a stock dividend, stock split, reclassification, recapitalization,

combination of Shares or the adjustment in capital stock of the Company or otherwise, or as a result of a merger, consolidation, spin-off
or other reorganization, the Restricted Stock Units will be increased, reduced or otherwise changed, and by virtue of any such change
the Employee will in his capacity as owner of unvested Restricted Stock Units which have been awarded to him (the “Prior Units”) be
entitled to new or additional or different restricted stock units, cash, or securities (other than rights or warrants to purchase securities),
such new or additional or different restricted stock units, cash, or securities will thereupon be considered to be unvested Restricted
Stock Units and will be subject to all of the conditions and restrictions which were applicable to the Prior Units pursuant to this
Agreement and the Plan. If the Employee receives rights or warrants with respect to any Prior Units, such rights or warrants may be
held or exercised by the Employee, provided that until such exercise any such rights or warrants and after such exercise any shares or
other securities acquired by the exercise of such rights or warrants will be considered to be unvested



Restricted Stock Units and will be subject to all of the conditions and restrictions which were applicable to the Prior Units pursuant to
the Plan and this Agreement. The Administrator in its absolute discretion at any time may accelerate the vesting of all or any portion of
such new or additional units, cash or securities, rights or warrants to purchase securities or shares or other securities acquired by the
exercise of such rights or warrants.
13. Address for Notices. Any notice to be given to the Company under the terms of this Agreement will be addressed to the

Company, in care of the Company’s Stock Administration Department, at Quantum Corporation, 224 Airport Parkway, Suite 550, San Jose,
CA 95110, or at such other address as the Company may hereafter designate in writing.

14. Grant is Not Transferable. Except to the limited extent provided in paragraph 7 above, this grant and the rights and
privileges conferred hereby will not be transferred, assigned, pledged or hypothecated in any way (whether by operation of law or otherwise)
and will not be subject to sale under execution, attachment or similar process. Upon any attempt to transfer, assign, pledge, hypothecate or
otherwise dispose of this grant, or any right or privilege conferred hereby, or upon any attempted sale under any execution, attachment or
similar process, this grant and the rights and privileges conferred hereby immediately will become null and void.

15. Data Privacy Notice. The Company, as data controller, hereby informs the Employee about the collection, use and
transfer, in electronic or other form, of the Employee’s personal data as described in this Agreement and any other Restricted Stock Unit
grant materials and about the sharing of such personal data by and among, as applicable, the Company, the Employer and/or any other
Parent, Subsidiary or affiliate of the Company (as identified in Appendix B) for the purpose of implementing, administering and
managing the Employee’s participation in the Plan.

The Employee understands that the Company may hold certain personal data about the Employee, including, but not limited to, the
Employee’s name, home address and telephone number, email address, date of birth, social insurance number, passport or other
identification number (e.g., resident registration number) as permitted under applicable law, salary, nationality, job title, any Shares or
directorships held in the Company, details of all Restricted Stock Units or any other entitlement to Shares or equivalent benefits awarded,
canceled, exercised, vested, unvested or outstanding in the Employee’s favor (“Data”), for the purpose of implementing, administering
and managing employee management, compensation, and benefits programs, including the Plan.

In most cases, the Company collects the Data directly from the Employee, although sometimes they may obtain it from
alternative sources such as the Employer.

The processing and sharing of the Employee’s personal data for the above purposes is justified on the following legal bases: (i)
the processing is necessary for the performance of a contract to which the Employee is a party or in order to take steps at the Employee’s
request prior to entering into such contract, (ii) the processing is necessary to comply with a legal obligation to which the Company is
subject to, and (iii) the processing is necessary for the purposes of the legitimate interests of the Company or of a third party, such as
implementing and offering stock and annual incentive plan, which are not overridden by the Employee’s interests or fundamental rights
and freedoms.

The Employee understands that Data will be transferred to E*Trade Financial Services, Inc. and any entity controlled by,
controlling, or under common control with E*Trade Financial Services, Inc. (“eTrade’s affiliates”; and together with E*Trade Financial
Services, Inc., “eTrade”), or such other stock plan service provider as may be selected by the Company in the future, acting on behalf and
under the instructions of the Company, which is assisting the Company with the implementation, administration and management of the
Plan. The Employee understands that the recipients of Data may be located in the United States or in other countries], and that the
recipients’ country (e.g., the



United States) may have different data privacy laws and protections than the Employee’s country that may not be recognized by the
European Commission as offering an adequate level of protection of personal data (no adequacy decision). In order to ensure an
adequate level of protection for data transfers to countries that are not subject to an adequacy decision, the Company implements
appropriate safeguards, including by way of certifying under the EU-US Privacy Shield or by entering into Standard Contractual Clauses
(2010/87/EU and/or 2004/915/EC) as referred to in Art. 46 (5) GDPR or other adequate data transfer mechanism. The Employee
understands that he or she may request a list with the names and addresses of any potential recipients of the Data, as well as a copy of the
appropriate safeguards for the transfer, by contactingprivacy@quantum.com. The Employee understands that Data will be held only as
long as is necessary to implement, administer and manage the Employee’s participation in the Plan, and for up to [10[ years after the end
of the Employees’ participation in the Plan.

The Employee understands that, subject to the conditions set forth under applicable data protection law, the Employee may exercise
his/her rights to request access to Data that the Company and the Employer hold about him/her, to request the rectification or erasure of
any inaccurate Data, to object, on grounds relating to his or her particular situation, to the processing of his/her Data, to request the
restriction of processing, as well as data portability, by contacting in writing privacy@quantum.com. The Employee also has the right to
lodge a complaint with the competent supervisory authority.

Generally, the processing of the Data is necessary for the conclusion and/or performance of the Plan and the Employee is required
to provide his or her Data, except in limited instances when the Company indicates that certain information is optional. If the requested
Data is not provided, the Company may be unable to manage participation of the Employee in the Plan.

Finally, the Employee understands that, only if required for compliance with the data privacy laws in the Employee's country of residence,
the Company will distribute a separate data privacy consent form to be executed by the Employee, either now or in the future. The
Employee understands that participation in the Plan may not be possible if the Employee does not execute such separate data privacy
consent form.

16. Restrictions on Sale of Securities. The Shares issued as payment for vested Restricted Stock Units under this
Agreement will be registered under U.S. federal securities laws and will be freely tradable upon receipt. However, an Employee’s
subsequent sale of the Shares may be subject to any market blackout-period that may be imposed by the Company and must comply
with the Company’s insider trading policies, and any other applicable securities laws.
17. Binding Agreement. Subject to the limitation on the transferability of this grant contained herein, this Agreement will be

binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, legatees, legal representatives, successors, and assigns of the parties hereto.
18. Additional Conditions to Issuance of Certificates for Shares. The Company shall not be required to issue any certificate or

certificates (which may be in book entry form) for Shares payable under this Agreement prior to fulfillment of all of the following conditions:
(a) the admission of such Shares to listing on all stock exchanges on which such class of stock is then listed; (b) the completion of any
registration or other qualification of such Shares under any U.S. state or federal law or under the rulings or regulations of the Securities and
Exchange Commission or any other governmental regulatory body, which the Administrator, in its sole discretion, will have determined to be
necessary or advisable; (c) the obtaining of any approval or other clearance from any U.S. state or federal governmental agency, which the
Administrator, in its sole discretion, will have determined to be necessary or advisable; and (d) the lapse of such reasonable



period of time following the vesting date of the Restricted Stock Units, as the Administrator may establish from time to time, for reasons of
administrative convenience.

19. Electronic Delivery and Acceptance . The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any documents related to
this or future grants of Restricted Stock Units by electronic means or to request the Employee’s consent to participate in the Plan by electronic
means. The Employee hereby consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and, if requested, to accept this or future grants of
Restricted Stock Units through an on-line or electronic system established and maintained by the Company or a third party designated by the
Company.

20. Plan Governs. This Agreement is subject to all terms and provisions of the Plan. In the event of a conflict between one or
more provisions of this Agreement and one or more provisions of the Plan, the provisions of the Plan will govern.

21. Administrator Authority. The Administrator will have the power to interpret the Plan and this Agreement and to adopt such
rules for the administration, interpretation, and application of the Plan as are consistent therewith and to interpret or revoke any such rules
(including, but not limited to, the determination of whether or not any Restricted Stock Units have vested). All actions taken and all
interpretations and determinations made by the Administrator in good faith will be final and binding upon the Employee, the Company, and
all other interested persons. No person acting as the Administrator will be personally liable for any action, determination, or interpretation
made in good faith with respect to the Plan or this Agreement.

22. Captions. Captions provided herein are for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for interpretation or construction
of this Agreement.

23. Agreement Severable. In the event that any provision in this Agreement will be held invalid or unenforceable, such
provision will be severable from, and such invalidity or unenforceability will not be construed to have any effect on, the remaining provisions
of this Agreement.

24. Modifications to the Agreement. This Agreement, together with the Employee’s Change of Control Agreement (or any
similar severance or change of control arrangement), constitute the entire understanding of the parties on the subjects covered. The Employee
expressly warrants that he or she is not accepting this Agreement in reliance on any promises, representations, or inducements other than
those contained in the documents described in the preceding sentence. Notwithstanding the preceding, the Change of Control Agreement
shall apply to this Award only to the extent provided in Exhibit A. Modifications to this Agreement or the Plan may be made only in an
express written agreement executed by a duly authorized officer of the Company. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan or this
Agreement, the Company reserves the right to revise this Agreement as it deems necessary or advisable, in its sole discretion and without the
consent of the Employee, to comply with Section 409A or to otherwise avoid imposition of any additional tax or income recognition under
Section 409A in connection with these Restricted Stock Units (including settlement or payment thereof), provided that no such revision may
materially reduce the economic benefits provided or intended to be provided under this Agreement.

25. Language. If the Employee has received this Agreement or any other document related to the Plan translated into a language
other than English and if the meaning of the translated version is different than the English version, the English version will control.

26. Appendix. Notwithstanding any provisions in this Agreement, the Restricted Stock Unit grant shall be subject to any special
terms and conditions set forth in any Appendix B to this Agreement for the Employee’s country. Moreover, if the Employee relocates to one
of the countries included in Appendix B, the special terms and conditions for such country will apply to the Employee, to the extent the
Company determines that the application of such terms and conditions is necessary or advisable for legal or administrative reasons. Appendix
B constitutes part of this Agreement.

27. Imposition of Other Requirements. The Company reserves the right to impose other requirements on the Employee’s
participation in the Plan, or the Restricted Stock Units and on any Shares acquired under the Plan, to the extent the Company determines it is
necessary or advisable for legal or



administrative reasons, and to require the Employee to sign any additional agreements or undertakings that may be necessary to accomplish
the foregoing.

28. Amendment, Suspension or Termination of the Plan. By accepting this award, the Employee expressly warrants that he or
she has received a right to an equity based award under the Plan, and has received, read, and understood a description of the Plan. The
Employee understands that the Plan is discretionary in nature and may be modified, suspended, or terminated by the Company at any time.

29. Notice of Governing Law. This award shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of
California, without regard to principles of conflict of laws.

For purposes of litigating any dispute that arises directly or indirectly from the relationship of the parties evidenced by this grant
or the Agreement, the parties hereby submit to and consent to the exclusive jurisdiction of the State of California in United States of America,
and agree that such litigation shall be conducted only in the courts of Santa Clara County, California, or the federal courts for the United
States for the Northern District of California, and in no other courts, where this grant is made and/or to be performed.

30. Waiver. The Employee acknowledges that a waiver by the Company of breach of any provision of this Agreement
shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of any other provision of this Agreement, or of any subsequent breach by the Employee or
any other grantee.
31. Insider Trading Restrictions/Market Abuse Laws . The Employee acknowledges that, depending on his or her country, the

Employee may be subject to insider trading restrictions and/or market abuse laws, which may affect his or her ability to acquire or sell Shares
or rights to Shares under the Plan during such times as the Employee is considered to have “inside information” regarding the Company (as
defined by local laws in the Employee’s country). Any restrictions under these laws or regulations are separate from and in addition to any
restrictions that may be imposed under any applicable Company insider trading policy. The Employee acknowledges that it is the Employee’s
responsibility to comply with any applicable restrictions, and the Employee is advised to speak to his or her personal advisor on this matter.

32. Foreign Asset/Account Reporting; Exchange Controls. The Employee acknowledges that the Employee’s country may have
certain foreign asset and/or account reporting requirements and/or exchange controls which may affect the Employee’s ability to acquire or
hold Shares under the Plan or cash received from participating in the Plan (including from any dividends received or sale proceeds arising
from the sale of Shares) in a brokerage or bank account outside the Employee’s country. The Employee may be required to report such
accounts, assets or transactions to the tax or other authorities in his or her country. The Employee also may be required to repatriate sale
proceeds or other funds received as a result of the Employee’s participation in the Plan to his or her country through a designated bank or
broker and/or within a certain time after receipt. The Employee further acknowledges that it is the Employee’s responsibility to be compliant
with such regulations, and the Employee should consult his or her personal legal advisor for any details.

o O o

APPENDIX B - COUNTRY- SPECIFIC TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for Non-U.S.
Employees, Appendix A or the Plan.

This Appendix B includes additional terms and conditions that govern the Restricted Stock Units granted to the Employee if the Employee
works and/or resides in one of the countries listed herein. If the Employee is a citizen or resident of a country other than the one in which the
Employee is currently working and/or residing, is considered a resident of another country for local law purposes or transfers employment
and/or residency between countries after the date of grant, the Company shall, in its sole discretion, determine to



what extent the additional terms and conditional included herein will apply to the Employee under these circumstances.

This Appendix B also includes information regarding exchange controls and certain other issues of which the Employee should be aware with
respect to his or her participation in the Plan. The information is based on the securities, exchange control, income tax and other laws in effect
in the respective countries as of May 2017. Such laws are often complex and change frequently. As a result, the Company strongly
recommends that the Employee not rely on the information noted herein as the only source of information relating to the consequences of the
Employee’s participation in the Plan because the information may be out of date at the time the Employee vests in Restricted Stock Units,
acquires Shares or sells Shares acquired under the Plan.

In addition, the information is general in nature and may not apply to the Employee’s particular situation, and the Company is not in a
position to assure the Employee of any particular result. Accordingly, the Employee is advised to seek appropriate professional advice as to
how the relevant laws in the Employee’s country may apply to his or her situation.

If the Employee is a citizen or resident of a country other than the one in which the Employee is currently working and/or residing, is
considered a resident of another country for local law purposes or transfers employment after the Restricted Stock Units are granted but prior
to vesting of the Restricted Stock Units, the information contained herein may not be applicable in the same manner to the Employee.

Australia

Compliance with Laws. Notwithstanding anything in the Agreement to the contrary, you will not be entitled to, and shall not claim, any
benefit under the Plan if the provision of such benefit would give rise to a breach of Part 2D.2 of the Corporations Act 2001 (Cth), any other
provision of that Act, or any other applicable statute, rule or regulation which limits or restricts the giving of such benefits. Further, the
Employer is under no obligation to seek or obtain the approval of its shareholders in general meeting for the purpose of overcoming any such
limitation or restriction.

Exchange Control Information. Exchange control reporting is required for cash transactions exceeding AUD10,000 and for international fund
transfers. If an Australian bank is assisting with the transaction, the bank will file the report on behalf of the Employee.

Tax Information. The Plan is a plan to which Subdivision 83A-C of the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 (Cth) applies (subject to
conditions in the Act).

Belgium

Employer. The Employer in Belgium is Quantum Storage Belgium BV, Ottergemsesteenweg Zuid 803, 4th Floor, Gent, Belgium, 9000.

Foreign Asset/Account Reporting. Belgium residents must report any bank accounts opened and maintained outside of Belgium on their
annual tax returns. In a separate report, Belgian residents must provide the National Bank of Belgium with certain details regarding such
foreign accounts (including the account number, bank name and country in which such account was opened). This report, as well as
additional information on how to complete it, can be found on the website of the National Bank of Belgium at www.nbb.be, under the
Kredietcentrales / Centrales des crédits caption.

Stock Exchange Tax. From January 1, 2017, a stock exchange tax applies to transactions executed by a Belgian resident through a non-
Belgian financial intermediary, such as a U.S. broker. The stock exchange



tax (currently at a rate of 0.35% with a cap of EUR 1,600 per single transaction) likely will apply when the Shares are sold. The Employee
should consult with his or her personal tax advisor for additional details on his or her obligations with respect to the stock exchange tax.

Dividends. Once the Employee becomes a shareholder at vesting, he may receive dividends if the Company decides to distribute a dividend.
If the Employee receives dividends, he will be subject to US withholding tax and, possibly, Belgian personal income tax. The Belgian tax
treatment will depend on whether or not a Belgian withholding tax is applied and on the level of the Employee's overall dividend income. The
Employee should consult with his or her personal tax advisor for additional details on his or her obligations with respect to dividends.

Withholding and reporting. With respect to units vested as from January 1, 2019 a Belgian employer has a reporting obligation through the
annual fiscal voucher 281.10. With respect to units vested as from March 1, 2019 a Belgian employer has a withholding obligation.

Brazil

Compliance with Law. By accepting the Restricted Stock Units, the Employee acknowledges that the Employee agrees to comply with
applicable Brazilian laws and report and pay any and all applicable taxes associated with the vesting of the Restricted Stock Units and the
sale of Shares acquired under the Plan.

Nature of Grant. This provision supplements paragraph 9 of Appendix A:

By accepting the Restricted Stock Units, the Employee agrees that he or she is (i) making an investment decision, (ii) the Shares will be
issued to the Employee only if the vesting conditions are met, and (iii) the value of the underlying Shares is not fixed and may increase or
decrease in value over the vesting period without compensation to the Employee.

Foreign Asset/Account Reporting. Brazilian residents must submit annually a declaration of assets and rights held outside of Brazil to the
Central Bank of Brazil if the aggregate value of such assets and rights equals or exceeds US$100,000. If the aggregate value of such assets
and rights exceeds US$100,000,000, Brazilian residents will be required to make such declarations on a quarterly basis. Assets and rights that
must be reported include Shares. Foreign individuals holding Brazilian visas are considered Brazilian residents for purposes of this reporting
requirement and must declare at least the assets held abroad that were acquired subsequent to the date of admittance as a resident of Brazil.

Tax on Financial Transactions. If Brazilian residents repatriate the proceeds from the sale of Shares or receipt of any cash dividends and
convert the funds into local currency, they may be subject to the Tax on Financial Transactions.

Canada

Payment after Vesting. This provision supplements paragraph 6 of Appendix A:

Notwithstanding any discretion contained in Section 8(d) of the Plan, the grant of Restricted Stock Units does not provide any right for the
Employee to receive a cash payment and the Restricted Stock Units are payable in Shares only.

Involuntary Termination of Service. The following provision supplements paragraph 5 of Appendix A:



For purposes of these Restricted Stock Units, the Employee’s status as a Service Provider is interrupted (regardless of the reason for such
termination and whether or not later found to be invalid or in breach of local labor laws or the terms of the Employee’s employment or service
agreement, if any) effective as of the date that is the earlier of (1) the date on which the Employee’s status as a Service Provider is
terminated; or (2) the date the Employee receives written notice of termination of his or her status as a Service Provider; or (3) the date the
Employee is no longer actively providing services, regardless of any notice period or period of pay in lieu of such notice required under local
law (including, but not limited to, statutory law, regulatory law and/or common law). The Administrator shall have the exclusive discretion to
determine when the Employee is no longer actively providing services for purposes of the Restricted Stock Units (including whether the
Employee may still be considered to be actively rendering services while on leave of absence).

Securities Law Notification. The employee may not be permitted to sell within Canada the Shares acquired under the Plan. The employee
may only be permitted to sell Shares acquired under the Plan through the designated broker appointed under the Plan, if any, provided the
resale of Shares acquired under the Plan takes place outside of Canada through the facilities of a stock exchange on which the Shares are
listed. Currently the Shares are listed on the New York Stock Exchange in the United States of America.

Foreign Asset/Account Reporting. Foreign specified property, including Shares, Restricted Stock Units, and other rights to receive shares
(e.g., stock options) of a non-Canadian company held by a Canadian resident must generally be reported annually on a Form T1135 (Foreign
Income Verification Statement) if the total cost of his or her foreign specified assets exceeds C$100,000 at any time during the year. Thus,
such Restricted Stock Units must be reported (generally at a nil cost) if the C$100,000 cost threshold is exceeded because other foreign
specified property is held by the Canadian resident. When Shares are acquired pursuant to the Restricted Stock Units, their cost generally is
the adjusted cost base (“ACB”) of the Shares. The ACB ordinarily is equal to the fair market value of the Shares at the time of acquisition,
but if the Employee owns other Shares, this ACB may have to be averaged with the ACB of the other Shares.

The following provisions apply if the Employee is a resident of Quebec:

Language Consent. The parties acknowledge that it is their express wish that the Agreement, as well as all documents, notices and legal
proceedings entered into, given or instituted pursuant hereto or relating directly or indirectly hereto, be drawn up in English.

Les parties reconnaissent avoir exigé la rédaction en anglais de la convention, ainsi que de tous documents, avis et procédures judiciaires,
exécutés, donnés ou intentés en vertu de, ou liés directement ou indirectement à, la présente convention.

Data Privacy. The following provision supplements paragraph 13 of Appendix A:

The Employee hereby authorizes the Company and the Company’s representatives to discuss and obtain all relevant information from all
personnel, professional or non-professional, involved in the administration of the Plan. The Employee further authorizes the Company, the
Employer and/or any other Parent, Subsidiary or affiliate of the Company to record such information and to keep such information in the
Employee’s employment file.

France

Language Consent. By accepting the grant of Restricted Stock Units and this Agreement, including Appendix A and Appendix B, which
provides for the terms and conditions of the Restricted Stock Units, the Employee



confirms having read and understood the documents relating to this Award (the Plan and this Agreement) which were provided in the English
language. The Employee accepts the terms of those documents accordingly.

Consentement relatif à la langue utilisée. En acceptant l’attribution d’Actions Attribuées et ce Contrat, y compris l’Annexe A et Annexe B,
qui contient les termes et conditions de les Actions Attribuées, le Bénéficiare confirme avoir lu et compris les documents relatifs à cette
attribution (le Plan et ce Contrat) qui ont été transmis en langue anglaise. Le Bénéficiare accepte ainsi les conditions et termes de ces
documents.

Foreign Asset/Account Reporting. French residents must declare all cash or Shares held outside of France and any foreign bank and
brokerage accounts (including any accounts that were opened or closed during the tax year) on an annual basis on form No. 3916, together
with their income tax return. Further, French residents with foreign account balances exceeding €1,000,000 may have additional monthly
reporting obligations..

Germany

Exchange Control Information. Cross-border payments in excess of €12,500 must be reported monthly to the German Federal Bank. The
German Federal Bank no longer accepts paper reports; all reports must be filed electronically using the “General Statistics Reporting Portal”
(Allgemeines Meldeportal Statistik) on the German Federal Bank’s website: www.bundesbank.de. In the event that German residents make or
receive a payment in excess of this amount, they are responsible for complying with applicable reporting requirements.

Japan

Foreign Asset/Account Reporting. Japanese residents are required to report details of any assets (including any Shares acquired under the
Plan) held outside of Japan as of December 31st of each year, to the extent such assets have a total net fair market value exceeding
¥50,000,000. The Employee should consult his or her personal tax advisor as to whether the reporting obligation applies to the Employee and
whether the Employee will be required to include details of any cash, outstanding Restricted Stock Units or Shares held by the Employee in
the report.

Korea

Exchange Control Information.  Exchange control laws require Korean residents who realize US$500,000 or more from the sale of Shares or
receipt of dividends in a single transaction to repatriate the proceeds to Korea within three years of the sale/receipt.

Foreign Asset/Account Reporting. Korean residents are required to declare all foreign financial accounts (i.e., non-Korean bank accounts,
brokerage accounts, etc.) to the Korean tax authority and file a report with respect to such accounts if the monthly balance exceeds a certain
limit (currently KRW 1 billion or an equivalent amount in foreign currency) on any month-end date during a calendar year. The Employee
should consult with his or her personal tax advisor to determine whether reporting is required with respect to the Employee’s foreign accounts
and how to value such accounts for purposes of this reporting requirement.

Mexico

Acknowledgement of the Agreement. In accepting the Restricted Stock Units granted hereunder, the Employee acknowledges that the
Employee has received a copy of the Plan, has reviewed the Plan and the Agreement, including Appendix A and Appendix B, in their entirety
and fully understands and accepts all provisions of the Plan and the Agreement, including Appendix A and Appendix B. The Employee
further



acknowledges that the Employee has read and specifically and expressly approves the terms and conditions of paragraph 10 of Appendix A,
in which the following is clearly described and established:

(1) The Employee’s participation in the Plan does not constitute an acquired
right.

(2) The Plan and the Employee’s participation in the Plan are offered by the Company on a wholly discretionary
basis.

(3) The Employee’s participation in the Plan is
voluntary.

(4) The Company or any Subsidiaries or affiliates of the Company are not responsible for any decrease in the value of the Restricted
Stock Units or Shares issued under the Plan.

Labor Law Acknowledgement and Policy Statement. In accepting any Restricted Stock Units granted hereunder, the Employee expressly
recognizes that the Company, with registered offices at 224 Airport Parkway, Suite 300, San Jose, California, 945110, U.S.A., is solely
responsible for the administration of the Plan and that the Employee’s participation in the Plan and acquisition of Shares do not constitute an
employment relationship between the Employee and the Company since the Employee is participating in the Plan on a wholly commercial
basis and the Employee is not employed by the Company. Based on the foregoing, the Employee expressly recognizes that the Plan and the
benefits that the Employee may derive from participation in the Plan do not establish any rights between the Employee and the Employee’s
employer; do not form part of the employment conditions and/or benefits provided by the Employee’s employer; and any modification of the
Plan or its termination shall not constitute a change or impairment of the terms and conditions of the Employee’s employment.

The Employee further understands that the Employee’s participation in the Plan is as a result of a unilateral and discretionary decision of the
Company; therefore, the Company reserves the absolute right to amend and/or discontinue the Employee’s participation in the Plan at any
time without any liability to the Employee.

Finally, the Employee hereby declares that the Employee does not reserve any action or right to bring any claim against the Company for any
compensation or damages regarding any provision of the Plan or the benefits derived under the Plan, and the Employee therefore grants a full
and broad release to the Company and its Subsidiaries, affiliates, shareholders, officers, agents or legal representatives with respect to any
claim that may arise.

Spanish Translation

Reconocimiento del acuerdo. Al aceptar las Unidades de Acciones Restringidas, el Trabajador reconoce que ha recibido una copia del
Plan, que ha revisado el Plan y el Contrato, incluyendo el Anexo A y Anexo B en su integridad y acepta y reconoce los términos y
condiciones del Plan y los Anexos A y B. El Empleado reconoce que ha leído y expresamente aprueba los términos y condiciones de la
sección 10 del Anexo A en el que se establece claramente lo siguiente:

(1) La participación del Empleado en el Plan no constituye un derecho
adquirido.

(2) El Plan y la participación en el Plan, se ofrecen por la Empresa en forma totalmente
discrecional.

(3) La participación del Empleado en el Plan es totalmente
voluntaria.

(4) La Empresa y cualquier subsidiaria o afiliada no son responsables por cualquier detrimento en el valor de las Unidades de
Acciones Restringidas o Acciones emitidas en términos del Plan.

Legislación Laboral y Establecimiento de la Política: Al aceptar cualquier Unidad de Acciones Restringidas que sean emitidas, el
Empleado expresamente reconoce que la Empresa, con domicilio registrado en 224 Airport Parkway, Suite 300, San Jose California,
95110, EE.UU. es la única responsable de la administración del Plan y que la participación del Trabajador y la adquisición de acciones
no



constituye relación laboral alguna entre el Trabajador y la Empresa, en virtud de que el Trabajador está participando en el Plan en
términos de una relación de carácter comercial y que el Empleado no tiene relación de trabajo alguna con la Empresa. Basado en lo
anterior, el Trabajador expresamente reconoce que el Plan y los beneficios que podría obtener de su participación en el mismo, no
establecen ningún derecho entre Usted y su Patrón, que no forman parte de las condiciones de trabajo y/o beneficios otorgados por su
Patrón, y que cualquier modificación del Plan o la terminación del mismo no deberán constituir modificación u obstáculo alguno de los
términos y condiciones bajo los cuales se rige su relación de trabajo.

El Trabajador reconoce que su participación en el Plan es resultado de una decisión discrecional y unilateral de parte de la Empresa; en
tal virtud, la Empresa se reserva el derecho absoluto de modificar y/o cancelar la participación del Trabajador en el Plan en cualquier
momento sin responsabilidad alguna hacia el Trabajador.

Finalmente, el Trabajador expresamente declara que no se reserva acción legal ni derecho alguno que hacer valer en contra de la
Empresa por concepto de cualquier contraprestación por daños o perjuicios derivados de cualquier disposición contenida en el Plan o de
los beneficios derivados del Plan, por lo que el Trabajador en este acto otorga el finiquito más amplio disponible en derecho, a favor de la
Empresa, sus subsidiarias, afiliadas, accionistas, oficiales, agentes o representantes legales con respecto de cualquier reclamación.

Netherlands

There are no country-specific provisions.

Russia

Exchange Control Information. The Employee must repatriate certain cash amounts received with respect to the Restricted Stock Units,
including any dividend equivalents and proceeds from the sale of Shares that may be issued pursuant to the Restricted Stock Units, as soon as
the Employee intends to use those cash amounts for any purpose, including reinvestment. The sale proceeds received must be initially
credited to the Employee through a foreign currency account opened in the Employee’s name at an authorized bank in Russia. After the funds
are initially received in Russia, they may be further remitted to a foreign bank in accordance to Russian exchange control laws.

Under an express statutory exception to the repatriation rules, cash dividends paid on the Shares can be paid directly to a foreign bank or
brokerage account opened with a bank located in an OECD (Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development) or FATF (Financial
Action Task Force) country. Further, as of January 1, 2018, cash proceeds from the sale of shares listed on one of the foreign stock exchanges
on the list provided for by the Russian Federal law “On the Securities Market” can also be paid directly to a foreign bank or brokerage
account opened with a bank located in an OECD or FATF country. Other statutory exceptions may apply.

Russian exchange control requirements are subject to change at any time, often without notice. The Employee should consult the Employee’s
personal advisor before selling any Shares acquired under the Plan and remitting any sale proceeds to Russia, as significant penalties may
apply in the case of non-compliance with exchange control requirement.

Foreign Asset/Account Reporting. Russian residents may be required to notify the Russian tax authorities within one month of opening or
closing a foreign bank account, or of changing any account details. In



addition, residents may be required to notify the Russian tax authorities of foreign account balances as of the beginning of each calendar year;
and from January 1, 2015, they also may need to report transactions made through foreign accounts.

Securities Law Information. The Agreement, including Appendix A and Appendix B, the Plan and all other materials that the Employee may
receive regarding participation in the Plan do not constitute advertising or an offering of securities in Russia. The issuance of securities
pursuant to the Plan has not and will not be registered in Russia; hence, the securities described in any Plan-related documents may not be
used for offering or public circulation in Russia.

When the Employee acquires Shares upon vesting, the Shares will be held for the Employee in a U.S. brokerage account. The Employee will
not be permitted to request share certificates and hold the certificates in Russia. The Employee may sell his or her Shares on a U.S. stock
market, but is not permitted to sell shares in the Company directly to other Russian individuals.

U.S. Transaction. The Employee understands that his or her acceptance of the grant of Restricted Stock Units results in a contract between the
Employee and the Company completed in the United States and that the Agreement is governed by the laws of the State of California without
giving effect to the conflict of law principles thereof.

Labor Law Information. If the Employee continues to hold Shares after an involuntary termination of the Employee’s employment, the
Employee will not be eligible to receive unemployment benefits in Russia.

Data Privacy. The following provisions supplement paragraph 13 of Appendix A, and to the extent inconsistent, the below language for
Russia supersedes the language in paragraph 13 of Appendix A:

The Employee understands and agrees that the Company may require the Employee to complete and return a Consent to Processing of
Personal Data form (the “Consent”) to the Company. If a Consent is required by the Company but the Employee fails to provide such
Consent to the Company, the Employee understands and agrees that the Company will not be able to administer or maintain the Restricted
Stock Units or any other awards. Therefore, the Employee understands that refusing to complete any required Consent or withdrawing his or
her consent may affect the Employee’s ability to participate in the Plan. For more information on any required Consent or withdrawal of
consent, the Employee may contact the US. Human resources representative.

Anti-Corruption Information. Certain individuals who hold public office in Russia, as well as their spouses and dependent children, are
prohibited from opening or maintaining foreign brokerage or bank accounts and holding any securities, whether acquired directly or
indirectly, in a foreign company (including Shares acquired under the Plan).

Singapore

Sale of Shares. The Shares subject to the Restricted Stock Units will not be offered for sale in Singapore prior to the six-month anniversary of
the date of grant, unless such sale or offer is made pursuant to the exemptions under Part XIII Division (1) Subdivision (4) (other than section
280) of the Securities and Futures Act (Chap. 289, 2006 Ed.) (“SFA”).



Securities Law Information. The grant of Restricted Stock Units is being made pursuant to the “Qualifying Person” exemption under section
273(1)(f) of the SFA and is not made with a view to the Restricted Stock Units or underlying Shares being subsequently offered for sale to
any other party. The Plan has not been lodged or registered as a prospectus with the Monetary Authority of Singapore.

Chief Executive Officer and Director Notification. If the Employee is the Chief Executive Officer or a director, associate director or shadow
director of a Singapore Subsidiary or affiliate of the Company, the Employee is subject to certain notification requirements under the
Singapore Companies Act. Among these requirements is an obligation to notify the Singapore Subsidiary or affiliate in writing when the
Employee receives an interest (e.g., Restricted Stock Units) in the Company or any related companies. In addition, the Employee must notify
the Singapore Subsidiary or affiliate when the Employee sells Shares of the Company or any related company (including when the Employee
sells Shares acquired under the Plan). These notifications must be made within two days of acquiring or disposing of any interest in the
Company or any related company. In addition, a notification must be made of the Employee’s interests in the Company or any related
company within two days of becoming the Chief Executive Officer or a director, associate director or shadow director.

Spain

Labor Law Information. This provision supplements paragraph 10 of Appendix A:

In accepting the award, the Employee acknowledges that he or she consents to participation in the Plan and has received a copy of the Plan.
The Employee understands that the Company has unilaterally, gratuitously and discretionally decided to grant Restricted Stock Units under
the Plan to individuals who may be employees of the Company or a Parent, Subsidiary or affiliate of the Company throughout the world. The
decision is a limited decision that is entered into upon the express assumption and condition that any award will not economically or
otherwise bind the Company or any of its Subsidiaries or affiliates on an ongoing basis, other than as expressly set forth in the Agreement.
Consequently, the Employee understands that the Restricted Stock Units are granted on the assumption and condition that the Restricted
Stock Units or the Shares acquired pursuant to the Restricted Stock Units shall not become a part of any employment contract (either with the
Company or any of its Subsidiaries or affiliates) and shall not be considered a mandatory benefit, salary for any purposes (including severance
compensation) or any other right whatsoever. In addition, the Employee understands that this award would not be made to the Employee but
for the assumptions and conditions referred to above; thus, the Employee acknowledges and freely accepts that should any or all of the
assumptions be mistaken or should any of the conditions not be met for any reason, then this award shall be null and void.

The Employee understands and agrees that, unless otherwise provided by the Plan, the termination of the Employee’s status as a Service
Provider for any reason will automatically result in the forfeiture of unvested Restricted Stock Units in accordance with the provisions of the
Plan and the Agreement. In particular, the Employee understands and agrees that, unless otherwise expressly provided for by the Company,
vesting of the Restricted Stock Units will end if the Employee terminates employment by reason of, including, but not limited to: resignation,
retirement, disciplinary dismissal adjudged to be with cause, disciplinary dismissal adjudged or recognized to be without cause (i.e., subject
to a “despido imporcedente”), individual or collective layoff on objective grounds, whether adjudged to be with cause or adjudged or
recognized to be without cause, material modification of the terms of employment under Article 41 of the Workers’ Statute, relocation under
Article 40 of the Workers’ Statute, Article 50 of the Workers’ Statute, unilateral withdrawal by the Employer, and under Article 10.3 of Royal
Decree 1382/1985.



Exchange Control Information. Spanish residents must declare the acquisition, ownership and disposition of Shares to the Direccion General
de Comercio e Inversiones (the “DGCI”), a department of the Ministry of Industry, Tourism and Commerce. Generally, the declaration must
be made in January for Shares acquired or sold during (or owned as of December 31 of) the prior year; however, if the value of Shares
acquired or sold exceeds €1,502,530 (or the Spanish resident holds 10% or more of the share capital of the Company or such other amount
that would entitle him or her to join the Board), the declaration must be filed within one month of the acquisition or sale, as applicable.

Foreign Asset/Account Reporting. Spanish residents are required to electronically declare to the Bank of Spain any securities accounts
(including brokerage accounts held abroad), as well as the securities (including Shares acquired at vesting of the Restricted Stock Units) held
in such accounts, and any transactions carried out with non-residents, if the value of the transactions for all such accounts during the prior
year or the balances in such accounts as of December 31 of the prior year exceeds €1,000,000. More frequent reporting is required if such
transaction value or account balance exceeds €100,000,000. If neither the total balances nor total transactions with non-residents during the
relevant period exceeds €50,000,000, then a summarized form of declaration may be used.

In addition, Spanish residents must report assets or rights deposited or held outside of Spain (e.g., cash or Shares held in a bank or brokerage
account) to the Spanish tax authorities on their annual tax returns. This reporting obligation is based on the value of those rights and assets as
of December 31 and has a threshold of €50,000 per type of asset (bank account, Shares, real estate, etc.). After such assets or rights are
initially reported, the reporting obligation will apply for subsequent years only if the value of any previously-reported asset or right increases
by more than €20,000 or if the ownership of such asset or right is transferred or relinquished during the year.

Securities Law Information. The Restricted Stock Units and the Shares described in the Agreement do not qualify under Spanish regulations
as securities. No “offer of securities to the public,” as defined under Spanish law, has taken place or will take place in the Spanish territory.
The Agreement (including Appendix A and Appendix B) has not been nor will it be registered with the Comisión Nacional del Mercado de
Valores, and does not constitute a public offering prospectus.

Sweden

There are no country-specific terms and conditions.

Switzerland

Securities Law Information. The Restricted Stock Units are not intended to be publicly offered in or from Switzerland. The offer is considered
a private offering in Switzerland and is therefore not subject to registration in Switzerland. Neither this Agreement nor any other materials
relating to the Restricted Stock Units constitute a prospectus as such term is understood pursuant to article 652a of the Swiss Code of
Obligations, and neither this Agreement nor any other materials relating to the Restricted Stock Units may be publicly distributed or
otherwise made publicly available in Switzerland. Neither this Agreement nor any other materials relating to the Restricted Stock Units have
been or will be filed with, approved or supervised by any Swiss regulatory authority (in particular, the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory
Authority (FINMA)).

United Kingdom

Payment after Vesting. This provision supplements paragraph 6 of Appendix A:



Notwithstanding any discretion contained in Section 8(d) of the Plan, the grant of Restricted Stock Units does not provide any right for the
Employee to receive a cash payment and the Restricted Stock Units are payable in Shares only.

Tax Acknowledgment . Without limitation to paragraph 8 of Appendix A, the Employee hereby agrees that he or she is liable for all Tax-
Related Items and hereby covenants to pay all such Tax-Related Items as and when requested by the Company or the Employer or by Her
Majesty's Revenue and Customs ("HMRC") (or any other tax authority or any other relevant authority). The Employee also hereby agrees to
indemnify and keep indemnified the Company and the Employer against any Tax-Related Items that they are required to pay or withhold on
the Employee's behalf or have paid or will pay to HMRC (or any other tax authority or any other relevant authority).

 

Exhibit A

MARKET-BASED RESTRICTED STOCK UNITS

The Market-based Restricted Stock Units (PSUs) are Restricted Stock Units that are subject to both market-based vesting
requirements and time-based vesting requirements. Subject to the terms of this Agreement, the Market-based Restricted Stock Units will vest
only if (i) the market goal(s) described below are satisfied and (ii) the time-based vesting requirements described below are met.

In order for the PSUs to become eligible to vest, the following performance goal(s) must be achieved:

a. The PSUs will be earned if the average closing price of a share of the Company’s Common Stock on a national securities exchange
(or, if not then listed on a national securities exchange, the OTC Markets) (an “Exchange”) as quoted in the Wall Street Journal
during any 100 consecutive calendar days (the “100-Day Average Price”) during the periods specified below is at least the amount
per share indicated below, subject to the LCC’s certification of the achievement of the applicable performance criteria and subject to
Employee’s Continuous Status as an Employee through the later of the LCC certification date and the time-based vest date as
follows:

i. 5,334 PSUs will satisfy the performance criteria if, at any time between January 1, 2020 and January 1, 2030, the 100-
Day Average Price is at least $6.25 and the vest date will be the later of the LCC certification date and January 1, 2021.

ii. An additional 5,333 PSUs will satisfy the performance criteria if, at any time between January 1, 2020 and January 1,
2030, the 100-Day Average Price is at least $7.00 and the vest date will be the later of the LCC certification date and
January 1, 2022.

iii. An additional 5,333 PSUs will satisfy the performance criteria if, at any time between January 1, 2020 and January 1,
2030, the 100-Day Average Price is at least $8.00 and the vest date will be the later of the LCC certification date and
January 1, 2023.

If any of the performance criteria are not achieved by January 10, 2030, PSUs subject to such performance criteria will not vest and
will instead be forfeited. Any unvested PSUs will be forfeited upon the earlier to occur of (i) January 10, 2030 or (ii) the date Employee’s
Continuous Status as an Employee is terminated, to the extent unvested on such date.



Exhibit B

To the extent Employee entered into a Change of Control Agreement with the Company (as may be amended from time to time) and while
Employee’s Change of Control Agreement remains effective, this Restricted Stock Unit Award will be subject to any vesting acceleration
provisions set forth in the Employee’s then-effective Change of Control Agreement (including for example and without limitation, the
vesting acceleration being subject to Employee entering into and not revoking a release of claims in favor of the Company).

Exhibit C

General Provisions
1. General. The provisions of this Exhibit C apply to the

Award.

2. Definitions. As used herein, the following definition will
apply:

(a) “Continuous Status as an Employee” means the absence of any interruption or termination of service as an Employee.
Continuous Status as an Employee shall not be considered interrupted in the case of: (i) a leave of absence agreed to in writing by the
Company, provided that such leave is for a period of not more than three (3) months or re-employment upon the expiration of such
leave is guaranteed by contract or statute; or (ii) notification by the Company of termination under a reduction-in-force. Termination of
participation in the Plan in the case of a reduction-in-force shall be considered to have occurred upon the earlier of (x) the end of the
employee’s continuation period, or (y) the first (1st) day after the three (3) month period immediately following the cessation of his or
her employment services with the Company.

QUANTUM CORPORATION 2012 LONG TERM INCENTIVE PLAN

Data Privacy Notice

We, Quantum Corporation, 224 Airport Parkway, Suite 550,  San Jose, CA 95110, grant selected employees of our company and
employees of our subsidiaries equity awards under Quantum’s 2012 Long Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), at our sole discretion.  Operating
the Plan necessitates certain collection and usage of personal data, as more fully explained below.

Data Collection and Usage. We, as data controller, collect, process and use personal data of participants, including, name, home
address and telephone number, date of birth, social insurance number or other identification number (as permitted under applicable law),
salary, citizenship, job title, any shares



of stock or directorships held in the Quantum Corporation, and details of all purchase rights, canceled, exercised, or outstanding in a
participant's favor, which we receive directly from you or from your employer. If we offer you such an equity award pursuant to the Plan,
then we will collect your personal data for purposes of implementing, administering and managing the Plan.

The processing and sharing of your personal data for the above purposes is justified on the following legal bases: (i) the processing is
necessary for the performance of a contract to which you are a party, as participant, or in order to take steps at your request prior to entering
into such contract, (ii) the processing is necessary to comply with a legal obligation to which Quantum is subject, and (iii) the processing is
necessary for the purposes of our legitimate interests, such as implementing and offering stock and annual incentive plan for employees,
which are not overridden by your interests or fundamental rights and freedoms.

Stock Plan Administration Service Providers. Quantum Corporation transfers participant data to E*Trade Financial Services, Inc., a
third-party service provider based in the United States, acting on our behalf and as per our instructions, which assists us with the
implementation, administration and management of the Plan. In the future, we may select a different service provider and share your data
with another company that serves in a similar manner. Our service provider will open an account for you to receive and trade stock. You will
be asked to agree to separate terms and data processing practices with the service provider, which is a condition to your ability to participate
in and receive equity grants under our Plan.

International Data Transfers . We, Quantum Corporation, and our service providers are based in the USA. If you are outside the
USA, you should note that your country has enacted data privacy laws that are different from the United States and that the destination
country may not be recognized by the European Commission as offering an appropriate level of protection of personal data (no adequacy
decision). In order to ensure an adequate level of protection for data transfers to countries that are not subject to an adequacy decision, we
implement appropriate safeguards, including by way of certifying under the EU-US Privacy Shield [or by entering into Standard Contractual
Clauses (2010/87/EU and/or 2004/915/EC) as referred to in Art. 46 (5) GDPR] or other adequate data transfer mechanism. .For example, the
European Commission has issued a limited adequacy finding with respect to the USA that applies only to the extent companies register for the
EU-U.S. Privacy Shield program, which Quantum Corporation has joined. You may request a list with the names and addresses of any
potential recipients of your personal data, as well as a copy of the appropriate safeguards for the transfer, by contacting
privacy@quantum.com.

Data Retention. We will use your personal data only as long as necessary to implement, administer and manage your participation in
the Plan or as required to comply with contractual, legal, or regulatory obligations, including under tax and securities laws. When we no
longer need your personal data, which will generally be 10 years after you participate in the Plan, we will remove it from our systems. If we
keep data 10 years or longer after you participated in the Plan, it is to satisfy our business, legal, or regulatory obligations and the relevant
contractual obligations, laws, or regulations will form Quantum’s legal basis to do so.



Voluntariness and Consequences of Consent Denial or Withdrawal. Generally, the processing of your personal data is necessary
for the conclusion and/or implementation, administration and management of your participation in our Plan and you are required to provide
your personal data, except in limited instances when certain information is indicated as optional. Your refusal to provide your personal data
may prevent us from performing our contractual obligations and may affect your ability to participate to the Plan.

Your participation in our Plan is purely voluntary. This would not affect your salary as an employee or your career; you would merely
forfeit the opportunities associated with the Plan.

Data Subject Rights. You have a number of rights under data privacy laws in your country. Subject to the conditions set forth under
data privacy laws in your country, your rights may include the right to (a) request access or copies of personal data we process and hold about
you, (b) rectification of incorrect data, (c) deletion of data, (d) restrictions on processing, (e) portability of data, and/or (f) to lodge complaints
with competent authorities in your country. To receive clarification regarding your rights or to exercise your rights please contact us at
privacy@quantum.com.



 

Exhibit 10.6
QUANTUM CORPORATION

RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT AGREEMENT

Quantum Corporation (the “Company”) hereby grants you, %%FIRST_NAME%-% %%LAST_NAME%-% (the “Director”), the number of
Restricted Stock Units under the Company's 2012 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) indicated below. Subject to the provisions of
Appendix A and of the Plan, the principal features of this award are as follows:

Number of Restricted Stock Units:     %%TOTAL_SHARES_GRANTED,'999,999,999'%-%  

Scheduled Vesting Dates:  Number of Units:  
%%VEST_DATE_PERIOD1,'Month DD, YYYY'%-%   %%SHARES_PERIOD1,'999,999,999'%-%  
%%VEST_DATE_PERIOD2,'Month DD, YYYY'%-%  %%decode(SHARES_PERIOD2, 0, null, SHARES_PERIOD2),'999,999,999'%-%  
%%VEST_DATE_PERIOD3,'Month DD, YYYY'%-%  %%decode(SHARES_PERIOD3, 0, null, SHARES_PERIOD3),'999,999,999'%-%  
%%VEST_DATE_PERIOD4,'Month DD, YYYY'%-%  %%decode(SHARES_PERIOD4, 0, null, SHARES_PERIOD4),'999,999,999'%-%  
    

IMPORTANT:

By electronically accepting this award, you agree that this award is subject to all of the terms and conditions contained in Appendix A
and the Plan. For example, important additional information on vesting and forfeiture of the Restricted Stock Units covered by this grant is
contained in Paragraphs 3 through 5 of Appendix A. Also, your acceptance of this award means that you agree that the Company may use and
transfer your personal information as described in Paragraph 25 of Appendix A. PLEASE BE SURE TO READ ALL OF APPENDIX A,
WHICH CONTAINS THE SPECIFIC TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THIS GRANT.

In addition, by accepting this award, you agree to the following: “This electronic contract contains my electronic signature, which
I have executed with the intent to sign this Agreement.” Please be sure to retain a copy of your electronically signed Agreement; you may
obtain a paper copy at any time and at the Company’s expense by requesting one from the Company’s Stock Administration Department (see
paragraph 12 below). If you prefer not to electronically sign this Agreement, you may accept this Agreement by signing a paper copy of the
Agreement and delivering it to the Company’s Stock Administration Department.

APPENDIX A - TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF RESTRICTED STOCK UNIT GRANT



1. Grant. The Company hereby grants to the Director under the Plan the number of Restricted Stock Units indicated on
the first page of this Agreement, subject to the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement and the Plan. When Shares are paid to
the Director in payment for the Restricted Stock Units, par value will be deemed paid by the Director for each Restricted Stock Unit by
past services rendered by the Director and will be subject to the appropriate tax withholdings.
2. Company’s Obligation to Pay. On any date, a Restricted Stock Unit has a value equal to the Fair Market Value of one Share.

Unless and until the Restricted Stock Units have vested in accordance with the Vesting Schedule set forth on the first page of this Agreement,
the Director will have no right to payment of the Restricted Stock Units. Prior to actual payment of any vested Restricted Stock Units,
Restricted Stock Units represent an unsecured obligation of the Company, payable (if at all) only from the general assets of the Company.

3. Vesting Schedule. Except as provided in paragraph 4, and subject to paragraph 5, the Restricted Stock Units subject to this
grant will vest as to the number of Restricted Stock Units, and on the dates shown, on the first page of this Agreement. Restricted Stock Units
will only vest if the Director remains a member of the Company's Board of Directors through the applicable vesting date(s).

4. Committee Discretion. The Committee, in its discretion, may accelerate the vesting of all or a portion of the Restricted Stock
Units at any time, subject to the terms of the Plan. If so accelerated, such Restricted Stock Units will be considered as having been earned
(vested) as of the date specified by the Committee. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan or this Agreement to the contrary, if the vesting of
the balance, or some lesser portion of the balance, of the Restricted Stock Units is accelerated in connection with the Director’s “separation
from service” within the meaning of Section 409A, other than due to death, and if (x) the Director is a “specified employee” within the
meaning of Section 409A at the time of such interruption and (y) the payment of such accelerated Restricted Stock Units will result in the
imposition of additional tax under Section 409A if paid to the Director on or within the six (6) month period following the Director’s
“separation from service” (within the meaning of Section 409A), as determined by the Company, then the payment of such accelerated
Restricted Stock Units will not be made until the date six (6) months and one (1) day following the date of such separation, unless the
Director dies during such six (6) month period, in which case, the Restricted Stock Units will be paid to the Director’s estate as soon as
practicable following his or her death, subject to paragraph 8. It is the intent of this Agreement to comply with the requirements of Section
409A so that none of the Restricted Stock Units provided under this Agreement or Shares issuable thereunder will be subject to the additional
tax imposed under Section 409A, and any ambiguities herein will be interpreted to so comply. For purposes of this Agreement, “Section
409A” means Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and any proposed, temporary or final Treasury
Regulations and Internal Revenue Service guidance thereunder, as each may be amended from time to time.

5. Forfeiture. Notwithstanding any contrary provision of this Agreement, the balance of the Restricted Stock Units that have not
vested pursuant to paragraphs 3 or 4 will be forfeited and cancelled automatically on the date on which the Director is no longer a member of
the Company’s Board of Directors.

6. Payment after Vesting. Subject to paragraph 4, Restricted Stock Units that vest will be paid to the Director (or in the event of
the Director’s death, to his or her estate) in Shares (which may be in electronic form) as soon as practicable following the date of vesting, but
in each such case no later than the date that is two-and-one-half months from the end of the Company’s tax year that includes the vesting
date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, and if permitted by the Committee, the Director may elect to defer the payout of vested Restricted Stock
Units by properly completing and submitting a Restricted Stock Unit Deferral Election to the Company in accordance with the directions on
the Election form and such rules and procedures as shall be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion, which rules and



procedures shall comply with the requirements of Section 409A, unless otherwise expressly determined by the Committee.
7. Death of the Director. Any distribution or delivery to be made to the Director under this Agreement will, if the Director is

then deceased, be made to the administrator or executor of the Director’s estate. Any such transferee must furnish the Company with
(a) written notice of his or her status as transferee, and (b) evidence satisfactory to the Company to establish the validity of the transfer and
compliance with any laws or regulations pertaining to said transfer.

8. Withholding of Taxes. If any tax withholding is required when Shares are issued as payment for vested Restricted Stock
Units or, in the discretion of the Company, at such earlier time as the Tax Obligations (defined below) are due, the Company (or, if the
Director has become an employee, the employing entity), will withhold a portion of the Shares that has an aggregate market value sufficient
to pay all taxes and social insurance liability and other requirements in connection with the Shares, including, without limitation, (a) all
federal, state and local income, employment and any other applicable taxes that are required to be withheld by the Company or the employing
Subsidiary, (b) the Director’s and, to the extent required by the Company (or the employing Subsidiary), the Company’s (or the employing
Subsidiary’s) fringe benefit tax liability, if any, associated with the grant, vesting, or sale of the Restricted Stock Units awarded and the
Shares issued thereunder, and (c) all other taxes or social insurance liabilities with respect to which the Director has agreed to bear
responsibility (collectively, the “Tax Obligations”). The number of Shares withheld pursuant to the prior sentence will be rounded up to the
nearest whole Share, with no refund provided in the U.S. for any value of the Shares withheld in excess of the Tax Obligations as a result of
such rounding. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company, in its sole discretion, may require the Director to make alternate arrangements
satisfactory to the Company for such Tax Obligations in advance of the arising of any Tax Obligations. Further, if permissible under
applicable local law, the Administrator, in its sole discretion and pursuant to such procedures as it may specify from time to time, may permit
or require the Director to satisfy the Tax Obligations, in whole or in part, by selling a sufficient number of Shares otherwise deliverable to the
Director through such means as the Company may determine in its sole discretion, including through a broker‑assisted arrangement or
otherwise, equal to the amount to be withheld (and any associated broker or other fees, as applicable).

Notwithstanding any contrary provision of this Agreement, no Shares will be issued unless and until satisfactory arrangements
(as determined by the Company) have been made by the Director with respect to the payment of any Tax Obligations that the Company
determines must be withheld or collected with respect to such Shares. In addition and to the maximum extent permitted by law, the Company
(or the employing Subsidiary) has the right to retain without notice from any fees, salary or other amounts payable to the Director, cash
having a sufficient value to satisfy any Tax Obligations that the Company determines cannot be satisfied through the withholding of
otherwise deliverable Shares or that are due prior to the issuance of Shares under the Restricted Stock Units award. All Tax Obligations
related to the Restricted Stock Units award and any Shares delivered in payment thereof are the sole responsibility of the Director. If the
Director fails to make satisfactory arrangements for the payment of any Tax Obligations at the time any applicable Restricted Stock Units
otherwise vest pursuant to this Agreement or the terms of the Plan, or at the time any Tax Obligations with respect to the Restricted Stock
Units otherwise are due, the Director permanently will forfeit such Restricted Stock Units and any right to receive the Shares thereunder and
the Restricted Stock Units will be returned to the Company at no cost to the Company.

9. Rights as Stockholder. Neither the Director nor any person claiming under or through the Director will have any of the
rights or privileges of a stockholder of the Company in respect of any Shares deliverable hereunder unless and until certificates
representing such Shares have been issued, recorded on the records of the Company or its transfer agents or registrars, and delivered to
the Director. Except as provided in paragraph 11, after such issuance, recordation,



and delivery, the Director will have all the rights of a stockholder of the Company with respect to voting such Shares and receipt of
dividends and distributions on such Shares.
10. No Effect on Service. The terms of the Director's service with the Company, whether as a member of the Board of Directors

or otherwise, will be determined from time to time by the Company, and the Company will have the right, which is hereby expressly
reserved, to terminate or change the terms of the service of the Director at any time for any reason whatsoever, with or without good cause.
The transactions contemplated hereunder and the vesting schedule set forth on the first page of this Agreement do not constitute an express or
implied promise of continued service as a member of the Board of Directors for any period of time.

11. Changes in Shares. In the event that as a result of a dividend or other distribution (whether in the form of cash, Shares, other
securities, or other property), stock split, reverse stock split, repurchase or exchange of Shares or other securities of the Company,
reclassification, recapitalization, combination of Shares or the adjustment in capital stock of the Company or otherwise, or as a result of a
merger, consolidation, split-up, spin-off or other reorganization, or other change in the corporate structure of the Company affecting the
Shares, the Restricted Stock Units will be increased, reduced or otherwise changed, as the Administrator deems necessary or appropriate in
order to prevent diminution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under the Award, and by virtue
of any such change the Director will in his capacity as owner of unvested Restricted Stock Units which have been awarded to him (the “Prior
Units”) be entitled to new or additional or different restricted stock units, cash, securities (other than rights or warrants to purchase securities)
or other property, such new or additional or different restricted stock units, cash, securities or other property will thereupon be considered to
be unvested Restricted Stock Units and will be subject to all of the conditions and restrictions which were applicable to the Prior Units
pursuant to this Agreement and the Plan. If the Director receives rights or warrants with respect to any Prior Units, such rights or warrants
may be held or exercised by the Director, provided that until such exercise any such rights or warrants and after such exercise any shares or
other securities acquired by the exercise of such rights or warrants will be considered to be unvested Restricted Stock Units and will be
subject to all of the conditions and restrictions which were applicable to the Prior Units pursuant to the Plan and this Agreement. The
Committee in its absolute discretion at any time may accelerate the vesting of all or any portion of such new or additional units, cash or
securities, rights or warrants to purchase securities or shares or other securities acquired by the exercise of such rights or warrants.

12. Address for Notices. Any notice to be given to the Company under the terms of this Agreement will be addressed to the
Company, in care of the Company’s Stock Administration Department, at Quantum Corporation, 224 Airport Parkway, Suite 300, San Jose,
CA 95110, or at such other address as the Company may hereafter designate in writing.

13. Grant is Not Transferable. Except to the limited extent provided in paragraph 7 above, this grant and the rights and
privileges conferred hereby will not be transferred, assigned, pledged or hypothecated in any way (whether by operation of law or otherwise)
and will not be subject to sale under execution, attachment or similar process. Upon any attempt to transfer, assign, pledge, hypothecate or
otherwise dispose of this grant, or any right or privilege conferred hereby, or upon any attempted sale under any execution, attachment or
similar process, this grant and the rights and privileges conferred hereby immediately will become null and void.

14. Restrictions on Sale of Securities. The Shares issued as payment for vested Restricted Stock Units under this Agreement
will be registered under U.S. federal securities laws and will be freely tradable upon receipt. However, a Director’s subsequent sale of the
Shares may be subject to any market blackout-period that may be imposed by the Company and must comply with the Company’s insider
trading policies, and any other applicable securities laws.



15. Binding Agreement. Subject to the limitation on the transferability of this grant contained herein, this Agreement will be
binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, legatees, legal representatives, successors, and assigns of the parties hereto.

16. Additional Conditions to Issuance of Certificates for Shares. If at any time the Company will determine, in its discretion,
that the listing, registration or qualification of Shares upon any securities exchange or under any state or federal law, or the consent or
approval of any governmental regulatory authority is necessary or desirable as a condition to the settlement of Restricted Stock Units
pursuant to paragraph 6, such settlement will not occur unless and until such listing, registration, qualification, consent or approval will have
been effected or obtained free of any conditions not acceptable to the Company. The Company will make all reasonable efforts to meet the
requirements of any such state or federal law or securities exchange and to obtain any such consent or approval of any such governmental
authority.

17. Plan Governs. This Agreement is subject to all terms and provisions of the Plan. In the event of a conflict between one or
more provisions of this Agreement and one or more provisions of the Plan, the provisions of the Plan will govern. Capitalized terms used and
not defined in this Agreement will have the meaning set forth in the Plan.

18. Committee Authority. The Committee will have the power to interpret the Plan and this Agreement and to adopt such rules
for the administration, interpretation, and application of the Plan as are consistent therewith and to interpret or revoke any such rules
(including, but not limited to, the determination of whether or not any Restricted Stock Units have vested). All actions taken and all
interpretations and determinations made by the Committee in good faith will be final and binding upon the Director, the Company, and all
other interested persons. No person acting as the Committee will be personally liable for any action, determination, or interpretation made in
good faith with respect to the Plan or this Agreement.

19. Captions. Captions provided herein are for convenience only and are not to serve as a basis for interpretation or construction
of this Agreement.

20. Agreement Severable. In the event that any provision in this Agreement will be held invalid or unenforceable, such
provision will be severable from, and such invalidity or unenforceability will not be construed to have any effect on, the remaining provisions
of this Agreement.

21. Modifications to the Agreement. This Agreement, together with the Director’s Change of Control Agreement (or any similar
severance or change of control arrangement), constitute the entire understanding of the parties on the subjects covered. The Director
expressly warrants that he or she is not accepting this Agreement in reliance on any promises, representations, or inducements other than
those contained in the documents described in the preceding sentence. Modifications to this Agreement or the Plan can be made only in an
express written agreement executed by a duly authorized officer of the Company. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in the Plan or this
Agreement, the Company reserves the right to revise this Agreement as it deems necessary or advisable, in its sole discretion and without the
consent of the Director, to comply with Section 409A or to otherwise avoid imposition of any additional tax or income recognition under
Section 409A in connection with these Restricted Stock Units (including settlement or payment thereof), provided that no such revision may
materially reduce the economic benefits provided or intended to be provided under this Agreement. Further, in no event will the Company (or
any of its Parent or Subsidiaries) reimburse the Director for any taxes imposed or other costs incurred as a result of Section 409A.

22. Amendment, Suspension or Termination of the Plan. By accepting this award, the Director expressly warrants that he or she
has received a right to an equity based award under the Plan, and has received, read, and understood a description of the Plan. The Director
understands that the Plan is discretionary in nature and may be modified, suspended, or terminated by the Company at any time.

23. This award shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of California, without regard to
principles of conflict of laws. For purposes of litigating any dispute that arises



directly or indirectly from the relationship of the parties evidenced by this grant or the Agreement, the parties hereby submit to and consent to
the exclusive jurisdiction of the State of California in United States of America, and agree that such litigation shall be conducted only in the
courts of Santa Clara County, California, or the federal courts for the United States for the Northern District of California, and in no other
courts, where this grant is made and/or to be performed.

24. Waiver. The Director acknowledges that a waiver by the Company of breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not
operate or be construed as a waiver of any other provision of this Agreement, or of any subsequent breach by the Director or any other
grantee.

25. Data Privacy Notice. All of Director’s information that is described or referenced in this Agreement and the Plan may be
used by the Company and its Subsidiaries and affiliates to administer and manage Director’s participation in the Plan. Director understands
that he or she may contact the Company’s international privacy officer if Director needs to update or correct any of the information. The
Company will transfer this information to, and store this information in one or several of its U.S. offices. In addition, if necessary to
administer and manage Director’s participation in the Plan, the Company may transfer to, or share this information with its Subsidiaries and
affiliates and any third party agents acting on the Company’s behalf to provide services to Director, or any other third parties or governmental
agencies, as required or permitted by law. In particular, without limitation, the Company has engaged eTrade and any entity controlled by,
controlling, or under common control with eTrade (“eTrade’s affiliates”; and together with eTrade collectively “eTrade”) to provide
brokerage services and to help administer the Company’s stock plans. eTrade is acting primarily as a data processing agent under the
Company’s instructions and directions, but eTrade reserved the right to share Director’s information with eTrade’s affiliates. Except as
provided in this Paragraph 24 or as required or permitted by law, the Company will not disclose Director’s information outside the Company
without Director’s consent.

Unless Director notifies Company within 30 days of the grant of the Restricted Stock Units the Company may use and transfer
Director’s personal information as described in this Paragraph 24, particularly as it concerns transfers to eTrade. Director understands that
participation in the Plan is entirely voluntary and that his or her denial of consent does not have any adverse effects other than exclusion from
the Plan.

26. Electronic Delivery. The Company may, in its sole discretion, decide to deliver any documents related to this or future
grants of Restricted Stock Units by electronic means or to request Director’s consent to participate in the Plan by electronic means.
Director hereby consents to receive such documents by electronic delivery and, if requested, to accept this or future grants of Restricted
Stock Units through an on-line or electronic system established and maintained by the Company or another third party designated by
the Company.

o O o



 

Exhibit 21

QUANTUM CORPORATION

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

1 A.C.N. 120.786.012 Pty. Ltd., an Australian company
2 Advanced Digital Information Corporation, a Washington corporation
3 Certance (US) Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation
4 Certance Holdings Corporation, a Delaware corporation
5 Certance LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
6 Pancetera Software Inc., a Delaware corporation
7 Quantum Beteiligungs GmbH, a German corporation
8 Quantum Boehmenkirch GmbH & Co. KG, a German corporation
9 Quantum Engineering Australia Pty. Ltd., an Australian company
10 Quantum GmbH, a German corporation
11 Quantum India Development Center Private Ltd., an Indian company
12 Quantum International Inc., a Delaware corporation
13 Quantum Korea Co. Ltd., a Korean corporation
14 Quantum Peripherals (Europe) SARL, a Swiss corporation
15 Quantum SARL, a French corporation
16 Quantum Storage Australia Pty. Ltd., an Australian corporation
17 Quantum Storage GmbH, a Swiss corporation
18 Quantum Storage Japan Corporation, a Japanese corporation
19 Quantum Storage Singapore Pte. Ltd., a Singapore private company
20 Quantum Storage UK Ltd., a United Kingdom corporation
21 Quantum Storage Mexico S. de R.L. de C.V. a Mexican corporation
22 Quantum Middle East FZ-LLC, a United Arab Emirates corporation



 

Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-147621, 333-175208, 333-184854, 333-200052,
333-218576, 333-221476, 333-234046, and 333-236270) of Quantum Corporation of our report dated June 24, 2020 relating to the consolidated financial
statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2020.

ArmaninoLLP 
San Ramon, California

June 24, 2020



 

Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302(a)
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, James J. Lerner, certify that:

1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Quantum
Corporation;

2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4) The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5) The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date June 24, 2020
  
/s/ James J. Lerner
James J. Lerner
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
(Principal Executive Officer)



 

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302(a)
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, J. Michael Dodson, certify that:

1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Quantum
Corporation;

2) Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3) Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4) The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5) The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date June 24, 2020
  
/s/ J. Michael Dodson
J. Michael Dodson
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)



 

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

     I, James J. Lerner, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual
Report of Quantum Corporation, on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2020 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents in all material respects the
financial condition and results of operations of Quantum Corporation.

Date June 24, 2020
 
/s/ James J. Lerner
James J. Lerner
President, Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
(Principal Executive Officer)



 

Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

     I, J. Michael Dodson, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that the Annual
Report of Quantum Corporation, on Form 10-K for the year ended March 31, 2020 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that information contained in such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents in all material respects the
financial condition and results of operations of Quantum Corporation.

Date June 24, 2020
  
/s/ J. Michael Dodson

J. Michael Dodson
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)


